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Presentation of financial information

The Group hnancial statenents are
prepared under IFRS where the Group's
mierasts i int ventures and funds are
shown as a single bine itern on the ncome
statement and bafance sheet and all
subsdiaries are consoldated at 100%

Management considers the business
printipatly on a propartionally censolidated
basis when setting the strategy, determining
annuat prianities, making investment

and financing decisions and reviewing
performance Tius includes the Group's
share of joinlventures and funds

on a line-by-line basis and excludes
nan-controlling interests in the Group's
subsidizries The financial key performance
indicators are also presented on this

basis. Refer (o the Financral review for

a discussign of the IFRS resutts.

We supplement our IFRS hgures with
non-GAAP measures, which management
uses internally IFRS measures are
labelled as such See qur supplementary
disclosures which start on page 179 for
reconcilialions, and the glossary found

at brishland com/glossary

Underlying Profit

£340m

2018- £380m

IFRS profit/(loss) before tax

£(319)m

2018 £501m

Dividend per share

31.00p

2018 3008p

IFRS net assets

£8,689m

2018 £9.506m

Carbon intensity
reduction versus 2009

64%

2018: 54%

Bright Lights skills and
employment programme

393

people supported with work
2018.288

Integrated reporting

We integrate social and envircnmental
information througheut this Reportin

lmne wath the lnternational Integrated
Reporting Framework This reflects

how sustainabrty 15 integrated into our
placemaking strategy. governance and
business gperations Our industry-leading
sustainability strategy 1s a powerful tool to
delwer lasting value for all aur stakeholders,



BRITISH LAND AT A GLANCE

Who we are

We are a leading UK property company. We create and manage
places that reflect the changing needs of the people who work,
visit or live in and around them.

Visit britishiand.com to tearn more about our business

Our busimess

Our portfolio is increasingly focused on mixed use places.
Our campus-focused Offices portfolio and Canada Water are located
in central London and our Retail assets are around the country.

Campus-focused London Offices

Our three office-led
campuses are located

in central London. They
are well-connected and
engaging places to work
and spend time, with the
right mix of world class
offices, retail, leisure and
dining, helping our occupiers
attract the best talent for
their business.

Offices comprise
%

51%

of the portfolio

Learn more about our Londen
portfolio on pages 12 to 13
and 37 te 38

Canada Water

At Canada Water our
masterplan includes office,
retail, residential, leisure
and public spaces to create
an exciting new urban centre
for London.

53

acres

Learn more about the Canada
Water development on pages
14 to 15and 43

Paddington

11 acre office-led campus
close to Paddington Station

We are delivering a wide
and varied dining offer

with new sigmings including
Lords of Poké whose story
we tell on page 12

Regent's Place
13 acre office-led campus in

the West End, close to Euston,
Great Portland Street and Warren
Street stations

Its proximity to the Knowledge
Quarter of acadermc institutions
15 increasing the probile of the
area Read more about our
occupier, Dentsu Aegis Netwark,
on page 13



Our frve-year vision

We have set out a clear strategic plan to build an increasingly mixed
use business. It will comprise three core elements; our London campuses,
a smaller Retail portfolio and a residential business.

Learn more about our long term stralegy on page 7

Broadgate
32 acre office-led campus adjacent to
Lwverpaot Street statign

Cn site with three major developments

with pre-lettings to global advertising group
McCann, technology company Mimecast and
ttalian marketplace Eataly Read more about
this on page 12, 38 and 41

L

Canada Water

33 acre development
opportunity in zone 2

Connecting with lacal
education and famities
through the Paper Garden
and supporting London’s
pocts through the Moetry
Schaol whase story we tell
on page 14

Teesside

Leading regional retail centre in
the North East

Hotet Chocotat have opened their second
store with British Land at Teesside, with a
third planned at Fort Kinnaird, Edinburgh
Read mare about thisonpage 14

Partiolio breakdown includes
Canada Waler 3%

Residential 1%

Meadowhall

1 5m sq ft superregional retail centre
with 280 units

Rock Up and Joe Browns were amongst the
businesses that tock space at Meadowhall
following aur £60m refurbishment Read
more about them on pagaes 14 and 17

Retail

Cur retail places are around
the country and reflect the
changing way people shop.
Increasingly we are focused
on multi-let locations within
or close to urban areas
which best complement an

omni-channet retail strategy

45%
of the portfolio

Learn more about our
Reltal porticlio on pages 3%
to 40




OUR INVESTMENT CASE

Four compelling reasons
to invest in British Land

The scale and quality
of our portfolio

Our 23m sq ft portfolio of high quality
assets 1s underpinned by our resilient
balance sheet and financial strength

- £1épn of assers unaer management IE12 3bn owney)
- Increassngly mixed use 3t our London campuses and

high quality retail nationwide

- Loan to value [LTV] 1s appropriate at 28 1% and cast
of finance 15 low at 2 9%

British Land owned assets

£12.3bn

Learn more on pages 8to §

Our operational expertise
and customer insight

Our deep expertise of managing and leasing
our assets, based on our understanding
of the customer, drives incremental value

for British Land and cur stakehslders

P owao il grid LU Pdld T

- lnvesting in our ptaces to delever more atlractive
and engaging envirenments

- Targeting the right mix of accupers to make
cur places successful

- Understanding the needs of our cusiomers as
they evolve

Visitor survevs completed in the last year

¢.26,500

Learn more on pages 1010 11

Qur distinctive business
model and clear strategy

We are mcreasing our focus on mixed

use places and on a fve-year view will be
growing our London campuses and building
a residential business while refining

our Retal business

- Enhancing our campuses through development

- Masterplanning a 53 acre development opportumty
at Canada Water

- Delivering a smaller, moare focused Retad business
through asset sales

Residential homes envisaged in our
Canada Water masterplan

3,000

Learn more on pages 18 and 19

A well-positioned
development pipeline
Our development pipeline is aligned

to our strategy and provides visibriity on
future earmings

- 1 6m sq ft of high quality, design-led buldings
focused on our campuses

- Developments delivering £63m of future rents
adding 4 5p to EPS

- De-risked by pre-letting space to tock in
future income

Commniitted and recently completed
developments pre-let or under offer

16%

tearn more on pages 22 to 23

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Another year of good progress

In my final year as Chairman I leave the business

well positioned for the future.

Qur business has continued to rake good progress this year
against an uncertain economic and pobitical backdrop. We saw the
effect of the particularly challenging retail environment in valuation
declines but delwvered a robust earmings performance with good
progress on our strategy

Our Othice leasing performance has once agam been exceltent
Across our London office business, we have leased over Im sq ft
of space, to world ciass businesses inciuding McCann, Facebook
and Milbank The gquality of the buildings we are delivering and
our campus approach are realty paying off A broader range ol
bustnesses than ever before are taking space at our campuses,
at atiracuve rental levels, and our recently compieted and
committed pipeline of new buildings 1s now 76% pre-let or under
offer. locking in signifrcant future income for our business This
1s @ resgunding endersement of our campus strategy and our
decision to commut 1o development over recent years

Our three London carnpuses at Broadgate, Paddingten Centcal and
Regent’s Place represent Briish Land at its best Hawving recently

John Gildersleeve, Non-Execuiwve Chairman

2 British Land 1 Annual Report and Accounts 2019

visited Broadgate with the Board n March, 1t I1s no exaggeratian

to say that the neighbourhood has been transformed We are
delvering world class. madern office space alongside some of the
best retail, lessure and restaurants in London, all integrated within
central London’'s largest pedestrianmised environment And there's
more to come, during the

year we were delighted ta 6 ‘

recewve plannung permission

for 1-2 Broadgate,
which witl represent the

cornerstane of the next phase
of Broadgate's transtormation

British Land is taking the
right steps to position its
portfolio for the long term

Storey, our flexible office
business, is now operational
across all of our campuses ”
1t 15 additive to our overatl

fler and we've b d
offer and we've been please Dividend per share

31.00p

2018- 30 08p

with our leasing progrese
We've signed new types of
businesses as well as existing
occupiers looking for space In
which Lo expand, project space
or space on more flexible
terms as thew needs change
There (s no question that demand for increased flexbility is a
theme that's here to stay in the office market. We recognised this
early and responded appropriately, meaning that our offices offer

remains relevant to as many polential occupiers as possible.

Last year | wrole that the retad sector was experiencing a peniod
of challenge and rapid change. If anything these challenges have
becorne more pronounced this year Fundamental structural
changes driven primarily by the internet have been compounded
by short term headwinds including subdued cansumer confidence,
cost pressures and changes to business rates {n this context, we
remain focused on prowding the kind of space modern retailers
need to succeed. We know thai long term. only the best quality,
best {ocated and most accessible retail space will continue

to thrive. To maximise occupancy and support rents, we also
iknow our retail places need to be located in areas with strong
demographics, affordable to retaifers and the nght size to underpin
good demand tension tor the space.

Again, this 1s something we have been focused on for some ime
and we have a clear view of the long term role retail will play within
Bntish Land as a smaller, more focused part of our portfolio. This
year we made further good progress lowards that, disposing of
£646m of retail assets, meaning we have now sold nearly £3bn

1n the last five years.



At the same time, the team have rematnead focused on the
operational perfermance of our Retail business We have leased
1.6misq ft of retast space this year, and dealt welt with the impact
of company voluntary arrangements [CVA] and administrations.
There 15 no doubt that the retart market wall continue to evolve 1
the futlure and not all of that change will be easy. | am confident
however that buitding on the sigmificant progress we've already
made, Briish Land is taking the rigivt steps to posit:an its portfolio
1@ succeed over the long term

The NAV discount in our share price, which increased after the
EU relerendum, persisted across the year This was one of the
faclors we took into account when deciing to exiend the share
buyback by £200m fcllowing the saie of 5 Broadgate in June We
have now baught back £500m of shares over the [ast two years,
all inked to signthicant disposals Given our confidence in the
quality of our assets, we believe the abiity to reinvest sales
proceeds into that portfolc at a 5|gn|f|cant dlscoum ihrough

.
Sy0g &

The rotmst fmancval performance we have detwered n the year,
the sirength of our balance shee! and the future income we have
secured through pre-lething developrnents mean that the Board
believes it 1s appropriate to recommend a 3% increase in the
dwvidend for 2020

Everything we do at British Land 1s with a view 1o the long term
We want to create enduring value in a sustainable way Through
our responsible approach to development, we reuse existing
building matertals where possibte, sigmficantly reducing carbon
emissions associated with construction. We also incorporate
efficiency (nnovations and wellbeing improvements that cut
occupers’ energy consumption and suppert the heatth and
productsity of their teams for years to come We have a strong
track record of connecting with our {ocal communitres from an
early slage and mirimising any smpacts of construction on our
customers and an people who wark or ive locally Nowhere s
this mare evident than at Canada Water. Find out more about
what we are doing on pages 67, 115 and 185,

In Mareh we announced that 1 will step down after the AGM i July,

having served over 10 years on the Board, including the last six

as Chairman When | look back at what our business has achseved
over this time, | do so with a greal deal of pride There is no doubt
we've faced challenges, and our operating environment and the
way we do business have changed substantially in a range of
ditferent ways But] am confident that i leave with British Land
well positioned. with the night strategy and team to succeed long
term | am delighted that Tim Score will be succeeding me as
Chairman Having served an the Board for five years Tim has got
to know our business well, especially during his ime as Charr of

Creating
Places People
Prefer

At British Land, our purpose 1s to manage
outstanding places to deliver positive outcomes
for all our stakeholders on a3 sustainable basis

We do this by understanding the evolving needs
of the people and organisations who use our
places every day and the communities wha live
in and around them Tne changing way people
choose to work, shop and live 1s what shapes
our strategy, enabling us o drive enduring
demand for our space and vaiue over the

long term

the Audit Cammuttee, and 1s the 1deal candidate 1o take our busmness
forward He will tead a Board which has the night mix of talent,
experience and expertise (o deal with the fast changing and complex
world in which Bntish Land, ke all businesses, must operate

Finally, | would like to place on record my thanks to the British
Land team Everyone in our business from Chris, Simen, the
Execuiive Commuttee and throughout plays a critical role every
day tn delivering the exceptional ptaces and results that drive
sustamnable, long term benefit for our customers, shareholders
and atl siakeholders They have been a pleasure to work alongside
and | wish thern all well for the future

hN

John Gildersleeve
Non-executive Charrman

For the Chairman s governance review, see page 72

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 3



CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Delivering against
a clear plan

Chris Grigg

Chief Executive

4 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 219



Introduction and strategy: building the specialist

in mixed use

This nas beer another year of good strategic and operational
progress in an uneven market as retail remained chatlenging, but
the London offices market continued to be healthy We have leased
2 7m sq ft across our business - more than any of the last five years,
continued to invest into our campuses, pragressed developments
on a carefully rsk managed basis and further reshaped our Retarl
portfohie This operational outperformance and our robust financial
results are due to the fact that we are delivering high quality places
that refleci the evolving needs of our customers.

Our tong term strategy is clear to build an increasingly mixed use
business comprising three core elements - our London campuses,
a smatler Retail portfolio and residential By prowiding the right
mix of uses at each of our places, we drive enduring demand

for our space, support rental growth and create long term
susiainable value

Leasing and operational performance

Qur teasing performance was again excellent Across our Londan
business our {easing actwity covered 1 1m sq it of space, further
de-risking our developments - which are now 76% pre-let or under
offer - and securng £48m pa future rental income We again let space
to a bread range of accuplers, reflecting the modern London economy
and improving the diversity and qualtty of our rental income Key
lettings this year included global advertising agency McCann, Peel
Hunt, Facebook and law frm Mitbank and momentum remawns good,
we are currently in negotiations an a further 479,000 sq ft

The retail market remawned chaltenging, but we cantinue to
outperform faotfz!t and sales benchmarks and our leasing
performance was strong, at 1.4m sq ft. Retailers continue to

face the challenge of fundamental structural change, compounded
thes year by short term operational headwinds As a resuli, we have
seen further CVAs and administrations from troubled operators
and, although farning better than the market overail, we have not
been immune, the annualised rental impact from CVAs and
administrations that have occurred over the last two years was

£16 9m, including £0 $m at properties which have subsequently been
sold We have been focused on mitigating this for some time  Of the
£12:9m rent an stores subject to closure, £6.5m has already been
let or1s in negabiation

This year, we combined our Offices and Retad businesses into

one real estate team under single leadership, to better align

our operations to our strategy and further enhance our customer
service Operalianat progress this year included the further rallout
of our flexible workspace business, Storey, at all three campuses
and the launch of Storey Club at Paddington, providing high guality
meeltng and events space 10 our cccupiers. We established a
Smart Places team, to work alongside our Data and Insights
function and Commercialisation teams as we think more broadly
about the ways iy which we can cantinue Lo suppaort gur occupiers
and understand and respond 1o their changing needs

We submitted our planning application for the Canada Water
masterplan including a detailed application for the first three
buildings and together with our partners at Southwark,

are targeting a July planning meeting. Qur plans envisage
the development of a new urban cenire for London, mcluding
commercial, oftice and community space as well as around
3.800 new homes, so will represent a care part of aur plan

{0 grow scale in residential

Capital allocation and investments

We have continued to aliocate capilal thoughifully We sald 5
Broadgate for £900m [our share] in June and £646m of Retail
assets since April 2018 - averall ahead of book value. This
continues our strong sales track record standalone superstore
expasure is down fram 11% 1n 2014 to 1% today and overail Retait
18 now under half of the business, down from 66% in 2010. Looking
ahead, we expect Retal to comprise around 30-35% of assets

in five years, so we will continue to selt assets However, we are
patient and opportunistic 1 our approach and have a clear view of
the vawe O Guf 853815 50 wii Conihnbe 1o only mane sa1es which
deliver value and progress our long term strategy We have used
sales proceeds to progress developments and reinvest in our
own portfolio through a £200m share buyback, meaning we have
bought back £500m of shares 0 two years Given the discount
implied by the current share price, we continue te believe that
rainveshing sales proceeds into our porifolio throuoh buying our
shares represents an efficient use of camtal, so we are extending
the buyback by up to £125m

Outlook

Looking ahead, retait s ikely to remain challenging as structural
change continues, but there are early signs on parts of our
portfolio, that some of the shor! lerm operational headwinds
impacting retailers are easing We expect the London market to
rermain active, as occupier demand for the highest quality space
continues to be firm and supply 1s relatively constrained We are
mindful of the ongmng Brexit uncertainty, but our business 1s well
posittoned and financially strong We reman focused on detivering
operationally and being thoughtful and commercial in what we do
every day while at the same ume pragressing our long term
strategic goals

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive

To read mare from Chris, visit baitishland com/CEQblog

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 d



IN CONVERSATION WiTH CHRIS GRIGG

Facing the future

Why are you changing the
shape of your business?

We have outlined 2 clear long term
plan ta ensure our business best
reflects the changing way people use
space. Increasingly people want to be
able to combine their work and teisure
time in a single place and that s why
we're specialising in mixed use

Our London campuses are the obvious
place to start Here we are increasing
the mux of usas with a broader retal,
leisure and dining offer atongside warld
class offices, including Storey, our
ftexible offer

At Broadgale, we are well advanced,
our newest developments inctude

GIE ShGH5, restaurants and 3 Ginema.
and our long term plans will create

2 350,000 sq ft cultural hub, driving
footfall trom 3 wider area, and providing
places for peaple to socialise outside
the office

Residential 1s an important and
complementary part of our approach,
as well as being a fast growing market
nats own right With scope for over
3,600 homes across our portfolio, this
represents a real apportunity for us,
particularly at Canada Water, where

we can develop at scale and curate the
environment o deliver attractive returns
over the long term

Al the same time, we think the tolal
amount of physical space retaillers
require will be less so we e reducing
our overall exposure to retail, although
it will remaen core (o our mixed

use proposifion

The questions our stakeholders are asking...

Why have yvou combined your
Retail and Offices businesses
under a single leadership?

We announced n January that we
would be combining our Retanl and
Offices businesses under the single
leadership of Darren Richards

These businesses have always been
fughly complementary, particularly as
we have sought to increase the mix of
uses on our campuses For example the
knowledge and experience we have on
the retail side of the business was one
reason we ve been able to expand the
mix of uses on the offices side We've
added high quably retal and lessure,
enhancing the appeal of our campuses
and helping us to sign a much broader
range of occupiers than ever before

As we progress our strategy to build an
increasingly mixed use business, there
are important benelits to be achueved
10 combining the two teams under a
single leadersip We can more
ethiciently transfer iearnings from one
side of the busmness ta the ather - for
example our use of data and insights,
which (s relatively more advanced n
retall than in our campus business -
and there are functions that are
comman to both where we can
generale scafe efficiencies.

Darren, who has a broad spread of
experience acress our business, brings
a fresh perspective that wilt help align
our approach and accelerate our focus
on mixed use

British Land { Annvual Report and Accounts 2019

How do you explain your
gender pay gap?

Our gender pay gap 1sn't what we'd like
it to be and It's a complexssue We are
taking steps to reduce the gap but this
will take time Gur S Apnit 2819 snapshot
shows thal we are moving in the right
direcuon, with a further reduction of

5 7% n our median pay gap

Women are of course paid the same as
their male colleagues for the same job
however there are More men in 5en10r
roles and more women in lower paid
roles. We need to address both of these
structural 1Issues As in many sectors, it
1s largely a legacy 1ssue and change will
take ume Real estate has hustoncally
been male dominated and, as an
industry, we have not done enough (o
encourage women to be part of it But
that s changing, and I'm pleased that
British Land are taking the lead in that

We have a very active and successful
Women s Committee, which has
pioneered changes n the way we

work Today we encourage people ta
wark flexibly in terms of their hours and
their location, we Introduced shared
parental leave in 2017, a2nd we prowide
mentors and coaching for women
returning to wark after having childcen

I'm pleased we have a number of very
senior women In our orgamisation, and
now 33% of the Executive Committee
are woman We also recognise that
change must happen outside British
tand as well and that gender balance
ts only part of the 1ssue we need

to address

{ am personally very focused on building
a more diverse and inclusive culture at
Briish Land and we have set out sorme
of the things we're doing more widely on
our website and on pages 30 to 31.

Read more at britishland com/
gender-pay-gap and our employee
gender split can be seen on page 112



RESHAPING CUR PORTFOLIO

Building an increasingly
mixed use business

How our business has changed

Since 2610 we have shifted the balance of our portfalio towards our
campus-focused London offices business, which now accounts for
51% of gur assets We have invested significantly i this business
threugh acquisition and develgpment. Qver recent years, this has
in¢luded the redevetopments of 199 Bishopsgate and 1 Finsbury
Avenue at Broadgate and 10-30 Brock Street at Regent’s Place:

as well a5 the acquisition of Paddington Central, our third London
campus tn 2013, where we recently redeveloped 4 Kingdom Sireet

Through a series of acquisitions we have also assembled a
unigue development cpportunity at Canada Water covering

53 acres Here our masterplan envisages a development of our
fourth mixed use campus

At the same e we Rave 3isc been proact vely reshaping our
Retail portfolic so that it reflects retailers focus on the highest
quality and the best located space Over the last five years we have
sold £2 9bn of retail assets, improwving the overali qualty of our
portfolio which1s now focused on mulu-let space

Portfolio split by asset type

Our five-vear vision

Look:ng forward, we are working to build an increasingly mixed
use business This reflacts the changing way people use real
estate, with the boundaries between work and leisure increasingly
blurred. We currently have a recently completed and committed
development pipeline of 1 6m sq ft acress our campuses, which
we continue to enhance with the night mix of uses including retan,
letsure and dining We wall also further expand Storey, which
could become up to 10% of cur Offices portfolio

At Canada Water we have plans 1o develop a mixed use urban
centre with a compelling coramercial and retait offer alongside 2
range of public and leisure spaces and up to 3,000 homes. We have
opportunities acrass our portfalio to develop a signdicant number
of future homes, so residential will play an increasingly important
role in the pusingss, potentially comprising up to 9% oi our
portfolio an a five-year view

We will continue to refine our Retail portfotio to deliver a smaller,
more fecused business, primarily comprising high quality, weil
located multi-let assets with mixed use potential

British Land | Annual Report and Accaunts 2019 7



OUR {INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

The scale and quality of

our portfolio

Over 80% of our assets are located within our campuses or multi-let
retail environments, which cater for a broader mix of uses reflecting
the evolving needs of our occupiers and their customers.

]

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

Campus-focused London offices

Qur three office-led London campuses are located in centrat
London They are well-connected and engaging places to
waork and spend time, with the right mix of world class offices,
retail, teisure and diing, helping our occupiers atiract the
best talent for therr business

£8.3bn

assets under management

46,000

people work across our campuses

Becoming the specialist in
mixed use

Why mixed use?

We recognise that the way people use real estate 1s changing and
that the most effective way to drive enduning demand for our space
15 ta evolve aur offer m {ne with those trends Centrafl to this 1s the
blurring of boundanies between work and feisure e Increasingly
people expecl to be able to soclalise, exercise or be entertained
conveniently to the office. They want to wark 1n places which are
pleasant, safe and easily accessible from where they live. These
tactors underpin people’s decisions around which companies they
waork for, the places they shop and spend time. i helps businesses
attract and retain talent and supparts thewr productwity and effectveness



Canada Water

At Canada Water our masierplan envisages office. retail,
residential, leisure and public spaces to create an exciting
new urban centre for London

5 3 acre

development opportunity

3,000

new homes, including
affordable housing

How are we delivering it?

Avyear ago, we outlingd the future shape of British Land,
comprising three core, complementary elements as part of
an increasiagly mixed use business.

- Campus-focused Lendon offices: with a blend of core and
flextble space, including the further buitd out of Storey,
integrated alongside a world ctass retail and leisure offering

- Asmaller, more focused Retail portfolio: high quality, well
located assets fecused on a smaller number of on average
targer, multi-let places, especially those wath mixed use potential

- Residential, principally Build to Rent: 3,000 homes at Canada
Water with further gpportunities within our pertfolio

Retail

Our retail centres are around the country and reflect the
changing way pecple shop increasingly we are focused on
muiti-let locations within or close to urban areas which best
complement an omni-channei retail sirateqgy

£4.5bn

assets under management

61%

of the population falls within
the catchment of our portfolio

How does it deliver value?

A successful mixed use steategy delwers long term sustainable
value by drving rental growth, masntaiming accupancy and
increasing the value of our assets By aligning our business to
the evolving needs of our customers, and the people who use
our places, we drive enduring demand for our space, enabling
us to grow rents and add resilience to our future income
streams The nature of our campuses and rmult-let spaces
means thal we control not just the builldings, but the spaces
between them As such, investrment we make inko the broader
environment has a posttive iImpacl on the value of our assets for
the long term We also have more flexibility to re-allocate uses
withun our places over ime to betler reflect the needs of our
customers as they change, and therefore to ensure that we make
the best use of our bustdings over the long term

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

Our operational expertise

o and customer insight

Our expertise in managing and leasing our assets, based
on our understanding of the customer, drives incremental
value for British Land and our stakeholders.

Asset management

As gur business becomes more
operational, managing our space well s
a key advantage We have the benefit of
our In-house proparty management team
who focus exclusively on British Land
preperties This year we moved the team
tnto gur head ofhice, to toster cross-team
collaboration and deliver efficiencies

Leasing

Delvering the nght mux of occupiers
at our London campuses and at our
multi-let retail spaces 1s an important
part of makung our places successtul

Insight

We engage with businesses and peaple
who wisit and work yn and around our
places {0 understand what they want
from reat esiate. We use research

and data ip understand when and how
our pccupiers and customers use our
spaces This helps us allocate the right
mix af space and ensures our occupiers
utilise thew space more efficiently. We
collect data on which brands and

Based on aur understanding of the
customer, we are investing in our assels
to detwer more attractive and engaging
places Thisncludes a high quabity publec
reatm, a wide-ranging programme of
events and actmities and best in class
custamer services

Our leasing teams are specialists in their
fields but draw upon expertise across the
husiness QOur network of contacts on the
retail side 15 helping us build a diverse
retail and dining offer at aur campuses,
and we have significantly strengthened
our marketing expertise, betier enabling
us to showcase space, particularly when
1 development

services people engage with and which
they would like to see rmore of.

Thus research and data generates
msights which support eur asset
management and leasing decisions, for
example, shaping the way we allocate
space between a range of uses as well
as the occupiers we larget.

10  British Land ! Annual Report and Accounts 2019

This year, we established a Smart
Ptaces tearn, to deliver placemaking
ata digital level We are equipping
our buildings with the functionality

to measure how space 1s used Lo
enhance effictency and are developing
the capabilities ta autornatically
personalise the working environment

Storey, our flexible workspace business,
15 enabling us to serve new customer
segments. This includes providing project
space to our existing customers as well
as smaller scale businesses The shorter
nature of Storey leases means we benefit
more quickly from rental growth than we
otherwise woutd

Over the longer term view, this
understanding provides valuable insight
inta which of our assets are performing
well, so we can make more informed
investment and divestment decrsions to
allocate capital efficiently as we align our
portfolio to benefit from long term trends
to drive value for our stakeholders



At Paddington Central we have invested nearly £100m

into the transtormation of the campus. including the
development of 4 Kingdom Street and a significant upgrade
to the public realm We have successiully iaunched Storey
at 4 Kingdom Street, including Storey Club which provides
the highest quality meeting and events space lor campus
occupters We have added 10 new retarlers, significantly
changing the ook and feel of the campus These range from
Fiykick, a ksck-boxing inspired exercise studio, to Vagabond
Wines awaine bar and the Grand Duchess our second
floating restaurant

This year we have leased more than 1m sg {t 1 offices,
inctuding good progress cn our camgpus developments which
are now 76% let or under offer At Broadgate we fet 739,000
sq it of space in the year {o a range of occupiers, including
global advertising agency McCann, taw firm Milbank and
Product Madness, an ontine gaming platform This was In
addition to financial occuprers such as TR ICAP and Peel Hunt,
who have made long term commitments wath us

At Canada Water, we have been engaging with the local
cornmunily for many years through & range cf mihatives,
building up a clear picture of local needs In addition, we have
undertaken a detalled modelling exercise te project the Likely
needs of the community as cur developments progress and
this ts helping lo shape our offer in terms of the amount of
retail, leisure and community space required and how we
pasition and market this space to the right markets and
customers Thes model builds on the expertise we have
developed across our campuses and retail centres, leveraging
our knowledge of the individual sectors but also developing
aur understanding of the interdependencies and benefits of

o 1mix of uses

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 11



London

campusces

A wider mix of uses,
to reflect changing
London lifestyles

Our three office-led mixed
use campuses are located
in some of London’s best

connected and most vibrant
neighbourhoods.

Across Broadgate, Paddingtan Central and Regent's Place
we manage more than 50 acres of central London, providing
vibrant and dwerse places with excellent connectwity and
warld class puble space.

Our campuses are a unique competitive advantage for us,
here we control not just the buitdings bui the spaces
hohupspn th

reftect the evolving needs of modern, Landon Lfestyles
Today's businesses are focused on operating 1n buildings
and locations which enable them to attract and retain the
best talent Environments and connectmty are key benehts
our campuses deliver, each prowding access to at least four
underground tines and Broadgate and Paddington Central
have Crossrail stalions immediately adjacent

nn e o delhuer enernnmeante that
3 US 10 Colvel emunrnnments tnal

increasingly our customers are focused on flexiinty, Within
our buildings and across our campuses we affer a broad
range of space in terms of size, type and level of service

in June 2017 we 1aunched Storey, our flexibie office brand,
catering to smaller ‘scale up’ businesses of around 45
peaplte and provding add ienal space ta existing occupiers
on more Hexible terms to facititate expansion or house
project teams Storey has quickly becorne an impiortant
part of our campus offer, enabling us to attract a broader
range of businesses to our places

Reflecting growing demand for burldings which

aramote health and productivity, our developments

and refurbishments incorporate wellbeing principles by
design These include a focus on active design, air guality
and spaces where peogple can socialise and enjoy ime
outside the office

We recognise that businesses need to use space efficiently,
combimng personal and collaborative workspace, so our
designs thoughtfully balance this mix of demands. We also
look beyond our campuses, we invest In local communities
and our events and activities bring people together and
enliven our space lor everyone who uses it
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“Opening a place in London where people can buy, eat
and learn is a very important and exciting milestone
for us. Being able to bring our model into a place that
is so significant stimulates us to create in London a
wonderful multi-functional experience.”

Luca Baffigo, CEC, Eataly

“Paddington has been a great place to grow our
tusiness! From a foad truck, we upgraded to a smatll
kiosk and now we have opened our flagship store here,
all within two years, Fooffallis high and we think the
area has great potential - that long term vision is
incredibly important to us. It's been a steep learning
curve, but we've felt very supparted by British Land
and the Paddington team and we're really excited that
they're part of our journey.”

Marty Sykes and Tom Greenhitl, Co-Founders
of Lords of Poké

“it was important for us to find a workplace partner
that can help our organisation to scale, rather than
just another office provider, who would work with
us to bring our vision to life. The Storey team continue
to ptay an important part in helping our organisation
be successful.”

Bilty D'Arcy, CEQ, BA! Communications



British Land has really
transformed Regent's
Place in the eight years
that we've been there

19

Similarly, our business
has evolved significantly
in that time, and will
continue to do so. As
such, it's great to work
with a partner that
understands our needs
and is developing a
collaborative space for
our people and clients
that will also help us
work more efficiently in a
thriving London location.

9% Richard Sexton,
Director of Change
Management Office,
Dentsu Aegis Network

BritishLand | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 13



Canada
Water

A new urban
centre_for London

At Canada Water we are
masterplanning a Sm sq ft
mixed use scheme across
53 acres of central London.

The site is located between London 8ridge and Canary
Wharf on the Jubilee Line and has access to the London
Overground making it 1s easily accessible to Canary Wharf,
the West End, Shoreditch and South West London it will
also benefit significantly from the apening of Crossrail,
which will reduce pressure on the Jubilee line between
Canary Wharf and Bond Street

Here, our ambition is to create a sustainable, new urban
centre for Londoen, that supports the existing community
and attracts new people ta the area to deliver a real sense
of reghbsurhaod We have consuited exiensaely will locai
people and community groups and their views have helped
to shape our plans

Our partner, the London Borough of Scuthwark, has the
opportunity to co-invest In each phase on an indwidual basis,
closely aligring our interests.

Wellness and sustainability are at the centre of our plans
Smartly designed buildings will be set around water and
green public spaces, tegether creating a vibrant destination
where peaple can live, work and be entertamned throughout
the day and into the evening Qur des:gn draws on the
heritage of the tocal area to provide a mix of space including
retall, office and leisure with capacity for ¢ 3.000 hornes
across 3 range of tenures and affordability.

Residential will play a key role 1n the regeneration of
Canada Waler and witl be an increasingly impartant part
of our business as we seek to focus on mixed use places.
QOwning and managing people’s hormes comes with a real
responsibility which will be at the lorefront of our approach
as we build this business.

fdCanadaWaterMasterplan

canadawatermasterplan.com
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“"We appreciate the interest and respect British Land
have for what we do. They have a long term vision and
we're part of that, it's like we've been brought into the
subsail and it's wonderful to be part of the cenversation
around how this place comes together.”

Jane Riddiford, Co-Founder, Global Generation

"Canada Water is a great place for us to work ~ the
location is perfect for our students and tutors who
are delighted with our new home. We've found this
incredible space, and have really benefitted from
British Land’s knowledge of the area and interaction
with the local community. We have lots of exciting
plans and look forward to growing with the
development and reaching more people who live here.”

Sally Carruthers, £xecutive Director, The Poetry Schoot

“Delivering our masterplan is a hugely complicated and
long term project. it will absolutely transform the local
area, so we have a real responsibility to engage closely
with local residents. We've done that at every stage
and we're thrilled with the level of local support our
plans are generating.”

Emma Cariaga, Head of Operations at Canada Water,
British Land




The area is changing and
the masterplan builds on
that momentum...

66

What we look for is great
space, high footfall and

a catchment we think
would engage with

Pissa 1889. British Land
immediately understood
what we were trying

to achieve here and

have a really strong
understanding of how
retail is evolving and the
role we can play within
that. The area has seen so
many changes in terms of
the environment and the
demographics and the
masterplan really reflects
where it’s heading.

99 Dan Southwell,
Founder and CEO,
Pizza 1889
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Retail

Convenient and

engaging places
supporting a modern
approach to retail

In a rapidly-changing
market, only the best quality
space in the right locations
will succeed.

Qur Retail partfolio 1s focused on places which support
rmodern retailers with an omnt-channel strategy to drive
demand for our space

i an evoiving market, physical store netwoiks remain
important to successful retaslers, but thew role 1s changing
Increasingly, the true value of physical stores1s as a
showroom or logistics netwark te support fulfitment of an
anline sate.

Larger, regianal centres best support the showrooming
function They tend lo olier a broad range of leisure and
entertainment actwities, attracting customers from a wide
catchment for a whole day, and generating high footfatl
This enables people to touch and try things on, boosting
sales even if they subsequently make the purchase ontine

A physical network can support fullilrment in several ways
Weli-connected stores, or those with the capacity to hold
stock, can support a ship from stare’ approach, Mminimistng
delwvery imes for consumers who increasingly expect
purchases to arrive iImmediately Centres with parking
widely available, or which are located near transport
interchanges, are atso ideal for click and coliect Our data
shaws that click and collect customers are hghly valuable,
spending on average nearly wice as much as a non-chick
and collect customer

Locking forward, we are facusing our portichie on assets
which benelit from these characieristies, but we recognise
that the overall quantity of space that retailers require will
reduce, with only the best quality space in the nght locations
being viable long term Therefore on a five-year view,

we will be reducing our exposure to retasl such thatit
comprises ¢ 30-35% of cur total portfolio, down from 45%
taday. We have already made substantat progress, with

£2 9bn of asset sales over the last five years.

However, our focus on muxed use places means that

retail will remain an integral part of our offer. Qur campus
developments and our plans at Canada Water incorporate a
significant retad allocation as we seek o create places that
retiect today's Ulestyles
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“We opened our first centre at one of British Land’s
shopping centres in 2014, when there was a much
more limited leisure offering in shopping centres. But
British Land were very forward thinking, they saw the
way retail was avolving and it was a great success for
both of us. We've since opened two more with British
Land. Meadowhall has high footfall, a strong catchment,
an excellent occupier line up and a wide range of
facilities, so it was an ideal destination for us, and the
support we received from British Land both pre and
post opening has been fantastic.”

Heidi Duckworth, Executve Chairman, Rock Up

“Yo soar in today's crowded market, your brand must
stand out, connecting emotionally with consumers and
offering them something special. It can be challenging
to do that it you're an online-only business. Opening
stores was a step-change for Hotel Checolat, enabling
us to not only diversify into things we couldn't have
done before but also to create 3 real sense of chocolate
theatre, adding an immersive experience that allowed
us to interact with guests.”

Peter Harris, Co-Founder and Development Director,
Hotel Chocolat which has a store at Meadowhall and
Teesside, and coming soon to Fort Kinnard, £dinburgh

“We work with a lot of landlords, but two things set
British Land apart. First, they reatly understand the
cystomer. They know who and how people shop across
the estate and that’s a real advantage. Second, they
understand that creating a great environment and
getting the service right is absolutely key. We're really
excited ahout opening at Meadowhall. it will bring us
closer to our customers and their teedback is what
really helps develop the brand.”

Mike Rich, Head of Retad, Skopes



We opencd a physical
store because that's what
our customers wanted

66

One of the main reasons
we apened a physical
store was that our
customers started asking
for it. Meadowhall could
guarantee high footfall,
so it ticked a lot of boxes
for us. British Land

are a forward thinking
landlord who understood
our passion for creating
something different.

The wider business is
Rourishing — sales are up
20%, that's not all down
to Meadowhall. but the
store has given us extra
credibitity and really
raised our profile in the
press and social media,
so we'll definitely be
apening more.

99 pDarren Abhott
Director, Joe Browns
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

Our distincirve
business model

Our business model is designed to deliver positive long term
outcomes for all our stakeholders.

QOuwr inputs: what makes our model work

Relationships
Our customers and partners

Our finance
Appropriate leverage for curremt
and future plans

Operational expertise
Qur expgert people

Culture of collaboration enabling
elfective working across teams

The communisties wha live and work
in and around our assets Dwerse, efficient and flexible finances

from a range aof sources

CQur suppliers and cantractors Data and analysis tools prowiding

insight into customer needs Partnerstips which mitigate risks,

add expertise and help finance projects

Activitdes: what we do

Investing and
developing
Creating development
opportunities in our porifolio

Identifying new opportunities

Allacating capital to delver
growth and returns

Managing
our space
Enhancing the mix of uses
and occupters at our places to
create dwverse neighbourhoods

Placemaking

Connecting to local communities

Design-led places in fune
with modern lifestyles

World class property management

Enhancing and enbivening our space
to create a posilive experience

Smart and sustainable builldings
reflecting what matters to
our accugiers and the
people who use
our places

QOur outputs: what we deliver

Customers Communities Employees Partners Shareholders
High quality inclusive places Supportive and Parucipation Sustainable and
environments which create inclusive culture i bugh quality responsible long

whuch help ocur
customers succeed

opportunities and
make a positive
local contribution

where people can
teel sypported and
empowered to
develop ther skills
and experience
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projects, benefitting
from our scale
and expertise

term income and
value creation



...and clear focus

We invest in long term themes to create vibrant
mixed use places for our stakeholders,

Customer Orientation — Responding to changing lifestyles

Our business s focused on our customers who are the
orgamsations which have taken space at our assets We also
constder carelully the needs of the people who wark, shop at or
visit our places ang the commuanities who tive in the surrounding
neighbeourhoods We have developed a deep understanding of

how people use ocur space which informs our approach to
managing our assets and guides our investment actvity This
means we are always facused on the customer and deliver
ptaces that are successful and sustainable long term.

Aligned to our sustainability pillar: Wellbeing — Create places that promote health, improve praductivity and

tncrease enjoyment

Right Places — Creating great environments

Qurinsight 1nto the customer hetps us identify places which can
succeed long term This underpins our focus on our Lendon
campuses, where we can manage the environment to detiver a
broager mix of uses enadiing people (o Comping {Neir work and
leisure ime, reflecting modern Londen lifestyles We apply the

same pninciples ta our retad spaces, which are around the
country i places that are easily accessible from strong
catchment areas Qur 53 acre scheme at Canada Water,
winich wait be mixed use from (he starf, «$ e besiiusirgiion
of this approach.

Aligned to our sustainability piltar: Community — Make a positive contribution {ocally and behave so our places are

considered part of their lacal community

Capital Efficiency - Thoughtful use of capital

We are thoughtful 1n our approach to capital aliocation and
carefully evaluate invesiment opperlunilies to support income
and returns for our shareholders. We have created opportuntties
for development within our portfolio, which typically detiver
stronger retyrns, atthough with inherently higher nisk

We balance this agamnsl acguisition opportuniies we seg in the
market and invesbing in our own portfolio by buying back shares.
At the same time, we monitor our leverage 1n the context of
wider decisiens made by the business

Aligned to our sustainability pillar: Futureprosfing — Protect and enhance asset value through environmental stewardship,
tncluding energy generation and efficiency, matenals innovatien and flood risk reduction

Expert People — Changing the way we work

Our people strategy focuses on creating a team which can
deliver Places Peaple Prefer. We do this by attracting 2ng
retaining people with a broad range of skills and experience and
a dwersity of backgrounds We recognise that to keep people
engaged 1 aur business, we must invest :n thewr development

and in ¢creating a8 working environment that supparts wellbeing
and incluston We also recognise the smportance of investing in
temorrow s worklorce for our customers, suppliers and local
partners We 1ake action on this through Bnght Lights, our skills
and employment programme

Aligned to our sustainability piltar: Skills and opportunity — Develop skilis and opportunities to help tocal people and

businesses grow

Detail on our achievements and progress can be found within the KPI review on pages 20 to 21
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OUR STRATEGY

Deliwvering on our strategy

Focus area Achievements Priorities for the year ahead
Customer Continued investment in technology driven - Develop our Smart Places product and roll out
Orientation innavations and insights across the Qffices portfolio
- Smart Places tearn established and strategic wision - Launch Storey Ciub and standalane Storey offer
to deliver digital placemaking set out
, - Continue to manage the integration of Brish Land
- Digutal platform capturing sales data rolled out to Property Management with Brilish Land
¢ 1,000 retad occupiers providing further insight into
the customer and the performance of our assels - Leverage our data and insights fo develop
i our office offer
Strengthened our operational expertise
- Storey now operational across 141,000 sq {t, providing
flexible space for existing occupters and attracting new
accupiers to our Campuses
Right Refine and refacus our Retail business - Continued Retalt sales, progressing our
Places - £646m sales of non-cace or solus assets strategic plan to deliver 3 smaller, more focused
. Retail business
Progress developments, focusing on
London campuses - Continued mvestrment 1n campus development
- 1 Finsbury Avenue completed and continued good - Achieve planning at Canada Water and
leasing progress across development pipetine, now commence development
-l .
76% pre-let or under offer - Progress opportunity at Norton Folgate
- Achmeved planming on 1-2 Broadgate
. - Commence refurbishment of Royal Victorta Place,
Progress residential business Tunbridge Welis
~ Planning apphcation submitted at Canada Water with
patential for 3,000 homes n our rasterpian
Capital Recycte capital te improve returns - Eontinue to take capetal allocation decisions based
Efficiency - E£500m sale [our sharej of 5 Broadgate on relalive value
- £359m residential sales and £446m retail sates - Maintan appropriate leverage
- £200m extension to share buyback completed
~ E125m further extensian to buyback announced
- Repayment of £223m of debt in the Broadgate JV
releasing busldings for potential developrment
Maintain appropriate leverage
- LTV remains low at 28 1%
- Flexsbie finance £1 4bn new debt inance arranged
Expert Enceurage cross-team collaboration - integrate our asset management and leasing teams
People and shared learnings to act as a single business across Retart and Offices

- Office and Retail asset management and teasing
restructured under single teadership

Enhance diversity across the business

- Top 10 performer in Hampion Alexander Review

- Successful year across aur networks

Embed new cerporate values
~ Value-facused events and aclivities through the year

- Reduce our gender pay gap
- Launch of EnaBLe, our disability network

Total accounting return (TAR)
Delivering sustainable long term value

Total accounting return 1s our overall measure of performance It s the dwvidend paid plus the change

in EPRA NAV per share
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KEY PERFORMANCE {NDICATORS

Performance

Risk indicators

Customer satisfaction

We extensiwely survey aur cusiomers and other users of our places lo assess our performance

and identify opportunities for impravement

Out of 10

Total property returns

We have underperformed the (PO benchmark

this year by 550bps, reflecting the continued strength
of industrials where we have no expasure.

Loan to value ILTV] - proportionalty
consolidated

We manage our LTV through the praperty cycle
such that our financial position would remain robust
i the event of a significant fali in property values

Employee engagement score
75% employes engagement score, 5% higher
than the United Kingdorn benchmark *

* Culture AMP 2018

Speculative development commitment

Developrnent supports value and future income growth,

but adds risk We keep our committed development
exposure at less than 15% af our mnvestrment portfolic,
with a maximum of 8% developed speculatively

4 of standing investments

Weighted average interest rate -
praportionaily consoiidated

Our {ow cost of finance at 2 9% has contributed
to reducing our interest cost, supporting our
financial performance

During the year we formally combined our British
Land and 8ntish Land Property Management
businesses into our York House head office so the
2019 employee engagement scare relates to the
combined business, while historic figures relate to
8ritish Land only For 2019, emplayee engagement
at Briush Land was 78%

- Consumer confidence
- Employment farecasts

tor relevant sectars
Market eiting riss
lvacancies, expiries,
specutative development]

Property capiial return
and ERV growih forecasts

Tetal development exposure

Progress aof developments
against plan

Specutatwe development

exmagLro
OGS

Financiat covenant
headrocm

Period untit refinancing
1s required

Percentage of debt with
interest rate hedging

Execution of debt financings

Unplanned executive
departures

This year our TAR was {3 3% comprising a
dwidend mcrease of 3 0% to 31 pence per share
offset by a fatl in EPRA NAV of 6 4% to 905 pence
per share

Links to remuneration-

Long-Term Incentive Plan

Annuat Incentive Award

Forecast GDP

The margin between
property yields and long
term borrowing costs
Praperty capital growth
and ERV growth forecasts

Read more on pages 100 to 103
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

o A well positioned
development pipeline

Our significant development pipeline positions
us well to capitalise on future market opportunities

in a thoughtful and risk managed way.

1.6m sq ft

Committed and recently
completed developments

Delivering

£63m

Futurc rent

1069%

Pre-let or under offer

Completed

1 Finsbury Avenue

Othice-ted refurbishment at our
Broadgate campus prowding a mix

of space mcluding a cnema, cafés

and flexible workspace alongside
conventional office space. The building
is 58% let or under offer with technaology
companies Mimecast and Product
Madness among those {aking space

287,000 sq ft

PC Q12019

Commuitted

1 Triton Square
Office led development
at Regent’s Place, fully
pre-tet to Dentsu Aegis
Melwark, an existing
eccupier an the
campus At 310,000 sq
it thus was the largest
West End pre-let in
rmore than 20 years

366,000 sq ft

PC 04 2020

2020 -

135 Bishopsgate

Office-led development at our
Broadgate campus The buiding s
90% pre-let or under afler with future
occupiers including talian marketplace
Eataly, global advertising agency
McCann and interdealer broker

TP ICAR,

335,000 sq ft

PC Q32019
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100 Liverpool St

Office-ied development adjacent

to Liverpoo! Street statron with

90.000 sq {t of retarl and letsure space
56% pre-let or under offer to occupiers
including financial services firms
SMBC Europe and Peel Hunt and

taw firmn Milbank.

521,000 sq ft

fC Q12020



Near term
pipeline

1-2 Broadgate

Oifice-led development on our
Broadgate campus which includes
153,000 sq tt of retail connecting
Finsbury Avenue Square with retai
at 100 Liverpoo! Street and the

Broadgate Circte to create a 350,000

sq ft retail, leisure and diring hub

G
rll
&
o
-

5

Norton Folgate

Othce-ted redevelopment in
Shereditch. integrating 298,000 sg
ft of oflice space alongside retail
and residentizl 1o creale 3 mixed
use space that draws on the
historic fabric of the area

335,000 sq ft

Medium term pipeline

5 Kingdom Street Canada Water, Phase 1a
Dffice-led development at the western Three buitdings delivering a mix of

end of Paddington Central, with 83,000 office, retail, leisure and residential with
=g ft of space available for a broader 265 hormes alanned across 3 range of
mix of uses including retail, dining and tenures and affordabslity

events space

429,000 sq ft 576,000 sq ft

Sustainable development

We understand that, as a developer, we have a real responstbility fo manage cur
environmental and socialimpacts In many cases, our first decisions are around
how much of the existing structure we can retain, which reduces our embodied
carbon emissions We always focus on mirnimusing drsruption far our customers
and tocal cormmunity and we work with partners to create a lasting positive
iegacy, operuing up apportunities for local schoolchitdren, students, jobseekers
and businesses

For more mnformation on our approach see case studies on 1 Triten Square page 47,
100 Liverpool Street page 115 and 1 Finsbury Avenue page 185.

Queen’s Award for Enterprise

This was our third year holding the Queen’s Award for Enterprise,
the U’'s highest business accolade, recogrising our economic,
social and envirgnmeniat achievements on our developments and
across cur managed portfolio
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UNIQUE MARKET INSIGHTS

Understanding our markets

Our insight into our customers underpins our understanding
of the key trends driving our markets.

Econemic uncertainty/

Brexit

The UK economic environment

has been uncertain since the EU
referendum in 2016 When the terms
of exit are agreed, we witl enter a new
chapter in our relationship with the
€U and key trading partners to which
it will take time to adapt

To date, the economy has proved
more resihent than many expected,
with unemplayment rematning low,
particularly in London Businesses
nave continued te lake space - an
important sign of conlidence, and
averseas vestors have cantinued
to acquire London real estate

In financial services, the shift of
personnel to Europe has been much
locs than evpartad and in | onden
the technology sector s thriving with
investment of £4.5bn,' more than
France and Germany combined

Leading global cities for
office tnvestment 2018 (£bn)

24

Cyclical and structural
challenges in retail

There have been profound structural
changes in the way we shop, with the
growth of online sales, which now
represent nearly 20% of the total and
we estimate that could grow to 40%
This challenge, coupled with cychical
pressures, inctuding rising costs and
an uncertain ecenomic outlook, has
put pressure on retaders to adjust
their operating models Many have
not adapted quickly enough, resulting
i a series of kugh prefile fattures

Some retailers are adapting
successiutly and many new, primardy-
online operators also recognise the
key role that physical can play inan
omay-channel approach

Haowever, the overall volume ol retail
space required wilt likely decrease, as
retailers focus their physical networks
on high quality, differentiated space
that complements their customers’
broader nesds

Internet sales as a percentage
of total retail sales (%)
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Technology as a disruptor
and enabler

Technology ts driving real change
in the way we use real estate
Businesses can track the way
workspace 1s used to make more
informed decisions about their
requirements We have the ability
to personalise hight and temperature
or to make i respond to the cimate
outside People canwork remotely,
so they no longer need to be in the
office, and prefer to work more
collaboratively when they are there

Technalegy has already revolutionised
the way we shop and profoundly
changed the way retailers interact with
their customers Retallers increasingly
monitor footfall, website chicks within
z stare catchment and s0013] rmedia to
identify which sites work best as they
refine their physical footprint

Technology presents a real eppartunity
across the sector lor operators who
can leverage 1ts potenhal

Real estate tech global
financing history



Growth of flexible
workspace

Demand for flexible and co-working
space 15 increasing driven by the
growth of small and medium sized
businesses which now employ mare

than 50% of the workfarce ? Typically,

these occupiers cannot make large
or leng term commitments, creating
3 clear market fer smailer floor
plates an more flexible terms, with
the beneht of pooled facilities like
meeting rooms, kitchens and gyms

Large occupiel » aisy See a role for
more flexible space to accommodate

profect tearms of temporary overtlow,

with 41% of large occupiers also
expected to use llexible office space
within three years ?

Flexibie office space represents just
4% of total rental stock, but is the
fastest growing camponent of office
iake up

Flexihle office take up, Central
London (% of total)

The war for talent

in London

London offers a unique cluster of
skitled labour across technology,
finance, media, creative industries
and the law as well as access (o
capital and cross-sector regulation
This co-tocation of same of the most
important inputs for new businesses
has underpinned London's success
as a leading global city

Today 11 1s the knowledge economy,
specthically technalogy, which s driving
N3l SUCCESS, S0 3CCeSS (o talent s Key
Businesses from banking to fashion are
comgeting for pecple with the same
skitl sets At the same time, employees
ncreasingty value the opportunity to
ftve, work and socialise 1n a way thal
sutts them, so emalovers must do

more to attract the best people

This means the quality of the
environment, the vibrancy of the
public reatm and the mix of amenities
are ncreasingly what set businesses
apart as a place tc work

UK Unemployment rates
(aged 16 vears and over)

Focus on wellbeing

and sustainability

Increasingly, people are choosing to
work, shop or spend time n places
whech have a positive impact on thewr
wellbeing People want space to work
collaboratively, to socialise and to
incarporate exercise into their day
Thus has implicatiens fer the sort of
faciliies employers need to provide
and the sort of environments retailers
need to offer to drive footfall, as a
result, the abibty to control the area
aroynd a buldding 15 a kev advantaae

Perscenzlising the enviconment 1s ane
of the newest ways to differentiate
space Giving people more control
over Light and temperature and
optimusing air quality promotes

weltheing and snhanres arnductnty
=7 £ *

Al the sarme bime, employees want
to wark tn buddings with strong
environmental credentials, and to
waork for businesses that take thewr
environmental responsibiliies
seriously

Top reasons for green building
in the UK (%)
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Shaping our thinking

We engage with a wide range of stakeholders to inform our
thinking. It takes a diversity of perspectives to deliver outstanding

places and positive outcomes for all our stakeholders.

Key issues

Why we engage

How we engage

Customers The way people work, shap Understanding the We undertake c.24,500 visitor
and tive 1s changing and their businesses and the people surveys eath year. We have
expectations for places where who use our space helps us built a digital ptatform that
they spend time and the gravide places whuch meet enables data sharing with
standard of services they awider range of needs, our retail occuprers and
receive are Increasing driving long term demand we leverage social media

for our space to keep our customers
informed across the business

Communities Soceal challenges around We thrive when our Our Local Charter guides
equality, health, skills, communities prosper how we engage with local
in-wark poverty, affordable Understanding our people and partners to
housing and social cohesion, communities helps us make a positive difference
as well as environmental create succasshul, inclusive it 15 integrated into all our
concerns and local issues places that coninbute to placernaking plans and

the prasgeniy of ife wiger actvitres, mciuding
neighbourhaod and are cammunity consultation
attractive to custorners and partnershup prajects

Employees Attracting and retaining tatent To understand how we We encourage open and
in a competitive market can besl prowide a constructive discussions

suppartive workplace throughout the business;
with career opportunities employees can feed back 1n
that enrich experence, the annual company survey,
develop skill sets and at regular town hall meehings
prormote wellbeing or through a range of
employee networks

Partners Promoting our ethical and To help us teverage the range As an expert partner, we
corporate governance of expertise across existing believe that aligning interests
standards across jont venlure and potential suppliers, joint creates greater mutual
partners and suppliers venture partners and debt beneh! We have shared our
Engaging with debt investors, providers to support us in strategy and expectations
enabling them (o better deliverng outstanding places at supplier conferences and
understand our husiness assign key contacts to build

close warking relationships

Shareholders Delivering tncome and capital We have 2 clear responsibilily We offer key sharehglders

growth over the long term
in the context of broader
market uncertainty

to engage with shareholders
as the owners of our business
and their views are an
important driver of

our strategy

the opporturity o meet

with management on 8
one-1o-one basis and engage
more broadly through mnvestor
events. A range of information
from financial performance to
blogs from our CED s also
available an aur wehsite
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We respond to these stakeholder issues through our strategy

Through our strategy we also
help address global challenges

Customer Orientation

Responding to changing
lifestyles

Wellbeing

Create places that
proemote health, improve
productivity and increase
enjoyment

Right Places

Creating great
environments

Community

Make a positive
contribution locally
and behave so our
places are considered
part of their {ocal
community

Capital Efficiency
Thoughtful use of capitat

Futureproofing

Protect and enhance
asset value through
environmental
stewardship, including
energy generation and
efficiency, matenals
innovation and flood risk
reductien

Expert People
Changing the way we wark

For more information on our
corporate strategy see page 19

Skills and
opportunity
Devetop skilis and
opportunities to help
local peapte and
businesses grow

For mare information on
our sustainability strategy
see pages 28to 29

Our sustainability focus areas
support the UN 5 Sustainable

I

Uevelopment Goals (SDGsI

Learn more on pages 28 to 29

We are committed to adopting the
recommendations of the Task Force
on Climate-related Financiat
Gisclosures and have established

a Sieering Comrmutiee to progress
towards TCFO slignment

Learn mare on pages 42 to b4

Non-financial

reporting statement

Our nen-financial reporting includes
envirgnmenial matters, employees.,
human rights, social matters and
anti-bnbery and corruption

See our statement on page 44

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



OUR 2020 SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

Our 2020

sustainability strategy

Aligned to the corporate strategy, our sustainability strategy
is built around four focus areas, which address major social,
economic and environmental trends to create value for our

stakeholders and the business.

Briish Land has been a signatory Lo the UN CGlobat Compact
since 2009 and our sustainability focus areas support several
of the UN Sustainable Development Goals [SDGs), as outlined
here Goal 17, on Partnerships, underpuins all our activities

Next year will be the final reperting date for our 2020 largets
We have made excellent progress agamnst many, while facing
challenges with others. More information can be found in our
Sustamnability Accounts and on our website

We are currently engaging with people across our business,
key stakeholders and external experis to develop our post 2020
sustainability strategy, which we will launch niext year

Qur performance on sustainability indices
We use industry-recognised indices {o track our
sustainability performance

Global Real Estate Sustainability
Benchmark 2018: Green Star

CDP 2018:
A- score

MSC) ESG Leaders Index*
2018: AAArating

DJS1 World 2018
Top 92~ percentile

FTSE4Good Index 2018:
Top 946 percentile

* MSC! disclaimer available a1
briishland com/sustamability/performance/benchmarks
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Qur focus areas

Wellbeing

Community

Supporting UN Sustainable Development Goals

2019 progress on 2020 targets includes

[ W PR Y
- EVEWGEEG SUT ol QUGG

framework, engaged with

stakeholders on pedestrranisation

apportunities and partnered
with City Asr Tech to pilot an
air puribying green wall 12020
target- prlot three interventions
to 1mprave ar qualityl

Published Design for Life’
research on {he polential
economic benehts of
placemaking for wellbeing,
partnering with WPl Econormics
[2020 target achieved earlyl,

- Submitted evidence for WELL
certification at 100 Liverpoot
Street, where we are targeting
Gold, warking with our suppliers
lo desugn for wellbeing and
productmty (2020 target

delver WELL certified office)

9% progress oo our Lotk
Charter at our places {2020
target- 100%). investing
£1.8m to make a lasting
positive difference to our
local commumties.

17% employee skills-based
volunteers,' up fram 16% in
2018 {2020 target 20%).' as

we partaer with CASS Business
Schoot to develop and support
skilled volunteers, maximising
socielal impact

81% employee volunteering
2020 target 90%) * Although we
continue to offer colleagues up
to four days’ paid ime off work
for volunteering each year, we
recognise that greater vatue (s
created through skils-based
volunteering, so this 1s where
we are increasingly focusing

1 Volunteering figures currently exclude our properly management team, {ormery
Broadgate Estates Lid, which was brought in-house this year



For more sustainability performance data, including progress on our 2020
targats and EPRA indicatars, see pages 195 te 197 of this Report

For our full sustainability perfarmance data, see our Sustainability Acceunts

2019 brtishiand cam/data

To hind out where we report on the key areas of the Non-Financial Reparting

Directve, see page 44

Futureproofing

Skills and opportunity

embodied carbon emissions
versus cancept design on cur
major developments (2020

target- 15% reduction] This
butds on a decade of work an
embodied carbon, commissiomning
and publishing studies and
partnerning with our supply chain
to improve performance

44% reduction in landlord energy
intensity acrass our portfolio
versus our 2009 baseline, through
our efficiency programme, working
with property teams and pariners
(2020 1arget- 35% reduction,

index scored)

96% o! electricity purchased from
renewable sources [2020 target
100%] and installation of the UK's
largest shopping centre solar array
at Meadowhall

2 sana

R R

L
- JER PODONE SURPIreD nHE i3IS

through Bright Lights, our skills and
employment programme, bringing
the total lo 1,232 since 2016,
working with suppliers, customers
and lecal partners (2020 target
1.700] Butlding on the success

of Starting Out in Retail pre-
emptoyment course, we launched
Starting Qut in Building Services
and piloted Retrain in Retail.

Since the launch last year we

have signed up 34/64 strategic
suppliers to our new Supglier Code
of Conduct {2020 target 100%), and
overall 774 suppliers are signed up

7 4% of our prioritised suppliers’
UK worklorce are apprentices
{2020 Larget 3%). With
unemployment at a record tow,
changes to education funding and
other external factars, our focus Is
increasingly on upskitiing people
and supporting people who face
barriers to employment into work.

Partnerships
for the goals

Through our award-winning partnership

with the National Literacy Trust, we have

hasted fun literacy events for aver 40,000
el ekl Iy SURYRN

e e Mhemes
chilzren ang given moi g Lhan 120,000 free

books since 2012, changing lives.

Hear from some of our

partners, as we work together

to make a greater difference:

"Research shaows that children who
enjoy reading, read more and go on
to have better opportunities in life,
British Land takes us to the heart of
many communities that we want to
reach. Qur cotlaboration is the
{argest and lengest partnership
between a business and charity to
improve literacy in the UK. The resuits
show how businesses can transform
educational cutcomes.”

Jonathan Douglas of the Naticnal
Literacy Trust

“The Recruitment & Skills Centre
at Fort Kinnaird contributes to
Edinburgh’s economic strategy,
supporting jobseekers into jobs and
reducing in-work poverty by helping
people progress in their careers.
When the public and ptivate sectors
share common goals and work together,
we can achieve so much.”

Rhona Mclinden of Capital City
Partnership, Edinburgh
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EXPERT PEOPLE

Changing how we work
to deliver our strategy

Our culture is evolving in line with our increasing focus on mixed use.

As we progress this sirategy, we are focused on the needs of the
businesses, peopie and cormnmunities wha live, wark and visit aur
places Our warkforce is made up of peopte who understand and
represent custamers’ needs and perspectives and reflect this in

their daily wark to create Places Peaple Prefer

Our values [betow) define aur ways of working at Beitish Land and
connect us every day to our wisn, purpase and strategy

We have identified four key themes of workplace culture which
support our business strategy. to become maore inclusive, more
flexible, more creative and more responsible

More inclusive
At British Land we celebrate inclusivity as part of our corporate
cutture Many intiatives are ted by groups of employees Above all

Bring your whole self our workptace is a place where employees can be themselves.

- Feel free to be ourselves and
help others feet the same Qur CEO Chrs Grigg 1s at the forefront of this change and

for the fourth consecutive year was ranked in the top 30 of

Ally Executwes by OUTstanding and the Financial Times He

1s supported by Darren Richards, our Head of Real Estate and

Executive Committee member, who heads our Inctusve Culture

Steering Commuttee A Corporate Social Responsibility Commitee

of the Board which has recently been established, chaiced by

Non-Executive Director Alistair Hughes, also has oversight of the

devetopment of our culture

- Bring all our passton
and energy to what we do

- Be open and inclusive

Listen and understand
- Take the time to listen
and teed back

- Listen with respect
and without judgernent

- Base our actions on what

We have well-established networks and forums which are led
by employees bath at work and outside the office. These have
continued {o thrive, hasting a total of 29 events this year

We recognise our role in supporting the wellbeing and rmental
health of aur employees. Our Wellbeing Commuttee has trained 47

we learn employees as Menlal Health First Aiders. The team have created a
Wellbeing Room to provide people with a calm retreal which can
be used by employees during the working day

Be smarter together
- Bring logether the In February we hosted an event for our occuprers at 201 Bishopsgate
right team alongside Lord Holmes 1o launch a Women's petwork for the buillding.

We remain in the top 10 best performers in the Hampton Alexander
review with over 33% women (the recommended amount} in the
combined Executive Commuttee and Direct Reports, We are in the
Top 50 Secial Mobility Emplayer index up from position 85 and are
just outside the top 100 for the Stonewall UK Equality index.

~ Own our responstbilities

- Support each other
to succeed

Build for the future
- Anticipate needs and
lead with courage

We continue to recognise that it witl be a long and steady path to
reduce aur gender pay gap and we remain focused on this with nor
Executive team who have 3 Jjoint management objective to reduce
the gap progressively Our gender pay gap 1s discussed in the
conversation with Chris Grigg on page 4 and more information can
be found at britishland.com/gender-pay-gap Our gender split can
be tound on page 112

- Grow our expertise and
learn from our experience

- Be accountable far
the legacy we {eave

Building a more inclusive workforce for the luture, our summer
internship programme recruits from a variety of backgrounds, and
tor the sixth consecutive year, we have supporied the Pathways

Read more about our inclusive cutlure and to Property programme. Across our portfolio, over 36,000 people
dwersity at britishland.com/inclusive-culture benehtted from our skills, employment and educatianal imitiatives
n the year,

30 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



More flexible

Like our customers, many of our employees wish to work more
flexibly, to better balance therr personal and professional ives
To accommodate this, we ensure that all employees have the
technology to work flexibly and are pleased that 15% de soana
format basis

To keep our peopte engaged in their wark, we (rwest i traning
and development, enabling them to work across different projects,
developing new skill sets and bulding their experience This year
we Invested more than £600,000 te train and develop our people.

We work with Cambridge University to run a Leadership in

Real Estate programme 75 of our statt have benefitted from
this programme since it was launched in 2014, Aigned with
cultural changes across the business, we have delivered the
‘Performance through Pecple programme in partrnership with
Ashridge Executive Education to support Briish Land managers
ir thesr role and we offer a range of ontine resources to help
emoloyees develop their skilis

Investing in tomorrow s workforce i1s a key prionity for British Land,
our cusicmers and partners, and this means we continuously need
ta evolve the way we work to accommodate the needs of people at
different stages of ther ives This includes reviews of our policies
and benehits, as well as the way we recruit, hire and train

More creadve

We recogrise the importance of collabarative working practices
to enhance creatwve ideas and thinking Acraess our portiolio,

we create places that encourage innovation through collaboration
and conneciion and we take the same approach with our

own workspace

The renovation of our head office in 2015 better integrated

the different teams withen gur business and provided more
collaborative space Thic year, we went further, introducing agile
wocking so people get to wark with different teams on a regular
basis and, 1n agdition, can work in shared space at our assels,
praviding a real insight inta the customer experience We believe
this environment encourages peogle ta be more entrepreneurial
in their thinking.

More responsible

We recagrise that as an owner and manager of space we have

a real responsibility to the peopte who accupy, visit ar live in

and around 1t In May 2018 we sold the third party porttolic of
Broadgate Estates, our properly managerment business which now
focuses excluswvely on our own portfolio This year, we integrated
this business within British Land and 1t now sits withan cur head
office Thus reflects the important role that cusiomer services
plays in our business as we progress our strategic focus on mixed
use places

We encourage all our people to support local communities
through volunteering and are pleased that 81% of the British Land
team was involved volunteening this year, including roles as chanty
trustees and school governors Since 2017, 48 employees have
signed up to the Step on Board programme, an external service
that supports employees to volunteer as non-executive directors
andg irusieas of cihiarifies &ng voluniary argamsalions

Our "Quarterly In Conversation’ [QIC] group of senicr managers 1s a forum which facilitates discussion across leams, generaling new
ideas and enabling our teams 1o learn from each other s experience 1t meets quarterly with the CEQ and for a member of the Board.
providing a two-way dialogue that keeps people at every level of the busness better informed
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Focused on our strategy

£12.3bn

Portfolio valuation

6.4 years

Weighted average lease length to first break

(0.9)% 97.2%!

Total property return Occupancy rate

(1.6)% (4.8)%

ERV movement Valuation movement

1 Where occuprers have entered CVA or adrministration bul are stk Lable for rates,
these are treated as occupred If units expected (o become vacant are treated as
vacani, then the accupancy rate would reduce from 97 2% to 96 9%

Market backdrop

Macro-economic context

The backdrop through the year was dominated by the ongoing Brext
process. The UK recorded onty moderate GOP growth and the rate
of growth slowed n the final quarter Business confidence rermained
fragile and declined overali, with companies slowing Investment
decisions 1n the context of a possible 'no deal’ scenano. Consumer
senument rernained subdued, atbeit stabte A number of forecasters
including the Bank of England have reduced their growth projections
for the comng year with the outlook mixed. Unemployment remained
{low at under 4%, the lowest tevel since 1975 and real wage growth
strengthened as levels of ernployment continued at record highs

London market

The Londan investment market remained good, with £16bn of
transactions in 2018, slightty down on 2017, but more than any
other major ity globally Overseas buyers, who accounted for
more than 80% of deals remained active, although the make up

of buyers continued to evolve with demand fram China and Hang
Kong easing, but demand from South Kerea, Ausiralia and the
Middle East growing There was however a notable pause in the
early part of 2019 as Brexit uncertainty increased and the theme of
polarisation in investment demand continued as actvity focused on
tugh quality, well-tet or trophy assets, with less prime properties
pricing below expectations and at generally wider yields

The occupational market continued to show resiience with
above average take up. Serviced offices were the largest single
component of demand accounting for 17%, with banking and
hinance representing 16%. Vacancy 15 in ine with the 10 year
average and year-on-year, incentives were largely unchanged,
with prime rents moderately up in both the West End and the City
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Pricing has continued to polarise, with well designed, new or
refurbished space achieving a significant premium This is
evidenced by the fact that ¢ 5% of all space under construction for
delvery in 2019 15 already pre-let Supply has rernained relatively
constrained and some 30% of space previously expecled tc be
delivered 1n 2020 is not yet under construction, suggesting
development starts continue to be pushed back

Annual house price growth remained relatively subdued at 0 7% 1n
March 2019 and was weakest in London and the South East, which
reported declining prices The market for prime and super prime
continues to be challenging, with demand from overseas buyers
reduced partly due to political uncertainty in the UK and globally,
as well as changes to rules on capital gains tax on property
disposals for overseas investors

Retail market

Retail investment markets were weak reflecting continued
negative sentiment around the long term role of physical retail
Hawever, there I1s rgbust demand for well-let individual assets with
strong eccupational characterisiics or alternatve use patential
Irvestment volumes for muili-let assets have been low and those
that have transacted have often been at significant discounts 1o
book value Towards the end of the financial year however, it
became apparent that for certain types of mulli-tet assets,
valuations reached a point where return proliles were attracting
interest from a deeper pool of investors

The Gooupaiionat marke: Temained chalienging as more relaners
have entered CVA or administration, resulting in store closures
All retaiters are working to optimise their store networks to have
the rnight footprint to succead in an omni-channel environment
They are focused on the oplimal number of stores they need and
how much they are willing to pay for them and key to this 1s the
qualily and connectivity of the locations As a result, we have seen
polarisatien trends accelerate with the best quality, best located
retad assets, in the strangest demographuc locatwons which are
right sized and alfordable lo retailers continung to perform
relatively well whereas secondary locations, or those which

are too big to reflect local demand, have struggled

Despite these challenges, many retalers conlinue to perform well
and successful new entrants continue to emerge - as has atways
been the case However, whitst the key Christmas trading period
was generally stronger than expecled, the market is set to remamn
challenging overall Since the end of our financial year we have
seen a high protite CVA from Debenhams

Campus-focused Landon offices

At our London campuses, we create and rmanage some of the best
connected, most accessible space in London, atl located in vibrant
and exciling neighbourhoods. They provide world class, madecn
and sustainable offices alongside public spaces with all the mix

of amenities people expect af a modern workplace. These unique
carmpus benefits are the result of specific investment over many
years and represent a clear altraction lo businesses seeking to
hire and retain the best people.



People and businesses are working more flexibly, and their needs
change over time, droving demand for quality office space on more
flexible terms This 1s what Storey, our flexible workspace otfer
provides, Itis aperational across all three of our campuses and is
an integral part of our offering. It is differentiated from other flexible
office offerings in allowing occuprers 1o persenalise high quiality
office space thraugh their own branding whilst benefitting from
shared amenities 1n the building and all the benefits our campuses
offer The average size of our Storey customers 15 45 employees, and
with an average lease length of around two years it complements
aur core office offer while attracting a new market segment to
Brtish Land relatively new, fast-growing scale up’ businesses,
and specific standaione divisions of larger companies

Retail witll continue to play an increasingly prominent rote within
our campuses, notably at Broadgate, where our development
pipeline will detwer an additienal 393,000 sq ft of non-cffice space,
focusad on retad, leisure and diring space This will predorminantly
be at ground flocr, so although the total allocation will be just 12%,
it makes a highly wisible contribution to the campus. and has been
instrumental in hetping us sign @ more dwerse range of occuprer

A smaller, more focused Retail portfolio

Steuctural change in retai is fundamental and ongong Recognising
this, we have been refiring our Retail porifolio for several years and
have made good pragress with £2 9bn of asset sales since 2014

We have a clear wiew af the role retas will play in our business leng
ey We will locus on 855815 wiNCH are BS5 placed o suppaTT the
changing role of physical retail and enable retailers to succeed In

an increasingly omni-channel worid They will be high quality, wett
connected mulli-let centres accessible 1o calchment areas with
atiractve demographics They will have strong market pesihons, be
atfordable to retaslers, appropriately sized to reflect therr local market
and have the potential to become increasingly mixed use over time

Looking forward, we aim to reduce our Retall business to 30-35%
of the total, based on current valuations over the next five years
This implies further asset sales into @ market which is currently
mare chatlenging and 1s likely to reman so tn the short term

In this context. we will remain patient and opportunistic i our
approach and only progress disposals at the night price, which
deliver clear value and progress our long term strategy

Residentiat, principally Build to Rent

Build to Rent restdential 1s complementary to our existing expertise
and additive ta our rmixed use strategy The market 1s underpinned by
sound fundamentals, with housing generally undersuppled relative to
demand and ability to buy censtrained, making renting an attractive
option for a growing number of people Added to thrs, ownershipis
relatively fragmented, creating an opportunity for professionally-
managed, qualty space especially it London and the Scuth East

More details on the partfalio, properly performance, individual
developments and assets sold and acquired during the year can be
found in the detailed supplementary tables on pages 1856 to 194

Storey

Storey, our flexsble workspace cifer, launched in June 2017
i 15 a del:berately differentiated concept, providing quality
waorkspace an a shoct term basis Occupeers have the ability
to brand the space themselves whilst benefitting from the
shared facilities 1n the buiidings and the amenities across
the wider campus It has become integral to our campus
offering, helping us attract new businesses, typtcally from
the technology of creative sectors, as well as providing
cverflow or project space for occupiers on our core space

Twao years In, 1t 1S operational across 141,000 sq ft and
sur otars will maore than doutle s tonclude standatane

buildings as well as space of our campuses

Progress on our strategy

Strategi indicative S-year

priority husiness mix Progress

Campus-  55.40% - Progressing development on our

focused campuses and de-rislung thraugh
Of which

London Storey ¢ 5% pre-lets with 76% of our recently

Gffices ye.ov completed and commutted

developments naw iel or under offer
to 8 broad range of occuprers
- Creating options with 2 7m sq it
of planrung consents achieved
-~ Storey operatronal across
141,000 sq ft an alt three
campuses with further 141,000 sg
it wentified {inci. standalone locations)

- Srnart Places team established
with a clear sirategy te deliver digital
placemalkung across our places
Refocused 30-35% ~ Ebbbm of assets sold since April
Retail 2018, marginally above book value
wncluding @ mix of solus, leisure and
multi-let assets

Residential ¢ 10% - Further good pregress at Clarges

principally Mayfair, wath 23 units completed in

Build to the year, bringing total completed

Rent units to 25, a further two exchanged
and three under offer

- Canada Water planning application
submitted including 3,000 homes

- Further opportunities across
our porttolio
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Business review

(1.6)%

ERV movement

£239m

Acquisitions

Lettings and renewals

+0.4%

Portfolio performance

2.7m sq ft

Lettings and renewals ahead of ERV

Capital activity

Total

Valuation ERY Tield pmpzr:y

Valuatioh movement growth sheft relurn

At 31 March 2019 £m % % bps *
Offices 6,308 i 14 +2 49
Retall 5,577 (1) {38) +37 (6 &)
Residental 128 14.4) na na 16}
Canada Water 303 10 8] na na 3.1
Total 12,314 14 8) 1 4] +19 09

The portiolio value was down & 8% overall, with Retail valuations
down 11.1% Offices were 1 1% ahead, driven by developments
which werg up 11 3% The Offices porttolio saw positive ERV
nrnuﬁh halanced acrpes the l".m and Weet End with y;nldc
broad!y flat !n Retad, investar senumem remained negative

with CVAs and admmistrations putting further pressure on rents,
driving yreld expansion and ERV decline These difficulties were
most pronounced in department steres and smaller muiti-let
centres in areas with weaker demographics

Offices performed in line with the London Ottice benchmark
altheugh underperformed All Otfices by 100bps due to the strength
of regional offices within the Index Retait underperformed the
Retail benchmark, which saw vatues down overall. Multi-let centres
in weaker demographic tocations which were disproportionately
impacted by CVAs underperformed overalt compared to the
benchmark which includes long let assets which were typically
less impacted. As a result and reflecting the continued strength of
industnials where we have no exposure, the portfolio underperformed
the 1PD all praperty total return index by 550 bps over the penod

(19

Canada

Offices Retail Residential Water Total
From 1 Aprd 2018 €m im £m £€m &m |
Purchases 129 110 - - 239 |
Sates’ §500) (646} (359! - [.505 '
Development
Spend 212 31 11 21 275
Capital Spend 20 33 - - 53
Net investment (1390 1472)  (348) 21 1938}
Gross Investment Bé1 820 370 21 2,072
QOn 3 proportionally consslidated basis including the Group s share of joint
ventures and funds
! includes sale of B o wihch exchanged :n FY 18 and compleled in he

curreni year for £45m Jncludes sale of 12 Sainsbury s supersiores whlch
exchanged post year end lor E194m iIncludes Clarges residential sales of
£35%m, ol which £253m exchanged prior to FY 19 and comgpleted in Lhe year
and £18m exchanged post year end
We have completed or exchanged on £1 5hn of asset disposals
since 1 April 2018, bringung the total gross value of our investment
activity since 1 Aprnil 2018 to £2 1bn. In Retail, we made sales of
E646m, comprising a mix of non-core multi-let centres and
standalone retall or leisure assets Overall, sales were marginally
ahead of book value, with mulli-tet centres generally transacting
at a discount, and selus assets. particularly those with good
alternalive use potential, generally achieving a premium to book
value. We acquired Royal Victoria Place in Tunbridge Wells at
the start of the year for £92m. the centre offers good mixed use
potential and 1s well located in Lendon’s commnuter belt

We love being part of the Storey community. Before moving into our space in Appold Street we were part

of a co-working office, but with our team growing, we were at the stage where we had to get something of our
own. We needed something flexible, but representative, and we definitely found exactly the right fit. Storey
has been absolutely brilliant not only in helping us find the ideal office, but also in making sure everything
runs smoothly for our team every day. The Storey team are a delight to work with, and I'm excited to see

how the community Srows in the future.

49 Chris McCullough, CED & Co-Founder, Rotageek
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In Otfices. the mast sigrificant transaction in the peniad was the
sale of 5 Broadgate for £1bn [our share £500m] in line with book
value. Overall, this development generated 2 total property return
of 18% per annum for British Land

At Clarges, our prime resrdential-ted development in Maylair,

we completed on the sale of 23 units in the year for £335m,
bringing total cornpleted umts to 25 with receipts totaliing £359m
We have exchanged on two further units, bringing completed and
exchanged sales to £383m with seven units remaining, of which
three are under offer Clarges has been a highly successtul
scheme for us, having delivered total profits of £200m to date
with £34m sales to go, excluding those already under ofier.

Data and insights

We are continuing to leverage our insight into our ptaces, which
1s grounded in the data we callect across the partfolio on the
people who work at, visit and lwe around our centres and
campuses This data shows bow users interact with cur spaces.
for examptie how they choose to spend their time and money,
which brands they engage with and wha! they think of our
fac:littes and servces Our understanding e informing
development strategy at our campuses and providing valuabte
evidence n teasing discussions in an esvironment where brands
are very focused on taking the right physical space

This year, we rolled out a new data and analytics platform, whereby
nearly 1,008 retailers, representing two-thurds of our portfolio

contribute sales data in exchange for reports and benchmarking,
proveding our cccuplers wath a real msight into thewr customer base
and halpang us buid a clear picture of wheeh occupiers and centres
are performing weil. Over time, this information guides our asset
management and our investment activity, helping us allocate

capual efficiently,

At Canada Water, we have used insight to project the Likely needs
of the community as the scheme progresses and thig is shaping
the amount of retail, leisure and commanity space in our plans
This modetling builds on the expertise we have developed across
our campuses and retail centres by factoring in the benefits of a
mix of uses tor placemaking.

Sustainability

Sustainabilily 1s integrat to how we manage our business,

Qur actvittes have a real impact on the environment, our
custorners and {ocat communities and we recognise our
responssbibiy to manage those impacts This year we published
‘Design for Lite’ recsearch, quarthpng the potental economie
henefits and indivdual boost of putting wellbeing at the heart

of urban design, which is core lo creating Places People Prefer
Sustainability 1s mtegrated inte the standard tools we use across
our busness, from our Sustainability Breef for Developments,
naw In its 15" year, to our Local Charter, which sets out five ways
we make a lasting positive difference to our local communities
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At 100 Liverpool Street, our targest on-site development around
half of the oniginal structure and foundations were retained,
saving 7,200 tannes of embodied carbon, with a further 4,100
tonnes set to be saved through carbon-efftcient design and the
use of low-carbon materals We have worked hard to minimise
the impact of this development for customers, for example by
ustng an off-site consolidation centre to cambine deliveries,

we achieved a 20% reduction i trucks comuing to the site

We also worked closely with London transport partners to
ensure that fransport connections were unaffected and with
tocal shops and businesses whe lost ne trading days

Across our Broadgale developments, we are working in
parinersiup with our main contractor, Sir Robert McAlpine, ta
create a positive local legacy. Over 3.300 people have benehitted
from our Broadgate Construction team’s community activities
over the last two years, including tocal schoolchiidren, jobseekers
and people aifected by homelessness. Over 60 apprentices

and tratnees have developed thew skills through our Broadgate
construction activity over the same period We are also ensuring
that our projects directly benefit tocal businesses For example,
58% of construction spend at 100 Liverpool Street so far {{59m)]
has been spent in the City and neighbouning boroughs

At our managed assets, we continue to suppert people nto work
through Beight Lights, aur skills and employment programrne. At Fort
Kinnaird, Edinburgh, the Recruitment & Skills Centre celebrated its
fifth anmiversary this year Winner of the Estates Gazette Collaborators
Award ZU18, our innovalive collaboration INvoives counciis i £asi
Lothian, City of Edinburgh and Midlothian and partners such as the
Capital City Partnershup, Oepartment of Work and Pensions and Skii(s
Development Scolland. Since opening, the Centre has trained 2.663
people and helped 3,585 people inta wark, supparting around 140
employers each year, including our customers This improves
opportunities for peeple i surrounding neighbourhoods and creates
the skilled workforce that our custorners value.

(14

We just wanted to serve really good wine and

Ash — British Land gate us an opportunity to do
something really special, and people seem to really
enjoy that. We get a lot of positive feedback on the
area, particularly from people who remember it
decades ago and they're amased by how much

it's come together with the canal at its heart,

and it's getting better and better.

” Harry Lobek, Director, London Shell Co
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Qur strong sustamnability performance is reflected 10 our rankings
on external £56G indices, including a green star rating for the
unth consecutive year in the Glebal Real Estate Sustainability
Benchmark (GRESBI, CDP A- score (2017 B) and inclusion in the
FTSE4Good and Dow Jones Sustanability indices 2018 This year,
while we maintained our strong absofute performance in GRESB,
our relative ranking reduced to 4-stars. We have established a
Steering Committee te progress meeting the recommendations
of the Taskfarce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures and
conimue to reduce carbon and energy intensity across the
portielio, this year achieving 64% and 44% reductions, respectively,
against aur 2007 baseline.



Campus-focused London Offices

Operational and financial highlights

- Portfobio value up 1.1%, with the City up 1 9%
and West End up 0 7%

- Yields flat in the City, with moderate expansion
in the West End +3bps

- ERV growth of 1 4% across the portfolio

- Actwity generating like-for-like income growth
of 4 9%

- Leasing activity coversng 1.1m sq ft, adding
£21m to future rents

Campus operational review

80% af our Otfices are located on our three central London
carmpuses, each benefiiing from excellent Fansport connecinty
and vibsant locat netghbourhoods which are an important part of
their appeal Across these spaces we have made good progress
on our strategy to expand the mix of uses, which 1 the context
of our tcampuses means an enhanced teisure, dining and
enlertainment offering,

Broadgate

More than half our leasing activily this year has been at Broadgate.
where we made 739,000 sq it of letiings and renewals and agreed
rent reviews on a further 152 000 sg !t of space, overall 6 5% ahead
of ERV The most sigmificant included McCann, one of the world s
leading advertising agencres and TP ICAP, the global interdealer
broker who signed for 127,000 sq it and 123,000 sq ft respectively
al 135 Bishopsgate, both for a 15 year term

AL 100 Liverpgol Street, Mitbank, a leading internatianal iaw hrm,
has committed to over 70,000 sq it and despite the uncertamn
political backdrop, financiat services furrn Peet Hunt has signed for
40,000 sg ft_We have made good progress leasing on the retail
side, with space let or undar offer to Watches of Switzerland, Gant,
Kiehls and Nearm Organics alongside several high quality grab and
go operators These are typically smatier tettings, ranging from

300 to 6,000 sq ft, but are located on the station concourse or at
lower ground floor level, where the rent achieved can be more than
double that an the office space |on a per sq fl basis]

At 1 Finsbury Avenue, which has reached practical completion,

we are building 3 premium food offering, wath space let or under
offer 10 Bar Douro, a Portuguese restaurant sgecialising in small
plates and independent, high quality grab and go brands Nyokee
and Yolk These jo:n Everyman, the boutique cinema operator

who signed far a three-screen cinema covering 11,000 sq ft earbier
in the year. These lettings demaonstrate significant progress Lo
create a destination centre for food, retait and culture at Broadgate,
enhancing the appes! of our campus to prospective occupiers,
particularty those from non-traditionat sectors including
technology The most recent example 1s Product Madness, an
ontine gaming platform who are taking 31.000 sq ft at 1 Finsbury
Avenue on a ten year term Earlier 1 the year, technology company
Mimecast commitied to an additional 34,000 sq it bringing their
total cccupation 1o 113,000 sq ft

Under offer on a further 28,000 sq ft and i
negotiations on a further 479.000 sq ft

Investment lettings and renewals signed 1.2%
ahead of ERV adding £3m to future rents

317 600 sq ft rent reviews agread 7.1% ahead
of passing rent adding £0 9m to rents

Occupancy increased slightly to 97.7%; Regent’s
Place and Paddington Central virtualty full

5 Broadgate sold at book value {our share £500m)
generating an 18% pa totat property return

Elsewhere on the campus, we let 37,000 sq ft to commodities
broker Marex at 155 Bishopsgate and nearly 40,000 sq {t at
Srpaogate Tower, whore both Lquidner and TradeTech srpanded
their space We aiso completed 25,100 sq ft of short term lettings
to tech and protessional service businesses at 2&3 Finsbury
Avenue including CheckRecipient, Pog, and Tech Natian This
strong progress across the campus demonsteates Londen s

enduring appeal as a place to da business, despite Brexit

I B 1 LA

Dverail ihe camipus 3aW & VaUELoT uphifi of 1 §% dra
gains on our development properties and benehitling from
ERV growth of 1 2%

5

hh

¥

Paddingten Central

We have continued to make good progress evelving our retait

and dining offer at Paddington Central, This year, we have let
space to Vagahaonds Wine and a second canal-beat restaurant,
further enlivering the canat-side as well as Pure, and Department
of Coffee and Scciai Affairs at 2 Kingdom Street and Pati Mall
Barbers in Sheldon Square Total lettings/renewals at the campus
covered 43,000 sq ft, including 20,000 sq it of letisngs through
Starey with rent reviews an 78,000 sq ft of space agreed more
than 10% ahead of passing rent Occupancy across the campus

15 97 2%

There i1s real momentum building across the neighbourhaod,

with leasing interest from 3 range of seciors reflecting sigrificant
rwestment and regeneration ahead of Crossrat opening The campus
saw a valuation uplift of 1 9%, benefitting from yield hghtening of

1 bp and ERV growth of 0 9%

Regent’s Place

Al Regent’s Place, where occupancy 1s 98.7% our leasing actwily
covered 250,000 sq ft Our largest single letting was to Faceboaok
who are taking 175,000 sq ft on 10 year lease at 10 Brock Street in
the space to be vacated by Debenhams, This takes their eccupancy
at the building to 290,000 sq ft and s a strong endorsement of the
campus We have also (et 12,600 sq [t to Hays at 20 Triton Street
and agreed 34,000 sq ft of rent reviews, 9.1% ahead af passing
rent This activity supported ERY growth of 2 2% offsetting mitd
yield expansion of 3 bps to deliver an gverall vatuation uplift

cf 1.4%

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2619 37



PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

We are planning a re-brand of the campus, which we expect

to launch in the summer and are progressing plans tor a
programme of public realm improvements, which will enhance
existing connections wath Regent s Park, the residential areas to
the north and the Knowledge Quarter These will intraduce maore
green space and support a more diverse range of uses,
experences ang activiies throughout the year

Increasing the mix of uses

Non-pffice leasing at our campuses totalled 68,000 sq ft in the
year, primarily comprising retail, leisure and dimng, with the
largest single ietting to Everyman cinema at 1 Finsbury Avenue.

We have also locused on making smart use of public or shared
spaces through events and activities which enliven our space as
well as successful commercial events which generate income
This year, our campuses hosted 44 major marketing actvities
as well as a range of seasonal events to mark national occasions
such as International Women s Day, Mentat Health Awareness
Week and London Pride We were recognised by REVO for brand
experiences including Eon’s "Shot of Summer’ and a Bardeaux
Butterfly Bar, both at Broadgate Our Adidas experiencs held
last summer at Norton Folgate comprising sport, music and
“instagramable” moments generated around £30,000 rent for

a 10-gay event

Storey: our flexible workspace brand

We launched Storey nearly two years ago. it s a deliberately
differentiaied flexible workspace concept, prowding otSuprmers with
the opportunity to brand the space themselves whilst benehtting
from shared facitities in the buitding and the advantages aur
campuses provide This year, Storey opened at 2 and 4 Kingdom
Street [Paddington Centrall, and 3 Finsbury Avenue {Broadgatel
as well as at York House, WY in our standalone perticlia 115 now
operational across 141,000 sq ft and 15 90% let or under offer

Part of the business ratienate was the increasingly complemeniary
nature of core and maore flexible space, so we are pleased that 35%
of Storey occupiers by rent are existing customers of British Land
It has also beennstrumental in building our exposure {o the
growing technology and creatwe sectors, which account far

c 40% ol space let; recemt examples include Tryzens a prowider

of e-commerce solutions and AppBynarmics, an application
performance analytics company, wha both signed 1n the year

Storey continues to achieve altractive premiums to ERV of around
30% on total teased space with an average lease length of
23 months, and average accupier headcount of 45 people

(19

We love the progressive approach to design, the
open space and amenities, and crucially, access to
Suture talent. We think we've found the perfect place
Jor Mimecast to grow and continue to succeec

in London.

’, Neil Murray, Chief Technology Officer, Mimecast

38  BritishLand | Annual Repart and Accounts 2019

Looking forward, the Storey pipeline 1s 161,000 sq ft which includes
‘Storey Ciub’ at 4 Kingdom Street, a new concept providing ad hoc
workspace, additional meeting rooms, private dining venues and
event and workshop spaces for Storey occupiers. We have earmarked
more than 60000 s5q {1 in standalone space at Wells Stin Fitzrovia
and Grsman Road in Haggerston {exchanged in the year|

Smart Places

Thus year, our Smart Places team have {aid out a long term plan to
debiver digital placemaking across our Office campuses Thisisan
example of how we are evolveng our olfer to enhance the experience
for our occupiers, differentiating our space to drive long term
demand and deliver rental growth. Our Smart strategy focuses

on three care areas

- Tech hardware. ensuring we are pulting in place the right
materials and equiprnent in our buldings for the long term ~
efficient mechanical and electricat matertals which are
internet-connected, and can send and receive instruciions
according to an open-source British Land standard for data

- Building a data envirecnment bringing together data from across
our spaces and other seurces {o denve insight, smprove usage
of space and enable buiding control

- User expenence- developing platforms that atlow users to
engage seamlessly with their space, hetlping them to be
healttwer, productive and more engaged tn thesr enviranment

At our head office at York House we have successtutly trialled
hardware which measures space utilisation and are working with
third parties to generate insights from the data we have collected
We have standardised a Smart Buildings design guide which we
are using across all new developments and have started to engage
with accuplers to support them in making the most of our advanced
office developments, canstantly improving sur understanding of
what our occupiers want and how we will achieve this



Smaller, more focused Retail

Retail operational and financial highlights

- Total portfolio value down 11.1%, led by smaller
mutii-tet schemes which were disproportionately
affected by CVAs and administrations

- Yield expans:on of 37 bps overall

- ERVs down 3.8%

- Robust leasing actwvity with lettings/renewals
covenng 1 &ém sq ft, marginally ahead of ERY, strong
retention rate on renewals of 78%

- Further 1.8m sq ft of rent reviews agreed 2 3% ahead
of passing rent

- High occupancy maintained at 97%

Performance review

Leasing

In a challenging operating environment, our focus this year has
been on the day te day business of leasing and managing our

space Overall, leasing volumes have been ahead of historic tevels
at 1 6m sq ft, with the number of long term deals in tine with

o b shart tarem An PR
R HRC LR A S A sErlt'._.._:)

signed this year, demonstraling the way we are evolving our offer
to meet the needs of our occupiers whiist retaining {lexibility in our
estate 1o respond to new retailers and concepts
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We have had a successful year at Meadowhall, with 22 lang term
deals with new iettings to Skopes, Rock Up and Lacoste, and
upsizings from North Face and Fat Face Meadowhall has

seen nine consecutive months of year on year footfall growth,
demenstrating its strong and growing appeal, post our £40m
refurbishment Building on this, we are on site with a new
chitdren s playground and have an upgrade to the Dasis dinmg
quarter planned for the current year We are piloting changes

in the way we use retail space. including Meadowhatl Sessions, a
series of everung classes and a regular artisan market showcasing
the best in Yorkshsre produce which bath launched in the year

Across the portiolio, we have continued io welcome new formats
with Goldsmith's the sewellers opening their hrst out of town store
at Fort Kinnarrd and Empire cinemas launching their first new café
and cinema concept at SouthGate, Bath We have re-geared feases
with ma)jor tenants on a portfolio basis, including Boots at three
schemes totatiing 44,000 sq ft at 12.4% ahead of ERV and Argos al
six schemes totalting 61,000 sg ft broadly in line with ERY. We also
agreed a portfolio deal wath New Look covering 11 leases

Annualised rental impact of CVAs and
administrabions over the last fwa years of £14 9m;
£0 9m at assets subseguently sold, £5 Tm at stores
where rents have reduced and £10.Ym s at stores
subject to closure of which £6 3m has already been
let or in negotiation

Like for ltke income growth excluding the impact of
CVAs and administrations of 0 8%

Footfall down 0 %, 238 bps ahead of benchmark;
total sates down 0 5%. 140 bps ahead of benchmark

£6446m non-core assets exchanged since April 2018

CYAs and administrations

Across our portiolio, we are addressing the impact of CVAs and
admunistrations The annuabised impact of CVAs and administrations
over the last two years s £16 9m £0 9m at assets subsequently
sold, £5 tm at stores where rents have reduced and £10 9ris at
stores subject to closure of which £6.5m has already been let or
in negotiation This has disproportionately impacted our smatler
mulii-let centres especially those in weaker demographic locations,
and are generally assets that do not have a long term rote within
our porttolio Post period end, Debenhams also apolied for a CVA,
prior to which we had re-let their head office space to Facebook.
and had managed down our retait exposure with the sale of 3
standalone store in Clapham Qur exposure to Debenhams now
comprises four standalone and five stores in mutti-let centres

19

Broadgate gave us a chance. They trusted in a
new business because they believed in us and the
concept. We have a home now — a base so that we
can serve our food and delicious coffee every day.
It’s the kind of spot we were hoping for and
dreaming of.

99 Nick Philpot, Founder, Yotk
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Operational performance

Footfall was down 0.9% in the year, but we have continued to
outperform the benchmark [230 bps ahead] demonsirating that
despite changes in the way people shop, our centres are still
relatvely well placed Total sales, which take into account our
asset management intiatives, were down 0.5% outperforming the
benchmark by 1560 bps, although same store sales, which strips
out these impravemnents shaowed decline of 1 5% but was 160 bps
ahead of the benchmark Both metrics showed an improvement
ovar the year, and encouragingly, lurned positive in the last quarter
of the financial year. These figures onty capture instore sales and
exclude online sales where the physical store plays a key role,
ncluding shipping direct from store, an approach mare retaiters
are adophing, as well as click and collect and online purchases tirst
browsed in store

This year eight of aur commercialisation events were recogrised at
the REVO awards with three winners including best Pep Up Shop
for our Unmicorn Meadow at Meadowhail, best Malf Transtormation
again at Meadowhall, recognising the change that our refurbishment
has delivered and best Commaercial Event for cur Ultra-Violet

Bar at SeuthGate, Bath, marking our parinership with the

Bath Gin Company

Capital activity

We have a clear strategy to refine our Retail porticiio to deliver a
smalter, mare focused business, comprising assets that support
the changing role of physical retail, are right sized for their {ocal
markets and have the polential to become increasingly mixed use

In line with thal, we have made asset sales totalling £646m since

1 April 2018, comprising smaller, multi-let retait centres. non-core
lessure assets and standalone retail assets Dverall sales were 2%
ahead of book value, but multi-let retail has generally sold at or
below book, while stangalone retail and teisure has generally sotd
at or above book The most significant transaction was the dispesal
of 12 of our Sainsbury's superstores for £193.5m {our share),
modestly ahead of baok value, which exchanged post period end
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This brings total retail disposals over the last five years to £2 9bn
compresing the following core calegories

€m % %

scld since  tatal pertfolic 1otal portfolio

Asset class April 2014 March 2014 March 2017

Oepartment stares €682m 5% 1%

Superstores [standatone] £1,203m 1% 1%

Leisure £195m 3% 2%
Non-core rmultl-tet retail E790m
Total €2,870m

1. Pra-lorma lor post year end exchanged sate of 12 Sawnsbury s supersiores

We have a clear view of the value of gur assets, and have set out
the indicative shape of our business in five years, when we expect
retalt will comprise 30-35% of the portfolio, based on current
valuations We have the financial capacrty to progress our
developments without necessitaling assel sates, enabling us o
be patient and opportunistic in eur approach, so we benefit from
pockets of demand for particular asset types as and when they
anise, We will maintain this approach going forward and only make
disposals which deliver vaiue or signihcantly progress aur long
term strategy We have a strong track recerd of delwering on our
strategic goals hawving reduced our standalone superstore
exposure from 11% in 2014 10 1% today with just six standalone
stores rematning

Retad will remain animportant part of our business long term,
55 we will Coniinue 18 wivest i1 ICse 385l which suppont the
changing rote of physical retail and have the potentral to become
mixed use We have a clear set of criteria in terms of size and
location, the environment, mix of operators and senvices that we
use to evaluate our assels and these factors underpinned our
purchase of Royal Victona Place in Tunbridge Wells for £91 Bm at
the start of the year Here, we have commutted to a refurbishment
covering around two-thirds of the centre and have plans for a
redevelopment of the remaining third of the space, longer term,
we see potential to significantly expand the eix of uses

119

PureGym are delighted

to have finally secured
representation on Fort
Kinnaird. It’s proved to be

a great decision and was
actually our strongest ever
new site opening since the
business began 10 years and
238 gyms ago!

99 Duncan Costin, Property Directar,
PureGym



Development

ERY

Current Costto let/undsr

sqft Yalue complete ERY offer

At 31 March 2019 ‘oae £m im £m Em
Recently compieted 287 153 it g2 47
Commtied 1,330 714 252 950 437
MNear term 846 156 £0¢ 3%.4 -

Medwum term 2443
Canada Water Phase 11 1917

Cn a propartionaliy consobdated basis including the Group s share of josnl
ventures and funds [except area which 1s shown at 100%)

1 Total site area s 5m sq it Phase 1 consisis of Phase 1a, 1b, ic Detaited planming
submulted {or Phase 1a (576,000 sq Ak, outhne planning subrrilted for iotat Phase 1

Portfolio

Developments are a key element of gur tnvestment case as a
fundamental driver of sustainable value and growth for the long
term In the current market we see hmited opportunities to make
accretive acquisitions, so the capacity to develop s an important
competitive advantage Critical to our approach s the flexidoity
and optiarality we have created with the majonty of space in

our development pipeline either income praducing or held at

low cost, 50 we have attractive ophions we Can progress as and
when appropriate.

We actively manage our developrent nsk and pre-letting our space
15 an important part of that approach Reftecting our cantinued
successful leasing actmty. 76% of our recently completed and

committed developments are pre-tet or under offer and speculative
exposure remains low at 2 3% of portfolio gross asset value
Including our near term pipeling, this will be 7.4%, below our
internal risk threshold for speculative development of 8%

Construction cost forecasts cantinue to suggest that the rate of
growth has moderated from the tevel in recent years However,
there s a risk that the Brexit cuicome increases materials costs
and reduces labour supply in iuture years, potentially increasing
cost inflation above the expected 2-4% per annum Te mitigate this
risk, 93% of the coslts on cur commitied develepment programme
have been fixed

Campus developments: further enhancing the mix

of uses

Development has been an impertant drever of value over the year
Qur successful teasing activity has supported the rental tone at our
Broadgate campus while the benelit of our 4 Kingdom Street
development {completed in 20181 continues to support rental
growth at Paddington Central

Completed developments

1 Finsbury Avenue (287,000 sq fd at Broadgate has reached
practical completion, and we are 58% let or under offer by ERV
following 148,000 sq it of leasing activity Signings tncluded
Mimecast, Everyman and Product Madness and with four F&B
operators exchanged or under cffer In addition, we are allocating
72.000 sq It to Storey, leaving just 46,000 sq ft avaitable to tet

(19

Our employee buse is
approximately two thirds
under 30. People looking for
work will not only look for

a job now - they will look

at the environment they're
working in and the location
of the building as part of
their overall decision making
process. They are less likely
to choose an employer if they
don’t like what they see.

99 sStephen Guy,
Chief Integration Officer

and Chief of Staff,
McCann Worldwide
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Committed developments

Our cammutted development pipeline covers 1.3m sq ft lexcluding
1 Finsbury Avenuel. At 1 Triton Square [Regent’s Place] which is our
largest wholly-owned development covering 366,000 sq ft, the office
space is lully pre-lel le Dentsu Aegis Network on a 20-year leasg.

At Broadgate, we are on site with two developments together
delivering 856,000 sq ft. 100 Liverpool Street {521,000 sq ft) topped
ouln the penad, the fagade has now been installed up to level 10
and hit out of the interiors staried w April. It wsll ba one of Europe’s
smartest office buildings, with a single digital spine connecting
systems within the building to personabse elements of the working
enviranment including temperature and tight as well as monitor
the use of space. We are aiming for a WiredScore platinum

rating for internet connectivity and infrastructure and a Well Gold
certification for wetlbeing Sustainability has been integrat to the
design and delivery of tus buitding, by retaiming as much of the
existing structure as possible we have saved 7,200 tannes of
embad:ied carbon and are on track to save a further 4,100 tonnes
through carbon-effictent design and use of low-carbon matenials
More than half of the construction spend has been invested In the
Cuy and nerghbounng boroughs, ensuring tocal people benefil
{rom our development Following lettings to Peel Hunt and Milbank
this year, who join Sumitomo Mitsut Banking Corporation Europe,
the building 15 now 56% let or under offer by ERV At 135 Bishopsgate
(335,000 sq ft}, we are 90% let or under effer, with signings to
McCann and TP ICAP ths year, in addition to Eataly, the italian
marketplace which s 1along 44 00 <q #t on the gropnd floor
Across both buitdings, we are seeing good interest in the
remaining space

Near term pipeline

We have increased our near term pipeline to 866,000 sq ft with the
addition of 1-2 Broadgate where we achieved planning permission
duning the year This 531,000 sq it scheme includes 153,000 sg It
of retail, lersure and dining space, connecting Finsbury Avenue
Square with retalt at 100 Liverpoot Street and the Broadgate Circle,
creating a 350,000 sq ft retall, leisure and diming hub

At Norton Folgate lpreviously Blossom Street] we have consent
for a 335,000 sq it scheme compnsing 257,000 sq it of office
space alongside retal and residential space, to creste a mixed
use development which s in keeping with the historic fabric of
the area Our plans envisage 3 mix of floorpiates, 1o appeal to
smatl and growing businesses as well as more established
organisahions, particularly in the lechnology and creative sectors
and we are already seeing good nterest tn the space
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Medium term Pipeline

Our mediim term pipeline inciudes three office-led schemes
covering more than 1m sq ftin total. These buildings progress
aur rmuxed use campus vision and suppert future Income growth.

The most significant scheme 1s 2-3 Finsbury Avenve at Broadgate
Cavering 563,000 sq ft, the scheme adds 374,000 sq it to the
existing space which generates an income through short term,
maore flexible lettings, with 50,500 sq ft allocated to Storey. We have
also launched a 1,700 sq ft events space at 3 Finsbury Avenue
which requlanly hosts thought-leadership events, as well as yoga,
pilates and rneditatian sessions.

Al 5 Kingdom Street, Paddington Central, we have submitted a
revised planning application which would increase our consented
scheme from 240,000 sq ft to 429.000 sq ft The scheme includes
the opportunity to develop a former Crossrail works site which
reverts to British Land on comptetion of Crossrail, providing 80,000
sq ft of community, retatl, leisure and cultural faciiities, reflecting
feedback from focus groups and residents who we consulled on
how this space could best be used At the Gateway, we have
consent for 3 105,000 sg ft prem:um hotel

Retail development: enhancing and repositioning
our portfolio for the future

in bne with our disciplined approach to capital atlocation, we
consistently review our capital spending plans In the current
environment we would expect the averalt level af capital spend
an gur Retan portfolio to be (ower than hisiorically, However,
we maintain a range of apportumties across our gortfolto which
preserve our optionality but would only commit where market
condiions and long term prospects are supportive

Committed developments

At Orake Circus, Plymouth, we are on site with a 108,000 sq ft
lersure extension which will add 3 12-screen cinema and 14
restaurants The scheme is 67% let and under offer and we
expect ta reach practical completion in autumn 2019

Medium term pipeline

Our medium term pipeline 1s focused on mixed use opportuntlies
At Ealing Broadway, which will benefit from Crossrail, we are
working up plans for a 292,000 sq it scheme, and at Eden Walk,
Kangston fjointly owned with USS) our consented mixed use
development plans include 380 new homes, alongside shops,
restaurants and 35,000 sq ft of fiexible office space At Meadowhatl,
we have consent for a 333,000 sq k leisure extension but are
undertaking a review of our plans which 1s expected to conclude
towards the end of the year We have further opportunities at New
George Streel in Plymoutb, adjacent to our Drake Circus regional
retail centre which cover 43,000 sqg ft. In each ¢ase, our focus will
be on enhancing the mix of uses to best reflect the local market

Read more about gur development ppeline on pages 22 and 23



Canada Water: 53 acre masterplan for a new urban centre

in Central London

Highlights
- 5m sq ft mixed use development scheme

- Master development agreement signed wath
Southwark Council in May 2018

- Planming applicatian including detatied planning
subrmission an the first three buildings and outline
planning for the whole scheme submitted May 2018

- Net valuation movement down 0 8% to £303m;
Increase in gross valuation offset by costs incurred
in connection with planning

At Canada Waler, we are working with the London Baorough of
Southwark ta delwer a 5m sq ft mixed use scheme. inciuding 3,000
new homes alongside a mm of cammercial, retail and community
epace The site < torated between London Brdge and Canary
Wharf an the Jubilee line with access to the London Overground,
making it easily accessible from Canary Wharf, the West End,
Shoreditch and South West Londan ttwill also be an indirect
beneficiary of Crossrall, which will sigrificantly reduce pressure
an the Jubilee ine between Canary Whart and Bend Street

It covers 93 acres including the dock area, providing 48 acres

oi devewopabie {and

We started engaging on aur masterplan proposals in 2014 and
singe then have held over 120 public consultations and tocal
oulreach events These have attracted over 5,000 individuals who
have inputted at every slage and prowded 12,006 comments on

our plans, enabling us 10 shape a design that seeks to meet local
needs and aspirations Tegether with Southwark Council, we have
also developed a Social Regeneraion Charter which captures local
residents’ prioriies for the benefits of the development, and ideas
for how these can be delvered.

In May 20118 we signed the Master Development Agreement with
Southwark Council. This set out the terms of a new headiease
consalidating our holdings into a singte 500-year headlease with
Southwark Councit as the Lessor. Thus structure effecuvely aligns
the owne:ship of these assets, w.th British Land owning 80% ang
Southwark Council owning the remaining 20% Southwark Council
can parhcipate in the development of the sndvidual plots, up to

a maxunum of 20% and returns will be pro-rated accordingly.
This headlease becomes effectve en fullitment of several conditions,
most impertantly achieving ocutline planming censent for the whale
masterptan and detailed planning consent for the first three
buildengs which was also submitted (n May 2018

Since submisstan of our application, we have worked constructively
with Southwark Council through the complexities of the planning
process and we are targeting a July planning meeting.

The hrst three buildings total ¢ 576,000 sg tt and will provide

265 hornes of whech around 35% will be affordable Building Al

will prowide both residentiat and workspace and buitding AZ will

be focused on workspace and a new leisure centre, with both
orowiding 2 small amaunt of retaill at ground flaor K1 the thed
building witl be wholly residential

Potential funding structures will be explored when we have greater
vistbility on tireung, ahead of which we are already seeing interest
In the space from a range of sectors and discussions are underway
on several builldings In the meantime, the Printworks has become
an estzhliched live music venue freguently hosting crowds of up 1o
5.000 Ticket sales and wisstors are now over 80,000 from 23 shows
through the winter/spring season,

The net valuation maverment for Canada Water over the year
showed a marginal decrease, reflecting an increase in gross value
to £303m atirtbutable to progress on plannung and design offset by
cosis incurred in masterplanning the scheme.

119

Coming to the Paper Garden
means to me... conununity.

A nice way to come together with
others who have a similar mindset.
A great collaboration of me,
others, and nature. I get to try out
new things. like free writing and
cooking. It is part of myself,

to come closer to our planet and
unleash my inner self. Coming

to the Paper Garden means
everything to me, evervthing I do.

” Andras, friend of the Paper Garden
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Non-financial reporting disclosure

Reporing reguirement Key golicies include Where infarrnation ¢an be found in 1his repon an our impact and nsks Page
Environmental matters - Sustainability Policy’ - Shaping our thinking 26
- Sustainabifity Brief for Developments' - Our 2020 sustainability strategy 28
- Greenhouse gas reporting 45
- Managing risk in detivering our strategy 54
- Task force on chimate-related hinancial &2
disclosures

- Sustainzbility perfermance measures 195
Employees - Code of Conduct? - Changing how we work to deliver our strategy 30
- Health and Satety Policy? - Managing risk wn delivering our stratagy 54
Human rights - Code af Conduct? - Manaqung risk in delivering our strategy 54

- Modern Slavery Act Statement!
Social matters - Sustainability Policy' - Our 2020 sustainability strategy 28
- Code of Conduct? - Manaqging risk in delivering our strategy 54

- Locat Charter!
- Sustainability Brief for Developments!
- Health and Safety Pohicy?

Anti-bribery and - Anti-Fraud Palicy?
corruption - Anu-Brbery and Corruption Policy?
- Whistleblowing’
Business madel - Our distinct business madel 18
Non-financial KPls - Delwering on our strategy 20

- Qur 2020 sustainability strategy 28

I Avalabie on BN0shiand comfpolicies
2. Employee version available through our internal Employee Handbook Supplier version available on britishland com/policies

Supply chain

We ask suppliers 10 work 1n a way we believe 1s best practice te achieve our social, environmental and ethical standards. The effectiveness of
our policies in this area can be seen in our sustainabiity performance measures on pages 195 ta 197 We set out our supplier obligations 1n
areas such as health and safety, human rights, fair working conditions, anti-bribery and corcuption, community engagement, apprenticeships
and environmental management in our Supplier Code of Conduct

Human rights

Our respect for human rights 1s embedded 1n how we do business. We are a signatory to the UN Glebal Compact which supports a
core set of values, including human rights, and have made apprapriate disclosures in respect of the Modern Slavery Act. We are also

a member of APRES, an action programme on responsible and ethical sourcing across the construction industry For our performance
on aspects inciuding fair wages and diversity, see pages 196 and 197

Anti-bribery and corruption

We are committed to the lighest legal and ethecal standards in every aspect of our business. It 1s our pelicy to conduct business in a
fair, honest and open way, without the use of bribery or corrupt practices to obtan an unfaw advantage We prowvide clear guidance for
supptiers and employees, including paticies on anti-bribery and corruption, anti-fraud and our code of conduct. Alt ernployees receve
training on these issues appropriate to their roles and responsibilities
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Greenhouse gas reporting

Emissions intensity

Carban intensity across our portfolio has reduced by 64%

versus our 2009 baseline, achieving our 2020 reduction targe!
early, through the Nationat Grid decarbonisation and aur own
efficienty wnproavements We also continue to work towards

100% of electricity fram renewable sources as an RE100 partner
Despite changes ta our Retar and Offices portfolios and increased
reporiing across gur Residential portfolio, 96% of our power was
procured irom certified renewable sources

In 2019, we underiook energy efficiency projects ncluding
optimssing bunlding management systems, replacing ight fithings
with LEDs and installing ighting sensors These are expected to
result in annual energy use savings of £1.2m

Absolute emjssions

As shown in the Absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions tabte below,
total Scape 1 emissions increased by a net 29% reflecting the
mnclusion of gas combustion acress our residentiat partfolio for the
first time Howsever oue Retast and QFfces portfolios reduced

combustion of fuel by 13% this year, largely due 1o changes i pur

Scope 1 and 2 emissions intensity' (Tonnes CO,e)

porifalic Scope 2 location based emissions decreased by 26%,
iargely due to Mavional Gric decarborisation and changes inour
portfolio Scope 2 market based emissions decreased by 22%,
iargely due to reduced electricity use and our commitment to
renewables, including the installation of solar PV at Meadowhall

Absolute emissions Scope 1 and 2:

Year ended 31 March 201% 2018 2009
Dtfices: per m? net lpttable prea 0.044 0055 0118
Retail - enclosed: per m? 0.043 0.056 0174
Retail - open air: per parking space 0.049 D062 0108
Total managed portfolio: per £rn gross rental and related income? 50.22 5803 -
Absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions and associated energy use

Tonnes COe Mwh
Year endad 31 March 2019 018 2089 019 2018
Scope 1 Combustion of fuel:
Managed portfolio gas use and fuel use in British Land cwned vehicles 8,833 6,901 5,156 42,946 32,813
Scope 1 Operation of facilities: Managed portfolio refrigerant loss from
air conditioring 123 66 - - -
Sco;fe 2 Purchase of electricity, heat, steam and Location-based 20,188 27.301 41186 74,550 80,848
coaling for our own use: Managed pertfolio electricity
use for comman parts and shared services Market-based 1,457 1.875 - - -
Total Scope 1and 2 emissions {location-based) and assaciated
energy use 29,144 34,268 46,342 117,497 113,681
Proportion that is UK-based 100% 100% - 100% 100%
Absolute Scope 3 emissions — managed portfolio (Tonnes CO,e}
Year ended 31 March e 08
Landlord purchased energy: occupier gas and electricity consumption, upstream impacts of all purchased
energy lincluding the fuels of on-site vehicles) 35,99¢ 46,888
Landlord purchased water: upstream impacts 225 219
Waste management: downstream impacts 409 437

1 We have reported on all amission sources required under the Compamies Act 2006 [Strategic Repert and Directors’ Reports) Regulations 2013 and the
Campanies [Directors Report} and Limited Liabiliy Partnerships [Energy and Carbon Regartl Regulations 2018 I'the 2018 Reguiations ). These sources fall
withun sur consolidated financal statements and refale to head office actvtres and controlled ermissions from cur managed portfolio Scope | and 2 etrussions
cover 73% of our multi-tet managed portiolio by value We have used purchased energy consumplion data, the GHG Protorol Cerporate Accouning and
Reporting Standard [revised edition] and ermission factors from the UK Government s GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2018

? Gross Rental income [GRH fram the managed pertfalio comprises Group GRI of £482m {2018 £441iml, plus 10N% af the GRI gensrated by joint ventures and
Tunds of £27 bm (248 £398m], less GRI generated assets oulside the managed portfolia of £173m {2018 £235m)
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Financual performance
for the year was robust

Simen Carter, Chief Financial Ofticer
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Year ended 31 March 2018 2019
Underlying earnings per share’ 374p 34.9p
Undeariying Profitt £ £380m €£340m
IFRS profit (loss! before tax £501m  E{319)m
Dnadend per share 3G 08p 31.00p
Total accounling retura'? +8 9% [3.3)%
EPRA net asset value per share'? 947p 905p
tFRS net assats E£9506m  €8,689m
LTv!es 28 4% 28.1%
Weighted average interest rate* 2 8% 2.9%

See Glossary on website for definitions

See Table 8 wathin suppiementary disclosure for reconciliations to
IFRS metaics

3 See Note 2within nancral slaterments for calcutation
4 See Note 17 wilhin financial statements for calculation and reconciliation to
RS metaics

5 Dn aproportionally consolidated basis including the Group s share of joint
ventures and funds

N

Overview

Firancial perlormance for the year has been robust in the context of
significant sales aver the last 2 years, an especially chaltenging retail
enviranment gnd an unpredictable UK macroecanomuc backdrop
Underlying earnings per share [EPS] are down 6 7% at 34 9p, while
Underlying Profii 1s down 10 5% at E340m, primarily reflecting one
off surcender premia ot £20m received in the prior year

Setting aside the ane-oft surrender premia, Undertying EPS1s
marginally down 1% with strong hke-for-like rentat growth in Cfhices
and the benekits of share buyback mostly offsetting the impact of
sales and CVAs and admerustrations amangslt retaiters Nel sales
activity ta date 15 expected o reduce EPS next year by 2 4p with
proceeds to be deployed wnto our development programme

The existtng committed programme is expected to defiver 4 5p

EPS accretion once fully lei and 15 already 76% pre-let or under

offer ~ equvalent to £48m pa of fuiure rental Income secured.

Valuations have reduced by 4 8% on a proportionally consolidated
basts although this was partially offset by the smpact of the £200m
shares bought back in the period resulting 1n an overall EPRA aet
assel value [NAV} per share decline of 6 4%

Since Apnit 2018, we have completed £2 1hn of gross capital
activity This inctudes £1 1bn sates of income producing assets,
primarily eur 50% nterest in 5 Broadqgate for E0 Sbn, which sold
at book value, representing a net initial yietd of 4% In addition, we
made Retall sales totalling £0.6bn, 2% ahead of book value, at an
average yreld of 5 7% We exchanged or completed on £359m of
residential sates, £253m which exchanged prior to this financial
year and £18m exchanged post year end

We rermain thoughtful about the use of proceeds from disposals

As well as continuing to Invest into our development pipeline, we
extended the share buyback programme by £200rn fotlowing the
sale of 5 Broadgate, which was completed in the year, at an average
orice of 5%4p per share adding 10p to NAV Gwen the current share
price discount, we continue to believe that reinvesting :n our portfolio
through our own shares represents an effective use of capial so,
following further recent retail sales, we are extending the buyback
by up to a further £125m

Gur financial position remains strong LTV has decreased by

a further 30bps during the peried to 28 1% despite the valuation
fall The reduction was driven by net sales reducing LTV by 330bps,
partiatly offset by the share buyback and investrnent intc the
development programme Our weighted average interest rate
remains low at 2 9% We have been active 1n debt markets, with

£1 4bn of new hinancing arranged

Presentation of financial informaton

The Group financiat statements are prepared under IFRS where
the Group's interests in joint ventures and funds are shown as a
singte ling item on the mcome statement and balance sheet and
alt subsidiaries are consolidated at 100%

Management considers the business principally on a
proportionally consolidated basis when setting the strategy,
determining annual priorities. making invesiment and financing
decisiens and reviewing performance This includes the Group s
share of jomnt ventures and funds on a line-by-tine basis and
excludes non-contrelling interests in the Group’s subsidiaries.
The hnancial key performance ndicators are also presented on
this basis

A summary income statement and surmmary balance sheet which
reconcile the Group sncome statement 1o British Land’s interesis
an a proportionally consolidated basis are included 1n Table A
within the supplementary disclosures.

Management moritors Underlying Profil as this more accurately
reflects the underlying recurring perfarmance of our core property
rental activty, as opposed to IFRS metrics which inciude the
non-cash valuation movement an the properly portfoho 1115 based
on the Best Practices Recornmendations of the European Public
Real Estate Association {EPRA} which are widely used alternate
metrics ta thetr IFRS equivalents

Management also mionitors EPRA NAV as this provides a
transparent and consistent basis to enable comparison between
European property companies Linked io thus, the use of Total
Accounting Return allows management to monstar return to
shareholders based on movements i a consistently applied
metric, being EPRA NAV, and dividends paid

Loan to value (proportionally consobdated] 1s atse monitored

by management as a key measure of the levet of debt employed
by the Group (o meet s strategic objectives, along with a
measurement of risk [t also allows comparison to other property
carmpantes whe similarly momtor and report this measure
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Income statement
1. Underlying Profit

Underlying Profit 1s ihe measure that 1s used internistly to assess
income performance This 1s presented below on a propartionally
consaldated basis No company adjustments have been made In
the current or prior peried and therefore this 1s the same as the
pre-tax EPRA earnings measure which inciudes a nurnber of
adjustments to the IFRS reported profit or loss before tax.

2018 209
Secuon £m tm
Gross rental income 4613 576
Property operaling expenses {371 |44}
Net rental income 12 576 532
Net fees and other income 15 10
Administrative expenses 13 (83 81)
Net financtng costs 14 {128) 11211
Underlying Profit 380 340
Man-controthing mterests i
Underlying Profit 14 12
EPRA adjustments' 107 1671)
IFRS profit/(toss] before tax 2 501 (319)
Underlying EPS 11 37 4p 34.9p
IFRS basic EPS 2 487p {30.0ip
Dwidend per share 3 3008p 31.00p

EPRA adjustments consisl of anvesiment and development property
revaluations, gainsflosses on investment and trading property disposals,
changes i the far value of financial instruments and associated close oul
cosls These ems are presenled in the capial and other cotumn of the
consobdaled income statement

1.1 Underlying EPS

Underlying EPS 1s 34 9p, a dectine of & 7% on the prior year

This reflects Underlying Prohit dechine of 10 5%, partially offsel by
the impact of share buyback campleted in the year which added

1 2p in the period.

% 2 Net rental income

The £44m decrease in net rental income 15 primantly a result of the
one-off surrender prermia received in the prior year and the impact
of net divestment aver the last two years The impact of CVAs and
admurustrations has been more than offset by like-for- ke grawth
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Net sales of iIncome producing assets over the |ast two years was
over £2bn. Trus has reduced net rents by E21m in the year, including
£14m from the sale of 5 Broadgate in June 2018, and £3m from

the sale of The Leadenhall Building in May 2017 As well as funding
the £500m of share buybacks we have completed over the last

18 months, proceeds from these sales are being reinvested in the
development pipeline, which 1s expected to deliver £63m in rents

in filure years and i1s already 76% pre-let or under offer (£48m)

Occupler CVAs and administrations in the Retait portfolio have
reduced net rents by £14min the year. Excludmg this impact,
like-for-like rental growih across the portfolio s 2.4%, or €£15m This
has been driven by 4 9% growth withun Offices, resulting from strong
leasing actmnly across aur campuses, particularly at 4 Kingdom
Street. Retarl like-for-Uke growih is up marginally at 0 8%

1.3 Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses have marginally decreased this year as

a result of lower vaniable pay The Group s operating cost ratio has
increased by 180 bps to 18 7% 12017/18 16 9%l as a result of lower
rental income following sates actwity.

1.4 Net linancing costs

Financing activity undertaken over the tast two years has reduced
costs by E5m in the year, more than offsetting the impact of
increases sn markel interest rates. Financing actvity includes

the amendment and extension of our largest syndicated RCF at
£735m, with 12 banks, at an imtiat margin of 90 bps and maturity
of five years, as well as the cepayrment of E223m [E¥11m our sharel
of secured Broadgate bonds This reteased 1-2 Broadgate and

2-3 Finsbury Avenue trom the securitisation, providing greater
flexibility and optionality over these buitdings as we continue lo
pregress our vision for Broadgate

The reduction tn hnance costs as a result of proceeds from net
dwestment has been pactially offset by development spend and
share buybacks

We have a risk managed approach to interest rates on debt
At 31 March 2019, on a spot basis, the interest rate on 87% of
our debt 1s hedged On average, we are 63% hedged over the
next five years, based on current commitments



2. IFRS profit or toss before tax

The main difference between IFRS profit or toss before tax and
Underlying Profit 15 that IFRS inciudes the valuation movement
on investment and development properties, fair value moverments
on financiat instruments and capital financing costs in addition,
the Group’s investments 1n joint ventures and funds are equity
accounted In the IFRS income statement but are Included on

a proportionally consolidated basis within Underlying Profit

The IFRS loss before tax for the year was £319m, compared with
a profit belore tax for the prioe pertod of £501m This reflects the
change 10 valuation movement on the Group's properties which
was £834m less than the priar period, and the capiiat and other
income result from joint ventures and funds being £115m less
than the prior period, both driven principally by outward yield shift
of 37 bps and ERV decline in the Retail portfobio n addition, the
result on disposal af investment properties and invesiments was
£36m lower than the prior pencd These items were partially offset
by £78m of addional trading praperty sale profits, as & result of
the compielion of 5 number of Clarges uils it he peniod, along
with a £117m decrease in capital financing charges.

tFRS basic EPS was (30 0lp per share, compared ta 48 7p per
share in the priar year, driven principally by the decline in property
valuations The bassc weighted average number of shares in 1ssue
dureng the period was 971m (2017/18 1,013m)

3. Dividends

As previously announced, we have increased the dividend by 3 0%
for the year to 31 March 2819 bringing the full year dwidend to

31 March 2019 10 31 Op The dividend pay-out ratio s 89% for the
period [2017/18. 80%) British Land will recommend ta shareholders

a final dwvidend payment for the year ended 31 March 2019 of 7 75p.

Subject to approval by shareholders, payment will be made on

2 August 2019 e shareholders on the register at close of business
on 28 June 2019 The thinal dividend witl consist of two components
a Praperty income Distribution of 3.875 pence and a Non-Property
incame Distribution of 3.875 pence No SCRIP alternative wall

be offered.

Balance sheet

2518 2099
Secton Em Eem
Properties at valuation 13,716 12,316
Other non-current assels 185 151
13,907 12,467
Other net current kiabilies 1348} 1297}
Adjusted nel dabi b (2.573} {3,521}
Qther non-current kabilities - -
EPRA net assets 9,560 8,649
EPRA NAV per share 4 967p 905p
Non-cantroiling interests 254 211
Other £EPRA adjustments’ {308 (172)
IFRS net assets 5 2506 8,689

Properlionally cansohidated basis

I EPRA nel assels exclude the mark-la-market on denvatives and related
debt adjusiments, the mark-1e-market on the convertible bonds as wetl as
deferred taxalion on praperty and dervatve revatuations Theyinclude the
trading properlies at valuation {rather than lower of cost and net reabisable valuel
and are adjusied for the dilutive impact of share oplions No ditution adustrment is
made for the £350m zero coupan convertible bond rmaturing in 2020 Details of the
EPRA adjustrmenss are included in Table B within the supptementary disclosures

4. EPRA net asset value per share

The & 4% decrease in EPRA NAV per share reflects a valuation
degrease of 4.8% across the portfolio Valuation gamns in the Office
portfotic of 1 1% have been more than offsel by an 11 1% fatl in
Retad values as a result of weakening investment senniment and
a challenging occugational market

Offhice valuations were up 1 1% driven by strong leasing at our
developments which were up 10 8%, including 135 Bishapsgate
where values are up 33% with ERY growth of 1 4% across the
standing investments and retatively stable yields Thus reflects
specific asset lettings we've completed and the resulting
washover effect

Valuations in Retail are dowa 11 1%, with cutward yteld shuft of

37 bps and ERV decitine of 3 8%, reflecting the impact of CVAs and
adoumistrations on both the investment and occupationat markets,
pacucularly at our smalier retail assets outside the South-East and
department stores However, the performance within the portfolio
has been varied, and we continue to see ERV growth at huigh
quality, well positioned assets with good supply/dernand tension
Investment demand remains for long term, secure tncome assets

While financing activity has decreased NAV by 7p. 1t will deliver
cost savings and the overail impact 1s NPV neutral. It includes the
repayment of higher coupon debt including a partion of secured
Broadgate bonds and termination of the assocrated mterest rate
swaps Completion of the £200m share buyback programme
during the year has contributed 10p te EPRA NAV

5. IFRS net assets

IFRS net assets at 31 March 2019 were £8,689m, a decrease of
£817m from 31 March 2018 This was primarily due to IFRS loss
before tax of £319m, along with £2%8m of dividends paid and
£204m of share purchases under the share buyback programme
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Cash flow, net debt and financing
6. Adjusted net debt'

Adjusted net debf s 3 proportionally consolidated measure it represents

the Group nel debl as disclosed i Nole 17 (o the hnancal statemenis

and the Group s share of joint venture and funds net debt excluding the
mark-lo-market on dervatives, related géebt adjusiments and non-controiling
nteresis A recanciliation between the Group nel debt and adjusted net debt
s included in Table A withun the supplementary disclosures

Net sales reduced debt by £970m in the year Completed sates
ncluded 5 Broadgate for £500m (BL share] and. in ine with ur
sirategy of focusing o0 mulitelel ascets, 57 standzions accate totalhng

w TR FEF

£367m [BL share) and three retail parks |Cheitenham Gallagher,
Leeds Westside and Bath Weston Lock] We have completed
purchases of £233rm including Royal Victora Place in Tunbridge Welis

We spent £223m on developments and a further £44m on capital
expenditure related to asset management on the standing portfolio
The value of recently completed and commutted developments is
£867m, wath £263m costs to come Speculative development exposure
15 2 3% of the partlolo There are 866,000 sq It of developments in our
near term pipeline wath anuicipated cost of £404m

7. Financing
Graup Praportionally consolidated

2018 2019 2018 019

Net debt / adjusted

net gebt £3,046m €2,765m  £3973m £3,521m
Principal amount of

gross debt £3.007m £2,881m (4,265m £3,895m
Loan to value 22 1% 22.2% 28.4% 28.1%
Weighted average

interest rate 20% 2.2% 28% 2.9%
Interest cover 53 4.9 40 38

Weighted average

maiunty of drawn debt 8.1years 7.3years Béyears 8.1years

1 Group data as presented in note 17 ol the hinancial statermenis The
proportionally consolidated figures include the Group s share of joint
venture and funds net debt and exclude the mark-to-market on
derivalives and related debl adjustments and nan-controlling interests
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Over the year, we completed £1 ébn of hinancing actiwty, including
£1 4bn of new financing arranged

This includes the amendrment and extension of our largest
syndicated RCF at £735m, with 12 banks, at ann imual margin of

90 bps and matunity of five years We also arranged new bi-tateral
RCFs totaling £140m for 5 years Each of these fac:lities may be
extended by a further two years at our request and an the relevant
bank’s approval.

We issued £231m new US Private Placement nates to four
investors for 7-10 years laverage of 8.2 years), at blended pricing
of 3 month Libor +124bps.

We are pleased with this angoing support from all the tenders,
which provides liquidity and Hexible inance from diverse sources

We also repaid £223m [£111m our share] of secured Broadgate
bonds, releasing 1-2 Broadgate and 2-3 Finsbury Avenue from the
securthisation, providing greater flexibility and optionality over these
buildings as we continue to progress our vision for Broadgate

At 31 March 2019, our proportionally consolidated LTV was 28 1%,
down 30 bps from 28.4% at 31 March 2018 due 1o net disposals,
offset by share buybacks, development spend and the valuation
deckine This positions us well te enable investrnent into our
development pipeline Note 17 of the financiat statements sets out
the calculation of the Group and proportionally cansolidated LTV

Our liability and debt management activity has enabied us to keep
our weighted average interest rate low at 2 9%, despite the impact
of net divestment and increase in market rates Our interest cover
has reduced to 3 8 times as a result of proportionately lower
Uaderlying Profits

Our weighted average debt matunity 1s largety unchanged at
8.1 years.

At 31 March 2019, British Land had £1 8bn of commutted unsecured
revobwing bank facitities, £1 5bn undrawn Based on our current
commitments, these facilities and debt malurities, we have no
requirement to rehinance until late 2022

The current uncertain enaronment retnforces the importance
of a strong balance sheet and we have capacity (o progress
opportunities when the time is right

Lsir.

Simon Carter
Chief Financial Officer



FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES

Financial strength and
balanced approach

To deliver our property strategy, we focus on having an appropriate

balance of debt and equity funding.

Leverage

We manage our use of debt and equily finance to balance the
benefits of leverage agamst the risks, including magnification

of property returns. A loan to value ratio {'LTV ) measures our
leverage, primanly on 3 proportionally consolbidated basts
including our share of joint ventures and funds ang excluding
non-controlling interests At 31 March 2019, our proportionalty
consolidated LTV was 28 1% and the Group measure was 22 2%
Our LTV 1s monitored in the context of wider decisions made by
the business We manage our LTV through the property cycle
such that our financial position would rermam robust in the event
or a signiiicant fait i property vatues This means we 4o nat
adjust aur approach to leverage based only on changes in
property market yrelds Consequently, our LTV may be hugher

in the low paint 1n the cycle and will trend downwards as market
yietds tighten

Debt finarice

The scale of our business combined with the qualily of our assets
and rental income means that we are able to approach a diverse
range of debt prowiders o arrange finance on attractive terms
Good access to the capital and debt markelts 1s a campelitive
advantage, allowing us to take advantage of opportunities

when they arise The Group’s approach to debt financing far
Briish Land 15 (o raise funds predominantly on an unsecured
basis with aur standard hinancial covenants [set out on page 53}
This prowides flexibility and low operational cost Our joint ventures
and funds which choose to have external debt are each financed
in ‘ring-fenced’ structures without recourse to Brish Land for
repayment and are secured on their relevant assets Presented
on the following page are the five guiding principles that govern
the way we structure and manage debt

Monitoring and controlling our debt

We morator our debt requirement by facusing principally on
current and projected borrowtng levels, available facilities,

debt maturity and interest rate exposure We undertake
sensitivily analysis to assess the impact of proposed transactions,
movements in interest rates and changes in property values

on key balance sheet, liquidity and profitability ratios We also
consider the risks of a reduction in the availabidity of finance,
including a temporary disruption of the debt mackets. Based on
our current commitments and avallable facities, the Group has
no requirement to refinance until late 2022, Bnitish Land’s
commutted bank facdities total £1.8bn, of which £1 Sbn was
undrawn at 31 March 2019

Managing interest rate exposure

We manage our interest rate profite separately from our debt,
considering the sensitvity of underlying earnings to movements
in market rates of tnterest aver a five-year period. The Board sets
approprsate ranges of hedged debt over that period and the longer
term. Our debt inance 1s raised at both fixed and vaniable rates
Derwvatives [primarily interest rate swaps and caps| are used o
achteve the desired interest rate profile across groportionally
consoclidated net debt At 31 March we had interest rate hedging
on 87% of our debt [spot], and on 63% of cur projected debt on
average over the next five years, with a decreasing profile over
that period Accordingly we have a fugher degree of certainty on
interest costs (n the short term and achieve market rate inance in
the medium to longer term. The use of derivatives 1s managed by
a Denwatives Comeritiee The interest rate management of joint
veniures and funds 1s considered separately by each entity’s board,
taking into account appropriate factors for its business

Counterparties

We menitor the credit standing of our counterparties to minimise
risk exposure 1n placing cash deposits and arranging derivatives.
Regular reviews are made of the external credit ratings of the
counterparties

Foreign currency

Our policy 15 to have no matenal unhedged net assets or Labiliies
denomenated in foresgn currencies. When attractive terms are
available, the Group may choose 1o borrow 1n currencies other
than Sterling, and will fully hedge the toreign currency exposure
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FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES CONTINUED

Our five guiding principles

1

Oiversify our sources of finance

We monitor finance markets and seek to access different sources of hinance when the relevant market conditions are
favourable te meet the needs of our business and, where appropriate, those of our joint veritures and funds The scale and
quality of our busmness enables us to access a hroad range of unsecured and secured, recourse and non-recourse dedt We
develop and maintam long term retatianships with banks and debt investers. We aimn te avoud reliance on particuiar sources of
funds and borrow from a {arge number of lenders from different sectors (i the market across a range of geographical areas,
with over 25 debt providers in bank facilities and private placements alone We work to ensure that debit prowviders understand
our business, adopting a transparent approach to provide sufficient disclosures to enable them to evaluate thewr exposure
within the overall context of the Group These factors increase our attractiveness to debt providers, and in the last live years
we have arranged £4 7bn [British Land share £4.2bn) of new finance in unsecured and secured bank ean facilities, Sterling
bonds, US Private Placements and convertible bonds. In addition we have existing long dated debentures and securitisation
bonds, A European Medium Term Note programme s maintained to enable us to access Sterling/Eurg unsecured bond
markets when 1115 appropriate for our business

£3.9bn

totat drawn debt (proportionalty consolidated)

Phase maturity of debt portfotio

The maturity prohile of our debt 1s managed with a spread of repayment dates, currently between one and 19 years, reducing
our rehinancing nsk i respect of ming and market condihons As a result of our linancing actmvity, we are ahead of our
preferred refinancing date horizon of not less than two years. In accordance with our usual practice, we expect to refinance
facilities ahead of their maturities

8.1 years

average drawn debt matunty [proportionally consolidated|

Mairdain tiguidi

In addition to our drawn debt, we aim always to have a good level of undrawn, committed, unsecured revolving bank facitities
These faciities prowide financial Liquidity, reduce the need to hold resources in cash and deposits, and minimise ¢osts arising
from the difterence between borrowing and deposit rates, while reducing credit exposure

We arrange these revolving credit facilihes in excess of our comrnitted and expected requirements to ensure we have
adequate financing avarlabitity to support business reguirements and new spporturities

£1.5bn

undrawn revolving credu faciliies

Maintain ftexibility

Cur facilities are structured 1o provide valuable flexibility for investment activity execution, whether sales, purchases,
developments or asset management initiatives. Our unsecured revolvung credit facilities provide full operational flexibility
of drawing and repayment fand canceliation if we require) at shert notice without additional cost These are arranged with
standard terms and financial cavenants and geaerally have maturities of live years Alongside thus, our secured term debt
in debentures has good asset secunty substitution rights, where we have the ability to move assets in and out of the
securty pool

£1.8bn

1otal revolving credit facilities

32

Maintain strong metrics

We use both debt and equity hnancing We manage LTV through the property cycle such that our linancial position would
remain robust in the event of a significant fall in property values and we do nol adyust our approach to leverage based on
changes in praperly market yields. We manage our interest rate prolile separately from cur debt, setling appropriate ranges
of hedged debt over a five-year period and the longer term

We maintained our strong senior unsecured credit rating | A') and long term IDR credit rating ['A-')

28.1% A 3.8x

LTV {proportionally consolidated] scrior unsceured credi rating interest cover {praportionally
consolidated]
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Group borrowings

Unsecured financing for the Group includes bilateral and
syndicated revolving bank facitities hwith initial terms usually
of five years, alten exiendablel, US Private Placemenis with
maturities up o 2028, the Sterlisg unsecured bond maturing
#2029, and the convertsble bond matuning 1n 2020

Secured debt for the Group (exciuding debt in Hercutes Uit Trust
which 1s covered under ‘Borrowings in our joint ventures and
funds’]1s provided by debentures with maturities up to 2035.

Unsecured Borrowings and covenants

There are two financial covenants which apply across all of the
Group's unsecured debt These covenants, which have been
consistently agreed with all unsecured lenders since 2003, are.

- Net Barrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capitat
and Reserves

- Net Unsecured Borrewings not to exceed 70% of
Unencumbered Assets

There are no income or Interest caver cavenanlts an any of the
unsecured debit of the Group

The Unencumbered Assets of the Group, not subject to any
securily, stood at £6 ¢ billion as at 31 March 7039

Although secured assets are excluded from Unencumbered Assets
for the covenant calculauons unsecured lenders benefit from the

ad dabt zod the o
&5 2 E ifeT

cash fiow from [hern Durmg the year ended 31 March 2019, these
assets generated £16 mullion of surplus cash after payment of
nterest In addition, white invesiments in joint ventures do not
form part of Unencumbered Assets, our share of free cash flows
generated by these ventures 15 regularly passed up to the Group.

Unsecured financial covenants

2015 018 017 2018 2819
Ar 31 March % % % % %

Net borrowings to

adjusted capital

and reserves 38 34 29 29 29
Net unsecured

bofrowings to

unencurnbered

assets 28 29 26 23 21

Secured borrowings

Secured debt with recourse to Briish Land 1s provided by
debentures with long maturiies ang mited amortisation

These are secured aganst a combned poot of assets with
cammen covenanis, the value of the assels «s regused to cover
the amount of the debentures by a mimimurmn of 1 5 times and net
rental incame must cover the wnterest at least once We use our
rights under the dehentures io actively manage the assets in the
security pool, 1n line with these cover ratias We continue to focus
an unsecured finance at 3 Group tevel

Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds

External debt for cur joint ventures and funds has been arranged
through long dated secunitisations or secured bank debt, according
to the requirements of the business of each venture

Hercules Uit Trust has term loan facilities maturing s 2020 and
2022 arranged for (s business and secured on property portfolas,
without recourse to British Land These toans include LTV ratio
[with maximum levels of 65%] and income based covenants

The securtisations of Broadaate [£1,300mi, Meadowhall

[£613m) and the Sainsbury s Superstores portfolso [£196m),

have weighted average maturires of 11 0 years, 8 6 years and

S 0 years respectively The key iinancial covenant applicable

is to meel snterest and scheduled amortisation {equvalent to

1 umes cover), there are no LTV covenants These secunitisations
have quarterly amortisation with the balance outstanding
reducing io approximately i3% o 307
rarsed by expected final maturdty, thus mitigating refinancing risk

{ {he onginai amouni

There is no obligatron on British Land to remedy any breach
of these covenants in the debt arrangement of jornt venlures
and funds
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MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY

Effective risk management
is integral to our objective of
delivering sustainable long

term value

British Land core strengths

~ Increasing focus on mixed use places as we evolve our

business to reflect the changing way people use space

High quality commercial partfobio tocused on London

campuses and multi-let retail centres around the UK

and building a Reswdential business

~ Leong term strategy positioning the business to beneht
froem long term trends

i

- Lustomer locused approach to respond (¢ changing lifestyles
- Dwerse and fugh quality occupter base

- High occupancy

- Well batanced and risk managed devetopment pipeline

- Execution of asset management and development activity
- Ability to source and execute attractive investment deals

- Efficient capiat structure wilh good access 10 cagiial ang
debt markets

- Strong sustainatulity perfermance

Qur risk management framework

For Brtish Land, effective risk management 1s a cornerstane

of our stralegy and integral to the achievernent of our objective

of delivering sustainabie long term value We maintain a
comprehensive risk management process which serves 1o dentify,
assess and respond o the range of inancial and nen-financial
risks facing our business, including those risks that could threaten
solvency and Liquidity, as well as to identify emerqging risks

Our approach s not intended to eiminate risk entirely, but instead
to manage our nsk exposures across the business, whitst at the
same hime making the most of cur opportunities

Our integrated approach combines a lop down stralegic view with
a complementary bottorn up operational process outlined in the
diagram on the right

The Board has overall responsibiity for nsk management

with a particular focus on determiming the nature and extent of
exposure 1o the principal nsks the business i1s willing to take In
achieving ILs strategic objectives. The amount of risk 1s assessed in
the context of the core strengths of our business (as summansed
abovel and the external environment in which we operate - this s
our risk appetite. It 1s integral both to our constderation of strategy
and to our medwm term planming process
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The Audit Cornmittee takes responsibility ior overseeing the
effectiveness of sk management and internal control systems
on behalf of the Board, and adwises the Board on the principal
risks facing the husiness ncluding those that would threaten
its solvency or lgquidity.

The Executive Diectars are responsible for delivering the
Company's stralegy, as se! by the Board, and managing risk
Qur risk management framework categorises our risks 1nto
external, strategic and operational risks The Risk Committee
(comprising the Executive Committee and senior management
across the busiress and chaired by the Chief Financial Officer) is
responsible for managing the principal risks in each category in
order to achieve our performance goals.

Whitst ulimate responsibility tor oversight of risk management
rests with the Board, the effective day-to-day management of risk
1s embedded within our operational business units and farms an
integral pari of how we work. This bottom up approach allows
potential nsks lo be identified at an early stage and escalated

as appropriate, with mitigat:ons put In place to manage such
risks Each business unit maintains a comprehensive rsk
register Changes (o the register are reviewed quarterly by the
Risk Cammutiee, with significant and emerging risks escalated

o the Audit Committee

To read more about the Board and Audit Commuttee s nsk
oversight, see pages 77, 78 and 84.

Top down Bottom up
Strategic risk Operational risk
management management

BOARD / aUDIT COMMITTEE

/\\_

Assess effectveness of nisk
rmanagemenl syslems

Review external epvironment
Robuyst assessment of principal risks

Set risk appelie and paramelers Z
Repart an principal nsks

Deterrune strategic acton pomis and uncertamnties

RISK COMMITTEE/ EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

—/’\—\_

Consider completeness
of idenufied nsks and adequacy of
mitigaling aclons

Identity pincipal nsks

Dhrect delevery of strategsc ackons n
Line with nsk appetite

Monitar key risk indicaters.
LConsider aggregation
of nsk exposures across the business.

BUSINESS UNITS
Execute strateqic actons Report currant aEd emerging nsks

Identiy, evatuate and mitgate
operational rsks recorded in risk
register

Repart en key risk indcaters

—



Our risk appetite

Princspal Change m sk
niernal nsks Key risk inditators inclugdmy current ihreshotds) appeins w the year
Investment - Execution of targeted acquisitions and dispesals n line with capriat allocation plan [overseen by =
strategy tnvestment Commitiee]
- Annual IRR process which forecasls prospective returns cof each asset
- Percentage of partiolio in non-core seclors
Development - Total development exposure <15% of investment portiolio by vatue >
strategy - Speculatwe development expasure <8% of investment portfohio by value
. =_Progress on execution of key development projects aganst pian L o
Capial - Manage our leverage such that LTV should not exceed a maximum level H markel yields were 10 fise FES
structure to previgus peaks
- Financial covenant headrocom
Finance - Period unul refinancing s required of not less than two years FEN
strategy - Percentage of deb! with interest rate hedging {spot and over next five years)
Damnte -
- Employee engagement
Incomae - Market letiing risk including vacancies, upcorming expiries, and breaks and speculative development T

sustainabllity _ weighted average unexpired lease term

- Concentration of exposure to indwtdual customers or seciors

Key
Change in risk appente from last vear

T Increase €2 No change

QOur risk appetite 1s reviewed annually as parl of the strategy review
process and approved by the Beard This evaluation guides the
actions we 1ake It execuling our strategy We have dentified a
suite of Key Risk Indicators (KRis] and defined specific tolerances
for each [summansed above). These are reviewed quarter(y by
the Risk Commuttee, to ensure that the activities of the business
reman within our risk appetite and that our risk exposure 1s

well matched to changes in our business and our markets

These inctude the most sigmficant judgernents atfecting our

risk exposure, Inciuding our nvestment and devetopment
strategy, the level of occupational and development exposure,
and our financial leverage

Whilst our appetite for risk will vary over ime and during the
course of the property cycle, in general we rmaintan 3 batanced
appreach lo risk The Board considers our overall risk appetite in
the year 1s broadly unchanged from last year. Having over the last
few years lowered our hinancial risk we are now prepared ta accept
an Increase N our sk relating to the more operational nature of
property, reflecting market trends and our sirategy as we buitd an
tncreasingly mixed use business

Given the backdrop of economic and political challenges, we
have actively managed our incremental risk exposure by

- mainmaining a limited expesure to speculative development
coupled with our successiul pre-letting strategy

- continuing to take a thoughtfut approach to capital atlocauon,
demaonstrated by selling £1.5bn of mature and ofi-stralegy
assels, remnvesting partly in our share buyback programme,
selective acquisitions and prohtable development, whilst
reducing our LTV further 1o 28 1%, despite valuation falls

- mantaming substantial knancial headroom with £1.8bn of
comamitted unsecured revoiving bank faciities, of which £1.5bn
15 undrawn Based on our curcent commutments, these faciites
and debt maturities, we have no requirement to refinance
untit {ate 2022
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MANAGING RISKIN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY CONTINUED ‘

Quwr risk focus

The general risk environment in which the Group operates has
heightened over the course of the year, which is largely due to the
continued level of uncertainty associated with the future impact
of the UK's ext lrom the EU, the significant detenoration in the
UK retail market and weaker investrment markets

Inevitably the risk of a disruptive or no deal’ Brexit has loomed
large and remains an actively managed risk, suppocted by a
dedicated risk checklist While it 1s not possible to predtct fully
the impact Brext will have on our business and agur matkels,

the Board is continuing to monitor external events and 15 takung
appraopriate action to prepare for short term risks to ensure qur
business 1s both resilient and responsive 1In the short term, and
well positioned for the {ong term. Qur primary areas of focus have
been to mitigate risks, where practical. in our construction supply
chawn, it our operational day-to-day propecty management and
our crisis management plans, and we remain alert to potential
uncertainttes caused by Brexit which could adversely impact
investment, capitat, hnanceal. occupier and labour markets

Quring the year, the Risk Caomrmittee has focused on some
key operational risk areas across the business including

- ongoing GDPR programme to manage personal
data approprately

- retafer tenant risk and managing our exposure (o customers
or sectors in a maore challenging market backdrop

- ephancing our crisis management sirategy including
a simulation exercise ¢ndertaken by senror management

- health, safety and environmental risk management
Our Health and Salely management systern was re-certified
under 8S OHSAS 18001

- detaited review of the covenani strength of current and potentral
construction contractors to mitigate our future exposure

- chimate change including establishing a Steering Committee
to progress towards TCFD alignment

- payment operations and key financial controls

- pracurement policy and new supplier onboarding process
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Qur principal risks and assessment

Our risk management framework is structured around the
principal risks facing British Land. The Board confirms that a
robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Company,
wncluding those that would threaten its business model, future
performance, solvency or \iquidity, was carried out during the year

Whilst we consider there has been no matenal change to the
nature of the Group's principal risks, not surprisingly, several
risks are elevated as a result of the challenging externat
environment, with the increased level of pobiical uncertainty
associated with the UK's departure {rom the EU, alongside the
contmued chatlenging trading conditions in retail (as shown
by the risk heat map epposite)

The risks considered to be elevated since the year end due to
continuing Brexit uncertainty are both the economic and political
and regulatory cutlook In addition, we consider the principal risks
of occuprer demand and mvestor demand ta be elevated smce the
year end due to the continued challengung trading conditions 10
retail with several recent hugh prefite CVAs and admunistrations
This could impact our abilily to execute cur investment strategy
and present an increased nsk to income sustainability

The principal risks are surnmarised opposite land detailed on

pages 58 to 61}, including an assessment of the potential impact i
and ltkelihood and how the risks have changed in the year,

together with haw they relate to our strategic priofities.



Our risk assessment

Retated
Priseipst figk strateqic grionty Change

Externat risks

Econamic outiook

Poliucal and reguiatory
outlook

Commerciat property
investor demand

Occupier demand
and tenant delauft
Availability and cost
of finance

$‘$\-—>~—9 - |-

Catastrophic
business event

Internai risks - strategic

frvestment strategy

Development strategy

Capital struciure

TIT|IT|—

Finance sirategy
internal risks - aperational

People

=T

Incorme sustainabr ity

Other Group risks

In additton to our principal risks, there are also a number of
other risks that are largely operational in nature and are
managed cenirally with appropriate processes and mitigation
plans in place

Likelihood

Risk heat map

Impact

Note The abave dlusirales princgal nisks which by theiwr nalure are those which
have the potential to sigmiicantly impact the Group ¢ strategic objectves, financial
positton of reputatzon The heat map highl:ghis net nisk, after laking account of
principal mitigations

Key

Strategic priorities Change vear un vear
Customer Qrientation <> No change
Right Places ’? Increase
Capual Eificiency j, Decrease

Expert People

These risks comprise:

- Operating model including retiznce on third parties
- Culture

- Information systems and cyber secunty

- Effective contrat environment

- Fraud and corruption

- Comphance and legal framework

Supply chain management
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

External risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Economic outlook

The UK economic climate and future
movements in interest rates present risks
and opportumties in property and inancing
markets and the b of eur cust; ]
which can impact beth the detivery of our
strategy and our financial perfermance.

- The Risk Cormmittee reviews the economic
environment in which we operate quarterly to assess
whelher any changes o the economic oullook peshify
a re-assessment of the risk appetite of the business,

~ ey indicators including forecast GDP growth,
employment rales, business ang consumer
contidente, interest rates and inflatton/deflation are
considered, as welt as centrat bank gutdance and
goverament policy updates

- We stress lesl our business plan against a downturn
1n econormic autlook to ensure our kinancral posion is
suthoently flexble and resitient.

- Qur resiient business model fecuses on a high
quality portfolio and secyra :ncome streams and
robust inances

The UK econonuc position has weakened
during the year, largely due to the uncertainty
associaled wth Brexil logelher with the weaker
glabal econormy

Inflatton and nterest rates rermain refatively
stable However, markets rematn sensilive

ta external shocks, particuiarly associated

with Brext

Against this employment 15 at its highest

tevel since 1975 and real wage growth

has strengthened

We are mindful of the ongoing paliical and
economic uncertamhies, but our focus remams
on controlung what we can within our business
Looking ahead our business 1s well possuoned.
inancially strong and we have a clear

long term strategy

/r -

Political and regulatory outlook

Significant political events and regulatory
<hanges, including the decision to leave the
EU, bring risks principally in three areas:

- reluctance of investors and busnesses
to make investment and occupatienal
decisions whilst the eutcome
femamns uncertan

- an determination of the autcome, the
Impact on the case for investment i the
UK, and on specific pelicies and reguiation
wiroduced, paruicularly those which direcity
impac! real estate or pur customers

- the potental for a change of leadership,
palilical direclion, or an early
general elettion

- Whalst we are nol able te influence the autcome of
significant polilicat events, we da take the uncerlainty
related to such events and the range of possible
oulcomes inta account when making strategqic
wwestment and hinancing decisions

- Inlemally we review and mamitor proposals and
emerging poiicy and legislation 1o ensure that we
take the necesgary sleps to ensure complance o
applhicable Addiionally, we engage public aflairs
consultants to ensure that we are properly briefed
on the petentiat policy and regulatory implications
of poliical events We also monilor public trust
i business

- Where appropnate, we act with sther (ndustry
participants and representative badies ta contnbute te
policy and regulalory debate We monder and respond
te soctal and paliical reputational challenges relevant
to the industry and apply our own evidence-based
research lo engage in thought leadership discussions,
such as with Design for Life

The political envronment rematns unstable anc
1he risk of a disruptive or no deal Breut has
loomed large. slongside the possibitity of 2
aeneral etection This hewghtens both the
ecanarmic and poltiicat risk outlook
Furthermore Lhe globat geopoliical and

trade enviranmenis remain uncertan

- Whitst it 15 not possible to predict fully the
impact Brexit will have on our bustness and our
markets, we have prepared a Brexil checkiist
to denufy and manage the key risks to difierent
areas of our business and have considered
various Brexil scenanos as part of our five-year
forecasts

_)
1

Commerciai property investor demand

Reduct:on in investor demand for UK real
estate may resultin falls in asset vatuations
and could arise from variations in:

- the heallh of the UK economy

- the altractwveness of investrment in the UK

- avarlab:lity of hinance

- reialwve attractiveness of other assel classes.

- The Risk Comamittee reviews the property market
quacterty 1o assess whether any changes to the
market outlook present nsks and oppartumties which
shoutd ba reflected n the execubion of our siralegy
and our capital allocation plan The Committes
considers indicators such as margin between
property yields and borrowing cesis and property
capital growth forecasts, which are considered
alongside the Cornmittee members knowledge
and expenence of market actity and trends

- Woeiocus an pnme assets and seclors which we
believe wall be less sysceplible over the mediurm term
to @ reduction m eccugrer and mvestar demand

- Strong relalionships with agents and direct investors
active in the market

- We siress test our business plan for the effect of a
change n properly yields

lavestment markets have stowed more recently
with fewer transachions, particutarly in retait,
reflecting macro-economic uncertainty and
chatienges 11 the reta occupationat market
The London office nvestmeni market has
rematned robust, cantinuing to benefit from
demand {rom overseas investors

The theme of polansation has conhinued with
actmty locused on bugh quality, well-let assets
with strong occupational characiensiics or
alternative use potental

Londen oihce yields have remained braadiy
stabte throughout ihe year, however we

have seen yield expansion in retad reflacting
weakening investor senlirnent, with weaker
lagations the most affected

Natwithstanding this market backdrop we have
continued to be active and have successfully
sold £1 5bn of assets

%
' ]

Key
Change year on vear
€> No change

'f\ Increase
J, Decrease
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Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Occupier demand and tenant default

Underlying inceme, rental growth and capital
performance could be adversety affected by
waakening occupier demand and occupier
tailures resulting from variations in the
heaith of the UK economy and corresponding
weakening of consumer confidence, business
activity and investment,

Changing cansumer ang business practices
inctuding the growth of internet retailing,
flexible working practices and demnand for
enargy efficient buitdings, new technolegies,
new legislation and alternative tocaitons may
resull in earlier than anticipated obsolescence
ol our busldings if evolving occupier and
requlatory requirements are not met

The Risk Commuittee rewiews indicators of accupier
demand quarterly including caonsumer confrdence
surveys and employment ang ERV growan iorecasis,
alongside the Commitlee members knowledge

and experience of occupier plans, trading
performance and leasing activity 1n guiding
execution of our sirategy

We have a high qualily, deversiied occupeer base
and moniter concentration of exposure to indmveduat
sccupiers or seciors We perlorm rigarous occupier
tovenant checks ahead of approving deals and

on an ongeing basis 5o that we can be proactive

In managing exposure {o weaker ocCupiers
Through our Key Occupier Account programme,

we work together wath our cusiomers to find ways
to best meet thewr evolving regquirements

Gur sustanability strategy links action on customet
health and wellbeing, energy efliCiency, community
and sustainable design to our business strajegy Qur
social and environmental targets hefp us comnply with
new Llegisiation and respend to customer demands,
for example, we expect all our office developments
to achieve a BREEAM Exceilent rating

T

London offices are continuing o show resilience
with above average {ake up Retail has been
weak with retaers facing both econsmut an
struclural challenges As such, we have seen
further retmters enter CVAS or admuustcatson,
resuiting in store closures and rent reductions
In kght of these marketl dynamics, prime
Londaon rents have been stable both i {he West
End and Ciy, however retail has expenenced
rental value declines

Across ous markels, we are seeing polarisation
of ccoupter dermand cenlitnuing wath accupiars
focusing on the best qualbly assets

In this contexl, we are fecused on delivering
hugh quality space wath (he right rmix of uses;
we have let or renewed 2 7m sq ft of space
acrass the portiolio, and occupancy remams
high a1 97%

Availability and cost of finance

Reduced availability of iinance may adversely
impact ability to refinance debt and/or drive
up cost. These factors may also resultin
weaker investor demand for reat estate.

Regulation and capital costs of lenders may
increase cost of finance

Markel borrowing rates and real estate debt
availability are monstored by the Risk Commutlee
quarierly and reviewed regulary in order o guide
our inancng acliens th execuling our strategy

We monitor cur projecled LTV and our debt
requirements using several internally generated
FEpGTTS WICUSET OF GOTTowitg [evis GE0{ Matuiity,
available facilities and interest rate exposure

We maintain good long term relalionships with

our key inancing pariners

The scale and quality of cur business enables us (o
access a dwerse range of sources of finance with a
spread of repayment dates We am always 1o have
a good tevel of undrawn, committed. unsecured
revoiving facliles to ensure we have adequale
hinancing avallability to support business
requrements and apportuntites

We work wath sndustry bedies and other relevant
ergamsaltions o participate in debate on emerging
finance requtatians where gur interests and those of
our iIndustry are alfected.

Ongoing and increased uncertaimty abaut
Brexit and the smpacts of the macro economic
and poliical environment are aflecting market
septiment, and operations of some lenders
Oebt continues o be availadle for the right
transactiens, strong sponsor and qualsty of
Lenders appetite vanas in different debt
markels There s a mare cavlious and reduced
appelite for retail

inlerest margins/spreads have increased in
the market recently in some sectors, allhough
overall debl cost still refately low
Development finance 1s ditficult to obtain for
prejecis werlhout pre-lets

During the year we have continued Lo be actve
i debt markets, wath £1 4bn of new hinance
arranged across a vanely of sources

Catastrophic busihess event

An external event such as a civil emergency,
including a large-scale terrorist attack,
cyber crime, extreme weather otcurrence,
environmental disaster or power shortage
could severely disrupt global markets
lincluding property and finance) and cause
significant damage angd disruption to British
Land’s portfolia and aperations.

We mainian a comprehensive crises response plan
across atl busimess uruts as weli as 3 head olhice
business conttnuity plan

The Risk Commutlee monitors the Home Ollice
terronism threat level and we have access Lo securily
threal intarmaton services

Assel emergency procedures are regularty reviewed,
and scenano tested Physical security measures are
in place at properties and development sdes

Our Sustainability Cemmutiee conlinues to menitor
environmental risks and we have established a TCFD
Steering Committee to feview gur mansgement
pracesses for cimate-related nsks and opportunities
Assel risk assassments are carried out Lo assess @
range of risks ncluding secursty, flood, environmental
and healih and safety

We have implemented corporate cyber secunty
systerns which are supplemented by incident
managemenl, disasier recovery and business
continuity plans, all of which are reqularly reviewed
to be able to respond te changes in the threat
landscape and organisalional requirernents

We also have appropriate insurance in place across
the portfolio

The evaluation of the tikely impact of this risk
has nol changed notably since the prior year
The Home Olfice threat level Irom inlernationat
terronsm remains Severe

The wader use and enhancement of digital
technology acress the Group increases the
nsks associated with Information and Cyber
securty, with an increasing risk fram legacy
systern vulnerabilities, socsal engineering and
ptushing During the year, we have contthued
to enhance our techmeal security position

as well as provde employee awareness
traung on Infermalion Securily and Data
Privacy principles

We have tarned out a enss simulation
exercise ang enhanced our procedures
where appropriaie
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PRINCIPAL RISKS CONTINUED

Internal risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Investment strategy

In order to meet pyr strategic objectives,

we aim to invest in and exit from the righy

propesties at the right ume.

Underperformance could result from

changes in market sentiment as well as

inapgrepriate determination and execution of

our property investment strategy, including:

- sector setection and weighling

- taming of investment and divestment
decisions

- exposure to developments

- assel, tenant, reqion concenlration

- co-investment arrangemenis

Qur wvesiment sirategy is delermingd 1o be
consistent wath our targel risk agpetite and 1§ based
on the evaluaiion of the external environment
Progress against the strategy and continuing
alignment with our risk appeatite 1s discussed at
each Risk Committee with reference to the property
markets and the external economic environment
The Board carries out an annual review of the
overall corporate strategy including the current

and prospective asset portfotio allocation

Individual invesiment decisions are subgecl to
robust risk evaluation overseen by our Invesiment
Commuttee including consideration of returns relaive
to resk agjusted hurdle rates

Reveew of prospectwe performance al indiwvidual
assels and thew business plans

We loster collaborative relationships with gur
co-inveslons and enter :nlo ewnership agreements
which balance the interesis of the parties

/]\

We have conbinued to allocate capital thoughtfully
it light of the current market condilions

Since 1 Aprd 2018, we have sold 5 Broadgate
for £500m and successfully exacuted E646m af
retad sates - averall marginally ahead of book
value Overall we were a net divestar of £ 9on
of assets

The retad markel [aces structural chaitenges
and we have continued to reline our Retail
portiolio lo deliver 3 smaller, more focused
business, with (olal sales of £2 Fbn over the last
five years.

We remain thoughtful about the use of proceeds
from disposals, and are continung to invest into
our development pipeline and have exlended
our share buyback programme

Qur portfolio values were down 4 8%, led by
Relail where values were down 11 1% whereas
Oflices valves were up 1 1%

Development strategy

Develecpment provides an oppartumty for
outperfermance but uswvatly drivgs with i
elevated risk.

This is reflected in our decision-making
process around which schemes to develap,
the timing of the development, as well as the
execution of these projects.

Development strateqy addresses several
development risks that could adversely
derlyns inroame 2n

perfarmance including:

- development lelting exposure

- construction timing and costs ncluding
construction cost inltation)

-~ major contractor lailure
- adverse planmng jutdgements

We manage our levels of tolal and speculatwe
development exposure as a praportion of the
invesiment portfolic value within a largel range taking
into account associated risks and the wmpact on key
hnancal metnes This s monniored quarterty by the
Risk Commitiee along with progress of developrments
agawnsi plan

Prior to comenitting to a development, a detailed
apprarsal s undertaken This inciudes consideralion
of returns relative Lo risk adjusted hurdle rates and
5 OVErSEEN by our invesimeant Comimittee

Pre-lets are used to reduce development letling risk
where considered appropriate

Competitive tendering of construchion contracts and,
where appropnate, fued price contracts entered into
Detaled selection and close menitoring of
contraciors including covenant reviews

Expenenced deveiopment management team
¢losely montors destgn, construction and overall
delivery process

£arly engagement and strong relattonships with
planmng authorties

We actively engage with the communities in which we
operate, as detalled in our Local Charler, 1o ensure
that our development aclivities consider the interesls
of alt stakeholders

We manage environmental and social nsks across
our develepment supply chain by engaging wath our
suppliers, mcluding through our Supptier Code of
Conduct, Sustainabibity Brief for Developments and
Heaith and Safety Policy

Development 15 an impartani part of our
bustness and has delivered some of our
strongest relurns, but 1s mwherently higher
risk, particularly when pursued ona
speculative basis We birvit our development
exposure 1o 15% of the total mvesiment
portfolto by value, with a maxtmym of 8%

to be developed speculatively

We aclively manage out development risk and
pre-lellvng our space 15 an important padt of
ihat approaci

We have successlully pre-let or under offer
on 76% of our compteted and commitied
developments and speculative exposure
remains low at 2 3% of partfalio gross assel
value Also, 3% of the costs on our commulted
devefopment programme have been fed

Key

Change vear on vear
<> Mo change

T racrease

J. Decrease
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Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Capital structure - leverage

Our capital structure recognises the need
for balance between performance, risk
and tlexibility.
- leverage magmifies property returns,
both pesdive and negaiive
- an increase in leverage increases the
risk of a breach af covenants oa borrowing
facdites and may increase knance costs.

- We manage our use of debl and equity finance to
balance the benelits of leverage against the risks

- We aim 1o manage our ioan to value [LTvj ihrougn
the property cycle such that our hinancial position
would remain robrust in the event of a significant fatl
w property values Thes imeans we do not adjust our
approach to leverage based on changes in praperty
market yelds

-~ We manage our investment activity, the size and
uming of which can be uneven, as well as our
development commitments te ensure that cur
LTV level remasns appropreate

- We leverage our equity and achreve benefits of scale
while spreading risk through joint ventures and funds
whach are typically partly hnanged by dett without
recourse o British Land

>

- We manage our use of debt and equity finance
to balance the benehts of ieverage agains! the
riske, including magnifhicalion of properiy
valualton movements

= Our {inancial positien remamns strang, our
proportionatly consolidated LTV has been
reduced by a further 30bps dufing the year
1o 28 1%, despite the vatuation fati

- This finanaal strength prowides ys with the
capacily to progress opportunsties including
our developraent pipeline whilst rataining
significant headreom to cur covenants.

Finance strategy

Finance strategy addresses risks bath to
cantinuing solvency and profits generated.

Failure to manage refinancing requirements
may resull in a shartage of funds to sustam the
aperations of the husiness or repay faalihies a<
they tall due

- Five xey prmciples guide our financing, employed
\ogether to manage ihe nsks in this area diversify
aur sources of finance, phase matunity of debt
portigtio, maintain kgquidity, mamtain flexibility,
and mamtain strong metrics

- W manaior the perioa unin Hinancing s reguirea,

which 1s a key determinant ol financing actmwty

Debt and caprial market conditions are reviewed

requiarly ta rdentify linancing opportunities that

meel dur business requirements

Finanaat covenant headroom :s evalualed reguiarly

and in congunction with transactions

We are commitled te maintaineng and enhancing

- We are mindiul of retevant emerging regulation
which has the potential toimpact the way thal we
finance the business

~ The scale of our business, quality of our assets
and rentalincome enable us to access a hread
range of debt knance on attractve lerms
Buring the year we have completed E£1 dbn
of new hinancing

- Yenave L1 8on of comimuiiea unsecured.
revolving bank facilities, of which £1 5bn s
undrawn Based on curfent comumilments,
these laclites and gebt ratunties, we have
no reguiremnent to refinance the business until
tate 2022

Pecple

A number of critical business pracesses and
decisions Lie in the hands of a tew people.

Failure fo recruit, develop and retan staff
and Directors with the right skills and
experience may result in significant
yunderperformance or impact the
eHectiveness of operations and decision
mabking, ih turn impacting business
performance,

Qur HR strategy 1s designed to murirmise risk through

- nformed and skelled recruitment processes

- talent performance management ang succession
planrung for key roles

- highly competive compensalen and benelits

- peogte development and training

The rnisk 1s measured through employee engagement
surveys, employee turnover and retention melrtcs We
monitor this through the number of unplanned executive
departures in addiion lo conducting et interviews

We engage with our ermployees and supphers 1o make
clear our requirements 1in managing key risks including
health and safety, fraud and bribery and other social and
envirpnmental nsks, as detailed in our polictes and
codes of conduct

- Expert Pegple 1s one of the four core facus
areas of aur strategy and a key factor in our
periormance We conlinue Lo empower our
people 1o make the most of thew potential
through traming and development and are
focused en building a supportive and inclusve
culture for our people

- Duning the year, we have made several
imperiant changes o encourage ¢ross-team
cotlabpration and shared tearmungs We have
combined cur Retasl and Oflices businesses
under the singie leadership of Darren Richards
and we have also infegrated the property
management business within the wider
business at a single olfice site

Income sustainability

We are mind lul of maintaining sustamnatrle
income streams which underpin a stable and
growing dividend and provide the platform
from which to grow the business.

We consider sustainability of our income

streams in:

- execulion of investmeni stralegy and capital
recycling, notably timing of reinvestment of
sale proceeds

~ nature and structure of leasing actwity

- nature and kmeng of assel management
and devefopment actuvity

- We undertake comprehensive proh! and cash flow
lprecasting incorporaling scerano analysis 1o modet
the smpacl of proposed transacuions.

- We take a proactlive asset managemeni approach lo
mamtan 3 strong occupier ine-up. We moenitor our
market leting exposure including vacancies,
upcoming expirtes and bresks and speculative
development as well as our weighied average
unexpired lease term

- We have a high qualily and diversified occupier base
and monior concentration of exposure (o individual
ocCupiers or sectors

- We are preactive in addressing key \ease breaks
and expiries o minirmise perads of vacancy

- We actively engage with the communities in which
we operatc, a3 detailed i our Local Charler, to
ensure we provde places that meel the needs of all
relevant siakeholders

- We are mindful of the challenges facing the
retal markel which has seen seversl more
operators apply for CVA or administration We
conlinue {o aclively MOnsion our exposure (o
occupiers at risk of default and admirmstration
and are selective about the sectors and
aperators we larget

- We also recognrse thatin delivening our

invesiment strategy and setling some of our
malure assets, we have had to be conscous
of the impact on our mcome in the short lerm

- However, our Income sireams are underpinned

by prime assets and a high quatity. diverse
occupier base with high eccupancy Looking
forward our developmen) pipeline offers
siqnificant potential to generale fuiure iIncome
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FiNANCIAL DISCLOSURES {TCFD)

Climate change is one of the
most pressing challenges our
world faces today

The Board recognises the systemic threat posed by cimate change
and the need for urgent mitigating action We have a track record
of improving envirecnmental performance and were one of the first
real estate companies to introduce stretching carbon ceduction
targets that go beyond the demands of the Science Based Targets
imtiative for Scope 1 and 2 emissions For mare information, see
our 2019 Sustainability Accounts at britishland com/data

Dur focus on matigating climate nisks and leveraging cimate
opportunities has protected value, reduced accupational costs
and enhanced our revenue. The TCFD recommendations provide
an excellent framewaork for us to continue this journey

To progress towards TCFO alignment, in March 2019
we eslablished a TCFD Steening Cammuittee, sponsored by our
Chuef Frinanciat Otficer, Simon Carter Thus Commuttes will

- undertake long term scenaria analysis of the impact of climate
change on our bustness

- recommend adjustments to our strategic and nsk management
processes to lurther ntegrate chimate change 1ssues into our
day-ta-day operations

- dentdy metncs that translate climale change 1ssues into
financial exposure

The TCFD Steering Commitiee reports to the Risk and
Sustanability Commuttees, both of which meet quarterly. Ultimate
oversight 15 at Board tevel, with our new Corporate Socal
Responsibility Commuittee playing a role trom May 2019 Any
resulting disclosure requires approval by the Audit Commitiee

» .
Board Board of Directors
A A
> . , Corporate Social Responsibility [CSR)
Audit Committee Committee
L
A A
m:gcut:ve Risk Committee Sustainability Committee
Management —
- A A
TCFD Steering Committee
> Members include representatives from across the business Asset management, Development, Finance,
Invesiment, Pracurement, Property management, Risk managemenl, Sirategy and Sustainability
Governance

Board oversight of climate-related risks
and opportunities

Our Board Director responsible for climate-related 1ssues s
Simon Carter, Chief Financial Officer Simaon chairs or attends
our Risk and Sustainability Committees, ensurng continuity
and accountability.

The Board 1s updated on chimate-related 1ssues at least annually
and has ultimate oversight of risk management. Signtficant and
emerqging risks are escalated to the Audit Committee and clumate
niskus tracked as part of aur Catastraphic Business Event risk
category Isee page 591.

62 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

Management's role in assessing and managing
climate-related risks and opportunities

The Board delegates responsibility for anatysing

- climate-reiated nsks to the Risk Committee, which consists
of the Executive Committee and leaders from business units,
including procurement and property management Each
business unit maintains a3 comprehensive risk register, which
1s reviewed quarterly by the Risk Commutlee Climate risks
are idenlified through a process involving trend analysis and
stakeholder engagement. Identified risks are incorporated
into our nsk framework and managed by the appropriate
bustness areas

- climate-related opportunities to the Sustainatniiy
Committee, which will repert to our new Corporate Svcial
Responsibility Comrmittee,




Strategy

Impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities on our business
We consider climate-related 1ssues withen the time horizons used In gur corporate slrategy:

Shorl lerm

Medwm lerm Long term

Less than 12 menths

iio Syears Over 5 years

To date, we have focused on climate-related risks and oppertunities for short and medium term hornizans This work will be expanded to
consider long term horizons through our new TCFO Steening Comrnittee

Examples of climate-reiated risks

Extreme weather

Short term risks

Higher flood risks could (ncrease insurance costs This cauld, in turn, ncrease service charge costs
for custamers.

inability to sell or rent property 355¢ts at book value, due to flood risk

impact on corporate strategy

Fleod risk assessments undertaken for aur current portfolio

100% of high-risk assets have flood managernent plans

Impact on financial planning

Flood risk s effectively priced into our valuations

000 risk faciored (v oL process for aLquisiions and Jevelopimients

Energy regulation

Medium term risks

Lease renewals subject to Minimum Energy Efficiency Standard (MEES] comphiance and alt leased
properties subject 1o MEES from Apnit 2023, with few exemptions

impact on corporate strategy

Through our futureproafing programme we monitor the 5% of our portfolio with F or G Energy
Performance Certificate IEPC} ratings [by floor areal Property Managers wiil take action on F and

Impact on financial planning

MEES non-compliance would pose a risk of revenue loss and a patenhal bability from
nan-compliance penallies.

Energy prices

Medium term risks

Energy cost volatility

Impact on corporate strategy

Through our efficiency prograrnme, we reduce our energy consumgtion profile and ultimately our
exposure to price fluctuations

Impact on financial planning

Financial madelling includes the expected accupancy of assets and thewr associated energy costs.
Procurement manages the inancial nsk of volatite energy prices

Examples of climate-reiated opportunities

Resource efficiency

Short term opportunity

Energy savings from the UK Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme IES0S)

impact on corporate strategy

As part of camplying with ESOS, we have identifted iniiatives representing £6.4m of capex investment
that would save £3 7m annuaily

impact on financial planning

The business cases lor these capex investments are considered as part of our overarching
financial process

Energy sources

Shert term cpportynity

Revenue generated irom salar PV installations on our assets

Impact on corporate strategy

fnstallation of solar PV at 10 assets, generating 1,131 MWh in 2018/19.

Impact on financial planning

The cost savings and revenue from exporting to the grid are factored into our financial planning

Products and services

Medium term opportunity

Earning a rental premiwm fram hugh efficiency buildings with a Design for Perfermance approach

Impact on corporate strategy

Our Sustainability Brief for Developments sets out our requirement for detalled energy modelling eariy
in the design stage to mform design and sel operational performance benchmarks

Impact on tinancial planping

Rental income for high efhiciency and low efficiency assets would be factored into our revenue
forecasts in the medwm term, as thes would alfect their marketability

The resilience of our strategy
British Land undertaok an initiat analysis of medium term portfolio risks in 2017 We will carry out TCFD-aligned scenaric analysis in 2020,
including a scenano where global warming s limited to 2°C or lower,
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES [TCFD) CONTINUED

Risk management

Climate-related risks are identified and assessed using our
risk management frameawork, set out on page 54 of this Report.
We consder climate change within "External risks Catastrophic
business event’, which s 2 principal risk to our business We
define principal nsks as those with a substantive financral or
strategic impact on the bustness, high tikelthood of occurrence
and medwm/high potential impact on ocur performance Our
integrated approach combines a top down strateqic view with

a complementary bottom up operational process,

Identifying and assessing climate-related risks

As part of our top down strategic view, our risk heal mapping
process allows us Lo determine the relatve significance of
principal nisks As a factor withun 3 principal risk category,
climate change ts monitored by the Risk Commuttee

Our risk register tracks:

i} Description of the risk identificationl

ul Impact-tikelihood rating levatuation enabling priontisation]
miMitiganis [mitigationi

w]| Risk owner fmomitoring)

As part of our bottarm up operational process, we maintain Asset
Plans which include provisions fordentifying cimate-related nsks
and opportunities, such as flood risk assessments and audis to
dentify energy saving apportumties Qur Sustainability Brief for
Acquisiions $ets out our envirormental criteria for acquiring

a new property, including energy efficiency and flood risk
categories Our Sustainabiity Briel for Developments sets out

our environmental ¢ritenia for new constructions and renavations,
including requwrermnents for energy efficiency, flood nsk, materals
choice and embodied carbon reductions

Managing climate-related risks

Qur process for mitigating, accepting and controlling principat
risks, inctuding climate-related risks. 15 set out on page 54 of
thus Report

We prionise principal risks through our corporate risk register

and risk heat map. The impact-likelihood rating, which i1s evaluated

during risk identification, 1s sur prumnary meiric for priorinsing
risks As a factor within a principal risk category, ctimate change
risks are logged in our corporate risk register and reviewed
quarterly by the Risk Commuttee, which comprises the Executive
Commuttes and serwor management The Board is utimately
responsible for and determines the nature and extent of principal
risks it is valling to take to achieve its strategic abjectives
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Metrics and targets

Through our TCFD Steering Committee work, we will guantify our
tota! cimate-related hnancial exposure

Below are the ctirmate-related metrics and targets agamst which
we currently report.

Climate-related risks

2019 018
MEES EPCs rated F or G{% by floor area} S% 5%
Extreme  Portiolio at high risk of ftood 3% 3%
weather  [% by valuel

High flood risk assets with flood 100%  100%

management plans (% by value)

Climate-related opportunities
2019 s

Rescurce Scope | and 2 carbon intensily 4% 54%
efficiency reduction versus 2009 (2020 target.
59% reduction, index scored)

{.andlord energy mntensity LL% 40%
reduction versus 2009

{2020 target 55% reduction,

index scored)

Energy Electricity purchased 5% 7%
sources  from renewable sources
{2020 target 100%)} ) )
On site renewable energy 1,131 782
generation [MWh) MWh  Mwh
Praducts Portfolio with green building 18% 18%
and ratings (% by floor areal
services  [evelopments outperforming 25% 26%

Building Regulations for carbon
efficiency {% better on average!




Viability
statement

Assessment of prospects

The Group's annuat corporate planning process includes the
completion of a strategic review, reassessing the Group s risk
appente and updanng the Group's forecasis

The Graup’s strategy provides the facus for our annual prionties
and 1s formally reviewed annuatly. This process s led by the Chief
Executwve through the Executive Committee and includes the actve
engagement of the Board Part of the Board's rale 1s to consider
whether the strategy takes appropniate account of the Group s
principal risks The latest updates to the strategic plan and
Group's risk appetite were appraved by the Board in February

and March 2019, respectively.

The strategy and risk appetite drive the Group's forecasts These
cover a fwe-year period and consist of a forecast which includes
commutted transactions only, and 2 farecast which alse includes
non-committed transactions the Board expects the Group to make
in line with the Group’s strategy. A five-year forecast 1s considered
to be the opimal batance between the Group's long term business
madel to create Places Peanle Prefer and the fact that property
investment 1s a lang term business [with weighted average lease
lengths and debt maturities 1n excess of five years), affset by the
progressively unreliabie nature of forecasting n later years,
particularly given the histonically cyctical nature of the UK

property industry

Assessment of viahility
For the reasons autlined above, the period over which the

Directors consider it feasible and appropniate ta report on the
Group s viabihity 15 the five-year period to 31 March 2024

The assumptions underpinning these forecast cash flows and
covenant compliance forecasts were sensitised (o explore the
resihence of the Group to the gotential impact of the Group's
sigruficant risks, or a combination of those risks

The principal rigks {abte on pages 38 to 61 summarises

those matters that could prevent the Group frem delivering on

its strategy A number of these principal risks, because of their
nature or potenttal impact, coutd alse threaten the Group s abilrty
to continue In business in s current form if they were to occur.

The Directors pad particular attention to the risk of a downturn
in economue outlook which coutd impact praperty flundamentals,
including tnvestor and occupier demand which would have 3
negatrve iImpact an valuatwons, cash flows and a reduction in the
availabitity of hnance The remaiming principal risks, whalst having
animpact on the Group's business modei, are not considered by
the Qirectors to have a reasonabte tiketihoad of smpacting the
Group's viability gver the five-year perwod to 31 March 2024

The sensitvities performed were designed to be severe but
ptausible, and relate t¢ a single ‘downturn scenario’ before
miiigating actions,

- downturnan economic outlook key assumptions inciuding
occupancy, void periads, rental growth and yields were
sensitised inthe downturn scenario’ 1o reflect reasonably lkely
levels associated with an economic downturn, including

- areduction in occupier demand reflected by an ERV decline,
occupancy decline, increased void pertods and additional
impact of retait CVAs or administrations

- areductionininvestment properly demand (o the level seenin
the tast severe downturn in 2008/Z009, with outward yield shft
to 8% netinitial yield,

- Restricted availability of finance: based on the Group's current
commitments and available factities there 1s no requirement
to refinance untit late 2022 in the normal course of business,
financing 1s arranged th advance of expected requirements
and the Directors have reasonable confidence that additional
or replacement debt facihities witl be put in place inthe
‘downturn scenana’, the following sensitivity of this
assumption was conducted
- areducton athe gqadabddy of fmance for twoyears sfthe

five-year assessment 1n tandem with the Group s
refinancing date

The outcome of the ‘downturn scenario was that the Graup's
cavenant headroom based on existing debt [ e the level by which
investment property values would have to fall befcre a financtal

o8 prrore) decrpacec from the corrant SA% o

PRALLLT & e P T R,

lowest level, 13%, md:cahng covenants on existing facilities would
not be breached

In the dawnturn scenario , mitigating actions would be required to
enabte the Group to meel its future Labilities, including through
assel sales, which would atlow the Group ta cantinue {o meet tts
liabilities over the assessment perad

Viability statement

Having considered the forecast cash flows and covenant
compliance and the impact of the sensitivities 1n combination

in the ‘downturn scenario’, the Oirectors confiem that they have

a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue 1n
operation and meet its babitities as they fall due over the perod to
31 March 2024

Going concern
The Directors also considered it appropriale Lo prepare the

financial statements ¢n the going concern basis, as exptawned in
the Governance review

Ta read more informatien on going concern, go to page 78.

The Strategic Report was approved by the Board on 14 May 2019
and signed onits behalf by

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive
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1 Triton Square

Excellent environmental stewardship

Large-scale development carries a broad responstbility and we are careful to manage the impact of our
projects on the environment At 1 Tritan Square we worked closely with our design team and contractor to refain
much of the originat buitding Smart matenal reuse and sustainability innovations mean that the building will
produce 33% less carbon in canstruction and operation than best practice new buiid equivaients - a reduction
of 35,600 tennes of CO,e This saving 1s greater than the building’s aperational emissians aver the next 20 years
ang it exceeds the ambitious carbon reduction targets required ta meet the UK's commutment to the Paris
Climate Agreement High efficiency equipment, low-carbon materials and a circular approach to waste are all
part of our BREEAM Outstanding sustainabibity plans for the buitding



BOARD OF DIRECTGRS

Driving success

Our Board develops strategy and leads British Land

to achieve long term success.

John Gildersieeve, Non-Executive Chairman®

Appeinted as a Non-Executive Director in September 2008 and as Chatrman
wy Jonuary 2013

Skills and experience

John 1s deputy chairman of TatkTaik Telecomn Group PLC He was farmerty
eharman of Carphone Warehouse Group, New Look Retail Group, EMI

Group and Gallaher Group, a non-executive directar of Dixans Carphone plc,
Lioyds TSB Bank PLC, Vodatone Group and Pick n Pay Stares {Sauth Afnical,

deputy charman of Spire Healthcare and an execulive ditector of Tesco ple

Jehn will be stepping down as Chairman and from the Board al the end of
the 2019 AGM

Lynn Gladden, Non-Executive Director ¢ R

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in March 2015

SKills ahd experiente

Lynn s recognised as an autharity in working at the interface of advanced

technelogy and industry Her cribical thinking and analylical skills bring a
unique dimension to the Board

She s Shell Professar of Chermical Engineering at the Umiversity of
Cambridge and Executive Chaw of the Engineering and Physical Sciences
Research Counuil She is also a feliow of the Royal Saciety and Rayal
Academy of Engineering
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Chris Grigg, Chief Executive
Appointed to the Board in January 2009
Skitts and experience

Chris has more Lthan 30 years experience n real estate and linanciat
sefvices industries, i a range of leadership roles He brings a strong
track record of driving growth, delivering strategic plans and a wealth of
expenence in corporate finance to the Board

Untit Nevember 2008 Chris was cheef executive of Barclays Commercial
Bank, having joined Barctays in 2005 Prior to that, Chris spent over 20 years
al Gotdman Sachs

Chris 1s a non-execulive direclor of BAE Systems plc where he also sils
on the Corporate Responsibility Commutiee He s a board member of the
European Public Reat Estate Association and a member ol the Cancer
Research UK Corporale Board

Alastair Hughes, Non-Execulive Director ~ ©

Appointed as a Non-Execulive Director in January 2018

Skills and experience

Alastair has praoven experience of growing reat estate companies and 55

a fellow of the Rayal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

Alastair is a non-executive director of Schroders Real Estale Invesiment
Trust Lirrwted and Teitax Big Box REIT, with gver 25 years of experience m
real estale markeis. He is a former dicector of Jones Lang LaSalle Inc [JLL)
having served as managing director of JLL in the UK, as chief executwve for
Europe, Middle East and Afrwa and then as regwnal CED for Asia Pacihc.



Simon Carter, Chief Financial Officer

Appeinted 1o the Board in May 2018

Skiits and expenience

Ssmon has extensive experience of finance and the reat estate

sector He joined British Land from Lagicor, the owner and operaior of
Eurcopean logistics real estale, where he had served as chrel financial
officer since January 2017

Prior lo joining Logwor from 2015 to 2017 Simon was finance director at
Guintain €states & Oevelopment Pic Simon previously spent over 10 vears
with British Land, warking i a vaniely of inancial and strateqic roles and
was a member of our Executive Commuittee from 2012 until his departure
n January 2015 Simon siso previousty worked for UBS in fixed income
ang gualiliied a5 3 chartered accountant with Arthur Andersen

Nicholas Macpherson, Non-Executive Director A
Appointed as 3 Non-Executve Qirector in December 2014
Skills and experience

Nicnolas has directed srgamisations through both fiscat and strategwc
change management and brings this vital expertise to the Board

He is chairman of C Hoare & Co and a director of The Scotlish Amencan
[avestment Company PLC Nicholas was the Permanent Secretary te the
Treasury lor over 18 years from 2005 ta March 206, leading the department
through the financial chisis and the subsequent period of banking reform

He joined the Treasury in 1985 and held a number of roles prior to his
appoiniment as Permanent Secretary Nicholas trained as an econorrust
and has worked at the CBI and Peat Marwick Consulling

Witliam Jackson, Senior independent Director ® ®
Appoinied as a Non-Executive Dwrector in April 2011 and Semor independent

Tirggas m Suly 2007

Skills and experience

William s experience spans business operatons and firancial planning
He 15 Managing Partoer of Bridgepomnt, ane of Europe s leading private
equity groups, which he has led since 2001 Willam has served on a wide
range of UK and international boards during his career and has exlenswve
praperly experience

Preben Prebensen, Non-Executive Director R

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in September 2017

Skills and experience

Preben has 30 years’ expenience in driving tong term growth for Briish
bankeng businesses

He has been chief executive of Close Brolhers Group plc since 2009 Preben
was formerly chiel investment officer at Catlie Group Limited and chief
executive of Wellington Underwriting pic Prigr ta that he held 5 nurmber of
semior positions at JP Morgan
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

Tim Scere - Non-Executive Director &
Appamnted as a Non-Executive Directar i March 2014
Skills and experience

Trm has sigmhicant expenience n the ragidly evolving global technotogy
landscape and brings years of engagerment both with malture econcrnies
and emerging markels ta the Board

He 15 2 non-~execulive director ol Pearson pic and HM Treasury and sits on
the board of lrustees of the Royal Matwwnal Thealre Tim was formerly chiel
financial oificer of ARM Holdings PLC and held semwor inancial positians at
Rebus Group Limied Willam Baird ple, LucasVanty plc and BTR plc From
2005 1o 2014, he was a non-executve director of Nauonal Express Group
PLC. mcluding time as interim, chairman and six years as senwor
independent dwecter

Tim has been appomied lo succeed John Gildersieeve as Chairman from
the end of the 2019 AGM.

Rebecca Worthington, Non-Executive Director 4
Appointed as a Non-Executive Qirector in January 2018
Skills and experience

Rebecca has exlensive Listed properly seclor expenence and brings key
commercial acumen to the Board

She was formerly group chief operaung efficer [having prewously been
group chiel inance officer] af Countryside Properties PLC and spent

15 years at Quintain Estates and Development PLC, first as linance direclor
and tatterly as deputy chref executive Rebecca was also 2 non-executve
director and chair of the audit committee al Hansteen Holdings ple unul

20 March 2018, and a non-executve director of Aga Rangemaster Group plc
1o Septamber 2015. She qualilied as a chartered accountant with
Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP,
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Laura Wade-Gery, Non-Executive Director R
Apponied as a Non-Executive Direcior in May 2015
Skills and experience

Laura has deep knowledge of digital transformation and customer
expenence and brings her experience leading business change
managemant o the Board

She s a non-execubive director of John Lewss Partnership pic and NHS
Improvement Previously. Laura was executive director Mutti Channel at
Marks and Spencer Group plc, served in a number of sermior posibions at
Tesco PLC inctuding chief executive officer of Tesco com and was a
non-executive diractar of Triruty Miregr ple

Brona McKeown, General Counsel and Company Secretary
Appainted as General Counsel and Company Secretary in January 2018
Skilis and experience

Belore joining Briish Land, Brona was General Counsel and Company
Secrelary of The Co-operatve Bark ple for four years as part of the
restruciuring execufve team immediately prior to that she was Interim
General Counsel and Secretary at the Coventry Building Society Until
October 2011, Brona was Global General Counsel of the Corporate dmsion
of Barclays Bank plc. having jorned Barclays in 1998 Brona traired and
spent a number of years at a large City law firm



Directors' core areas of expertise! Board attendance

Scheduled Ad hoc
Oirector meelings meelings Tatal
Jotn Gidersieeve’ 1? 212 9/¢
Alastair Hughes L /3 10/10
Charles Maudsley? 7/7 2/2 979
Chris Grnigg 7 313 10/10
LLaura Wade-Gery* yiii 213 9/10
Lynn Gladden 77 33 10/10
Nicholas Macpherson® 77 2/3 /10
Preben Prebensent 77 2/3 9/10
Rebecca Warthington /7 3/3 10/10
Simen Carter?? &5/6 212 B/8
Tt Roberts? 7 2/? 9/9
Tirn Score' ¢ 47 12 8/9
wilham Jackson® &/7 3/3 9/10

Board Committee membership key

Oue te their conflicts of interest, Tim Score and John Gitdersieeve were not

* Audit Committee member invited to attend one ad hoc Board meeling, the sole business of which was
o = . ~ Chairman succession
* Corparaie Sota Respansbitily Commiitee memer # Due lo their confucts o1 interest, Charies Maudsiey Tim Roberis ang
N Siman Carter were not inwvited o atiend one ad hoc Board meeling, the sale
tlomination Committee member business ol which was the reargamsaton of Executive Direclor positions
a 3 Simon Carter did nal start employment unbi 21 May 2018 and therefore did
Remuneranon Committee member not altend one meeting that icok place befare he joined
4 Laura Wade-Gery, MNichotas Macpherson, Preben Prebensen and Tun Score
o Chawman of a Board Commuttee each rmssed one ad hoc meeting that was called at short nolice In each case,

the Qirectors who were unable to altend had been separately briefed on the

husinass of tha magiar 30 had nenaded thou- wawe heforakznd
businges ol the magtag and had arnwdedd thous e sfors d

5 Pre-existing diary commitments meant Witham Jacksen was unable to altend
ane meeling 1 January 2019 This was scheduted some ume after the 2019
Board dates had been settied as a response o the Board evaluation feedback
that there was a targe gap between ihe November and March meetings
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CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Welcome to the Governance
and Remuneration sections

— e,

t am pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2619.

The Board's responsibility for leading the Company and overseaing
the governance of the Group continues 1o be supported by a robust
structure which allows for constructive debale and challenge byits
members This approach enables the Directors to make effective
decistans, at the nght time and based on the right information.

As | mention In my statement on pages 2 and 3, our level

of thaughtful actwity and the resilience of our strategy set British
Land apart We take this thoughtfulness and consideration

Into our governance structure and this year a review of our
governance policies has been carried out This resulted in
revisions to @ number of our palicies including our matters
reserved to the Board. various Committee terms of reference
and delegated authonties

Governance underping the way in which the business of the Group
1s managed, our behaviour and our corporate cullure This year,
we are regorting aganst the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code
[the 'Code’} available at frc org uk | am pleased to report that the
Board has continued to apply goed governance and constders that
the Company has complied with the provisions of the Code
throughout the year

We have also been making preparations for compliance with the
2018 UK Corparate Gavernance Code. Dur commtment to
engaging with our stakehaolders means that we atready have in
place several methods of engaging with various stakeholder
groups Ta help with reviewing this engagement we have recently
constituted a Board level Corporate Social Responsibility
Commultee to assist the Board in:

- understanding the views of key stakeholders lincluding our
ernployees) ot the Company

- understanding the Company’s impact on community
and environment
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- ensuring that the Board 1s aware of the processes and
mechamsms used by the Company to engage with key
stakeholders

~ ensuring that those processes and mechamisms are fit for
purpase and asstst tn contributng to the wider society

The following Corporate Governance Report, including the reports
of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Commiltees, cuthnes
how the Campany has applied the Code’s principles and provisions

Board changes

The Board has continued to evolve during the year. Simon Carter
joined i May 2018 as Chief Financial Officer and T:m Roberts and
Charles Maudsley stepped down fromn the Board on 31 March 2019
Charles Maudsley left British Land on that date but Tim Roberts
remains an emptoyee untit 31 July 2019

1 would like to thank both Tim and Charles for their commitment
ta Briish Land Tim jained British Land in 1997 and was appointed
to the Board 1n 2006, since when he has been the Head of Gffices
Charies jomned Bntish Land in 2010 and has been un the Board
since that ime, most recently as the Head of Retail, Leisure

and Residential

in addition, ! will step down as Chairman and as a Director at
the end of the 2019 AGM with Tirn Score having been appointed
to succeed me as Chawrman at that ime

Whth the exception of Tim, Charles and i, all Directors in role at
3i March 2019 will stand for re-election at the 2019 AGM

This year we carnied out an internal evaluation of the Board.
Details of the process underiaken and a summary of the outcomes
are set out on page 77 However, | am pleased to report here

that the review concluded that your Board, its Commuttees and

s sndwvidual members continue to operate effectivety and with due
diigence. It also confirmed that good progress has been made on
the recommmendations of Last year's externally facilitated
evaluation. The tocus for the coming year will be

- continuing development of the Board's understanding of cutture
and values;

- continuing the development of succession plans, and

- refining agendas and birmings to enhance discussion and debate
around important 1ssues

This year's AGM wali agan provide an opportunity for all
sharehaolders to hear more about our performance during the year
and lo ask questions of the Board | look forward to welcarming you
on 19 July 2019

e Aee v -

John Gildersleeve
Non-Executive Chairman



BOARD ACTIVITY IN 2019

Our core focus areas

The Board meets regularly with people from across the British Land
business and interacts with a range of advisers including corporate
brokers and valuers. Board discussions have covered a wide range
of topics with a significant amount of time spent on the following
strategic topics:

Strategic topic Areas on which the Board has focused during the year

Customer Orientation - Decision to tocus our business on three core elements. our London campuses, a smatler
Retall partfolio and Residential which would see campuses increase to 55-60% of the pertiotio,
with Retail regucing to 30-35% and Residential increasing to 10% on a bve year view

- Srrart Places feam esizhished o facte o delverng technology-erabled piaces and the
personalisation of the warking enviconmen?
- Continued roll out of Storey, now operatianat acrass 141,000 sq ft at our campuses
Right Places - Signed our Masler Development Agreement and submitted our planning applicatian at
Canada Water
- Progressing our viston for Broadgate inctuding obtaiming planming permission for the
reaevewapment o 1-Z Hroadgate

- Dwverseeing our Retai disposal strategy

Capital Efficiency - Sale of 5 Broadgate for £1bn [BL share £500m)

- Use of proceeds split between g £200m extens:on to our share buyback grogramme and
reinvestment in develepment

- Recommendation of 31 00p per share in dwvidends representing a 3% year-on-year increase
- Repayment of £223m of deblin the Broadgate JV reteasing busldings or potentizl development
- Mawntenance of apgroprate leverage at 28%
Expert People - Combining our Cffices and Retail businesses under the leadership of Darren Richards as Head
of Real Estate

- Appointment to the Executive Committee* of Emma Cariaga, Head of Operations at Canada
Water and Dawd Lockyer, Head of Broadgate

- Combination of Bribish Land and our property management business within a singte office site,
enabling collaboration and maximising the efficiency of our operations

- Roll aut of agile working, enabling our people to work more flexsbly

Sustainability - Establishment of a Board level Corporate Social Responsibility Commitiee with effect from
April 2019

- Consideration of our approach to sustainability for beyond 2020

Diversity and inclusicn across our business

* Betails of the members of our Executive Commuttee can be found on our website at breishland com/fexecutive-commultee
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GOVERNANCE AT A GLANCE

A strategic enabler

Our governance structure ensures that the right people have access
to the right information. Delegated authorities throughout our
organisation enable effective decision making at appropriate levels.

Board > ]

Board of Directors

Corporate Social
Audit Cemmittee Responsibility

Committee®

Nomination
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Executive > [

Chief Executive

Executive Committee

—

& itwestment Committee

Risk Committee

f 1 ]

— '
Management Community Investment
Committee

* With eifect from | April 2019

Board gender split as at 2019 AGM versus 2018 AGM
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f

Health and Safety Committee

Sustainability
Committee

Average board member age over a three-year period




GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Governance is an integral
part of the way we deliver

our strategy

Leadership

The Board

As at 31 March 2019 the Board comprised the Chairman, eight
independent Non-Executive Directors and four Execuiwe Oirectars.
Biographies of the Direciors as at the date of publication are sex
out on pages 68 to 70 and include detads of the skilis and
experience each brings to the Board. By the conclusion of the

2019 AGM, the Board will have reduced i size to comprise the
Chairman, seven independent Non-Executive Directors and two
Executive Directors

Qur niporpus and transparent orocedyres for appointing new
Directors are led by the Nomination Committee Non-Executve
Directors are appointed for specidied terms and atl continuing
Directars offer themsetves for etection or re-election by
sharehoiders at the AGM each year provided the Board, on

the recommendation of the Nomination Cammutiee, deems it
appropriate that they do so

The compaosition of the Board 1s fundamental (o its success

in providing strong and effective leadership The Nomination
Committee 1s responsible for reviewing the composition of the
Board and its Committees and assessing whether the balance of
skills, experience, knowledge and diversity 1s appropriate to enable
them to aperate effectively

We continue to have a sirong mix of experienced indwviduals

an the Board The majonity are independent Non-Executve
Drectors who are not anty able to offer an external parspective
on the business, but atso constructively challenge the Executive
Owrectors, particularly when developing the Company's stralegy
The Non-Executive Directors scrutinise the performance of
management In meeting ther agreed geals and objectives, and
monitor the reporting of that performance

The tugh catibre of debate and the participation of ail Directors.
Executve and Non-Executive, in its meetings altows the Board to
ulilise the experience and skills of the indwvidual Directors to their
maximum potentiat and make decisions thal are in the best
nterests of the Company.

Role of the Board

The Board has reserved key decisions and matters for its own
approval, mcludng rts care responsibiitres of setting the Group's
strategic direction, overseeing the detivery of the agreed strategy.
managing risk and establishing the culture, values and standards
of the Group as a whole. Matters below the financial limit set by
the Board are delegated either to the Investment Commuttee (for
property and financing ssues| comprising the Executive Oirectors,
Head of Strategy & Invesiment, Head of Real Estate and Head of
Development or to an approvals cormnmittee of any two of the

Executive Directors and General Counsel and Company Secretary
with all decisions taken reported o the next Board meeting.

The Board cuiture is one of openness and canstructive debate
The Drrectors are able to voice their opinitons in a relaxed and
respectiul environment, aliowing coherent discussion When
running Board meetings, the Chairman maintains a collaborative
atmosphere and ensures that all Directors have the opperiunity
lo contnbute to the debate The Chairman also arranges informal
meetngs and events throughout the year to help butld constructive
retationships between Board members and the senior
management team

The Shaorman mesis with nda.cuat Direciors ouis:ds lormal
Board meetings to allow for open, two-way discussion about the
effectiveness of the Board, its Commuttees ang s members The
Chairman s therefore able to remain mindfut of the views of the

individual Directors

Division of responsibilities

There1s a clear written division of respensibilities hetween the
Chairman lwho 1s responsible for the leadersh:p and effectiveness
of the Board] and the Chief Executive [who 1s responsible for
managing the Company s business)

The Board has delegated authority for the day-to-day management
of the business to the Chief Executive.

The Exacutive Directors are wnwolved in, or aware of, atl major
actwitigs and ace therefore extremely well placed ta ensure that
any decisions align with the Group s agreed strategy

The Executive Directors make decisions within predefined
parameters delegated by the Board, although any proposal

may still be taken to the fuil Board for consideration and approval
where this s considered appropnate, even if it falls withun

those parameters.

Three standing Committees have been operating throughaut

the year the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees,
to whech certamn powers have been delegated Membership of
each of these Committees (s comprised solely of independent
Non-Executive Birectors The reports of these three standmg
Commiltees are set out an pages BO Lo 109. The Corporate

Social Responsibitsty Comeruttee had its first meeting in May 2019

Management Commiitees have also been established to make
recommendations on matters delegated to them by the Board,
its standing Committees or the Executive Directors

This governance struciure [set out on the previous pagel ensures
that the Board 1s able to focus on strategec proposals, major
transactions and governance matlers which affect the long term
success of the business
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Strategy days

The Board held its annual offsite strategy event during February
2(19. The strategy days are struciured to provide the Directors,
and the Non-Executive Directors in particular, with an opportunity
to focus on the development of, and challenge to, the Group s
corporale strategy.

The Executive Directors, senior executives and externat guests
delivered a number ol presentations to attendees providing
1in-depth analysis on aspetts of the business and the external
environment. The days were carefully structured to achieve a
balance between presentations, debate and discussion

Areas focused on at the 2019 strategy days included. corporate
strategy, Canada Water, technology, the flexible workspace markel
and the burd to rent markat

Board meetings

Regutar Board and Cornmutiee meetings are scheduled throughout
the year and the Directors ensure that they allacate sufficient time
to discharge their duties effectively Occasionally, Board meetings
may be held at short notice when Board-level decisions of 2
terne-crilical nature need to be made or for exceplionat business

The Board agenda is sei by the Chairman, in conjunction with

the Chief Executive and General Counsel and Company Secretary
Each scheduled meeting includes a management report delivered
by the Chief Executive and regular updates on the actwities of
vannus standing and management commigtess, Dhscussions alsp
take place on strategic proposals, majar acquisitipns, disposats,
developments and legal and governance matters

Care 15 taken to ensure that infermation s circulated in good

time before Board and Cammittee meetings, and that papers are
presented clearly and with the appropriale level of detall te enable
the Board to discharge ts duties All papers are circulated one
week prior o meetings and clearly marked as betng For Decrsien ,
‘For Information” or For Discussion . To enhance the delivery of
Board and Committee papers the Board uses a Board portal and
tablels which provide a secure and efficient process for meeting
pack distribution Under the direction of the Chawrman, the General
Counsel and Company Secretary facilitates eifective infarmation
flows between the Board and its Commuttees, and between semor
management and Non-Executive Direclors,

In March 2019 the Board held its meeting at the recently
redeveloped 3 Broadgate in the City of London The meeting was
followed by a site visit to the 100 Liverpool Sireet development
which bad recently had tts topping out ceremony.

Effectiveness

Board induction

On appontment, all Directors whether Executive or Non-Executive
recewe 3 comprehensive induction. Each new CQirector (s inwted to
meet the General Counsel and Company Secretary or Head of
Secretariat to discuss their induction in detail, following which the
programme Is lailored specifically to thewr requirements and
adapted to reflect their existing knowledge and experience.

Each induction programme wouid ordinarily mclude.

- meetings with the Chatwrman, Executive Directors,
Committee Charrmen, external auditor or remuneration
consultants {as appropnatel
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- information on the corporate strategy, the investment stralegy,
the financial position and tax matters lincluding details of the
Company 5 REIT status)

- anoverview of the property porttolio provided by members of
the senor management team

- visits ta key 3ssets

details of Board and Comrruttee procedures and Directors’

respansibilities

- details on the invester relations programme
- mnformation on the Company's approach to sustamnability

All induction docurmnents are made available on our secure
electronic Board portal and are theretore available to Qirectors
both duning and after their inguction.

Training and development

The Chairman and General Counset and Company Secretary
agree what Board-w:de training or development may be
appropriate Buring the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board
consideread papers and presentations on legal and requlatory
developments ncluding the Z0i8 UK Corporate Governance
Code and The Reporting of Payment Practices and Performance
Regulations, SMART technolegy, the macre-econgmic environment
and specific issues relating to Brexit, sustanability-related
devetopments and briefings on the views of stakeholders and
the external environment

Directors are aiso entitted to seek independent advice n relation to
the performance of their duties at the Company s expense, subject
1o having first notitied the Chairman or the General Counsel and
Company Secretary.

Commitment

Non-Executive Directors letters of appointment set out the time
commitrnents expected from them Following consideration. the
Nomination Commutiee has concluded that all the Non-Executive
Directors continue to devote sufficient ume to discharging thesr
duties to the required high standard

British Land’s policy 1s to allow Executive Oirectors to take one
nan-executive directorshup at another FTSE company, subject to
Board approval Externat appaintments of the Executive Directors
are disclosed in thew biographies Any fees earned by the
Executive Directars are disclosed on page 106 within the
Rermuneration Report

Conflicts of interest

The Directors are required ta avaid a situatian i which he or she
has, or can have, a direct or indirect conflict wath the interests of
the Company. The Board has established a procedure whereby
the Oirectors are required to notify the Chairman and the General
Counset and Company Secretary of all potential new guiside
interests and actual or perceived conflicts of interest that may
affect them in their roles as Directors of Bnitish Land All potential
conflicts of interest are authonised by the Board and the register of
Directars” interests is reviewed by the full Board at least annually.

The Board also reviews the Directors’ Interests Policy on an annual
basis Following the last review in November 2018, the Board
concluded that the policy continued to operate effectively



Re-election

The Board has reviewed the Nomtnation Committee’s assessment
of whether each Non-Executive Director remains independent in
character and judgement and whether there are relationships or
circumsiances which are tikely to affect, or could appesr to affect,
that judgement As a result, the Board as a whole considers that
each of the Non-Executive Oirectors s independent and 1s of the
stature and has the required experience to perform his or her role
as an ingdependent Qirectar The results of the Board evaluation
also confirm the Board's belief that each Non-Executive Directar
standing for re-election at the 2019 AGM remains committed to
their rote wathtn Bretish Land and continues to perform effectively

Board evaluation

The effectiveness of the Board and its Commuitees is reviewed
annually, with an independent, externally faciitated review being
conducted at ieast once every three years The next externat review
will be 1 2021

In 2019. an internal evaluaton of the Board and its Commiitees
was conducted by the General Counsel and Company Secretary
Oy Circuiahinng Quéstionnanes, seeking quanblatve anc guaiiative
teedback and reparting the outcomes to the Board In addition

1o the format evaluation, the Chatrman met each Non-Executive
Direcior indmidually duning the year to discuss their contribution
to the Board The Senior ingependent Director ted the appraisal
of the Chairman s performance by the Non-Executive Qirectors,
wath the views of the Fyerutive Dhrectors alsp bewnn taken

into consideration

The Chairman and Chief Executive presented their appraisals

of the perfarmance of the Chuef Executive and other Executive
Directors respectively These appraisals were taken into account
when considering the performance of the Board as a whole as
well as v relation 10 annual and long term :ncentive awards

The evatuation of the Board and its Commuttees concluded that
the Board and 1ts Commuttees continued to aperate effectively
with a high standard of performance thraughout the year.

The focus for the coming year will be

- continuing development of the Board's understanding of culture
and values

- continuing the development of succession plans

- refining agendas and bimengs to enhance discussion and debate
around important Issues

Accountability

Financial and business reporting

The Board is responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
confirms in the Directors’ responsibility statement set cut on
page 113 that it believes that the Annuat Report, taken as a whole,
is faur, batanced and understandable, and provides the mformation
necessary (0 assess Briish Land s position, performance,
business model and strategy The basis on which the Company
creates and preserves value over the long term 1s described in

the Strateqic Report

The Audit Commuttee reviewed the procedure undertaken to
enable the Board to prowvide the [air, balanced and undersiandabte
confirmation to shareholders. Meetings were held between the
Group Financial Controller, Head of Investor Retations and other
sentor emgloyees 1o review and document 1he key congiderations
undertaken and a detaded report was then presented 1o the

Audit Commities,

Risk management and internal control

The Board determines the extent and nature of the risks it 1s
prepared to take in order to achieve the Company 5 strategic
abyjectives. The Board has responsibility for the Carmpany s
overall approach to nsk management and internal control which
includes ensuring the design and implementation of apprapriate
risk management and internal control systems Oversight of the
effectiveness of these systems s delegated to the Audit Commuttee
which undertakes regular reviews to ensure thai the Group 1s
wentitying, constdering and as far as practicable mitigating the
risks for the business

The Baard confirms that a robust assessment of the principal

- kg facng the Compary, 'noloding thase (hat would thesien s
business medel, future performance, solvency or iquidity, was
carried out during the year

British Land's approach to nsk, including the roles of the Board
and the Audit Commuttee (n setting nsk appetite and monitoring
nisk expesure, 1s detailed in the ‘Managing risk a delivering our

siraisgy 58
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As well as complying with the Code, the Group has adopted the
best practice recommendaitons in the FRC Guidance on nisk
management, internal control and related fmancial and business
reporting and the Company’s internal control framework operales
in lene with the recommendations set out 1n the internationally
recognised COSO Internal Control Integrated Framework

The Company 1s cammutied to conduciing Its business in an
ethical manner, with integrity and 1n Line with all relevant taws
and regutations The Group has adopled a number of policies
and procedures including policies and training on anii-bribery
and corruption and fraud awareness, iIfformation secusity and
GDPR All employees are made aware of the Group's policies
through the Employee Handbook and regular bulietins and also
recewe traiming appropriate to their roles and responsibilities

The Audit Commuttee rewiews the effectiveness of the Group s
system of internai control annually, sncluding the systems of
control for material joint ventures and funds The Group's internal
control systems built en the tollowing fundamentiat principles,
and 15 subject to review by internal audit

- a defined schedule of matters reserved for approval by the Board

- adetalled authorisation process. no matenal commitments are
entered into without thorough review and approval by an
authorised person

- tormat documentation of all significant transactions

- arobust systemn of business and financiat planning: including
cash ftows and profitability forecasting, with scenane analysis
performed on major corporate, property and financing proposats

- arobust process for property mvestment appraisals

- maonitoring of key outcomes, parucularly expenditure and
performance of significant investrnents, against budget
and forecast
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

- clearly defined policies and review of actual perfarmance against
policies

- benchmarking of property performance agamst external
sources such as the investment Property Databank

- key controls testing
- 3 comprehensive property and corparate insurance programme
~ aformal whistleblowing poticy

Buring the course of 1its review for the year ended 31 March 2019,
and 1o the date of this Report, the Audit Commuttee has not
identified, nor been advised of, a fating or weakness which tt has
determuned to be significant

Geing concern and viability statements

Duning the year the Board assessed the appropnateness of using
the "going concern’ basis of accounting in the binancial statements
The assessment considered future cash lows and debl faciliies

lto assess the liquidity nisk of the Company) and the avartability of
finance {to assess the salvency nskl The assessment covered the
12-month period required by the ‘going concern’ basis of accounting

In accordance with the Code, the Board has also assessed the
prosoects of the Group over a five-year period, which 15 deemed
appropriate for the wability statement [n prepanng the viability
statement the Board considered the principal risks set out on
pages 98 to 61 and the sensitivities of cash flow and debt covenant
torecasts, all of which are considered to have a reasonable
tikelinaed of impacing the wabiity of the Company Full cetads of
this assessment are set out on page 45

Following these assessments the Directors believe that the Group
15 well placed to manage its financing and other business risks
satislactority and have a reasonable expectation that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources to continue in pperation
for at teast 12 months from the date of the Annual Report They
therefore consider 1t appropnate to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting in preparing the financial statements

The Beard ailso considers that the Company and the Group wilt be
able to continue in operation and meet its Liabiliies as they fall due
over the period ending 31 March 2024

Taxation

Our principles of good governance extend to our responsible
approach to tax Qur tax strategy {'Our Approach to Tax'}, available
on our website bntishiand com/governance, 15 approved by the
Board and (s in line with the Group’s long term values, cuiture
and strategy.

Remuneration
The Directors’ Remuneration Report 1s set out on pages 88 to 109.

In stcardance with the Code, the Remuneration Committee (s
recommending a new Remuneration Policy for approval at the
2019 AGM. The recommended Rernuneration Policy is set out

on pages 92 to 96.

Relations with stakeholders

The Board 15 commutted to maintaining open channels of
communication with all of the Company’s stakehalders. An
important part of this 1s prowiding a clear explanation of the
Company's strategy and objectives, and ensuning that feedback
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ts acknowledged, considered and, where appropriate, acted upon
Stakeholder leedback 15 essenhial to the success of our business,
so we ensure the Chawman, Semar Independent Qirector and
Executive Directars are available to address any concerns our
stakeholders may wish to raise

British Land aims to be informanve and accessible to alt
shareholders. Announcements relaiing to the Group's iinancial
results and key events are provided in a bnely manner and are
easily accessible via our website and social media. The Group
website also provides detaded mnformation on our assets, as well
as case studies dlustrating our strategy, including our
sustainabidity actvities.

Bruish Land has a dedicated Investor Relatrons team which s
avallable to respond 1o any questons or CoNCcerns INVes{ors may
have on an ad hoc basis

All stakeholders are able to contact the Company directly via the
contacts page on our website- britishland com/coniacts

To read more on our key stakeholders, the ssues that matter
to them and how we engage with them go to page 26.

Annual General Meeting

Directors attend the AGM, which provides retail shareholders in
particufar with an opportuniiy te hear directly from the Board on
the Company's perfarmance over the past year. its strategy and the
objectives for the year ahead The AGM also prowides sharehotders

with the sonortunihy to agk queshiong

The 2018 AGM was attended by approximately 110 shareholders.

All resotutions were vated on by way of a poll and passed by the
required majority The resulis of the AGM voting are announced to
the London Stock Exchange as scon as practicable following the
AGM and also made avadabie on the Company s website.

Retail shareholiders

Qur ‘Shareholiders Centre” on our website brikishland com/
shareholders-centre includes information on the AGM, dwvidends,
sharehelder commurucation, how ta contact our registrar, Equinil,
and other uselul resources for sharehotders

Institutional investors

Institutional investors and analysts recewe cegular
camrmunicabons from the Company, including details of investor
relations events {see the chart to the nghil, one-te-one and group
meetings with Executive Directors, and tours of cur major assets.
This year, our investor relations activity included analyst and
investor events comprsing presentations and tours of Broadgate
and Canada Water, and o CFO investor dinner. in total, the Chiel
Executive, Chief Financial Officer and Investor Retations team met
with representatives from 215 institutions during the year ended
31 March 2019. We periodically commussion an independent
investar perception study, which provides feedback on our strategy.
hughlights matenal cencerns from key tnvestors and i1s presented
to the Board

The Executive team 1s comautted 6 ensuning that shareholder
wiews, both pasitive and negative, are relayed back to the Board.
The Chief Executive provides a written report at each scheduled
Board meeting which includes direct market feedback on
actwly during the period and commentary on any meetings
with major shareholders



Key investor relations activities

during the year

@ May

- Fullyear resulis presentation

- Full year results roadshow, London

- Investor roadshow, Frankiurt

- Investor property conference, Netherlands
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- Analyst & investor presentation
& tour Canada Water

- Investor property conference,
New York
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- Investor property conference, London
Private client investor roadshow, Landan

- Investor roadshow, Paris

i

Analyst & investor presentation & tour,
Broadgate

- AGM

- Prwate chemomvesior
breakfast, London AGM

- US roadshow
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Lenders and boendholders

The Board recegnises the contrshution made by our
lenders and bondholders Through our Treasury team, the
Group maintains an open diatogue with our debt providers
which helps the Board understand their investrment
appente and critena

s

7
N

Community

British Land recognises that the people wha live in and
around our assels are essentiat to creating Places People
Prefer, and theretore to the success of our business
Investing in these cormnmunities s an iImportant part of
our appraach. and our ‘Locat Charter’ details how we
buid trust by making positive contributions locally Qur
‘Community Funding Guidelines’ sel out how we allocate
funding, with a particular focus on nitiatives close to our
assels that provide gpportumities to tocsl pepple through
education, employment and training Both documents can
be found on our website at britishland.com/policies

Our approach to social and environmental reporting s set
out an pages 2810 29

@
&/
industry dinner a

- Half year resuits 0

- Half year results roadshow, London m

- investor roadshow, Edinburgh

Investor property canference, London

- Investor dinner, London

- lnvestor roadshow,
Frankfurt & Zurich

- lnvestor property
conference, Miams

- Investor property
conference, London

March @
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

We monator the quality and
integrity of the financial
reporting and valuation ;

process

i am pieased to present the report of the Audit Committee
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

In Line with the focus on improved governance and clear,

relevant and concise reporting, this report of the Audit Committee
highlights the main issues which arose dunng the year and

how they were addressed

Role and responsibilities
The principal respensibilities of the Committee are.

Financial reporting - Monitoring the integrity of the Campany's
financial stalements and any formalt snnouncements relating to
financial performance, and considering significant financial
reporiing issyes, judgements and estimates

External Audit - Oversight and remuneration of the external
auditor, assessing elfectiveness and making recommendatians
ta the Board on the appontrment of, and the policy for non-audst
services provided by, the external auditor

Internal Audit - Monitering and reviewing reports on the work
performed by the internal auditor and reviewing effectiveness,
mncluding its plans and resourciig

Risk management and internal controts = Reviewing the system
ofinternal control and risk management

Investment and development property valuations - Considenng

the valuation process and outcame and the eflectveness of the
Company's valuers
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Key areas of focus

Ultimately, the Commutiee continues to play a key role in
overseeing the itegnity of the Group’s financial statements,
including assessing whether the Annual Repert 1s fair, balanced
and understandable, as well as ensuring that a sound system
of nsk management and internal control s in place

During the year, the Comrmuttee has reviewed the process for
identification and mitigation of key business risks, challenging
ranagement actions where appropriate The Commuttee has

also reviewed the appropriateness af the accounting treatment of
signthcant transactions, including asset acquisdions and disposals
along with scrutimising the valuation of the Group's property assets
as well as the effectweness of the valuers

The Commultee cantinued to monitar the implementation of the
new valuer policy which was approved in 2017. As at 31 March 2019
45% of the porticlio was under new instruction with a further 17%
due iz be reterdorag the follaweng vogr The Dorputtes sanhnuee
to appreciate the prafessionalism of all its valuers during the
tenger process

Committee composition and governance

There have been na changes to the membership of the Commuttee |
during the year to 31 March 2019 The Committee continues to

be composed solely of independent Non-Executive Directars with

sufficsent inancial experience, commercial acumen and sector

knowledge ta fulfif their responsibilities Members’ attendance at

Committee meetings 1s sel out 1n the following table.

Date of josring

Director Position the Commiltee  Attendance
Tin Score Chairman 20 Mar 2034 3/3
Alastair Hughes Member 1 dan 2018 3/3
Nicholas Macpherson Member 1 Apr 2017 3/3
Rebecca Worthington Member 1 Jjan 2018 3/3

The Board is satishied that the Committee as a whole has
compelence relevant to the real estale sector. For the purposes of
the UK Carporale Governance Code, Rebecca and | are deemed to
meet the specific requirernent of having significant, recent and
relevant financial experience

With effect Irom the conclusion of the 2019 AGM, Rebecca will
succeed me as Chairman of the Corrwrittee as | beqin my role as
Chawman of the Group.



Members of the senor management team, including the Chuet
Financial Officer, General Counsel and Company Secretary,
Group Financizl Controller, Head of Financial Reporting and
representatives of both external and internal auditers are invited
to attend each Committee meeting In addition, the Chairman of
the Board, Chief Executive Officer, Head of Investor Relations.,
Head of Planning and Analysis and other key employees are
invited to attend part, or ali, of specilic Committee meetings

The Committee meets prwvately with both external and internal
audilars after each scheduled meeting and continues to be
satched that nether s being unduly influenced by management
As Commuttee Chairman, | additionaily hold regular meetings
with the Chiet Executve Officer, Chief Financial Ofhcer and other
members of management to obtain a good understanding of key
1ssues affecting the Group and am thereby able to identify those
matters which require meaningful discussion at Comunittee
meetings | also meet the external audit partner. internal audi
partnar and representalives from each of the valuers grivately 1o
discuss any matters they wish to raise or concerns they may have

Committee effectiveness

The Committee assessed its own effectiveness during the

year through an internal questionnaire The Committee

reviews its terms of reference on an annual basts and these
have been updated to reflect the requwrements of the 2018 UK
Corparate Governance Code The current terms of reference
were effective from 1 Aprit 2019 and are avaitable en our website
at britighland com/committees

The information below sets aut in detail the actvity undertaken
by the Commutiee during the year ended 31 March 2019 | hope
that you find it useful o understanding our work

(A d""ﬂ’

Tim Score
Chairman of the Audit Cornmittee

Financial reporting

The Commuittee conbinues to review the content and tone of the
preluminary resutts press release, Annual Report and half year
results ai the request of the Board Orafts of the Annual Report
are reviewed by the Committee Chairman and the Committee as
a whole prior to formal consideration by the Board, with sufhicient
time proviged for feedback.

The Committee reviewed the key messaging included in the Annual
Report and hatt year results, paying particular attention te thase
matters considered to be (mportant to the Group by virtwe of their
size, complexity, ievet of [uagemnenl requirec and polenual impact
on the financial statements and wider business model Any issues
which were deemed to be significant were debated openly by the
Commuttee members and other attendees, including management,
external and internal audilors

se has d steolf that tha contry ar the
accuracy and consistency of the inforration presented in the
Annual Report are robust The Commitiee therefore recommended
to the Board that the Annual Report presented a fair, balanced and
understandable overview of the business of the Group and that it
pravided stakeholders with the necessary information to assess
the Group s position, performance, business model and strategy
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REPCRT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

The sign:ficant 1ssues consideced by the Committee in relation to the financtal statements during the year ended 31 March 2019, and the actiens
taken to address these 1ssues, are set out in the following table:

Significant issues considered

How these issues were addressed

CGoing The appropriateness of prepanng  The Commutiee rewewed management s analysis supporting the gong concern
cOoncern the Group financial statements basis of preparation This Included consideration of forecast cash flows. availability
statement on a going concern basis of commutted debt facihities and expected covenant headraem The Committee also
receved a report from the externat auditor an the results of the testing undertaken
on management’s analyss.
As a result of the assessment underiaken, the Cormmittee satisfied wself that the
going concern basis of preparation remained appropriate
The going concern statement is set out on page 78
Viability Whether the assessment The Commuttee considered whether management's assessment adequately reflected the
statement undertaken by management Group s risk appetite and principal nisks as disclosed on pages 58 to 61, whether the
regarding the Group s long term  period covered by the stalement was reasonabte given the stralegy of the Group and the
viability appropnately reflects the  environment in which it operates, and whether the assumplions and sensiivities identified,
prospects of the Group and covers and stress tested, represented severe but plausible scenarnas in the context of solvency or
an appropriate period of time Liguidity The Comrmttee also considerad a report from the external auditor
The Committee concurred with management's assessment and recommended the
viabilily staterment ta the Board
The wviability statement, together with further detaits on the assessment undertaken, 1s set
oul on page 65
Accounting The accounting treatment of The Comrmuttee rewiewed management papers on key judgements, mcluding those tor
for signiﬁcant significant property acquisitions, significant transactions, as well as the external auditor’s findings on these matters
* semas=le by - am AncimA
transactions  $5p053ls, hn sngleasiag particutar, the Committee considered the accounting ireatment of the share buyback
transactons 1S a recurrng risk
for the Group with non-siandard programme, the sale of 5 Broadgate and the treatment of leasing transactions within the
London Dffices portfolio
accounting eniries required,
and in some cases management  The external auditor confirmed that management s jJudgements in relation to these
judgement applied transacticns were appropnriate and reasonable and the Commuttee agreed with this
conclusion
REIT status Maintenance of the Group s REIT  The Committee reviewed the Company's compliance with the REIT tests Management

status through compliance with

certain conditions has a signdicant

impact on the Group's results

presented detalls of the methadology and results of their process for REIT testing, with
any change in long term trends, and the level of headroam, highlighted The Committee
also considered the external auditor’s review of the REIT tests performed by management

The Commitiee concluded that the Company's REIT status had been maintained in
the year.

Valuation of
praperty
portfolio

The valuation of iInvestment and

development properties conducted

by external valuers s inherently
subjective as it 1s undertaken on
the basis of assumpticens made by
the valuers which may not prove
to be accurate.

The autcame of the valuation is
significantt to the Group in terms
of investment decisions, resulis
and remuneration

The external vatuers presented thetr reports 10 the Committee prior to the half year and
full year results, providing an overview of the UK property market and summacising the
performance of the Group's assets. Significant judgements were also highlighted

The Coemrultee analysed the reparts and reviewed the valuation outcomnes, chattenging
assumptions made where thought Nt In particular, weth the implementation of the second
stage of the new vatuer appointment policy, the Commuttee pawd specific attention to those
assets which were subject to a new vatuation instruction during the year

The Comrmuttee was satisfied with the valuation process and the effectiveness of the
Company's valuers. The Committee also approved the relevant valuation disclosures to be
included in the Annual Repert,

Revenue
recognition

For certamn transactions,
judgement s applied by
management as to whether,
and to what exient, they should
be treated as revenue for the
financial year

The Commuttee and the external auditor separately considered the appropriateness

of the accounting treatment applied by management i relation to revenue recogmition
In particular, the Commultee considered the treatment of the sale of third party property
management righis to Savills and the turing of contingent consideration and costs.

The Committee considered the scope of the accounting standard and agreed with the
reasonableness of judgements made
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External Audit

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) was appointed as the Group's
external audor for the 2015 Annuat Report following a formal
competitive tender The Commuttee will cansider the need for a
competitive tender for the roie of external auditor every five years
and. v accordance with legislation and its awn terms of reference,
will ensure that a competitive tender takes place at least every

10 years The Group's audit engagement partner 1s John Waters,
who has been in role since PwC's appointment, and as required by
the applicable legislation this Annual Report and Accounts witl be
his finat year as audit engagemnent pariner. | would like to thank
John for tus hard work and diligence aver the last five years and,
following a rigorous selection process, welcome Sandra Dowling
as PwC’s new appotniment as audit engagement partaer.

The Commuttes has also considered the rationale for a competitive
tender following PwC s fifth year of appointment as external
auditor Inour view, given the knowledge, the robustness of
challenge and the continung effectiveness of PwC in therr rote

as external auditor, the Commuttee believe it is in the best interests
of sharehoiders for PwC ta remain as externat auditor for the
followtng inanciat year Tne Commuitiee witl continue 1o review this
annualty ahead of the requirement for a competudive tender within
10 years as defined by legislation

There are no contractual obl:gations :n place which would restrict
the Commutiee’s selection of a different auditor

P NS a5
: g the rglz g
with the external auditor and for considering their terms of
engagement, remuneration, effecliveness, independence and
continued objectivity The Comemittee annually reviews the audit
regquirements of the Group, for the business and in the context of
the external environment, placing great iImportance on ensuring

a high quality, effectwe external audit process

Fees and non-audit services

The Commullee discussed the audit fee for the 2019 Annuai Report
with the external auditar and approved the propased fee on behalf
of the Board,

tn additian, the Group has adopted a policy far the provisien of
non-audht services by the external auditor The policy helps to
sateguard the exlernal auditor’s independence and objectivity The
policy allows the external auditor to provide the following non-audit
services to Briish Land where they are cansidered to be the most
appropriate provider.

- audit related services including formal regarting relating to
borrowings, shareholder and other circulars and work in respect
of acgussitions and disposals In some circumstances., the
external audilor 1s required 1o carry out the wark because of
thew office In other circumstances, selection would depend

on which irm was best suited 1o provide the services required
sustainability assurance PwC currently provides an assurance

opinion 1o the Company over selected sustainability data Thes
appointment is reviewed annually

[n addition, the following protacals apply to non-audit fees:

- total non-audit fees are hmited to 70% of the audit fees in
any one year Additionally, the ratio of audit to non-audii fees
1s calculated in line with the methodology set outin the
2014 EU Regulations

- Commuttee approval 1s required where there might be questions
as to whether the external auditor has a conflict of interest

- the Audit Cormnmuttee Chairman is required to approve wy advance
each additional project o incremental fee between £25,000 and
£100,000, and Commuttee approval 1s required for any additional
projects cver £100,900

During the year the engagement relating to sustainability
assurance was approved by the Audit Commuttee Chairman on the
tasrs that PwC were best placed to grovide the service and that it
created no conflict of interest with their cate as externat auditor

Total fees for non-audit services amounted to £0 Tm, which
represents 23% of the total Group acdit fees payable for the year
ended 3t March 2019 Details of all fees charged by the external
auditar duriog the vear are set aut on page 132

The Commuttee ts satisfied that the Company has complied with
the provisions of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Compariues
Market investigation (Mandatory tse of Compelitwe Processes and
Audit Commuttee Responsibilities} Order 2014, published by the
Competiion and Markets Authonity on 26 September 2014

Effectiveness

Assessment of the annuat evatuation of the external auditor's
performance was undertaken by way of a questionnaire completed
by key stakehelders across the Graup, including senior members
of the Finance team The review took into account the quality of
ptanning, delivery and execution of the audit hncluding the audit

of subsidiary companies), the technical competence and strategic
knowledge of the audit team and the effectiveness of reporting
and cormmunication between the audit team and management

Pw( also provide the Commuttee with an annual regort on its
independence, objectwity and cormplhance with statutary, requtatory
and ethical standards. For the year ended 31 March 2019, as for
the prior year, the exiernal auditor confirmed that tt continued to
maintan appropriate internat safeguards to ensure its
tndependence and objectivity

The Commuttee concluded that the quality of the external audilor s
waork, and the knowledge and competence of the audit tearn, had
been maintained at an appropnate standard duning the year

The Commuttee therefore recommended to the Board that a
resoiubion to reappoint PwC as external auditor of the Company
he put to shareholders at the 2019 AGM.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

Internal Audit

The role of Internal Audit 15 to act as an independent and objective
assurance function, designed to improve the effectveness of the
governance, nisk management and internal controls frameawork
in mitigating the key risks of British Land Ernst & Young LLP [EY]
cantinue to provide injernal audnt services to British Land and
aittended all Committee meetings io present thesr audit findings
and the status of management actions

During the year, the Commuttee reviewed and approved the annual
internal audit ptan, including consideration of the plan's alignment
te the principal rnisks of the Group and its joint ventures internal
audits completed during the year included those in relation to
cybersecurity, GOPR programme design effectiveness, health and
safety and enmironmental governance, tax and crisis management
Overall, no sigmificant controt 1ssues were identified although
several process and control iImprovements were proposed, with
fotlow up audits scheduled where necessary

Effectiveness

The annual effectiveness review of the internal auditor included
consideration of the internal Audit charter which defines EY s

role and responsibilities, review of the quality of the audit work
undertaken and the sklts and competence of the audit teams

The Committee cancluded that EY cantinued to discharge its dutses
as internal auditor effectivety and should continue in the rote for
the year commencing 1 Aprit 2019

Risk management and internal controls

The Beard has delegated responsiblity for overseeing the
eflectiveness of the Group’s nisk management and internal contrel
systems to the Committee The Committee has oversight of

the activties of the executive Risk Commitiee, recenving minutes
of alt Risk Cormmittee meetings and discussing any significant
matters rarsed.

At the full and half year, the Committee reviewed the Group's
principal nisks including consideration of how risk exposures
have changed during the period and any emerging risks in the
Campany’s nsk register, Both external and internal risks are
reviewed and their effect on the Company's strategic aims
considered The Committee considered the Group s risk appetite,
concluding that «t remains set at an appropriate level to achieve
the Group’s strategic goais without taking undue risk The Boarg
accepted the Commitiee's recormmendation tor the Group’'s risk
appetite, ensuring that it was set at an appropriate level ta achieve
strategic goals without taking undue risk

The Committee also rewewed the status ol key risk indicatars
throughout the year against the risk appetite set, focusing on any
which were outside optimal ranges The Committee gave particular
attention to the risks relating {o tenant credit risk exposure as wetl
as conbinuing and increasing political uncertamty around the UK's
decision to leave the EU.
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Half yearly, in comjunction with the internal auditor, management
reparts to the Committee on the effectiveness of internal contrals,
mghlighting control issues 1entfied through the excephions
reporling process Risk areas wdentified are considerad for
incorperation in the Internal Audst plan and the findings af internat
audits are taken into account when identifying and evatuating
risks within the business Key observations and management
actions are reported to, and debated by, the Commiitee For the
year ended 31 March 2019, the Commuttee has notl identified,

nor been advised of, a faling or weakness which it has deemed

1o be significant.

At the request of the Remuneration Committee, the Commitiee
considers annually the levet of risk taken by management

and whether this affects the performance of the Company The
Remuneration Commuttee takes this confirmation into account
when determining incentive awards granted 1o the Executive
Directors and sermor management Taking into account reparls
recewved on internal key controls and nisk management, and the
results of the internal audit reviews, the Committee concluded
that for the year ended 31 March 2019 there was no evidence of
excessive Nisk taking by management which ought to be taken
into account by the Remuneration Commuttee when deterrmiring
incentive awards

The Group's whistieblowing arrangements which enable alt staff,
mnctuding temporary and agency stall, suppliers and occupiers to
report any suspected wrongdoing remained unchanged during
e year |hese arrangemenis, which are moniiored by the
Generat Counsel and Company Secretary and reviewed by the
Cormrmiltee annually, include an independent and confidentiak
whistleblowing service provided by a third party The Committee
receved a summary of alt whistleblowing reports received
during the year and concluded that each had been dealt

with appropniately

The Commuttee also reviewed the Group s lax strategy which sels
out the Group s approach to risk management and governance in
relation to UK taxatian, ts attitude towards tax planning, the level
of risk the Group 1s prepared to accept in relation to tax and

its relationship with HM Revenue & Customs The resulting
document 'Qur Approach to Tax') was approved by the

Board and s available on the Company's website
[britishland.com/governancel.

Addrtional informatien on the Company’s internal controls syslems
1s sef out in the ‘Managing risk in delivering our strategy’ section
on pages 54 lo 57



investment and devetopment property valuations

The external vatuation of British Land's property portfolto 1s 2 Key
determinant of the Group's balance sheet, its performance and the
remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management
The Commuttee 1s commitied to the rigorous monitofing and
review of the eliectiveness of its valuers as well as the valuation
process itself The Group's valuers are now CBRE, Knight Frank,
Janes Lang LaSalle (JLL] and Cushman & Wakefield

The Committee reviews the effectiveness of the external valuers
bi-annually, focusing on a guantitative anatysis of capital values,
yietd benchmarking, avalability of comparable market evidence
and major autliers to subsector movements, with an annual
gualitative review of the level of service receved irom each valuer.

The vatuers attend Committee meetings at which the full and halt
year vaiuations are discussed, presenting their reports which
include details of the valuatien process, market conditions and
any significant judgements made. The external auditor reviews
the valuations and valuation process, having had full access to
the valuers to determine that due process had heen followed

3¢ approprate snformaton wsed. before ceparately reparting e
findings to the Commuttee The valuation process 1s also subject
1a regular review by internal Audit

British Land has fixed fee arrangernents in place with the valuers
1 relation to the vatuation of wholly-owned assets, in line with
the recornnmendatians of the Carsberg Committee Repori.

Erank

JLL and Cushman & Wakefield can be found an our website

at briishland com/reports

Focus for the coming year

During the year ending 31 March 2020 the Commutiee wiil
continue to focus en the processes by whuch the Board identifies,
assesses, monstors, manages and miltgates nisk, particularly in
Light of the challenging conditions within the retail sector The
Commuttee will also continue to monitor key risk areas lor the
business, particularly those scheduted for review by Internal Audit
including, but not imited to, non-development related supplier risk
management and financial IT systern upgrades. The Commitiee
witl have particular interest in the new reporiing requirements
anising from the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code and wilt
descnibe in the 2020 Annual Report how they have been met
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THE REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Committee leads
the process for Board

appointments

Welcome to the report of the Nomination Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

Role and responsibilities
The Committee s principal respensibiliies remain

- reviewing the structure. srze and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience and diversityl of the Board
and its Commutiees and recommending changes to the Board

- consdening succession planning for Directors and other
Senior eXecutives

- reviewing the independence and lime commitrent
requirements of Non-Executive Direclors

- making recommendations as to the Directors standing for
election or re-election at the AGM

Full detaits of the Commuttee’s role and responsibilities are
set outn its terms of reference available on our website at
britishland.com/commuittees.

Committee composition and governance

The Committee has three members Wiliam Jackson and

Tim Score, both independent Non-Executive Directors, while |
continue to Chair the Committee | refer you to the page opposite
for William Jackson's report on the process for appointing my
successor as Chairman, in which | tock no part

Oetails of the Commitiee s membership and attendance at
meetings 1s set out in the followtng table and the table on page 87

Date of Commuttee

Osrector Pasition appoiniment Altendance
John Gitdersleeve Chairman 1 Jan 2013 1/1
Wilbam Jackson Member 11 Apr 2011 11
Tien Score Member 1 Apr 2007 1/
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Diversity

The Commuttee, the Board of Directors and Bnlish Land as a
whole continue to pay full regard to the benefits of diversity,
including gender dversity, both when searching for candidates
for Baard appointments and when the Company is searching for
candidates for other appointments

The Comuruttee's Board Diversity and Inclusion Policy aspires

for women to represent 30% of Board membership by 2020, as
well as having regard to ather aspects of dwersity when making
recruntment decisions at both Board and senior management level.

Britsh Land currently has three female Board members Lynn
Giadden. Laura Wade-Gery and Rebecca Worthington, ail of whom
are Non-Executive Directors. Faltowing Tim Roberts and Charles
Maudsley stepping down from the Board, this represents 27%
fermnale Board membership (2018 25%] Following my departure
alter the 2019 AGM, our target of 30% wil have been achieved.

The Board Diversity and Inclusion Policy atso sets out British
Land’'s commitment ta strengthen the gender balance on Brtish
tand s leadership and semior management leams furiher
wnformation on diversity within British Lang s available on our
webstte briteshland comy/inclusive-cullure.

We recently published our gender pay gap report The report
s available on our website batishland .com/gender-pay-gap
and summansed on page 90

Board membership

The Committee reqularly reviews the structure, size and compaosition
of the Board in order to ensure it 1s made up of the nght people with
the requisite skifls and expenence, mciuding diversity of thought and
approach, who can prowde strong and effective leadership to the
business and support delivery of the Company's strategy

Succession planning

The Comenittee s responsibie for reviewsng the succession plans for
the Board, including the Chief Executive The succession plans for

the Executive Dwrectors are prepared on immed:ate, medium and tong
term bases while those for Non-Executive Direclors reflect the need
to refresh the Board regutarly Such plans take account of the tenure
of mdividual members The Commitiee’s review of Executive Director
succession plans includes consideration of the process for tatent
development within the orgarisation to create a pipeline to the Board

The Chief Executive, with the support of the HR Director, 1s respensible
for developing succession plans for executives and senior management
which are presented to and considered by the Commuttee

A number of 1ssues that would normatly be dealt wath by the
Commuttee were discussed at full Board meetings, so as to give
the Boacd the benefit of heanng the presentations and discussion
first hand The successton plans for Executive Direclors and senior
managers were presented and discussed with the full Board 1n
May 2018. Swmularly, the changes to the numbers of Executive
Directors on the Board were discussed in January with the Board
{excluding the potentially conflicted Executive Directors)




Appointment of new Chairman

in light of the 2018 UK Carporate Gavernance Code, f led an
expanded Nomination Committee which met three times (o
consider the succession plan for the role of Chairman The
expanded Commmittee included all Non-Executive Directors
with the exception of John Gildersleeve and Tim Score (who

had expressed interest in the rolel.

This Committee was assisted by Luke Meynett of Russell
Reynolds Associates, who produced a list of 10 external
potential candidates, of whom five were wormen and two

were from ethnic minorthies, who were capable of fulfillng the

job description, met the personal charactenstcs required and
were nterested i the posthion of a FTSE 100 Chairman Al

were ranked accardng to the evidence they displayed of

having met the criteria required in the categeres of Board/
listed company expenience, property exposure, style/cultural

fit and capacity

The Commuttee considered the merits of an internal candidate

as opposed to an external candidate taking into account

the profite and tenure of expenence on the Board Given the
calibre of the internal candidate, the Commutiee unanimously

agreed that the best interests of the Company would be

served by appainting Tim Score to succeed John Gidersleeve.

Owector Posinon Attendance
Withiam Jackson Chairman 3/3
Alastawr Hughes Member 3/3
Nick Macpherson Member 3/3
taura Wade-Gery' Member 2/3
Lynn Gladden Member 3/3
Preben Prebensen Member 33
Rebecca Worthington Member 3/3

1 Laura Wade-Gery was unable 1o attend one Committee meeling that

was catled on short notice and which was immadialely followed by
2 Boarg meeling

William Jackson
Senior Independent Director

Qther than the provision of recrutment consultancy
services Russell Reynotds Associates has no connection
with British Land

Independence and re-election

Prigr to recornmending the re-appomntment of any Non-Executve
Birector to the Board, the Committee assesses their centinued
independence, the time commitment required and whether the
re-appoemntrnent would be in the best interests of the Company
Detailed consideration (s given te each Non-Executive Directer’'s
contribution to the Board and s Commuttees, together with the
overall balance of knowledge, skills. experience and diversity

Foliowing its review, the Comrmittee 1s of the opinion that each
Non-Executive Director continues ta demenstrate comsitment
to hus or her role as a member of the Board and 1ts Commuttees,
discharges his or her duties effechively and that each makes a
valuable contribution to the [eaderstup of the Company for the
benefil of ail stakehoiders Accordingly, the Commuttee
recommended to the Board that resolutions o re-etect each
Non-Executive Director be proposed as appropriate to the AGM
alongside the resolutions to re-elect the Executive Directors

Therefere, in accordance with the Code, each of the Dhrectars in
rale at the date of thus Annual Report with the exception of mysell,
will offer themselves for re-election Biographtes for each Oirector
can be found on pages &8 to 74

Committee effectiveness

The Commuttee assessed its own effectiveness during the year

as part of the internat Board evaluation and reviews 1ts terms of
reference on an annual basis These have been updated to reflect
the requirements of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code The
current terms of reference were effective from 1 Apnt 2017 and are
avaitable on our wehsite at brihishland comfcommittees

Focus for the coming year

Hawing overseen significant changes to membership of the Board
and leadership team over the laslt 12 months, the Commitiee
intends to focus its attention for the coming year on continuing
the progress on the gender batance of the leadership team

and reviewing the succession plans for the Board and senior
management, including improving gender and ethnic diversity

7

John Gildersleeve
Non-Executive Chairman
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

Our Remuneration Policy
aligns management incentives
with our strategy

Dear Shareholders
On behall of the Board, | am pteased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Report tor the year ended 3 March 2019 which

includes aur now Bey
ULeS DU

sngratipn Policy 2nd the Company s Annyal

Report on Remuneration Our Dureclors Remuneration Policy was
last approved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM and as a resultis
being presented to sharehotders for approval again at the 2019 AGM

The Annual Report on Remuneration which describes how the
Commuites implements the Remuneration Policy 1s set out on
pages 97 to 10% and is subject lo an adwisory vote at this year's
AGM The current policy i5 available in the 2016 Annual Report on
our website at britishland com/committees

Over the tast year the British Land Remuneration Commuttee has
reviewed the current Policy 1n detail to ensure that it1s working
effectively, s aligned to both sharehoiders’ and other key
stakeholders’ interests and continues to operate in line with the
long term business strategy. the culture and values We have also
reviewed the Paolicy i Ught of the UK Corporate Governance Code’s
latest requirements including the five additional tests of simphcity,
clarity, nisk, predictability and propartionality

The new Remuneration Policy 1s subject to a binding vote at tfis
year's AGM and | hope to continue to have your support for the
Company s remuneration arrangements
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Committee Membership
Lynn Gladden, Laura Wade-Gery, Praben Prebensen and | were
members of the Rernuneration Camimitiee thraughout the year

Board changes

There have been a number of Board changes this year Sumon
Carter joined as Chief Financial Officer on 21 May 2018 Tim
Roberts and Charles Maudsley stood down from the Board on
31 March 2019 Charles tefi Beitish Land on that day and Tim
Roberts remains an employee untit fus scheduied leaving date in
July 2019

Twn and Charles were both eligibte for an annual bonus for the
2018/2019 tinancial year, subject to performance of a combination
of guantitative and strategic abjectives Both were considered
‘good leavers’ and, as such, thewr outstanding executive share plan
awards wili be pra-rated and treated in line with the good leaver
orowisions for the respective plan rules Full details are prowided
on page 105

Remuneration in respect of the vear ended

31 March 2019

As noled by ihe Company Chairman, the business Nas confinued
1o make good strategic and aperational progress over the year
against an uncertain econormic and political backdrop Financial
performance was robust, the Company’s financial position 15
strong and it took important steps for tong term value creation
However, performance in the year to 31 March 2019 measured
by Total Property Return tor groperly investments 1s expected to
underperform against the benchmark MSCI Investment Property
Databank [IPD] indices which will be published at the end of May
2019 Thug underperformance against IPD reflects the mix of
assets owned by Bntish Land, which have performed well against
direct comparators but have underperformed relatively against
other parts of the property market included in the IPO
benchmarks The Board recognises this short term relative under
performance, but believes that the Company has the nght mix of
assets to outperform in the [enger term. Reflecung this tikely
under performance against IPD, payouts from the annual incentive
plan are expected to fall from last year’s level to be circa 36% af
the maximum for the Executive Directors,

For the LTIP, we measure performance against targets for Total
Property Return, Total Accounting Return and Total Shareholder
Return over three years relative to the original benchmarks We
are alsa forecasting an underperforrance against the median of
the benchmarks aver this pertod for the reasons stated above and
a5 a resul{ expect the LTIP maturing this June to lapse in full. This
15 the last year of awards under the Matching Share Plan which
measures both Rent Roll Growth and Total Shareholder Return
and we gxpect half of these awards to vest in June this year



The Remuneration Commuttee and the Board believe that these
outcomes demanstrate the Company's remuneration policy 1S
working well In recent years Annuat Bonus and L TIP vesting
have increased during penods of relative outperformance and
decreased when our as55el base has underperiormed

New Remuneration Policy

During the last year the Committee conducted an extensive review
of the current Policy and concluded that it 1s generally working
well as demonstrated above We are therefore not proposing
substantiat changes to our policy However, we are recommending
a small number of amendments 1o both stmplly and ensure the
Policy continues to be compliant both with best practice and the
Company's current objectives The Commuttee recognised that the
recent incentive pay-out levels have been well below the historical
averages These lower pay-out leveis reflect the impact of weaker
sharehclder returns 1n the sector which have been the result of
market uncertainty since the EU referendum and more
challenging retail markets This impartant and strong connectien
beiween periofmance and rewaid s lutly undei 100G by wie Sudid
and execulives

The amendments to the Policy and how we will apply . set out
deta:l below, are (ntended to strengthen further the link between
pay and perfarmance at British Land, alignment to sharehalders
and simplify (ts operation They witl atso prowide greater clanty te
execulives o ne largais ihe Board wishigs (e (o aciieve, sNd
reflect changes recommended under the revised UK Corporate
Governance Code

I would note that 1in recommending an updated Policy and how
we intend (0 operate it to shareholders we are not proposing ta
Increase remuneration quantum, other than threugh the annual
review of salary levels o the context of increases in ine with the
workforce

The key changes to the Palicy and how that Policy will be operated
are as foliows-

- Any salary increases granted will continue to be normaliy no
higher than the average for the wider emplayes population

- The maximum pension contrnibution for new Executive Direclor
appointments will be at the level for the wider employee
population under the new Policy

- Under the new Policy there 1s no change to the opportunty
under the Annuyal Incentive Plan or the Long-Term Incentive
Plan [150% of salary and 300% of salary respectively) The
measures we intend to use also remain largely unchanged as
these are key performance indicators of how British Land's
strategy 1s delvered

- We are proposing to simiplify the Annual Incentive Plan and
introduce mare specific targets. 70% of the bonus will continue
to be measured on quantitative measures with the remainder
based on strategic measures Currenily, we award up to 10%
for individual performance in the year and this is therefore being
consalidated withun these two sets of measures The increased
focus on strategic measures reflects the desire to mare directly
focus and incentvise management on the achians required to
delver the long term relatve outperformance measured by
the LTIP

- In addition, the Commuttee has noted that the financial
performance range over which the Annual Incentive Plan s
curreatly operated 1s very narrow, which means that under the
current Policy small movements across targeted performance
integers can result in oulsized impacts on bonus awards, boih
up and dawn The Commuttee 1s proposing to widen the target
range for the Annual Incentive Plan at both the top and bottomn
end and in commen with many other comparues set the
threshald marginalty below the Budget/Index performance for
the year. We alsointend to reduce the amount earned at the
threshold from a quarter to zero Taken together, these changes
are intended to be no more favourable 10 terms of their finanoal
impact on executives Target bonus will continue to be set at no
tugher than hall of the maximurn

Total Property Return [TPR], Total Accounting Return [TARE and
Total Sharehotder Return [TSR] will continue to be used as the
LTIP perfarmance metrics We are however increasing the
welighting on TSR from 20% to 40% with a corresponding

to focus the Executive team on narrowing lover the long term
the discount io NAY at which shares 1 Brish Land trade,
something the Board 15 focused on and reflects the feedback we
have had from many sharehalders who view this as a priority

- We are also signifcantly simplifying the LTIP to remove the
opportunity for executives to exchange Performance Share
awards before they are granted, for market-priced Share
Optigns lon a 1 fer 4 ratio basis) in future This follows the
change in 2016 of removing Matching Share awards and wil
teave British Land with only the Performance Share award
elerment in the Long Term Incentive Plan

- In order to provide a more robust and simple methoed of
assessing performance under each of the LTIP metrics,
performance will be measured relative 1o 3 more tailored
market benchmark. Matching the benchmark will resutt in
threshold vesting af 26% [unchanged) of each part of the award,
with the stretch [for full vesting) set 3t an absolute level of
outperformance of the market benchmark The market
benchmark wiil, where possible, be tailored to British Land’s
asset base and size in order to provide a maore robust yardsiick
to assess performance

- TPR wili continue to be assessed aga!nst a sector weighted
MSCI1PD index but it witl be simplihed by remowving the
additignat stretch created when the benchmark grows by
more than 10% pa

- TAR and TSR will be assessed against market capitalisation
weighted indices rather than a median ranked company's
performance This means that the largest REITs, which are
more directly comparable to British Land, will have a greater
welghting than the smaller ones in the future

The Committee feels that these targets will be simpler, farrer and
more aligned to shareholders and other stakeholders
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

In line with the provisions in the new Code. under the new Policy
the Rermuneration Commuttee will be able to override formulaic
mcentive gutcomes

- Recovery provisions have been toughened in the new Policy sa
that bonus and LTIP payments can be recovered in the event of
corporate failure or reputational damage (in addition o gross
rmisconduct, misstatement of financial siatements and ercorin
calculating the pay-outs] These witl now apply for 3 years from
the date that performance is caicuiated

- In line with the new Code, shareholding guidelines will appty
to Executive Directors following the cessation of employment
for 2 years We have devetoped these 50 that they meet Invesior
expectations and have provided the flexibility in the Policy
for them to be adapted between Policy reviews by the
Commuttee to continue tc meelt those expectations over ime.
The guideiine whilst employed witl remain at 225% for the
CEQ and be increased from 150% to 200% of salary for other
Executive Directors

Rentuneration in respect of the year commencing
1 April 2019

Salary and Fees

The Committee has discussed and reviewed the Company s
annual salary review framework for all employees it has also
rawvigwed the salanes of the Executive Directors and concluded tha
Chns Grigg s salary will be increased by 2% and Simon Carter's

by 3.1% which 1s below the average increase for the wider
employee population

In March, the Company announced that the Chairman would step
down on 19 July 2019 The Commuitee set the new Chairman s
annual fee at £10,000 less than the current Chairman's at £375,600
as he comes into his new role

The Executive Directors also reviewed the fees payable to the
Non-Execulive Directors and concluded the basic fee should be
ncreased from £62,500 to £64,000 The new Corporate Social
Responsibility Chair would receive a fee of £14,0600 and the
member £5,000 and the Nomination Committee member fee
would be increased from £4,000 to £5,000

Annual incentives

Far the corming year, 70% of the annual Incenive will continue to be
measured on guantitative measures with the remarining 30% based
on strategic measures Further informauen 1s provided on page 97

Long Term Incentives

The Commuittee intends to grant long term incentive awards during
this coming year at 250% of salary, the same level as last year
Oetails of the grants, including performance conditions are set out
on page 98 The grants will be delayed untl after the AGM sa that,
if approved, the new Policy will apply to these grants
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CEQ Pension

The Committee has accepted the Chief Executive Officer’s decision
to reduce his pension allowance by 5% of salary annuatly to bring it
in bine with the employee contribution rate over the next 4 years.
The Commuttee notes that ihe CEG's existing scheme s a
contractual right agreed on his appointment in 2008 and thanks
mm fer volunteenng to respond to broader shareholder concern
gver executive pension cantributions.

Below Board-level incentives

In line with the 2018 UK Carporate Governance Code, the
Cammittee’s rermit will also include approving the pay
arrangements for the ermployees below the main Board who sit
on the Executive Commutiee The Remuneration Coemmitiee will
continue ta have oversight of the Group’s remuneration policy
tor the wider employee population

Gender Pay Gap

The latest gender pay gap for the 5 Aprd 2019 snzpshot shows a
further reduction in the medan pay gap of 5 7% 10 34 5% from 40.6%
for Bruish Land Broadgate Estales, a subsidiary company shows an
increase in the medran from 31 3% tc 37 7% due to the sale of the
third party business and the transfer of a significant number of
employees to Savills last year. More informatien can be found at
triushland com/gender-pay-gap

Recormnmendation

British Land continues to strive to apply best practice in its

remuneration policies and to histen carefully to shareholder

feedback We therefore hope to see your suppert for cur approach |
to rermuneration by vouing far the Remuneration Policy and the

Chirectors’ Remuneration Report at the 2417 AGM

Yours sincerely
v AN e \/a,_\/( —_—

William Jackson \
Chairman of the Remuneration Commuttee



Overview of

Remuneration Policy

Our Remuneration Policy 1s aligned with the long term business strategy, the culture and the values of the Company The Rernuneration
Policy outlined on pages 92 to 94 will, subject ta shareholder approval, take effect from 19 July 2019 The bar charts below iilusirate the
levels of remuneration recevable by the Eagcutive Cirectors ie the first year of aperation «f the proposed Remwineration Polidy for varying

levels of performance

Mustration of application of Remuneration Policy

Chief Executive

Chief Financiat Officer

1 Caiculated using (al sataries far the year ending 3t March 2023, 1b) benefn values for the year ending 31 March 2019, and {<] pension policy as appticable for the year

epding 5 marc 28208 3% of salsy fo-the CED and 15% of saary for the O

Executive Directors

Fixed remuneration

The components of fixed remuneration are intended te provide a
base package at a level that will atiract high-catibre indviduats,
with the approprate degree of expertise and experience to carry
out their rotes to the tigh standards we require Executive
Directors salaries are set laking into account the scope and
responstbilities of the role and the level of remuneration paid at
companies of broadly similar size, and, :n addition to salary, the
fixed remuneration package includes the provision of benefits, 3
pensian or pensian allowance and the opportundy to take part
all-employee share schemes

Annual Incentive

The Annual Incentive ferms part of the vaniable proportion af an
Executive Directer s remuneration package The level of Annuat
Incentive award receved is directly inked to quantitative and
strategic measures which are set annually A propartion of each
Executive Thrector s Annual Incentive award 1s used to purchase
shares that must be held for three years, proviting longer term
atignment with shareholders

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The LTIP is the second element of variable remuneration

The proportion of an LTIP award that 1s actually released to an
Executive Director s dependent on British Land s performance
agansi specified perforimance measJdres over a ibree-year penod

LTIP award consists of perfarmance shares
with performance measures attached

Performanceis
measured over

three years
v

The number of perfarmance shares vesting
is dependent on the degree to which the
performance measures have been met

A two-year holding period applies to

Magnitude of Annual Incentive award is
dependent on performance against
Annual Incentive measures over one year

v v

One third {net of tax] is
used to purchase shares,
which must be held
for three years (Annual
Incentive Shares)

Two thirds is paid
as cash on award

LTIP awards foltowing vesting

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

Fees paid Lo the Company Charrman and Non-Executive Directors
are set taking into account fees paid at comparnies of broadly
similar size with the aim of attracting indwiduals with the
appcopriate degree of expertise and experience lo work with and
challenge the Executive Directors
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Fixed remuneration

QOperation Maximum opportuniy l Perfermance cendiions
Basic salary

To attract, motwvale and retain talented Executive Directors

The level of basic salary is set laking nto account the scape and The maximum teve| of basic salary will nol be Not applicable

responssbiliies of the role and the level of rernuneration pasd at
companies of broadly similar size

Basic sataries are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Comeruttee,
with increases usually talung effect an 1 Apeil for the subsequent year
Employment conditions and salary increases throughout the Group
are laken into account when basic salanies are reviewed.

Changes in the scope of an Executive Director’s role may resuftin a
review of salary

greater than the current safary as increased.
typicaily 10 tine wilh the market and general
salary ncreases throughout the Group

1 an indmvidual 1s appomnled at a lower salary.
for example. Lo reflect inexperience as a listed
campany Director, larger increases may be
awarded over fulure years as they prove

thewr capability.

Car allowance, benefits and all-employee share schemes
To prowide a car allowance and set of benefits which support the Execut,
A car allowance is paid to Executive Oweciars i lieu of the provision
of a company car
Executive Direclors are eligtbte (o recewe other taxable and
nion-taxable benehits, that may include
~ private medical insurance [covering the Director and family)
-~ Ife assurance cover
~ permaneant heallh insurance
~ access to ndependent actuarial binancial and legal advice

when necessary
~ gym membership. subsidised by the Company
- annual medical checks
- relevant prafessional subscription fees
- other bepefits on substantally the same basis as olher employees
Executive Directors are elgible 1o participate in British Land s Share
incenuive Plan iSIFL Sharesave Scheme and any olher luture pians
on the same basis a5 other eligible employees
The Company provides Directors and Oificers Liabilty Insurance
and may provide an indermmily to the fullest extent permitted by the
Companies Act

The maximum car atlowance 1s £20,000

per annurm.

The maximum cost of other taxable and
non-taxable benehts permitted under the Policy
s the amount required to continue praoviding
benelils at a simular level year-on-year

The maximum oppartunities under the SIP,
Sharesave Scheme and any subsequend plans
are sel by the rules of the schemes and may be
determined by statutary limits

wve Director and encourages participation m the all-employee share schemes

Not applicable

Pension or pension allowance
To provide an appropriate level of pension in retirement for Executive Dy

Executive Direclors may receive pension benefits \hrough a
delined contributien scheme or cash allowance 1o bieuw of peasign
contributions or defined benefit scheme (ior Directors who joined
the scheme before it was closed (0 new members i 2006)

Cash sllowances in hieu of pension conlributions would typically be
paid at the same {evet of salary as Company coninbulions under
the detined contribution arrangemaent

Accrual rates for Drectors receming benefis through the defined
benefil scheme are determined by the rules of the scheme and are
dependent on the age at which the Direclor joined the Company
Benehts up 1o the hrmut perrmitted by the tax fegistation are provided
i aregisiered plan Benelils over that lismit are currently prowded
i an employer limanced retirement benefil scheme [EFRBS)
EFRBS parucipants are currently olfered a choice annually as to
whether they wish to accrue benefits in the EFRBS or to receve a
cash payment in hiey,

reclors

Employer pension contribulions to Executive
Directars under lhe dehned contribution
arrangerment and cash allowances o lew of
pension are mMade at a fixed percentage of salary,
between 15% and 30%.

Under the dafined benefit scheme the target
benefit is the pension that can be provided by the
31 March 2012 hfgtwne allowance €1 8m), uplifted
by RPI from 31 March 2011

The maximurn accrual cate for a delined benehit
scheme member is thal which will give Lhe larget
beneht al age 40, subsect to the accrual rate being
no grealer than one thirketh and no less than one
sixtieth of salary

Future appontments will not receve a
contrbulion greater than the majority of the
workfarce [currently 15% of salary] and, unless
already within the defined benelit scheme, witl not
be able to parlicipate inn

Not applicable
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Variable remuneration

Gperation

Maximum oppartunty

Parfarmance canditigns

Annual Incentive

To reward perfoemance against guantitative and strategic objectives that are set annually

Annual Incentive awards may be granted to Executive
Directers each year, with the tevel ¢l award reflecting
quantltative and strategic aims of the Company
Objectives are set by the Board and measures sel

by the Remuneration Commutiee

Awards are granted foilewing the financial year end,
when aciual perfarmance over that year 1s measured

A portion of the Annual Incentive Award 15 pard in cash
and the rematning portion inet of taxh s used to purchase
British Land shares on behall of the Executeve Directer
{Annuai Incentive Shares)

For the Annual lncente Award for the year commencing
1 April 2819, one third of any Award will be required te
be used to purchase Annual lncenlive Shares

Annual Incentive Shares must be held for three years
from the date of grant of the Annual incentive award
before they may be transferred or sold, regardless of
whether or not the endwidual remaens an employee of
Brish Land throughout this period. Execviive Direclors
are entitled to the divdends pand in respect of the Annual
incentive Shares during the holding peciod

The Arnaual Incenwe gward {2ash and sharec] mav be
clawed back during the three-year perad fallowing
deterrmination of the award in certain cwcumsiances
These are 5l out on page 94

The maximum level
of Annual Incentive
which may be granted
15 equivaient to 150%
of Dasic salary

The objeclives are set by the main Board and the measures by the
Remuneratien Committee normaily ai the beginrung of the financial
year over which performance wili be assessed and following the
end of the financial year when performance can be determined

fhe Commuitee hias the discretion o adjust the auliurn 1o ensure

it reflects undertying performance

No more than 25% of any part of the award wili be earned for
threshold perfarmance Up 1o hall of the maximum potentiat award
is payable for target pecformance that s in line with expectations

If the stretch target (s met the maximum potential award will

be earned

No further performance condittons are attached 1o the Annual
Incentive Shares during the holding periad

Leng-Term incentive Plan [LTIP}

To iink the level of reward to Company parformance against specified long termn measures, promoting and rewardng activiies that supporl our siralegy

and create suslainable long lerm value for sharehclders

may consist of performance shares fconrdstional rights to
recewe shares}

LTIP awards typically vest after three years The
nurnter of perfarmance shares vesting 1s dependent
on the degree 1o which performance conditions
attached 1o the |TIP have been met over this three-year
performance period The Commultee bas the discretion
1o adjus! the outturn to ensure 1t reflects underlying
performance. A payment equivalent lo the dwvidends
accrued on vesting performante shares s paid al the
paint of vesling in shares or cash

On vesting sufficient performance shares may be sold to
cover any liabilily to incomne 1ax and Nalional lnsurance
cantnbubons and related costs of sale The remarming
performance shares must be held for two years following
vesting befere they are permrited lo be transferred or
sold, regardless of whether or not the indwidual remains
an employee of Britsh Land throughaut this period

LTIP awards may be forfeited and/or clawed back lrom
the date of grant unti three years after the deterrination
ol the vesting tevel of an award in certain circumstances
These are set out on page 96 I it)s discovered that an
LTIP award was granted or vested on the basis of
materially misstated accounts or other data the
Commuttee may require some or all of the performance
shares {o be forlerted or clawed back during Lhe fve-year
period following the grant date

{using the share price
at the ime of award
multiplied by the
number of shares} ol
an LTIP award which
may be granted s
equivalent to 300%
ot basic satary

gerlee £ e b
performance thal 1s aligned with British Land's strategy

- total properly return ITPR) performance 1s assessed relalive {6 an
MSCE benchmark, waighted in sector returns at the property level

- total accounting return [TAR] s assessed relative to a market
capitalisation weighled index of the companies within the FTSE 350
property companies that use EPRA accounting

- total shareholder return {TSR} 1s assessed agains both the FTSE
100 and a comparalor group consisting of the companies wiihin the
FTSE 350 property companies thal use EPRA accounling, bath on
market capualisation weighted bases

The relative weighting of the performance conditions may be

vared by the Cornmiltee 1o ensure the LTIP best supports

Bntish Land s strategy and to meet nvestor preferences The
Comymitiee currently intends to apply the pertormance condiions
with the following weightings 40% of the award will be binked to the
TPR condiion, 20% wilt be tinked 1o the TAR condition and 40% wili
be lenked to the TSR candition, splt equally between the FTSE and
real eslate benchmarks

TPR perigrmance I1s currently assessed against the MSCHIPG UK
Annual Properiy index The Commillee may amend the comparalor
graups of compames during the performance period il there1s a
corporate event affecting any member of the group and may
amend the MSCH benchmark f a different benchmark 15 geemed
mMore appropriate.

Performance conditions are challenging, requining significant
outperformance for $00% of the LTIP award to vest 20% of the
award will vest if the minmum perfermance threshold 1s actueved,
perfarmance below the muimimum thresheld for 2 perfermance
condiion will result in the LTIP award in respect of that condition
lapsing Pre-defined levels of streich performance in excess of the
benchmark muslt be achieved against each perfermance measure
for the entire award to vest These are 1 00% pa for TPR, 2 00% pa lor
TAR, 3 00% pa& for Real Estate TSR and 5 00% pa for FTSE 100 TSR
over the threa-year pericd
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Operatien ;

Maximum appartunity

{ Pertarmaace conditions

Chairman’s fee

To attract and retain an indwidual with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience

The Chairman s annual lee is set by the Remuneratien Committee
and reviewed annuzily. The leve! of the Chawrman s annual fee

15 sel laking 1nto account fees pard 3t companies of broadly
simar size

Typically increases, if required, wilt be
in line with market

Nat appticabie.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

To attract and retain Non-Executive Directors with the appropriate degree of expertise and expenence.

Remunerauon of the Non-Exacutive Oireciors 1s a matter

for the Executive Dhrectors and Chairman, and tees are reviewed
annually. Mon-Execulive Direclors recewe an annual fea plus
additienal {ees f they are members of a Commultee. or if they
hold the pos:stion of Senior independent Director, Chairman

of a Commuttee, perform addiional reles or have a greater

ume commitment

The Campany's Policy 1s to deliver a total fee at a level in line with
simiar positions

The Chairenan and members’ (ees for the new CSR Commiltee
will apply for the lull year from 1 April 2019,

The maximum aggregate amount of basic fees
payable to ail Non-Executive Directors shall not
exceed the limit set o the Company s Acticles of
Associalton, which 1s currently £900,000

Not applicable

Other arrangements for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directars

To support the Directors in the fullilment of their duties
The Company may reimburse expenses reasonably incurred by
the Chairman and the Non-Execulive Directors in fulfitment of
the Company s busress, tagether with any taxes (neceon

The Company provides the Chairman and the Non-Executive
Directors with Directors” and Olficers’ Liabrlity Insurance and

The maximum reimbursement Is expenses
reasonably mcurred, together with any taxes thergon
The maxumurn value af the Directars and Ofhicers
Liabilay Insurance and the Company s indermnnuty 15
the cost at the relevant ime

Not applicable

may provide an ingemnity to the fullest exlent permitted by the
Companigs Act

Notes to the Remuneration Policy tabie

Remuneration Policy for other employees

Salary reviews across the Group are carried out on the same basis
as salary reviews for the Executive Oirectors. consideration 1s given
to the mndvidual’s role, duties, experience and performance, along
with consideration af typical salary levets of employees in simitar
roles in camparable compantes, where the data s avalable
Employees are entitled to taxable and non-taxable benefits, with
executives being entitted to substantially the same benefits as the
Executive Directors

Executives may be granted Long-Term Incentive Plan and/or
Restricted Share awards.

Employees joining the Cormpany after 2006 are eligible to take part
in a defined contribution pension arrangement The Company's
zll-employee share schemes [the Share Incentive Plan and the
Sharesave Scheme) are also open 1o eligible employees

Pre-existing obligations and commitments

It 15 a prowision ol this Policy that the Company can honour all
pre-existing obligations and commuitments that were entered into
prior to this 2019 Remuneration Policy taking effect The terms of
those pre-exishing obligations and commutments may difter from
the terms of the Remuneration Policy and may include lwithout
limistation] obligations and commulments under service contracts,
(ong term incentive schemes (iIncluding previous Long-Term
Incentive Plansl, pension and benefit plans.
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Considerations when setting Remuneration Policy
In drawing up the Remunerattan Policy, the Cammutiee took ints
account views expressed by shareholders duning meetings and
commuricated to the Company The Company engaged with its
shareholders via consultation meetings with investor bodies, ang
by wribing to os largest shareholders, offering each a meeling to
discuss remuneration proposals

Each year the Remuneration Committee takes into account the
pay and employment condiltons of employees tn the Group, notirg
the generalincrease 1n salary proposed for all employees and
levels of incentive payments and performance, before setting the
remuneratien of the Execytwe Diwectors. The Commuttee did not
consylt with the Company’s employees when drawing up the
Directors” Remuneration Policy



Approach to recruitment remuneration

Executive Directors

Basic salary 1s set ai a tevel appropriate to recrust a suikabte
candidate, taking into account external market competitiveness
and internal equity. The level of basic salary may imitialty be

postiianed below the mud-market of the chosen comparator group,

with the intention of increasing it to around the mid-market of the
comparator group after an initial period of satisfactery service

Indwiduals will e sbie to receve a condribubion to 2 pension plan,
ar cash n Leu thereof, and the Company contribution will not be
greater than the majority of the worklorce [currently 15% of salary)

Where a recruit 1s forfeiting incentive awards granted by his or her
euisiing employer, compensation in the form of a restricted share
plan {RSP) award or otherwise may be made (in accordance with
Listing Rute 9 4 21, the maximum value of which wilt be that which
the Comrruttee, 1n its reasonable opinion, considers to be equal to
the value of remuneration forfeited

Vasting of the shares granted and the value of any dividends
will be subject to the Director completing a msnimum period of
qualifying service, so the award wiit not be released until this
conditian has been satishied The vesting of the award may be
subject to additional performance measures being met over the
same period The Commuttee will determine the most relevant
measyres to use at the hme of award, bearing in mind the
respansibiities of the individual Being appmintad and the
Company s strategic priorities at the tme

The Company's Policy is to give nottce periods of no longer than
12 manths

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

On recrunment, the Chairman will be offered an annual fee in
accordance with the Policy. The level of the annual fee may imually
be positioned below the mud-market level, with the intention of
increasing it to around the mid-market level of the comparater
group after aninal peniod of satisfactory service Non-Executive
Cirectors will be offered Non-Executive Direclors” fees in
accordance with the Policy

Appointment of internal candidates

If an existing employee of the Group 15 appointed as an Executive
Drrector, Chairman ar Nen-Exacutive Directar, any abligation or
commitment entered intc with that indwidual prior to his or her
appointment can be honoured in accordance with the terms of
those obligations or comsmuitments, even where they differ from
the terms of the Policy

Policy on loss of office

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors’ service contracts can be lawlully
terrminated by either parly giving 12 months’ natice, or by the
Company making & lump surn payment i bieu of notice [PILON]
equal to the Executive Uirectar s base salary tor the notice period
Additionatly, when the Company makes a PILON, it may either pay
3 lump surm equal to the vaiue of any benefits for the nolice period
or continue to provide benefrts until the natice period expires or
the Executive Director staris new employment {whichever is the
earbier}. These lawful termination mechanisms do not prevent

the Company, \n appropriate ¢circumstances, fram terminating

an Executwve Director s emptoyment in breach of his or her
service contract and seeking to apply mitigation in determining
the damages payable Where this ts achievable in negotiation with
the outgaing Director, seitlement arrangerments are structured
50 that the terrmination payment s paid in instalments and the
instalments are reduced by an amount equal ta any earnings
receved from the outgoing Director’s new employment,
consultancy or other paid work

For departing Executive Directors and Executive Directors

that have teft Briish Land the Committee may agree {o

cash commutation of pension benefits under the defined

benefit scheme {including EFRBS benefits) and other pension
arrangements entered into prior ta the adoption of the 2019
Remuneration Policy Any commutation woutd take into account
valuations provided by independent actuarial advisers 5o as to be
undertaken on a basis considered by the Commuttee to be cost
neuiral te the Company

The circumstances of the loss of office dictate whether the
indvidual is treated as a aood leaver or otherwise_ in accordance
with the Company's Policy The Remuneration Commmuttee uses its
discretion to form a view taking into account the circumslances
Good leavers typically recesve pro-rata Annuat Incentive and long
term incentive awards, subject to performance measurement,
and other teavers forfeit thew enbitlernents In the event of a
change of control the rutes of the share plans generaily prowde
for accelerated vesting of awards, subject (where applicablel to
ume apporttonment and achuevement of performance targets

The Chief Executive s contract pre-dates 27 June 2012 bul does
not contain contractual provisions that could impact on the amount
of any payment for loss of office and which fatl outside the Policy
Detals of the Executwve Directors’ service contracts and notice
periods are given i the table below

Length of service Date of service Normal notice period to

Director- <oniract contract be given by erther panty
Chris Grigg 12 months 191208 12 months
Simon Carter 12 manths 180118 12 months
Charles Maudsley 12 months  03.11 09 12 months
Tun Roherts iZmonths 14 11.06 12 months
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The letters of appaintment of Non-Executive Directors are
subyect to renewal on a triennial basis. In accordance with the
UK Corporate Gavernance Code, all Directors stand for election
or re-election by the Company's shareholders on an annuat basis.
The Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment are
avaitable for inspection during norrmal business heurs at the
Company's regisiered office and at the Annual General Meeting.
The unexpired terms of the Charrman’s and Non-Executve
Birectors letlers of appotntment are shown betow

Unexgired term

Date of current of 3ppointinent af

Diractor; appointment 31 March 2019
John Gildersieeve [Chairmani 01/01/2019 33 months
Lynn Gladden 22/03/2018 28 months
Alastarr Hughes 01/01/2018 21 manths
Wilham Jackson 11/04/2017 12 months
Nick Macpherson 19/12/20 6 ¢ months

Preben Prebensen 01/09/2017 17 months
Tim Score 23/03/2017 12 months'
Laurs Wade-Gery 13/05/2018 28 months
Rebecca Warlhington 01/01/2018 21 manths

i Twn Score s appaintment as Chairman does not take effect until the end of the
AGM being held on 19 July 2019
Although the Chairman s and Non-Executive (irectars
appointrments are for fixed terms, thewr appointrnents may be
terrmunated immediately without not:ce if they are not reappointed
by shareholders or if they are removed from the Board under the
Company’s Articles of Association or if they resign and do not offer
themselves for re-election In addition, their appointments may be
termunialed by eidfier the mdnaidudl 6f the Campany gemg thigs
months’ written nohce of tersination lor, for the current
Chairman, six months written notice of terrmination] Despite
these terms of appointment, neither the Chairman nor the
Non-Executive Directors are entitted to any compensation (other
than accrued and unpaid fees and expenses for the period up to
the terrunation] for loss of office save that the Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors may be entitled, 1n certain lirruted
circumslances, such as corparate transaclions, to recewve payment
in beu of their notice peniod where the Company has termnated
their appointment with immediate effect

Policy on shareholdings of Executive Directors

The Company has a policy that Executive Directors will be required
to build and retain a level of sharehoiding in the Company The
applicatcon of thus will be contamned from time to time 1n the Annuat
Report on Remuneration and 15 currently 225% of salary for the
CEO and 200% of salary for other Executive Directors
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Malus and Clawback

In relation to both Annual incentive Plan and LTIP awards under
this Policy, malus and clawback provisions will apply in the
following circumstances.

- discovery of a matertal misstaternent resulting in an adjustment
in the audited accounts of the Group

- the assessment of any performance condition was based an
error, or inaccurate or musieading information

- the discovery that any inlormation used 1o determine cash
ar share awards was based on error, of inaccurate or
misieading information

- action ar canducl of a participant which amounts to fraud
or gross misconduct

- corporate ladure

- events or the behaviour of a participant have led to the censure
of a Group company by a regulatory authority or have had a
significant detrmental impact on the reputation of the Group.

Discretion

The Commuttee has discretion in several areas of Policy as set out

in this Report The Remuneration Commuttee may alsa exercise

operational and admirustrative dvscretons under refevant plan
rules approved by shareholders as set out 1n those rules In
addion, the Commuttee has discretion to amend the Policy with
regafd 10 Minor or admwsirativa maltters where i would be, in
the apinion of the Comrmittee, disproportionate to seek or await
shareholder approval

in addition, the Committee retains the discretion to override the
farmulaic autcomes of Incentive schemes The purpase of this
discretion 1s to ensure that the incenlive scheme gutcomes are
consistent with overall Cormpany perforinance and L jong term
experience aof sharehalders



How we intend to apply our
Remuneration Policy during

the year commencing
1 April 2019

The following pages set out how the Committee intends to apply
the Remuneration Policy during the coming year, subject to the
new Policy being approved by shareholders at the 2019 AGM.

Executive Directors' remuneration Pension and benefits

Basic salaries Chns Grigg has volunteered 1o reduce the pension contnbution he
recewes from the Company over the coming years As such, for the
year commencing 1 Apnil 2019 hus contribution has been reduced to
30% of salary and this wilt continue to be reduced by 5% of salary per

Basic salaries for gur current Directers have been set at the
foliowing 1evels for the year commenaing 1 Apnit 2019

Crrect Basic salary Enaum Lrtit e at 15% of salary Lo ine with the «orront worldarce
Grrectar i SRS ¥ Torreniwe o
Chris Grigg 871,395 levell. Simon Carterwill continue o receive 3 1% of salary pension
= contribution Benelits will continue to be provided in iing with the
Sirmon Carter 500,000

policy and include a car allowance, private medical insurance and
subsidised gym membership

Annual Incentve awards
The maximurmn bonus opportunity for Executive Directors remains at 150% of salary The performance measures for the Annual Incentive
awards have been selected 1o reflect a range of guantitative and strategic goals that support the Company s key strategic objectives

The gerformance measures and weightings for the year commencing 1 Apgril 2019 witl be as follows

Propartion of Annual
Incentive as a percentage

Measure of maximum cpportunity
Quantitative measures 70%
Total Property Return retatwe to IPD [sector wetghted|
0% payout for 25bp below IPT rising to 100% payout fer 125bp autperifermance of IPD 30%
Profit growth retalive to budget
0% payout for 1% betow budget rising to 100% payout for 4% outperformance of budget 30%
Development profit relative to budget
0% payout for 1% below budgel rising ko 100% payoul for 4% oulperformance of budget 10%
Strategic measures 30%
Customer Orientation
Right Places
Caputal Efficiency
Expert People

The detailed targets that the Committee has agreed are considered 1o be cammercially sensitive and as such the spealfic targets for the
guantitative Measures for the corming year will be disclosed in the 2020 Remuneration Report In assessing how the Executive Direclors
performed during the year commencing 1 April 2019, the Committee will take into account therr performance against all of the measures
and make an assessment in the round 10 ensure that performance warrants the level of award determined by the table above

As disclosed previousty, the Committee agreed that for Annual Incentive awards. the sector weighted IPD March Annual Universe benchmark
which includes sales, acquisitions and developments and sc 1akes into account actve asset management as well as a more representative
peer group] would be most suitable. However, due to irming of publication of the March Universe benchmark, the Company’s actual
performance agamst IPD metnics is unlikely to be known when the 2020 Annual Report 1s approved by the Board The 2020 Remuneration
Report will therafgre include an estimate of the vesting value of Annual Incentive awards for that financiat year, with the actuat awards, based
on the hnal IPD March Annuat Unwerse Data, set out 1n the followang Annual Report {for the year ending 31 March 2021}
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Long term incentive awards

An LTIP award of 250% of salary will be granted to Executive Directors during the year commencing 1 Aprit 2019

The performance measures that apply to this LTIP award will be as follows

Measure tink ta strategy Measured relalive ta Weighting
Total Praperty Return (TPR} The TPR measure 15 designed o ink TPR performance wdl be assessed  40%
The change n capital vatue, less reward (o strong performance at the agamnst the performance of an (PO

any capital expendiure incurred, gross praperty level sector wewghted benchmark

plus netincome, TPR (s expressed as

a percentage of capstal employed over

the LTIP performance penod and 13

calculated by IPD

Total Accounting Return [TAR} The TAR measure is designed to link TAR will be mesasured relativetoa  20%
The growth in British Land’s EPRA reward to perfermance at the het property market capitabisation weighted index

MNAV per share plus dwidends per share  level that takes account of geaning and our of the FTSE 350 property companies

paid over ihe LTIP performance penod.  distributions to shareholders. that use EPRA accounting

Total Sharehotder Return [TSR) The TSR measure Is designed to Half of the TSR measure will 40%

The growth in value of a British Land
shareholding over the LTIP performance
period, assuming dividends are reinvested
10 purchase additonal shares

directly correlate reward with the
return delivered to shareholders

be measured relative to the
performance of the FTSE 100

and the other half wall be measured
relative to & market capitalisation
weighted index of the FTSE 350
property companies that use

EPRA accounting.

Performance agamnst the LTIP measures will be assessed over a peried of three years If perlarmance against a measure 1s equal to
the index, 20% af the proportion attached to that measure will vest and if performance 1s below index the proportion attached to that
rmeasure will lapse 100% of the groportian of each element of award attached to each measure will vest f Brinsh Land's performance
15 3t a streich level Those stretch levels are TPR 1.00% pa. TAR 2 00% pa, TSR (Real Estate] 300% pa and TSR [FTSE 1001 500% p a
There will be straight-line vesting between index and stretch performance tor each measure

The Committee retains the discretion to override the formulaic outcomes of mcentive schemes The purpose of this drscredion 15 to
ensure that the incentive scheme outcomes are consistent with overall Company performance and the experience of shareholders

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

Fees paid to the Chawrman and Non-Executive Directars are positioned around the mid-market wath the aim of atlracting indwiduals
with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience The fee structure set out below incorporates a 2 4% increase to the annual fee
for the Non-Executive Directors for the year commencing 1 April 2019 Upon appointment as Chairman of the Company ai the 2019 AGM,

Tun Score wdl receve £375,000 p 2.

Chairman’s annual fee £375.000
Non-Executive Director's annual fee £64,000
Senior Independent [hrector s annual lee £10,000
Audit or Remuneration Committee Chairman s annuat fee £20,000
Audit or Remuneratian Committee member s annual fee £8,000
CSR Commuttee Chairman's annusl fee £14,000
Nomination or CSR Commiltes member s annual fee £5,000

1. For the new Chairman from 19 July 2019 The current Chawrman s fee remains at £385.000
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How we applied our
Remuneration Policy during
the year ended 31 March 2019

The following pages set out how we implemented the Directors’
Remuneration Policy during the year ended 31 March 2019 and
the remuneration received by each of the Directors.

Single total figure of remuneration (audited)
The following tables detail all eiements of remuneration recewable by British Land's Executive Directars in respect of the year ended
31 March 2019 and show comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2018

Other nems in Pension or
the nature of pEnsion Anpual Lang lerm

Saslaryffees  Taxable benefits remuneration allowance incentives' ncenives Totat
2019 2019 2019 2019 2me 2019 2099
Executive Directars £600 €060 £000 €000 £000 €000 £080
Chris Grigg a57 21 15 300 460 324 1.977
Simon Carter {from May 2018) 421 18 599 53 238 - 1,329
Charles Maudsiey 455 21 12 48 251 158 944
Timn Reberts £57 23 12 98 251 154 991

1 2019 Annuat Incealive aulcomes are subgect to the publication of final (PD results
e e s 2018 me e e
Chris Grigg 840 22 15 294 792 314 2,279
Charles Maudsley 113 22 12 47 406 148 1,101
Tim Roberts 448 23 12 8% 4164 157 1,145

Notes to the single total figure of remuneration table

Fixed pay

Taxable benefits: Taxable benefns include car atlowance |between £14,495 and £16,800), private medical insurance and subsidised gym
rembership The Company prowndes the tax gross-up on subsidised gym membership and the figures included above are the grossed up
values

Other items in the pature of remuneration: include life assurance, permanent health insurance, annual medical check-ups, professionat
subscrsphions, the value of shares awarded under the ail-employee Share Incentwe Plan and any notional gain on exercise for Sharesave
options that matured duning the year. As disclosed last year, to replace deferred payments forfeited on joiming British Land, Sinon Carter
was condiionally awarded €475.000 of shares {86,194 sharesl which have to be held for at least a year, with a value of £592,684

Pensions: Chris Grigg and Charles Maudsley do nat particepate in any British Land pension plan Inslead they recewve cash altowances, in
lieu of pension Tim Reberts s a member of the British Land Defined Benefd Pension Scheme Simon Carter 1s a member of the Oefined
Contnbution Scheme and ulibises his Annual Pension Allowance of £10,0600 per annum, the remaining amount of his pensign is paid o tum
in cash, for him to make his own arrangements for retirement Simen Carter is also a deferred member of the British Land Defined Benefi
Pension Scheme The iable below details the defined benelit pensions accrued at 31 March 2019

Defined benefit

pension accrued al Nermal

31 March 2019 retrement

Executive Director £000 age
Tim Roberis 98 &0
Simon Carter a7 &0

1 The accrued pensian 1s based on service to the year end

There are no addiional benefits that will became recewable by a Director in the event that a Girector retires early
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Annual Incentives FY19

The {evel of Annual Incentive award 1s determined by the Commiitee based on British Land's pacformance and Executive Directors’
performance against quantdative and strategic targets during the year. For the year ended 31 March 2019 the Committee’s assessment
and outcornes are set oul below. This year, part of the iIndividual element has been atlocated across some of the strategic objectives and
all elements have been scored separately Quantitative measures are a direct assessment of the Company's financial performance and in
the very long term business we operate are a reflection of many of the decisions taken in prior years The delivery of strategic objectives
positians the future performance of the business so payouts under this part of the Annual Incentie Plan will not necessardy correlate with
payouts under the quantitative measures tn any year.

Range of performance hetween 25% and 100%

$0% pay-owr 100% payout lno
Iperlormance ngreased pay-out Final Final
5% 0 e with ahove this maximum  sutceme outcome  Perforfhance achieved aganst

Guantitative measure Waighting payoul expeclationst pay-oul point (% of max} {% of salary] targetrangas

Target range of matching

sector weighted index to

outperforming it by 1%.

I:l‘:':;“\’rz‘:gé 2% @ 0% 0% |TPR of -1%, underperiorming
r agamst the estimated

threshold of weighied D

index by 1.9%

Target range of matching

the budget target to

Pratt 28% . 11 726% 17.64% |eutperforming it by 3.5%.

Profit achievernent of £340m

Waighting 70% Sub-toial 11.76% 17 54%' 1 Simon Carter recewes
15 23% of satary for this
element pro-rata of 129 5%

Note The above chart s 2 forecast of the 2019 TPR outcomes which will depend on performance against 1PD figures that will anly become
available after the publication of this report and as such, represent an estimate of the final figures

Finat Fal
Performance outcome autcome
Strategic objective Measure Weighting  acheved {% of max} [% of salary}
CHRIS GRIGG
Indidual Detwer Corporale 3% Corporate Scorecard delivered 3%
objectve Scorecard ° o
Right Places Planning approval 5o Planming approval at Canada 79
at Canada Waler ° Iwater on lrack °
Customer Simpldy 8ritish Brand tuerarchy developed and
orientation Land s brand 5% |implemented 4%
hiecarchy
Capital Efficrency  Deliver Capital Overall Capitaf Plan delvered
Plan
Sell Broadgate 0% |Broadgate Estates third party 8% 2% 34 00%
Eslates Third business soid successfully
Party Business
Expert People Embed our new New Values Bring your Whole
Values Sel!, Be Smarter Together,
Listen & Understand, Build fer
the Future
T% &%
Reduce Gender Gender Pay Gap median
Pay Gap [Apeil 19 reduction of § 7% as at
snapshol dataj S April 2019 and significant
progress on ncluswe culiure
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Final Final
Gutcorne autcome
Strategic objective Measure Weighting Performance achieved 1% of max]  [% of salary]
SIMON CARTER
Individual objective  Execute Investor Relations 3% |Investor Relations programme delivered 3%
Programme
Right Places Improved management 5% {Management informatian project 4%
nformation te optimise successfully delivered
new operatianal businesses
Cuslamer Brive Fynanciat Systems 5% |Systerns project progressing 4% 17 oo%
Orentatron Enhancemenis Project successiully [l: \; °
Capital Efficiency Deliver Capitat Plan Overall Capital Plan delivered € ::;e
2% P
o 99 rating for
Refinance Requirements 10% [Refinance Delwered [1 4bn & part
Maintained year]!
Expert Peaple Embed our new Values New Values Bring your Whole Sell, Be
Smarter Together, Listen & Understand.
% Build for the Future 6%
Reduce Gender Pay Gap Gender Pay Gap median reduction of
(April 19 snapshot datal 5 7% as at 5 Apri 2019 and signdicant
progress gn inclusive cyiluie
TIM RCBERTS
Indmdual objectve  Diversdy Ollices inceme 4% 1Dfhces income diversibication plan 5%
achieved
Right Places Expand Storey 5% |Storey expanding successiully Storey 4%
Clubspace ocpen at 4KS
Costamer Broaten Ofhce cfter Dffwe aller bragde~ad auccassiully
Onentation
Delwer Markating 68 |SMART launched at 100 Liverpaot St 3%
Advantage frem Smar!
€ampys/Buitdings 24% 36 00%
Capital Efficiency Delver Capital Plan &% |Outperiormance on Office Capital Plan &%
Expert People Embed our new Values New Values Bring your Whole Seli, Be
Smarter Togeiher, Lislen & Undersiand.
7% Build for the Future 6%
Reduce Gender fay Gap Gender Pay Gap median reductian af
l&pril 19 snapshot datal 5 7% as at 5 Apnil 2019 and significant
progress an inctuswve culture
CHARLES MAUDSLEY
Indmidual objective  Design and execule Build Lo 4% jStrategy descgnad and commenced 2%
Rent strategy
Right Places Deliver Retail Insights plan 5% !Programme wnptemented and rolled out 3%
Customer Delver Leasing offer 7% |Leasing offer delvered 5%
Onentaton
Capnat Plan Debiver Capital Pian 9% |Retad Capital plan detivered . 23% 24 50%
Prosttively manage CVAs CVAs successhully managed 7%
Expert People Embed our new Values New Valugs Bring your Whole Sell, Be
Smarter Together, Listen & Undersiand,
7% Build for the Future 6%
Reduce Gender Pay Gap Gender Pay Gap medtan reduction of
|April 19 snapshot datal 5 7% as a1 5 Aprd 2019 and signsdicant
progress an inclusive culture
Weighling 30%
Final Final
ouicome outcome
Total benus payaut (% of maxl  {% of salaryl
Chris Grigg 35 76% 53 64%
Simon Carter 37 76% 48 88%!
Tum Roberts? 36 76% 55 14%
Charles Maudsley? 36 76% 55 14%

2018 comparative: n May 2018, the Commitiee confirmed that the cutperformance of TPR compared to the #P0D benchmark was 46 bps
rather than the estimate of 20 bps made far the purposes of the single total figure of remuneration table in the 2018 Annual Report
Consequently, the actual apnual incentive amounts pasd increased and are staled in their revised amounts (n this year's tabie at page ¥Y

1 Siman Carter joned Briush Land on 21 May 2018 and as such his maxmum bonus opportun iy of 150% of salary has been pro-rated te reflect tme served and 1s
therefore 129 5% of satary {or the year ended 31 March 2019

2. Includes an addimional | 5% of salary for Tirn Raberts and 3% of salary for Charles Maudsley in line with the remuneration terms agreed
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Long term incentives

The information in the long term incentives column in the single total figure of remuneration table (see page 99| relates to vesting of
awards granted under the foltowing schemes, including, where applicable, dividend equivalent payments on those awards.

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The awards granted to Executive Directors on 22 fune 2014, and which will vest on 22 June 2019, were subject to two equally weighted
performance conditions over the three-year penod to 31 March 2019 The first measured British Land’s TPR relative to the funds in the
Oecember [P0 UK Annual Property index (the Index!, while the second measured TAR relative to a comparator group of British Land and
16 or so other property cormpanies

The TPR element is expected to lapse, based on British Land's adpusted TPR of 3% per annurn whea compared to the funds in the Index
The TAR element s also expected to lapse based on British Land s TAR of 8 2% The actual vesting of the TPR and TAR elements can only
be calculated once results have been published by IPD and alt the companies wathin the comparator group respectvely. The actual
percentage vesting will be confirmed by the Commuttee In due course and details prowded in the 2020 Remuneration Report.

increase nvalue as a
result of share prwce

Estimated value of E: i
Perfarmance Number of performance award onvesting  equivalent and imerest grant and vesting
Executive Director shares or optichs sharesfoptions awarded £000 £000 £000
Chnis Grigg Performance shares 229,979 0 0 0
Charles Maudsley Pecfarmance shares 122,176 0 0 0
Tim Roberts Performance shares 61.088 0 0 0
Markel vaiue oplions 244,353 0 0 0
2018 comparative: As set out in the 2018 Annual Report, the 2015 LTIP awards lapsed n fuil on 22 June 2018 as expected
Matching Share Plan
The performance conditions for the MSP Matching awards granted an 29 June 2016 were |1) TSR relative to a comparatar group of
Bnitish Land and 16 other property compames and [ul Bribsh Land's gross income grawth (GIG! relative to the IPD Quarterly Universe
{the Universe) These performance conditions are equally weighted The MSP Matching awards wilt vest on 29 June 2019
Korn Ferry has confirmed that the TSR etement of the award will lapse as Briish Land's TSR performance over the peried was -5 1%
compared ta a median of 9.5% for the comparator group The GIG element 1s expected to vest at 100% as Briish Land s annualised GIG
over the penod of 3 4% 15 expecled to exceed the eipected growth of the Unwverse by more than the upper hurdle As a result, 50% of the
MSP Matching awards granted in June 2014 are expecled to vest
Estimated vatue of Estimated divdend
Number of Matching award on vesting equivalent
Executve Qirector Shares awarded £000 £000
Chris Grigg 96.718 280 43
Charles Maudsley 47,206 137 21
Tirn Roberts 46,056 133 2)

2018 comparative: In June 2018, the Committee confirmed that the 2015 MSP Matching swards would vest as to 50% on the vesting
date Jbeing 29 June 2018) The long term incentive bigures in the 2018 comparatives of the single total figure of remuneration table have
therefore been updated to reflect the actual share price on vesting 670 4768 pence] rather than the average for the 90-day pertod used
n the 2018 Annual Report of 653.26 pence.

Share scheme interests awarded during the year (audited)

Long-Term incentive Plan
The total value of each Executwe Director’'s LTIP award for the year ended 31 March 2019 was equivalent to 250% of basic salary at grant

At grant each Director was able to Indicate a preference as to the propertion of the award that they wish to recewe as either performance
shares or market value options The share price used to determine the face value of performance shares and the fair value of options, and
thereby the number of performance shares or options awarded, I1s the average over the three dealing days immediately prior to the day

of award For the award granted iy June 2018, na Execulive Director elecled to receive market value aptions and the share price for
determining the number of pertormance shares awarded was 682 20 pence. The performance condiions atlached lo these awards are set
out in the Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders in July 2016 and summarised on page 98
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Performance shares
Percentage vesting on

Number of End of achevement of maimum

performance Fate value performance parformance threshotd

Executive Director Grant date shares granted £000 persod Vesting date Y
Chris Grigg 26/06/18 313,984 2,142 31/03/21 26/06/21 20
Simon Carter 26/06/18 177,733 1,213 31/03/21 26/06/21 20
Charles Maudsley 26/06/18 164,804 1,138 31/03/21 26706121 20
Tim Roberts 26/06/18 166,804 1,138 31/03/21 26106121 20

Directors’ shareholdings and share interests {audited)
Directors’ shareholdings at 31 March 2019

The tallowing table shows the Executive Directors nterests i fully paid ordinary British Land shares, including shares hetd by connected
persons, MSP Bonus Shares, Annual Incentive Shares and shares held in the Share Incentive Plan Alfinterests are benefictal

Holding at 31 March 2019

lor date of degarture from Halding at
Director the Board, if earleer} 31 March 2018
Chris Grigg 1,320,438 1,297,818
Simon Carter 134,185* -
Charles Maudsley 262,557 251194
Tim Roberts 266,583 265,748

* Includes 86,196 shares awarded shortly alter ;oining 1o replace deferred payments forfeited at hus previous emplayer

Shareholding guidelines

The shareholding quidelines for Executive Direciors have been reviewed by the Comrmuttee and have been increased for the year
cemvenerg 1 Apnd 2049 0 200% for Executive Direstors ather than the Chief Execitive whese guidelire remanins 226% of salary ip
addrion, Executive Directors will normally be required to relain shares equat 1o the level of this guideline lor if they have not reached the
guideline, the shares that count at that ume) for the two years following thewr departure. There 15 no set imescale for Executive Directars
to reach the prescribed gusdeline but they are expected 1o retain net shares receved on the vesting of long term incentive awards untit the
target s achieved Shares that count tawards the holding guideline are unfettered and beneficially owned by the Executive Directors and
their connecied persons, deferred annual sncentive shares, MSP Bonus Shares, locked-in SIP shares and atl vested awards count towards
the requirement an a net of tax basts. All other awards that are stll the subject of a performance assessment do not caunt

The guideline shareholdings for the yesr ending 31 March 2019 are shown below

Unfettered

holding as Total holding as
percentage of a percentage
Guideline as Unfettered hasic salary at Tota! of basic salary al
percentage of Guideline hoiding at 31 March 2019 shareholding at 31 March 2019
Executive Director bassc salary holding' 31 March 2019 1%} 31 March 2019* %)
Chris Gngg 225% 327,301 1,258,701 845 1.320.436 208
Simon Carter 150% 123514 47 779 58 134,185 1463

“expected as al

30 June 2019
Charles Maudsiey 150% 115,919 229.037 294 262,557 340
Twm Roberts 150% 115919 231,904 300 266,583 345

t Calculated on & share price of 589 pence on 2¢ March 2019
? See Dwreclors shareholdings table above which inciude MSP Bonus Shares and ail shares held in the SIP

Acquisitions of ordinary shares after the year end
The Executive Oirectors have purchased or been granted the following fully paid ordinary British Land shares under the terms of the
partnership, matching and divdend elements of the Share incentive Plan

Date of purchase

Executive Cirector or award Purchase price Partnership shares Maztching shares Thvidend shares
Chris Grigg 15/04/19 408.40p 25 50
03/05/19 400 50p 147
14/05/19 564.01p 27 54
Sirnon Carter 15/04/1% 608 40p 24 48
03/05/19 400.50p 4
14/05/19 564 01p 27 54

Other than as set cut above, there have been no further changes since 31 March 2019.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Unvested share awards

Kumber Subject to End of

outstandeng at perfarmance performance
Executive Director Date of grant % March 2019 measures period Yesting date
Chris Grigg LTIP performance shares' 22/06/16 229.979 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP perfermance shares 28/06/17 340,264 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
LTiP performance shares 26/06/18 313,984 Yes 31/03/21 26/06/21
MSP Matching Shares' 29/08/16 96,718 Yes 31/03/19 29/06/19
Simon Carter LTIP performance shares 26/06/18 177,733 Yes 31/03/21 26/06/21
Charles Maudsiey LTiP performance shares' 22/06/16 122176 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP perfarmance shares 28/06/17 180,765 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
LTI performance shares 26/06/48 166,804 Yes 31/03/21 26/0&6/21
MSP Matching Shares! 29/06/16 47,204 Yes 31/03/19 29/06119
Tim Roberts LTIP performance shares’ 22/06/14 41,088 Yes 31/03/19 22/66/19
LTIP performance shares 28/06/17 180,765 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
LTIP perforrance shares 26/06/18 165,804 Yes 310331 26/06/21
MSP Matching Shares! 29/06/14 46,056 Yes 310319 29/0619

1 The LTIP and MSP awards granted m June 2014 are also ncluded withun the 2019 Lang term incentives column of the single total hgure of remuneration table
on page 99. The degree (o which performance measures have been or are expected 10 be achieved, and the resullant propertions of the awards expected to vest, are
detaited on page 102

Unvested option awards [not available to be exercised)

Number Subject ta End of
outstanding at Option price performance performance Date becomes
Executive Director Date of grant % March 2019 pence measures perioy exercisable Exercisable until
Tim Roberts Sharesave oplions 23/08114 3,135 5740 NG na 01/09/19 29/02/20
LTIP options 22/06/14 244,353 7305 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19 22/06/26
Vested option awards [available to be exercised}
Number
outstanding at Opticn price
Theswins Bredtsr Serzorgrast 31 Merck 209 gosce  Sxmreisadla L mi
Chris Grigg LTIP options 11/06/10 1,073,825 447 11/66/20
LTIP apuions 28/06/11 695,652 575 28/04/21
|.TIP options 14/09/12 743,694 538 14/09/22
Options exercised during the year ended 31 March 2019
Market price on
Number Oplion price Date became date of exarcise
Executive Director Date of grant exercised pence exercisable Date exercised pence
Tim Roberts  Sharesave options 19/06/13 2,348 51100 01/09/18 03/09/18 623 60 20

Payments to past Directors and for loss of office (audited)

As disclosed in the 2018 Directors’ Remuneration Report, in October 2017 Lucinda Betl informed the Board of her intention to stand down
from the Board, and following the completion of the search for her replacement, stood down frem the Board on 19 January 2018 and left

the Company on 4 April 2018 The treatment of her remuneration arrangements upon leaving the Company were disclosed in full on page
B84 of the 2018 Annual Report. Quring the year ending 31 March 2019 British Land has therefore made the foltowing payments in Line with

the treatment disclosed

- A paymentn lieu of notice for the period fram when she left the cempany to the end of her notice period tetalling £309,89%

- Apayment of £27.4%4 in lieu of untaken holiday and £100 in respect of accepling the lerms on leaving.

The bonus m respect of the year eading 31 March 2018 which totalled £457,702 of which one-third was used o purchase shares which
must be held for 3 years Following the publication of the final TPR benchmark, the total bonus payout to Lucinda was revised from the
esumate disclosed in the 2018 Report to c. 93% of salary.

- The vesting of the 20156 MSP award which vested a1 50% of maximum and had a value of £151,723

On 21 January 2019 we announced that Tim Roberts and Charles Maudstey would be standing down frorn the Board of the Brish Land
Company PLC [the Companyl on 31 March 2019. Charles Maudsiey ceased to be a Director of the Company and left the Company on

31 March 2019. Tim Roberts ceased to be a Director of the Company on 31 March 2019 and will remain an employee untit 31 July 2019

He will cantinue to be employed on his existing terms until his planned departure date of 31 July 2019 Ouning thes period, he will continue
to recewve his salary and employment benehits in full He will also be eligible for a bonus on a pro-rated basis whilst activety employed

Foliowing ceasing employment each will receive monthly payments in Leu of notice for the remamnder of thew 12 monihs nolice periods
lte 21 January 2020].
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li) Tim Reberts

The total armount payable for the period foltawing ceasing employment for the remainder of the notice period comprises base salary and
car allowance of £224 696, pension contributsons/atlowance of £43,381 and the value of other benefits of £1,946 These payments may be
reduced by the value of any alternative paid employment secured during the period untit 21 January 2020

Tim Roberis was also eligible for an annual bonus for the 2018/19 financial year This bonus has been estimated to be £250,983 and 15
inctuded in the table on page 99 o line with the terms of the Oireclors Remuneration Policy, twe-thirds of any annual bonus will be paid
it cash and one-third will be used ta purchase Brnitish Land shares which must be held for a period of three years

Tirn Roberts will be treated as 3 ' good ieaver” under the Comnpany’'s Long Term lncentive Plan and Matching Share Ptan Consequently,

awards uncluding ine value of any dividend equivalents) witl centinue 1o vest on the nermal vesting dates subject 1o the extent to which

the applicabie performance criteria have been met and where relevant any ime prorating reduction that the Remuneration Committee

may apply

1 Amaximum of §1,088 Performance Shares and 244,353 options {with an exercise price of 730.5p per sharel may vest under the 2014
LTIP awards ang 44056 shares under the 2016 MSP awards The 2014 LTIP awards are expected to lapse as the expectation s that the
mimmum performance targets will not be met.

2. A maximum of 180,765 Performance Shares may vest under the 2017 LTIP awards.

3 A maximum of 146,804 Performance Shares may vest under the 2018 LTIP awards

Tin Roberts will not be eligible 1o recewve further LTIP awards and, on ceasing to be employed, will cease to participate in the Company's
all-employee shace plans

A contributien towards legal fees has been made of £10.000 plus VAT

{i] Charles Maudsley

The totat amount payable for the period {ollowing ceasing emptoyment for the remainder of the notice period comprises base salary and
car allowance of £382 471, nension contnbutions/allowance of £55.369 and the value of other benefits of £3 310 Thege navments may he
reduced by the value of any alternative paid employment secured during the periad until 21 January 2620

Charies Maudsley was aisc eligrble for an annual benus for the 2018/19 linancial year This bonus has been estimated to be £250,983 and

is included i the (abte on page 97 In tine with the terms of the Directors Remuneration Palicy, twa-thirds of any annual bonus will be padd
10 cash and one-third will be used te purchase Britesh Land shares which must be held for a period of three years

Chartes Maudsley has been treated as a ‘good leaver’ under the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan and Matching Share Plan
wonsequantly, awvards (ncwding e vaiue of any ovigend equivaienisi wiil continde to vesi on the normai vesiing dates subject ta the
extent ta which the applicable performance criteria have been met These awards have been reduced by the relevant ime pro-rating
reductions that the Remuneration Commuttee has applied of 8% for the 2016 awards, 42% for the 2017 LTIP awards and 75% for the 2018
LTIP awards

i Amaximum of 111,994 Perfarmance Shares may vest under the 2016 LTIP awards and 43,272 shares under the 2016 MSP awards
The 2016 LTiP gwards are expected to tapse as the expectation is that the miimum performance targets will ol be met

2 Amaximum of 105 444 Performance Shares may vest under the 2017 LTIP awards
3 Armaximum of 41,701 Performance Shares may vest under the 2018 LTIP awards

Other disclosures

Service contracts
All Executive Directors have rolling service contracts with the Campany which have notice periods of 12 menths on ecther side

Normal notice penod Rormal notice period
Director Date of service contract 10 be grven by Company 10 be given by Qirector
Chris Grigg 19/12/2008 12 months 12 months
Simaon Carter 18/01/2018 12 months 12 months

In accardance with the Cade, ali continuing Directors stand for election or re-electian by the Company s shareholders on an annual basis
The Directors’ service contracts are avalable for inspection during normal busimness hours at the Company s registerad office and at the
Annual General Meeung. The Company may termunale an Executive Direclor’s appointment with immediate effect without notice or
payment in lieu of notice under certain cercumstances, prescribed within the Executive Director s service contract
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Executive Directors’ external appointments
Executwe Directors may take up ane non-executive directorshup at another FTSE company, subject to Briish Land Board approval

Chnis Grigy was appointed a non-executive director of BAE Systems ple on 1 July 2013 Durning the year to 31 March 2019, Chris recewed
a fee of £92.640 (including £12,640 of overseas travel allowances and benefits deemed to be taxable) from BAE Systems plc, which he
retamned i full (2018- £85.843)

Relative importance of spend on pay

The graph below shows the amaunt spent on remuneration of alt employees binctuding Executive Directors] relative to the amount spent
on distributions to shareholders far the years ta 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 The remuneration of employees decreased by 5 88%
relative to the prior year As a result of the share buyback, the total cast of distributions to shareholders decreased by 1% despite a 3%
increase in dwdends per share Distributions to shareholders include ordinary and, where offered, scrip divdends Ne scrip alternative was
cffered during the year ended 31 March 2019

Relative impaortance of spend on pay

Total sharehotder return and Chief Executive’s remuneration

The graph below shows British Land s total shareholder return for the 10 years from 1 Aprit 2009 10 31 March 2017 against that of the FTSE
Real Estate lnvestment Trusts (RETT] Total Return Index for the same period. The graph shows how the total return an a £100 investment
w1 the Company made an 1 April 2009 would have changed over the 10-year period, compared with the total return on a E100 investment im
the FTSE REIT Total Return index The FTSE REIT Total Return index has been selected as a suitable comparator because 1115 the indexin
which 8ritish Land s shares are classified

Total sharehotder return
400

300 \
|

/\-ﬂ

\-\/"—N

01 Aprit 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 3t March 31 March 33 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2009 2010 20m 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
— The Briish Land Company PLC — FTSE Alt-Share REIT s Seclor

The base point required by the reguiations governing Remuneration Report disclosures was close to the battom of the praperty cycle at
1 Aprit 2009 Since Briish Land's share price had not fallen as much as the average share price of the FTSE REITs sector at that ime,
a higher base point for subsequent growth was set.

The table below sets out the total remuneration of Chris Grigg, Chief Executive, over the same period as the Total Shareholder Return
graph The quantum of Annual Incentive awards granted each year and long term ncentive vesting rates are gwen as a percentage of the
rmaximum opperlunity available

Chief Executive 2009/10  0MT 20112 20123 200914 A4S 20058 0W/17 201718 2008/1%
Chief Execulive’s single tolal figure of

remuneration [£000} 2082 22329 5353 4810 5398 4551 3623 1938 2279 1977
Annual Incentive awards against

maximum epportunity (%! &7 83 75 75 90 96 &7 33 63 36
Long term incentive awards vesting rate

against maxmum opportunty (%) na na 99 63 98 93 54 15 16 15
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CEO pay ratio

Whatst the new CEO pay ratio regulations do not technically apply to the Company unut the 2020 Directors Remuneration Repart,

we have prepared and voluntarily disclosed the ratio for 2017/18 and 2018/19 i tine with the regulations, The ratios are set out in the
table below In catcutating this information we have used the gender pay gap data calculated for each employee to provide consistency.
The table below shows that the ratio has falten since 2017/18 This fall 1s predominanity due to the lower level of the CEQ single figure
rather than moverments in employee pay The Committee Chairman has provided an explanation of the relationship between reward and
perforrmance on page 88

CEG payratio 2017/18 20181%
Method B B
CEO Single figure 2,279 1,974
Upper quarule 23 1 161
Median 351 271
Lower quartile 50 1 48.1

The salary and total pay for the individuals identiied at the Lower quartile, Median and Upper guarule positions in 2018/19 are set
out below.

2018/1% CED pay ratio Salary Tetal pay
Upper quartile £65.000 £126,266
Median £50,060 £74,225
Lower gquartile E48.000 £49.76D

Chief Executive's remuneration compared to remuneration of British Land employees
The table below shows the percentage changes in different elements of the Chief Executive s remuneration retative te the previous
financtal year and the average percentage changes in those elermnents of remuneration for employees

Value of Chief Executive WValue of Chigf Executive Change in Chref Executive Average ¢hange in remuneration
Remuneratidh etement remuneration 2019 €600 remuneration 2018 £000 remuneratioh % of British Land emplayess %
Salary 857 840 206G 560
Taxable benefits 21 22 510 -0.32
Annual Incentive 460 792 -41 96 -4 53

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration {audited]
The table helow shows the fees paid to our Non-Executive Directors for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018

fees Taxable berefns’ Total

019 2018 2017 2018 019 7018
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors £000 £000 £000 €000 £000 €000
John Gildersieeve [Chairman} 385 369 &4 43 L4% 412
Lynn Gladden 71 69 - 1 72 70
Alastarr Hughes (from 1 January 2018 73 17 - - 73 17
William Jackson 105 100 - - 165 100
Nicholas Macpherson 71 69 - - ki 69
Preben Prebensen (from 1 September 2017 71 40 - - 71 40
Tirn Score 95 23 - - 95 93
Laura Wads-Gery " 69 1 1 72 70
Rebecca Worthington [from 1 January 2018| 73 17 1 - 74 17

1 Taxable benefils wictude the Charman s chawifeur cost and expenses incurred by ether Mon-Executive Directors The Company provides the lax gross up on these
benefils and the hgures shown above are the grossed up values

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 107



DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Shareholding (audited)

Although there are no shareholding gudelines for Non-Executive Directors, they are each encouraged to hold shares in Briish Land The
Campany facilitates this by offering Non-Executive Directors the ability to purchase shares quarteriy using their post-tax fees During the
year ended 31 March 2019, Lynn Gladden, Wiliam Jackson, Tvm Score and Laura Wade-Gery have each recewed shares in full or part
sausfaction of thewr Non-Executive Directors’ fees.

The table below shows the Non-Executive Jirectors’ shareholdings, including shares held by connected persons, as at year end or the date
of retirement from the Board f earlier.

Holding at Hetding at
Directer 31 March 2019 1 March 2018
John Gildersieeve 5,220 5,220
Lynn Gladden 18,339 i3.950
Alastair Hughes 7,274 7274
Wiliam Jackson 135,115 128,123
MNicholas Macpherson 5,600 4,600
Preben Prebensen 20,900 -
T Score 43,899 34,134
Laura Wade-Gery 9,588 8.059
Rebecca Worthingtan 3,000 3.000

In addition, on 5 April 2019, the following Non-Executive Directors were altotted shares at a price of 599 20688 pence per share in full or
part satisfaction of their fees

Non-Executive Directar Shares altotted
Willlam Jackson 2.310
Tim Score 7,286

Other than as set oui above, there have been no further changes since 31 March 2019

Letters of appointment (audited)
All Non-Executive Directors have a letter of appointment with the Company The effective dates of appointment are shawn below

Director tHective date of appointment

Jonn Gildersleeve IChairmanj 1 September 2008 (Non-Executive Oirector], 1 January 2019 {Chairmani
Lynn Gladden 22 March 2018

Alastair Hughes ¥ January 2018

Williarn Jackson 11 April 2017

Nicholas Macpherson 19 December 2016

Preben Prebensen 1 September 2017

Tim Score 23 March 2017

Laura Wade-Gery 13 May 2018

Rebecca Worthingtan 1 January 2018

Al continuing Non-Executive Qirectors stand Jor election or re-election on an annual basis The letters of appointment are available for
inspection duning normal business hours at the Company's registered office and at the AGM

The appointment of the Chairman ar any Non-Executive Directors may be terminated immediately without notice +f they are not reappointed
by shareholders or if they are removed from the Board under the Company’s Articles of Assectatton or if they resign and do not ofter
themsetves for re-electian |n addition, appointments may be terminated by either the individual or the Company gving three months’
written nolice of lermination or, for the current Chairman, six months’ written notice of terrmination

Remuneration Committee membership
There was no change to the Comrmittee membershup during the year to 31 March

As at 31 March 2019, and throughout the year under review, the Commitiee was comprised wholly of independent Non-Executive Cirectors
The members of the Commultee, together with attendance at Committee meetings, are set out int the table below:

Dste of appaintment

Director Pasition {lo the Commitiee) Attendance
William Jackson Chairman 14 January 2013 Yk
Lynn Gladden Member 20 March 2015 777
Preben Prebensen Member 1 September 2017 717
Laura Wade-Gery Member 13 May 2015 717
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During the year ended 31 March 2019, Committee meetings were also part attended by John Gildersleeve [Company Charmanl,

Chris Grigg [Chief Executivel, Simon Carter [Chief Financial Qfficer], Charles Maudsley (Executive Director), Bruce James (Head of
Secretariat), Brona McKeown (General Counsel and Company Secretaryl, Ann Henshaw [HR Directori and Kelly Barry [Head of Rewardi
other than for any item relating to their own remuneration A representative from Korn Ferry also routinety attends Committee meetings

The Committee Chairman holds regular meetings with the Chairman, Chief Executive and HR Director to discuss all aspects of
remuneration within British Land He also meets the Cormnmittee’s independent remuneration adwisers, Korn Ferry, prior 10 each
substantive meeting to discuss matters ¢t governance, Remuneration Poticy and any concerns they may have

How the Committee discharged its responsibilities during the year
The Commiilee's roie and responsibiiies have remamed unchanged during the year and are sef outn fullin s terms of reference
which can be found on the Company's website britishland com/commuttees The Commuttee’s key areas of responsibility are

setuing the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and the Company Chairman, reviewing the Remuneratron Policy and strategy
for members of the Executive Committee and other members of execulive management, whilst having regard to pay and empleyment
condittons acress the Group

deterrmining the total indwidual remuneration package of each Executive Director, Executive Commutlee member and other members
of management

monitering performance against condiions attached to all annwatl and long term incentive awards lo Executive Dhrectors, Executive
Comrutiee and other members of management and approving the vesting and payment oulcomes af these arrangemenis

selecting, appointing and seting the terms of reference of any independent remuneration consultaats.

In addition to the Commuttee’s key areas of responsibility, during the year ended 31 March 2019, the Commutiee also considered the
fotlowing matters

reviewing and recommending to the Board the Remuneration Report to be presented for sharehalder approval

appraisal of the Chairman’s annual fee, rernuneration of the Executve Directors sncluding achievernent of corporate and indwsdual
pertormance. and pay and annual incentive awards beiow Board-level

considering the extent o which perfermance measures have been met and, where appropriate, approving the vesting of Annual Incentive
and long term incentive awards

granting discretionary share awards, reviewing and setting performance measures fer Anaual Incentive awards

considering the impact of the share buyback on incentive plans

e =f -

cansidering gender pay gap reporting requirements

depariure terms for Charles Maudsley

departure terms for Tim Roberts

receiving updates and lraimng on corporate governance and rernuneration matiers from the independent remuneration censultant.

For the year ahead, the Commuttee’s terms of reference have been updated to reflect changes in the UK Corporate Governance Code
These include ensurtng abignment of the remuneration policy wath the Company s purpose and cullure, setting the remuneration for
senmer management and considering alignment of pension contributioas of the workforce, Executve Directors and semier management

Remuneration consultants

Korn Ferry was appomted as independent remuneration adviser by the Commuttee an 21 March 2017 tollowing 3 competitive tender
process ¥orn Ferry is 3 member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to that group’s Code of Conduct. The Committee
assesses the advice given by Its adwisers (o satsfy itself that it 15 objective and independent The advisers have private discussions with the
Commuttee Chairman at least once a year in accordance with the Code of Conduct of the Rermuneration Consultants Group Fees, which
are charged on a tme and materials basis, were £211,298 (excluding VATY. Korn Ferry also prowided general remuneration advice to the
Company duning the year.

Voting at the Annual General Meeting
The table betow shows the voling outcomes of the reselutions put to shareholders regarding the Directors Remuneration Report (at the
AGM i July 2018] and the Remuneration Policy {at the AGM in July 2016)

Resolution Votes tor % for Votes against % against  Tolal votes cast Yotes withheld
Directors’ Remuneration Repoct [2018) 718,283,375 9546 34,197,587 454 752,480,962 1,400,399
Directors’ Remuneration Policy 12014] 722,144,638 9713 21494166 287 748,638,804 7.869.489

This Remuneration Report was appraved by the Board on 14 May 2019

William Jackson

Chairman of the Remuneration Commiitee
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

Directors’ Report and additional disclosures

The Oirectors present there Report on the affars of the Group,
together with the audited financial statements and the report

of the auditor for the year ended 31 March 2019 The Directors’
Regort 1s alsa the Management Report for the year ended

31 March 2019 for the purpase of Disclosure and Transparency
Rule 4 1.8R. Information that is relevant to this Report, and which
is incorparated by reference and including mfarmation required

in accordance with the UK Compamies Act 2004 and or Listing Rute
9 B 4R, can be tocated in the foliowing sections.

Sectign i Annual

Infarmation Repory Page

Future developments of the Stralegic Report 41023

biusiness of the Company

Risk tactars and principal msks  Strategic Report 54 to 61

Financial instruments - Strategic Report 511053

rsk management objectives

and policies

Divdends Strategic Report 49

Sustainability governance Strategrc Report 62

Greenhouse gas ermussions Strategic Report 45

Viability and going Strategic Report 65 and 78

concern statements

Governance arrangementis Governance 72 to 109

Employment policies and Stiategic Report 3G ta 31

employee invalvernent

Capitalised interest Financiat 133 and 141
Statements

Additional unaudited Other 18610 194

financial information information

afnZiditead
LTI HEG

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

The 2019 AGM witl be held at 11 00am on 19 July 2019 at
The Montcalm London Marble Arch, 2 Wallenberg Place.
London WiH 7TN

A separate circular, comprising a letter from the Chairman

of the Board, Nolice of Meeting and exptanatory notes on the
resolutions being proposed, has been circulated 1o shareholders
and s avalable on our website britishiand com/agm

Articles of Association

The Company s Acticles of Assaciation [Articles) may onty

be amended by special resctution at a general meeting of
shareholders. Subject to applicable law and the Company s
Articles, the Directors may exercise all powers of the Company.

The Articles are available on the Company s website
briteshland.com/governance
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Board of Directors

The names and bragraphicat details of the Directors and detaits

of the Board Committees af which they are members are set out
on pages 68 to 71 and incorporated into this Report by reference
Changes to the Directars during the year and up to the date of this
Repaort are set out on page 72 The Company s current Articles
require any new Drrector to stand for election at the next AGM
fallowang thewr appotntment. However, it accordance vath the Code
and the Company’s current practice, atl continuing Directors offer
thernselves for election ar re-election, as required, at the AGM

Detatls of the Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company
and any awards granted to the Executive Directors under any of
the Company s all-employee or executive share schemes are given
in the Directors” Remuneration Report on pages 88 to 109. The
service agreements of the Executive Directors and the letters of
appaintment of the Non-Executive Directors are also summarnised
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report and are available for
inspection at the Company’s registered office

The apporntment and replacement ol Directors 1s governed by
the Company’s Articles, the Code, the Companies Act 2006 and
any related leqislation The Board may appoint aay person to
be a Director so long as the iotal number of Directors does not
exceed the it prescribed in the Articles I addition to any
power of removal conferred by the Cormnpanies Act 2004, the
Company may by ordinary resolution remove any Director
before the expiry of thetr period of ofhce

Directors’ interests in contracts and conflicts

of interest

No contract exssted during the year m retation to the Company’s
ousiness 1n which any Oirector was materally interested

The Company s pracedures for managing conflicts of interest by
the Directors are set out en page 76 Pravisions are alse contained
in the Company s Artictes which allow the Directors to authonse
polential confucts of interest.

Directors’ liability insurance and indemnity

The Company maintains appropriate Directors & Othicers” hability
insurance cover In respect of any potential tegal action brought
against its Directors

The Company has also indemnthed each Cirector to the extent
permitted by law against any liabslity incurred sn relation to acts

or oMmHssIons ansing in the ordinary course of therr duties The
indemnily arrangements are qualifying indemnity provisions under
the Companies Act 2006 and were in lorce throughout the year



Share capital

The Company has one class of shares, being ordinary shares
of 25 pence each, alt of which are fully paxd. The rights and
obligations attached to the Company s shares are set out (in the
Articles There are no restrictions on the transfer of shares
except in relation to Real Estaie investment Trust restrictions

The Directors were granted authority at the 2018 AGM to allot
relevant secuniies up 1o a nominal amount of 81,910,507 as
wetl as an additional authonty to atlot shares te the same value
on a rights issue This autharity will apply until the conclusion of
the 2019 AGM At this year's AGM, shareholders will be asked ta
renew the authonty to allot relevant secunties

At the 2018 AGM, the Directors were also given power by the
shareheolders to make rmarket purchases of erdinary shares
representing up to 10% of its 1ssued capital at that ime, being
98,292,608 ordinary shares Thss authonity will also expire at the
2019 AGM and it is proposed that the renewal of the authonty
witt be sought

In June 2018, the Board decided that followsng on frem the sale
of 5 Broadgate, the strength of the investment market and the
continu:ng discount in the Company's share price, the best use
af capital would be to extend the share buyback programme.

As a result, during the year ended 31 March 2819, the Company
repurchased 33,672,430 ardinary shares of 25 pence each for an
agyregate consideraton of £200m Tris represents 3 55% of the
rssued share capital texcloding shares held in Treasury] at that
date All shares repurchased during the year were cancetled

The Comgpany continued o hald 11,266,245 erdinary shares in
treasury during the whole of the year ended 31 March 2019 and
to the date of this Report

Further details relating to share capnal, including mevernents
during the year, are set out in note 20 to the hnancial statements
on pages 159 {0 161

Rights under an emplovee share scheme

Employee Benefit Trusts [EBTs] operate in cannection with scme
of the Company's employee share plans The trustees of the E8Ts
may exercise all nghts attached to the Company s ordwnary shares
in accordance with thesr fiduciary dulies other than as specifically
restricted in the documents which govern the relevant employee
share plan

Waiver of dividends

Blest Limuted acts as trustee [Trusteel of the Company s
discretionary Employee Share Trust [ESTl The EST holds and,
from time to urne, purchases Britsh Land ordinary shares in
the market. for the benefit of employees, including to sahsfy
outstanding awards under the Company s vanous execulive
employee share plans A dradend wawer 15 1n place from the
Trustee in respect of all dwidends payable by the Company on
shares which it holds in trust

Substantial interests

All notifications made to British Land under the Disciosure

and Transparency Rules [OTR 5] are published on a Regulatory
Information Service and made available on the Investors section
of our website.

As at 31 March 2019, the Company bad heen notrfied of the
foltawing interests in its ordinary shares in accordance with DTR 5
The informaton provided 1s correct at the date of notification

ifileresisan .DE':CEE'.T&Q\':

ordinary holding

shares disctosed %

BlackRock, Inc 86 740,206 10.00
Invesco Lid 48,821,013 5.08
Norges Bank 48,606,089 501
GIC Private Limited 41,121,137 399
APG Asset Management N V. 38.039.738 399

Mo nptilications have been subrmited to the Company since year and

Change of control

The Group's unsecured borrowing arrangements snclude
prowvisions that may enable each of the tenders or bonghelders
to requesl repayment of have a put at par within a certain period
following a change of conirol of the Company In the case of the
Sterting bond this arses tf the change of control alse results in
a rating dowagrade to Sefow nvestmeant grage 1nthe case Xf
the convertible bond there may also be an adjustment Lo the
conversion price apphicable for a imited period followng a
change of control

There are no agreements between the Company and «ts Directors
or employees providing for cornpensation for lass of office or

emalaemant thot arrire cnprfirally boerriinn nf o tobancar margsr
RN I8 S epels fLE Ll £ 2fged

¥ r,
or amalgamation with the exception of grovisions in the Company's
share plans which could result in eptions and awards vesting or
becoming exercisable on a change of control All appointment
letters for Non-Executive Directors will, as they are renewed,
contain a provision that allows payment of their notice period In
certan mited circumstances, such as carporate transactions,
where the Company has terminated their appountment with
immediale effect

Payments policy

We recognise the irnportance of good supplier relationships to
the overall success of our business We manage dealings with
suppliers in a fair, consistent and transparent manner. For more
information please visit the Suppliers section of our website at
www britishland ce vk/about-us/suppliers

Events after the balance sheet date

Details of subsequent events if any, can be found in note 26
on page 164,

Political donations

The Company made no political donations during the year
(2018 nll
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DIRECTORS' REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

Our gender split
2019 2018 2017
Male Female Male Female Male Female

British Land
Group 266 284 359 338 346 313

of which

are Board 10 3 9 3 10 3

of which are

senior managers 71 35 " 35 71 30

Figures expressed as full ume eguwalent

Inclusive culture

8riish Land employees are committed to promoting an
nclusive, positive and collaborative culiure, We treat everyone
equally irrespective of age, sex, sexual orientation, race, colour,
nationabity, ethnuc ongin, religion, religrous or other philosophical
belief, disability, gender identity, gender reassignment, maritat or
cwil partner status, or pregnancy of matermty

Community investment

Qur financial donations to good causes during the year totalled
€£1.426,000 (2018 €1,687.000] Our Community Investment
Comrruitee approves all expenditure from our Communrity
lnvestment Fund

in addition, the Company also supports fundraising and payrotl
gwing for causes that matter to staff The support provided for
the year ended 31 March 2019 includes

~ 50% uplift of British Land stalf payroll gwving contributions
[capped at £5,000 per persen and £50,000 per annum for the
whole orgamsation], and

- Asiaft matched tunding pledoe matching money raised for
charity by British Land staff up to £750 per person per year

Our cormnmunuty investment s guiced by our Local Charter, warking

with local partners to make a lasting pesitive difference-

- connecting with local communities

- supporting educational initiatves for local people

- supporting local training and jobs

- supporting tocal businesses

- contnbuting to local people’s wellbeing and enjoyment
Through our communty iInvestrment and Localk Charter activity, we
connect with commurmties where we aperate, make posstive local
contributions, help peaple tulhil their potential, help businesses

grow, and promote wellbeing and enjoyment. This all supports our
strategy to create Places Peaple Prefer

Fishung for plastic in the River Thames on a boat made {rom recycled plastic,
a project run by Hubbub, a behaviour change charily supporied by one of our
trustee volunteers
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Health and safety

We have retained formal recognition of gur focus on heatth

and safely through & successiul audit of our OHSAS 18001
accreditation We continue to improve our approach 1o health

and safety management to ensure that we consistently achieve
best practice across all activities in the business {construction,
managed portfolio and head office] to deliver Places People Prefer
to our employees and our customers.

Total RIDDOR
ncidenis Injury ¢ate

2019 2018 2019 2018
Construction 4 3 612 013 per 100,000
hours worked
Retall 18 N 007 0.01 per 108,000
footfall
Offices 4 4 1417 1288 per 100,000
waorkers
Head Office 0 0 0 0 per 100,000 full

time equivalents

* Reporting o! Inyuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013

Auditor and disclosure of information
Each of the Directors at the date of approval of this Report
canfirms that-

- s2tar as the Director 1s aware, there 1s no retevant audd
information that has not been brought 1o the attention of
the audsiior

- the Director has taken alt steps that he/she should have taken
10 make himsell/herselt aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company s auditor was aware of

that infarmatn;
@ niormatron

PwC has indicated its witlingness to rarmamn i otfice and, an the
recommendation of the Audit Comemittee, a reselution ta reappoint
PwC as the Company's auditor will be proposed at the 2019 AGM

The Directors’ Report was approved by the Board on 14 May 2019
and signed on its behalf by

Kot

Brona McKeown

General Counsel and Company Secretary
The British Land Company PLC
Company Number 621970



DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for prepaning the Annual Report
and the financral statements in accordance with applicable law
and regutation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
staterments for each financial year Under that aw the Derectors
have prepared the Group hinanceal staterments in accordance with
International Financiat Reporting Standards {IFRSst as adopted by
the Eurcpean Union and the parent Company financial statements
n accardance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising

FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework ', and applicable law]

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
staternents unless they are satisiied that they give a true and
fair view of the staie of affairs of the Group and Company and

of the profit or toss of the Group and Company for that period

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are

required to

- sefect sutable accounting policies and then apply
themn cansistently

- state whether applicable IFRSs a5 adopted by the European
Unipn have been foliowed for the Group financial staterments
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
181, have been follawed far the parent Company financial
statements, subject to any matenal departures disclosed
ang explained in the financial statemenis

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonabte

and prudent

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis

uniess It 1s inappropriate to presume that the Group and

Company will continue 1n business

The Cireclors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and exptain the Group and
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any eme the hnancial position of the Group and Cornpany

and enable them lo ensure that the financial stalements and the
Directors’ Remuneration Report comaly with the Companies Act
2006 and. as regards the Group financiat statements, Article 4 of
the IAS Reguiation.

The Qirectors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the grevention and detection of fraud and other ircegularities

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and tntegrity
at the Company s website Legislation in the United Kingdem
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
staterments may differ tram tegislauon in other junsdichions

The Oirectors consider that the Annual Report and Accounts,
taken as a whale, s fair, balanced and undersiandable and
proviges the information necessary for shareholders to assess
the Group and the Company's posiion and performance,
business model and strategy

Each af the Directors, whose names and functions are histed in the
Board of Directors on pages 6810 71, confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge:

- the Company financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generalty Accepted Accounting
Practice {United Kungdom Acceunting Standards, comprising
FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable lawl,
gve a true and fair view of the assets, Uabilities, financal
position and profit of the Company

- the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, guve
a true and fair iew of the assets, liabilities, financial posttion and
loss of the Group

- the Strategic Report and the Directors Repartinclude a tair
review of the developrent and performance of the business
and the position of the Group and Cornpany, together with a
description of the principal nisks and uncertainties that 1t faces

By arder of the Board.

(P

-

Simon Carter

Chief Financial Officer
14 May 2019
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100 Liwverpool
Street

Reinvesting in East London

We have carefully managed the redevelopment of 100 Liverpool Street
to directly benefit people and businesses in the local community. Rather
than purchasing everything nationatly, 58% of construction spend so far
- £59m - has heeninvested within the City and neighbouring boroughs,
ensuring that this project directly benefits local businesses i financial
terms £43m of the overall construction spend has gone {o small and
medium sized enterprises, boosting growth
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

endent auditors’ rep

ort to the members of

Th ritish Land Company PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinien
In our opinion

- The British Land Company PLC’s Group financial statements and
Company financial statements [the “financial statements’} give a
true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Company's
affars as at 31 March 2019 and of the Group s loss and cash llows
for the year then ended,

- the Group hnancial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards
[IFRSs) as adopted by the European Unian,

- the Company financial statements have heen properly prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice {(United Kingdom Accounting Staadards, comprising FRS
101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framewark”, and applicable law], and

- the financial statements have been prepared i accordance with
the requirements of the Companes Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the [AS Regulation

We have audited the financial siatements, included within the Annuat

Report and Accounts 2017 [the "Annual Repart’ ), which comprise

- the Caonsclidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2019,

the Company balance sheet as at 31 March 2019,

the Consclidated income statemnent for the year ended

31 March 2019,

the Consolidated staternent of comprehensive incomne for the year

ended 31 Mareh 2019,

- the Consolidated statement oi cash flows tor the year ended
31 March 2019;

- the Consclidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended
31 March 2019,

- the Company statement of changes in equity far the year ended
31 March 2019,

- and the notes to the financial statements, which inctude a
description of the sigmhicant accounting polictes

Our ominion 15 consistent with our reporting to the Audit Commuttee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing {UK] [(1SAs [UKY™) and applicable law Our responsibibities
under I1SAs {UK] are further described in the Auditers’ responsibilities
for the audil of the hinancial statements section of our report We
believe that the audit ewidence we have obtained s sufficient and
apprapriate ta provide a basis for our apinton.

independence

We remained independent of the Group In accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as
applicable to Usted public Interest entities, and we have futfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements

To the best of our knowledge and beliel, we declare that non-audit
services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided
to the Broup or the Company

Other than thase disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements, we
have provided no non-audit services to the Group or the Company in
the periog from 1 Apnil 2018 to 31 March 2019
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Our audit approach

Overview

Materiality

- Overali Group materiality £122.5 mittion (2018 £131 8 millioni,
based on 1% of totat assets

- Specific Group matenality, 14 ¢ mitiion (2018 £19 4 mutlion],
which represents 5% of underlying pre-tax profus Thisis applied
to the underlying prolit and loss column

- Overall Company materality. £110 4 multion (2018 £119 0 million],
based on 1% of totat assets.

Audit scoping

- We tailored the scope of our audii to ensure that we performed
enough work to be able to give an cpimian on the iinanaial
statements as a whole. The Group financiat statements are
prepared on a consolidated basis, and the audit team carries cut
an audit over the consohidated Group balances in suppart of the
Group audit apivon The followrng joint ventures are also audited
to Group matenality Broadgate and Meadawhail

Key audit matters
- Valuation of investment and development properties {Groupl

- Revenue recogrition (Groupl.
- Accounting for transactions {Group!
- Taxation (Group)

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audi, we determined materiality and
assessed the risks of material misstatement in the hinancial
statements In particular. we looked at where the directors made
subjective judgements, for example in respect of stgrificant
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Capability of the audit in detecting wregularities, including fraud
Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we identified
that the principal nsks of non-compliance with laws and regulations
related to comphiance with the Real Estate Investment Trust (RE{T)
status section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and the UK

and European requiatosy principles, such as those governed by

the Financial Conduct Authonty, and we considered the extent to
which non-compliance might have a material etfect on the hnancial
staterments of the Group and Company

We also considered {hose laws and regulations that have a

direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements

such as the Companies Act 2006 and the UK tax legislation

We evaluated management’s incentives and opporturities for
frauduient manipulation of the financial statements lincluding the
risk of overnde of controls), and determined thal the principal risks
were related to posting 1nappropriate journal entries o increase
revenue or reduce expenditure, and management bias 1n accounting
estimates and judgmental areas of the financial statements such as
the vatuation of Jnvestment properties. Audit procedures performed
by the Group engagement team auditors included-

- Discussions with management and internat audit, including
consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations and fraud, and review of the reports
made by management and nternal audit;

- Understanding of managerment’s internal controls designed to
prevent and detect irregulanties, risk-based monitoring of
customer processes,



- Inquired of management of any instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations, fraud and matters reporied on the Group's
whistleblowing helpline;

- Revtewing relevant meeting minutes,

- Rewview of tax compliance with the invatverment of aur tax
specialists in the aud:it,

- Besigning audd procedures to incarperate unpredictabibity over
the nature, iming or extent of our testing of expenses,

- Procedures relating to the valuation of investment properties
described in the related key audit matter below, and

- Identifying and testing journal entries, n particular any journal
entries posted with unusual account combinatiens, posted by
unexpected users and posted on unexpected days

There are inherent hrmitations in the audit procedures described
above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations s from the events and transactions reflected i the
financiai statemenis, the tess likely we would become aware of it

Key audit matter

Also, the risk of not detecting a matertal misstaterment due 1o fraud
15 higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or
intentional misrepresentattons, or through colluston

Key audit matters

Key audit matlers are those rnatters that. 1n the auditors’
grofessional judgerment, were of most sigrshicance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and inctude the most
significant assessed risks of materal misstatement fwhether or not
due te traud) [dentified by the auditors, tncluding those which had
the greatest effect on, the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagerment
team These matiers, and any comments we make on the results of
our procedures thereon, were addressed i the context of our audi
of the financial siatements as a whote, and 1n forming our opinien
therean, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters
This 15 not 3 complete st of alt nisks identified by our audit

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuatien of investment and development properties - Group

Defer to nage 87 Repert of the Audd Commuttes) cages 12810 120

{Accounting policies! and page 131 to 166 [Notes to the Accounts)

The Group s investment property porticlio1s split between office and
reswdential properties in Central London, retait and leisure properties
across the UK, developments and the assets at the Canada Water
site In East London The valuation in the Consolidated Balance Sheet

15 £8.921 mullion,

The valuation of the Group s investrent property portfclio is
inherently subjectve due to, armong ather factors, the indmidual
nature of each property, its location and the expected future rentals
for that particular property For developments, facters inctude
projected costs lo complete and tming ef practical completion.

The valuations were carried out by third party valuers, CB Rechard
Ettis, Jones Lang LaSalte, Cushman and Wakeheld and Knight Frank
{the "valwers §. The valuers were engaged by the Directors, and
performed their work in accordance with the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors [ 'RICS”] Valuation - Professional Standards
The valuers used by the Group have cansiderable expenence of the
markets in which the Group operates

tn determining a property s valualion the valuers take into account
property-specific snformation such as the current tenancy agreements
and rental income. They apply assumptions for yields and estimated
market rent, which are mfluenced by prevaiting market yields and
comparable markel transactions, to arrve at the final valuation For
developments, the residual appraisal method 15 used, by estirmating
the fair value of the completed project using a capitalisation methed
less estimated cosis (o comptetion and a nisk premiem

The significance of the estimates and judgements involved, coupled
with the fact that only a small percentage difference in indwidual
praperty valuations, when aggregated, could result 1in a matenat
musstatemnent, warrants specific audit focus in this area

There were also certain specific factors affecting the valuations in
the yeas. Properties under development, completed developments
that are now valued as standing investment propertres and standing
investment properties thal have been rectassified to development
properties, continue to be an area of focus

We read the vatuation reporis for all the properties and confirmed
that the valuation approach for each was in accordance with RICS
siandards ano suitabie ior use in determining ine carrying vaiue lor
the purpose of the financial statements

We assessed the valuers’ quatifications and expertise and read their
terms of engagement with the Group to determine whether there
were any matters that might have aifected their objectivity or may
have imposed scope limistatians upon their work We also censidered
fee arrangements between the vatuers ana the Group and other
engagements which mught exist between the Group and the valuers
We found no ewidence to suggest that the objectivity of the vatuers in
their performance of the valuations was compromised

We obtained detalls of each properiy held by the Group and set an
expected range for yield and capital value movermnent, determined

by reference to published benchmarks and using our experience and
knowledge of the market We compared the investment yietds used
by the valuers with the range of expecied yelds and the year on

year capiial movement to our expected range We also considered
the reasonableness of other assumptions that are not so readily
comparable with pubhshed benchmarks, such as Estimated

Rental Value

We attended meetings with management and the valuers, at which
the valuations and the key assumptions therem were discussed.

Our work covered the valuation of each properiy in the Group, but
the discussions with management and the valuers focused on the
largest properties in the portfolio, properties under development or
where the valuation basis has changed in the year, the Canada Water
site and those where the yields used and / or year on year capital
value mavement suggested a possibie outlier versus externally
published market data for the relevant sector

Where assumplions were outside the expected range or
otherwise appeared unusual, and / or valuations showed
unexpected movements, we undertook lurther investigations

and, when necessary, held further discussions with the valuers
and obtained evidence to support explanatians receved The
valuation commentaries provided by the valuers and supporting
evidence, enabled us o constder the property specific factors that
may have had an impact on value, including recent comparable
transactions where appropriate
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Independent auditors’ report to the members
of The British Land Company PLC continued

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties - Group
continued

We saw evidence that alternative assumptions had been considered
and evalualed by management and the valuers, before delermiming
the final valuation We concluded that the assumplions used in the
valuations were supportable in light of available and comparable
market evidence

We performed testing on the standing data in the Group's information
systems concerning the valuation process We carried aut procedures,
an a sample basis, to satisfy ourselves of the accuracy of the
property snformation supplied to the valuers by management For
developments, we confirmed that the supporting information for
construction contracts and budgets, which was supplied to the
valuers, was also consistent with the Group's records for example
by inspecting originat construction contracts For developments,
capitalised expenditure was lested on a sample basis Lo Invoices,
and budgeted costs ta camplete compared with supporting evidence
{for example construction contracts}

it was evident from our interaction with management and the
valuers, and from our review of the valuation reports, that close
attention had been paid to each property's tndwdual characteristics
at a granular, tenant by tenant level, as well as considenng the
overall quakly, geographic localion and desiratulity of the assel as
awhale Noissues were tdentified 1 our testing

Revenue recognition - Group

Refer to page 82 iReport of the Audit Commitiee}, pages 128 to 130
[Accounting policies) and page 132 [Notes to the Accounts)

Revenue for the Group consists primarnly of rental income Rental
income 15 based on tenancy agreements where there 15 a standard

process in place for recording revenue, which is system generated.

There are certain transactions within revenue that warrant
additional audit focus because of an increased inherent risk of
error gue to their non-standard nature

These include spreading of tenant mcentives and guaranteed reny
increases - these balances require adjustments made te rental
income 10 ensure revenue 15 recorded on a straight line basis over
the course of the lease.

We carried cut tests of controls over the cash and accounts
recewable processes and the related |7 systems to obtain evidence
that postings o these accounts were reliable. For rental income
balances, we then used data-enabled audit techniques to idently
all standard revenue jpurnals posted using these systems

and processes

The remaining journals related to non-standard transactions
These included reciassiications within revenue, accrued income,
and bad debt prowisions For each category of non-standard
revenue summarised above, we have understoed the nature and
assessed the reasanabteness of journals being generated, and
performed substantive testing over & sample of these items. There
weren t any exceptions arising from our testing over non-standard
revenue transactions

For balances not included within rental income, such as senvice
charge income, we performed substantive testing on 3 sampie
basis. No issues were identified in aur tesling.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Accounting for transactions - Group

Refer to page 82 (Report of the Audit Committee), pages 128 to 130
[Accounting policies} and pages 131 to 166 {Notes]

There have been a aumber of transactions during the year These
warranted addiional audit focus due to the magnitude of the
transactions and the potential for complex contractual terms that
introduce judgement into how they were accounted for Key
transactions subject to additional audit focus were.

- lnvestment property acquisttions of £221m including the
acgursition of Tunbrnidge Wells, Rayal Victorta Place for £97m

- lnvestment property disposals of £664m, including the disposat of
5 Broadgate (Group share £500m)|

- Share buyback of £204m

For each transaction, we understood the nature of the transaction
and assessed the proposed accounting treatment in relation to the
Group’'s accounting policies and relevant IFRSs

For all acquistions and disposals, we obtained and reviewed the key
supporting documentation such as Sale and Purchase Agreements
and completion statements. Consideration received or pad was
agreed to bank statements No material 1ssues were found as a
resuit of these procedures

For the share buyback, we read the broker contracts and audited the
accounting for the buyback in accordance with 1AS 32 For shares
repurchased by the Group, we tested the subsequent cancellation

of the shares acquired and checked the associated costs of the
transactions were correctly recogrused within reserves |retained
earmingsl.No exceplions were identified in the accouniing for the
share buyback programmae.

Taxation

Refer to page 82 [Report of the Audit Committeel, page 130
{Accounting policies) and page 134 and 148 [Notes to the Accounts)

ine Broup 5 S31US 85 & nE.T UNRAEPNS (15 BUS.NESS MCEaL and
shareholder returns For this reason, it warrants special audit focus
The obligatrens of the REIT regime inctude requirements to comply
with balance of business, dwidend and income caver tests. The
Broadgate joing venture 1s also structured as a REIT and as such,
REIT compliance 1s also of retevance for this joint venture in addition
to the overaill Group

Tax provisions are 1n place to account for the risk of challenge of
certain of the Group s tax provisions Given the subjective nature of
these provisions, addilional audit focus was placed on tax prowisions

We re-performed the Group's annual REIT compliance tests, as
well as those tests tor the Broadgate REIT Based on our work
performed, we agreed with management s assessment that atl
REIT compliance tests had been met to ensure that the Group and

Tl e o b - - - =t -
Brosdgate maintan ey rksl status

We evaluated the tax provisions and gotential exposures as at

31 March 2019 We used our knowledge cf tax circumstances and
by reading relevant correspondence between the Group and Her
Majesty's Revenue & Custams and the Group's exiernal tax adwvisars
are satisfied that the assumptions and jJudgements used by the

Grouf 7€ TES5GAgHIE
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Reporting on other information

The other infarmation camprises att of the information in the
Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors report thereon The directors are responsible for

the other mformation Qur opinion on the financial staterments
does not cover the other informatton and, accordingly, we do
nat express an audit opinion or, excepl {o the extent otherwise
explicitty stated in thus report, any form of assurance thereon.,

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, aur
responstbility 15 to read the other information and, 10 deing so,
consider whether the information is matenally nconsistent with
the hinancial statements or our knowledge cbtaned m the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially risstated |f we identify an
apparent materiat Inconsistency or materal missiatement, we are
required to perfarm procedures to conclude whether there s a
materal musstatement of the financial statements or a material
misstatemnent of the other information |f, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact We
have nothing to report based on these responsibilittes

Wilh respect to the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and
Additonal Disclosures and Corporate Governance Slatemem
wi 3150 considered whether the G.5CI0SUMES TEGUTES By the Ly

Companes Act 2006 have been included

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work
undertaken n the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006
[CAQS), ISAs IUK] and the Listing Rutes of the Financiat Conduct
Authority {FCA] require us also o report certain opinions and
imgiiers as UESLFIU@U UELUW IFEQUIFEU uy |§i—\:: |ur\; uiligEss
otherwise stated|

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and Additional Disclosures
n our opimion, based on the work undertaken i the Course of the
audd, the information given in the Strategic Report ang Directors’
Report and Additional Disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2019
15 consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accardance with applicable tegat requirements [EADS]

In ight of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and theirr environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any matenial misstatements in the Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report and Additienat Disciosures [CAQS)

Corporate Governance Statement

Im our opinion, based on the work undertaken in !he course of the
audit, the information given in the Corporate Governance Statemnertl
lon page 77 in the Gavernance Review] about internal controls

and risk managemeni systems in relalion te hnancial reporting
processes and about share capital structures in compliance with
rules 72 5 and 7.2.6 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules sourcebook of the FCA ["0OTR }1s consistent with the financial
statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable
tegal requirements [CADG)

In Light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and therr environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we did nol iIdentity any material misstatements in this
infarmatien [CADS)

In our opiion, based on the work undertaken i the course of the
audn, the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement
funvages 73 1o 74 1n the Governance Review] with respect to the
Corpany's corporate governance code and practices and about

its admimstrative, management and supervisory bodies and
their commuttees comphies with rules 7.2 2, 7.2 3and 7.2 7 of the
DR [CAD6)

We have nottung to report ansing from cur respansibitity to report if
a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the
Campany. (CAQS)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of
the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity of
the Group

We have nothing material ta add or draw attention to regarding

~ The directors' coniirmabon on pages 56 to 57 of the Annual Report
that they have carried out & rebust assessment of the principal
risks faceng the Group, including those that would threatenits
business madel, future performance, solvency or liguidity

- The disciosures in the Annual Repori that describe those risks and
exptain how they are being managed or mitigated

- The directors’ explanation on page 65 of the Annual Report as to
how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
period they have done so and why they consider that period to
be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in
opelation ano meel is babibilies as hey fall gue over tne periwd of
their assessment, including any retated disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualihcations or assumptions

We have nothing te report having performed a review of the
directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust assessment
of the principal risks facing the Group and statement in relat:on to
the {onger-term wabsiity of the Group Our review was substantally
less en scope than an audit and anly consisted of making inguiries
and considerng the directors process supporting their statements,
checking that the statements are in alignment with the relevant
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the 'Eode }, and
considersng whether the statements are consistent with the
knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and therr
environment obtained in the course of the audit [Listing Rules)

Other Code Provisions
We have notheng to repart in respect of our respensibility to
report when.

- The staterment given by the directors, on page 77, that they
consider the Annuai Report iaken as a whote to be fair, balanced
and understandable, and prowides the information necessary
for the members to assess the Group’s and Company’s position
and performance, business model and sirategy 1s materatly
mconsistent with our knowledge of the Group and Company
obtained Iin the course of performing our audd.

- The secuion of the Annual Report on page B0 describing the work
of the Audit Comymittee does not appropriately address matters
cornmunzcated by us to the Audit Committee

- The directors’ staterent refating to the Company s compliance
with the Code does not properly disctose a departure from a
relevant prowision of the Code speaified, under the Listing Rules,
tor review by the auditors.

Directers’ Remuneration

tn our opsnion, the part of the Directers’ Remuneration Repart to be
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Campanies Act 2006 (CAQS|
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Independent auditors’ report to the members
of The British Land Company PLC continued

Responsibitities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Direciors’ Responsitulitres Statement
set put on page 113, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the appiicable
framework and for being satisfied that they give & true and fair

view The directors are also responsible far such internal control

as they determine 1s necessary o enable the preparation of financiat
statements that are free from materiak misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error

In preparig the hinancial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group s and the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of eccaunting untess the
directors either intend to Uquidate the Group or the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our phjectives are to abiain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statemnents as a whole are free from material misstaterment,
whether due to fraud or error, and Lo issue an auditors report that
includes our opinton. Reasonable assurance 15 a high level of
assurance, but s nat § guarantee that an sudit conducted in
accordance with ISAs {UK] will always detect a materizl misstatement
when it exists Missialements can anse from fraud or error and are
considered matenalif, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reascnably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these hinancial statements

B hurther desonphinn pf nur responsibilities fnr the audit of the knangual
statements 1s located on the FRC's website at www frc.arg uk/

auditorsrespansibifittes This description forms part of our
audttors’ report

Use of this report

This repart, mctuding the op:nions, has been prepared for and only
far the Company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Compantes Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We
do not, it giving these apirmions, accepl or assume responsibilty for
any other purpose or lo any other person to whom this repart 1s
shown or Inta whose hands it may come save where expressty
apreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to regor{ to you f,
N QUF opINIoN.

- we have not recewed ail the informatien and explanations we
require for cur audit; or

- adequate accounting recards have not been kept by the Company,
or returns adequate lor our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us, or

- certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specihied by law are
not made, or

- the Company financtal statements and the part of the Directors

Rermuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions to report ansing from this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the audit commitiee, we were
appointed by the members on 18 July 2014 to audit the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 and subsequent
financial pertods The period of total uninterrupted engagement is
five years, cavering the years ended 31 March 2015 to 31 March 2019

John Waters (Senior Statutory Auditor)
far and on hehalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Landon

14 May 7019



Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 3t March 2019

9 2018
Capital Capual
Underiying and ather Total Underlying* and giher Totat
Note £m £m m im Em Een
Revenue 3 554 350 04 551 78 539
Costs 3 1141) {258) {3991 (136} t64) (200)
3 £13 92 505 725 1 439
Joint ventures and funds lsee also below] 1 : 1] (791 7 115 34 151
Administrative expenses (80} - (80) {82] - (82)
Valuation mavement 4 - 1620} 1620} - 202 202
[oss) profit on disposal of investment properties
and investments - {18) (18} - 18 18
Net financing costs
- financing income 6 - - - 1 - 1
- linancing charges & {671 {48} 1113} {63] {163) {228}
167 46} [113} (64] {163} {227)
[Loss} profit on ordinary activities before taxation 352 (671} [319} 394 107 501
Taxation 7 - 1 1] - b &
[Loss) profit for the year after taxation {320} 507
4dgtmbuizbie o ron-conltrowang wlesestis 12 [TA))] {29} 14 - 34
Attributable to sharehelders of the Company 340 {631) {291} 380 113 493
Earmings per share
- basic (3G.0)p 48 7p
- diuted (30.0lp 48 5p
All resuits derwe from continuing operations.
2019 018
Capiat Capitat
Undertying® and piher Tatat Undedying' and other Total
MNote €m £m tm £m Em £m
Results of joint ventures and funds accounted
for using the equity method
Undertying Profit 84 - 84 115 - 115
Valuation movement 4 - 163) {63} - 52 32
Capetal inancing costs - 21 (21 - 13) (13)
Profit {loss| on disposal of iInvestment properties,
trading preperties and investments - 3 3 - 3 131
Taxation - 2 2 - - -
B! 84 {79} 7 115 34 i51

1 See definitsan o note 2
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 March 2019 .
207 2018
tm Em
{Loss] profit for the year after taxation (320} 507
Other comprehensive income [loss):
ltems that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - 9
Valuation movements on owner-occupied preperties 3 {31
3 6
tems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit ar loss:
Gatns on cash flow hedges
- Group 1 12
- Joint ventures and funds - 8
1 20
Transferred tc the income statement (cash flow hedges!
- Interest rate derwatives - group - 120
- Interest rate derivatives - joint veniures' 18 -
Deferred tax on itemns of other comprehensive income 1) (5]
Other comprehensive income for the year 2% 141
Total comprehensive (lossi income for the year (2991 648
Attributable ta non-controlling inlerasis [29) 16
Attributable to shareholders of the Company (270) 632

1 Represents a rectassdication of cumulative losses within the group revaluation reserve to capital profit and loss, because the hedged erm has alfecled profit or loss

124 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



Consolidated balance sheet

As at 31 March 2019

019 088
Nole €m fm
ASSETS
Nen-current assels
Investment and development properties 10 8,931 2,507
QOwner-cccupied properties 10 73 70
9,004 9.597
Qther non-current assets
fnvestments 10 joint ventures and funds 11 2,540 2,822
Other investments i2 151 174
Deferred tax assets 14 1 4
Interest rate and currency derwative assels 17 154 115
11,870 12,712
Current assets
Trading properties 10 87 328
Debtors 13 57 35
Cash and short term deposits 17 242 105
k-1 468
Total assets 12356 13.180_
LIABILITIES o
Current liabilities
Shert term borrowings and overdrafts 17 (99] fen
Creditors 14 1289) {324)
Corporation tax (25) {22]
{413) (3731
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and toans 17 12,932) 13,101}
Other non-current kabilities 15 (92) (621
interest rate and currency derivative lablities 17 {130} [138]
13,154} {3,301
Total liabilities {3,567} 13,674]
Net assets 8,689 9.506
EQUITY
Share caputat 240 248
Share premium 1,302 1.300
Merger reserve 213 213
Other reserves 37 33
Retained earmings 4,686 7,458
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 8,478 9,252
Non-controlting interests n 254
Total equity 8,689 9.506
EPRA NAV pershare! 7 2 905p W7p
i <3eimez ncJe 2 / f E
John Gitdersleeve Simon Carter
Chairman Chiet Financial Cfficer

The financial statements on pages 123 to 166 were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 14 May 2019
Company number 621920
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 March 2019

2019 2018
Note m £m
Rental income recewed from tenants 449 446
fees and cther ncome recewved 42 78
Qperating expenses paid to suppliers and employees 42) 11723
Sate of trading properties 268 77
Payments received in respect of future trading properly sales ~ 8
Cash generated from operations 817 436
interest paid {75} (73]
Interest recewed 7 [
Carporation taxation repayments {payments] S {7}
Distributions and other recewables {rom jont ventures and funds 1 5% 78
Net cash infiow from operating activities 812 438
Cash flows from investing activities
Development and other capital expenditure 1218} 1190}
Purchase of investment praperties 1185) 1165)
Sate of investment properties 380 135
Disposal of joint venture held-for-sale - 568
Oisposal of Tesca joint venture - 68
Purchase of investments 19) 19)
Sale of tnvestmems 13 -
indirect taxes paid in respect of investing actvities 3 (7
Investment in and loans Lo joint ventures and funds 1298) (175}
Loan repayments from joint ventures and funds 247 7
Capital distributions from joint ventures and funds 260 29
Net cash inflow from investing activities 187 261
Cash flows from financing activities
1ssue of ordinary shares 2 2
Unit issues attnibutable (o non-controlling interests - 2
Purchase of own shares [204) {301
Dindends paid 19 298} (304}
Dvidends paid to non-controlling interests (14) (15)
Acquisttion of units in Hercules Umit Trust ~ {4
Capntal paymentsin respect of interest rate dervatives {19] (181
Receipls on closeout of interest rate dervative assets - 27
Decrease in bank and olher borrowings (576} [626)
Orawdowns on bank and other borrowings (213 529
Net cash outflow from financing activities (663} (708}
Net increase {decrease] i cash and cash equwalents 137 9
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Apri 105 114
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 242 105
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash and short term deposits i7 242 105
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Hedging
and Ra- Non-
Share Share {ransiation valuation Merger Retaingd canirotiing Total
capital prermiam reserve! reserve reserve earnings Totat nlerests equity
£m Em Em {m Em Em £m £m Im

Balance at 1 April 2018 248 1,300 1 22 213 7.458 9,252 284 9,506
l.oss for the year after taxation - - - - - 12911 291} t2zey  (320)
Revaluauon of owner-occupted property - - - 3 - - 3 - 3
Gans an cash flow hedges - group - - 1 - - - 1 - 1
Closeout of cash flow hedges - joint ventures
and funds - - - 18 - - 18 - 18
Reserves transfer - joint venture cash flow hedges - - - 171 - 17 - - -
Deferred tax an sterns of other comprehensive
income - - {1l - - - (1 - (1)
Other comprehensive income - - - 4 - 17 21 - il
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 4 - (274} (270} 29} (299}
Share 1ssues - 2 - - - - 2 - 2
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - - 113] 14) - (4]
Purchase of own shares {8l - - - - 198} (2041 - (204}
Dwidends payable in year [30 54p per share) - - - - - (298} {298} - (298}
Omdends payabie by subsidiaries - - - - - - - (14} {14)
Balance at 31 March 2019 240 1,302 11 26 213 6,686 BATB 21 8,6B%
Balance at 1 April 2017 260 1,298 (112l 15 213 75847 2221 255 9,476
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 493 493 14 507
Revaluatian of owner-accupted property - - - {3 - - (3 - kil
Gains on cash flow hedges - group - - 10 - - - 10 2 12
Gains on cash flow hedges - Jjoint ventures
and funds - - - 8 - - 8 - 8
Transferred to the income staternent
(cash flow hedges|
- Interest rate derwvatives - - 120 - - - 120 - 120
Net actuanal gain on pension schemmes - - - - - ? 9 - 9
Reserves transfer - - 2] 2 - - - - ~
Oeferred tax on itemns of other comprehensive
Income - - (5 - - - [5} - {5)
Other comprehensive iIncome - - 123 7 - 9 139 2 141
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 123 7 - 502 632 16 &48
Share issues - 7 - - - - 2 - 2
Unitissues atinbuiable te non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 2 2
Purchase of own shares 112) - - - - {289) (3011 - 301)
Purchase of units from non-controlling interests - - - - - - - (4} 14}
Divndends payable in year [29 44p per share) - - - - - 1382) 1302} - [302)
Dmdends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - {13} (15}
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 1 22 213 7.458 9.252 254 9.506

3 The batance at the beginneng of the curren year inctudes £15m in relation to translation and {£4ml in relation 1o hedging [2017/18 £15m and {127mil Opening and closing
batancesn relation ta hedgeng retate ta continung hedges only
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts

1 Basis of preparation, significant accounting policies
and accounting judgements

The financtal statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 have

been prepared on the historical cast basis, except for the revaluation
of properties, iInvestments held for trading and dervatives. The
financial statements have atso been prepared in accordance with
internabional Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as adapted by the
Eurcpean Umion and interpretations sssued by the IFRS interpretations
Cornmittee IFRS IC], and therefore comply with article 4 of the EU
JAS regulation, and in accordance with the Compares Act 20046, In

the current financial year the Group has adopted a number of minor
amendments to standards effectve 1n the year issued by the IASB and
endorsed by the EU, none af which have had a matenal impact an the
Group The accounting policies used are otherwise consistent with
those contaimed in the Group's previous Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2018,

New standards effective for the current accounting penod do not
have a material impact on the consolidated hnancial statements of
the Group These are discussed 1n further detail below

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments

IFRS ¢ Financial instruments, as tssued by the FASB 0 July 2014,
has been adopted by the Group for the year ended 31 March 219
IERS 9 supersedes the existing accounting guidance i 1AS 39
Financial instruments The standard was applied using the modidied
retrospective appraach The Group has not restated pror periods
or recogmised any adjustments in cpening retained earmings

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial babilities

- The alignment of the classification and measurement model
under IFRS 2 results in changes tn the classitication of all
tinancial assets excluding derwatives These changes will not
have a quantiative impact on the financal statemenis

- IFRS 9 mtroduces a forward looking expected credit loss modal,
replacing the 1AS 39 incurred loss madel. The new madel requires
an expected credit loss to be recognised on all inancial assets held
at amartised cost at insial recognition The quantitative impact for the
year ended 31 March 2019 resuits in the recognition of an expected
credit loss of £2m, with a carresponding reduction in knancial assets
held at amortised cost of £2m The Group has previously provided lor
a materially symlar balance against trade and other recevables and
therefore the resulting reclassification of existing provisions does not
have a matenial impact on the net assets of the Group

- IFRS 9 intreduces changes to the gualifying criteria for hedge
accounting and expands the financial and non-financial
instruments which may be designated as hedged uwems and
hedging instruments in order to align hedge accounting with
businhess sirategy. The changes introduced by IFRS 9 do not have
a quantitative tmpact on the consolidated financial siatemenis of
the Group.

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has adopted {FRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers for the year ended 21 March 2019. The standard was
applied ustng the modified retrospective approach.

The new standard combines a number of previous standards, setting
out a five step-model for the recognition of revenue and establishing
principtes for reporting useful information to users of financial
staternents abgut the nature, tming and uncertainty of revenue and
cash flows arising from an entity's contracts with custamers The new
standard does not apply lo rental income, which 1s in the scope of 1AS 17,
but does apply to service charge income, management and
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performance fees and trading property disposals The changes
introguced by {FRS 15 did nof have a quantitative impact on the
consclidated financial staternents of the Group

The Group has considered the following amendments to standards
endorsed by the EU effective for the current accounting period,
and determuned that these do not have a matenizl impact on the
consolidated hnancial statements of the Group

- Amendments to [AS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

A nurnber of new slandards and amendments to standards and

interpretations have been 1ssued but are not yet effective far the

current accounung period None are expected to have 3 material
impact an the censolidated financral statermenis of the Group

Amendments to IFRS 3 [Business Combinations} 1s effective from
the next financial year The amendrnents have na impact but will be
applied to any future business combinations

IFRS 16 lLeases] is effective from the next financiat year The Group
conducted animpact assessment based on the Group s current
aclivities and have quantified the impact [see belowl. The resulis

of the assessment confirm that the new standard leads to Urmited
changes to presentation and disclosure

IFRS 14 - Leases [effective year ending 31 March 2020).

- For lessees, IFRS 16 will resultin almoest all operating leases
being brought on balance sheet, as the distinction between
operating and finance leases will be removed The accounting
for tessors wilt however not significantly change On adoption of
the new standard, these changes will have an immatenal impact
on the consolidated hinancial statements of the Group In the
first year of adoplion as at 31 March 2020, based on current
lease information, the projected impact will be an increase in
right of use assets {within the investment property batance)
of £37m and a corresponding InCrease In current Liabilities of
£7rm and non-current biatilities of £38m There wilt also be an
immaterial net impact on undertying prafit with the reduction
in rental expense putweighing the increase m finance costs and
depreciation (in the first year of adgption

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis
as explaned in the corporale governance sechion on page 78

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates lincluding funds]
The consolidated accounts include the accounts of the Bnbish Land
Campany PLC and all subsidianes {entities controlled by Briish Landl.
Control 1s assumed where British Land 1s expesed, or has the nights,
ta variable returns fram s involvement with investees and has the
abiity to affect those returns through s power over those investees

The resulls of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates acquired or
dispased of during the year are included from the effective date of
acquisition ar up to the eifective date of disposal. Accounting policies
of subsidianies, joint venlures or associates wiuch differ from Group
accounting poticies are adjusted on consolidation

Business cembinations are accaunted for under the acquisition
method Any excess of the purchase price of business combinations
over the fair value of the assets, liabiliies and contingent liatilities
acquired and resulting deferred tax thereon is recogmised as
goodwiil Any discount recewed (s credsted to the income statement
in the pertod of acquisition

Altintra-Group transactions, balances, Income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation. Joint vertures and associates,
including funds, are accounted for under the equity method, whereby



the consolidated balance sheet incorporates the Group s share
{investor’s share] of the aet assets of its jont ventures and
associates The consotidated income statement incarporates the
Group's share of joint venture and associate profits after tax. Therwr
profits inctude revaluation movements on investiment properties.

Distribubions and other recewvables from joint ventures and
aesociates [including funds) are classed as cash flows from
aperating actvities, except where they relate to a cash flow arising
from a capital transaction, such as & property or tnvestment disposal
In this case they are classed as cash fiows from investing activities

Properties

Properties are externally valued on the basis of fair value at the
balance sheet date. Investment and ewner-occupied properties are
recerded at valuation whereas trading properties are stated at the
{ower of cost and net realisable value

Any surplus or deficit anising on revaluing investment properties is
recognised in the capital and other column ¢f the incorne statement

Ary surplus ansing on revaluing owner-occupied properties above cost
15 recognised i other cormprehensive income, and any deficit ansing in
revaluation below cost for owner-occupied and trading properties is
recognised sn the capital and cther column of the Income statement

The cost of properties in the caurse of development includes
aliritbutable interest and other associated outgongs including
altributable development persennel costs Interest s calculated

on the development expenditure by reference to specific borrowings,
where relevant, and otherwise on the weighted average interest rate
of British Land Company PLC borrowings Interest is nol capitatised
where nc development activity 15 taking place A property ceases te
be treated as a development property on practical comgleticn,

Investrment property disposals are recognised on completion
Profits and {osses arising are recognised through the capital and
other colurnn of the Income stalement. The profit on disposal 1s
determined as Lhe difference between the net salas proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset at the commencement of the
accounting penod pius captal expenditure in the perod

Trading properties are intally recogmised al cost less impairment,
and trading property disposals are recogrused in bne with the
revenue policies outhined below

Where investrment properbes are appropriated o Irading properties,
they are transferred at markei value. tf properties held for trading are
appropriated ta investment praperties, they are transferred at book
vaiue, In deterenining whether ieases and related properties
represent operating or hinance leases, consideration is given to
whether the tenant or fandlord bears the nsks and rewards of
ownership Transfers to or from investment property occur when,
and only when, there 15 evidence of change in use

Financial assets and liabilities

Debtors and creditors are initaally recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost and discounted as
appropnate On initial recognibion the Group calculates the expected
credit loss for debtors based on Lifetime expected credit losses under
the IFRS ¢ simpbified approach

Other srwestments include investmeats classified as amortised

cost and investrents classified as farr value through profit or loss.
Loans and recewables classified as amortised cost are measured
using the effectiva interest method, less any impairment. Interest

1s recognised by applying the effective interest rale Investments
ctasstired as fair value through profit or loss are imtially recorded at
fair value and are subsequentiy externally valued on the same basis

at the balance sheet date Any surplus or deficit arising on revaluing
nvestments held for trading s recognised in the capital and other
cotumn of the income statement.

Where annvestment property ts held under a head lease, the head
lease 15 initiatly recegnised as an asset, being the sum of the premium
paid on acquisttion plus the present value of mintmum ground rent
payments The carrespending rent Bability to the head leaseholder

15 nciuded in the balance sheet as a finance {ease obligation

Debt instruments are stated at their fair vatue an 1ssue Finance
charges Inctuding premia payabte on settlement or redemgption and
direct 1ssue costs are spread over the period to redemption, using
the effective interest method Excephianal finance charges incurred
due to sarty redemption including prermial are recognised in the
income statement when they occur

Convertible bonds are designated as fair value through profit ar loss
and s0 are inthally recognised at fair value with all subsequent gans
and losses, including the write-off of 1Issue costs, recogmsed in the
capital and other column of the Incormne staterment as a cormnponent of
net iinancing coasts The interest charge in respect of the coupon rate
on the bonds is recagrised within the underlying companent of net
hinancing €osts on an accruals basis

Az defrad by iIFRS ¥ cash fMow and faw volug bedges are vhally
recogrused at fair value at the date the derivative contracis are
entered into, and subsequently remeasurad at {aw value Changes
in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and quabify as
effective cash flow hedges are recogntsed directly through other
comprehensive :income as a movement 1n the hedging and
translation reserve. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that
are designated and qualify as eifectve fair value hedges are
recorded 1n the capital and other coiumn of the income statement,
along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged itemn that

1s aitributable to the bedged risk Any ineffective portion of all
derivatives 1s recognised in the capital and other column of the
income statement Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
not in a designated hedging relationship under IFRS 9 are recorded
directly in the capitat and other coiumn of the income statement
These derwatves are carrsed at fair value on the balance sheet

Cash egquivalents are umited to tnstruments with a matunty of lesg
than three months

Revenue

Revenue comprises rentat income and surrender premia, service
charge mcame, management and performance fees and proceeds
from the sale of irading properties

Rental income and surrender premia are recognised in accordance
with IAS 17 Leases

Rental income, including fixed rental uphifts, from investment
property leased out under an aperaling lease 1s recognised

as revenue on a straight-line basis over the {ease term Lease
incentives, such as rent-free periods and cash contributions to
tenant fit-out, are recognised on the same straighi-line basis
bemng an integral part of the net consideration for the use of the
investment property Any rent adjustments based on open market
esumated renlaf values are recognised, based on management
esttmaies, from the rent review date in relation to unsettled rent
reviews Conitngent rents, being those lease payments that are not
fixed at the inception of the (ease, including for exarmple turnover
rents, are recogrised in the period in which they are earned
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Surrender premia for the early determination of a (ease are
recognised as revenue immediately upon receipt, net of dilapidations
ang non-recoverable outgangs relating to the lease concerned.

The Group applies the five step-madel as required by IFRS 15
N recognising its service charge inceme, management and
performance fees and proceeds from the sale of trading properties

Service charge income s recognised as revenue in the period to
which it relates

Management fees are recognised as revenue in the period to
which they relate and relate to property management Performance
fees are recogmised at the end of the performance period when the
performance obligations are rmet, the fee amount can be estimated
reliably and it 1s tughly probable that the fee will be receved
Performance fees are based on property valuations compared to
external benchmarks at the end of the reporting period Proceeds
fram the sale of trading properties are recogrised when contral

has been transferred to the purchaser. This generally occurs on
completion Proceeds from the sale of trading propecties are
recogrused as revenie in the capital and other column of the income
staterment All other revenue described above 1s recognised in the
underlying column of the iIncome statement

Taxation

Current tax 1s hased on taxable profit for the year and s catculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

at the balance sheet date Taxabte proht differs from net profit

as reported in the iIncome statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are not taxable [or tax deductible]

Deferred tax 1s provtded on items that may became taxable n the
future, or which may be used to olfset agamnst taxable profits in the
future, on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and habilities for financial reporting purposes, and the
amounts used for taxation purposes on an undiscounted basis

On business combiunations, the deferred tax effect of fair value
adjustments 1s incorporated :n the consolidated balance sheet

Employee costs

The fair value of equity-setiled share-based payments to employees
1s determuined at the date of grant and s expensed on a strarght-kine
basis over the vesting pericd, based on the Group's estimate of
shares or options that will eventually vest In the case of options
granted, {air value 1s measured by a Black-Scholes prnicing model
The fair value of shares granted 1s based on the market value at
grant date.

Dehned benaht pension scheme assels are measured using far
values Pension scheme liablities are measured using the projected
unit credit method and discounted at the rate of return of a high quality
corporate bond of equvalent term to the scheme Liabitiies The net
surplus [where recoverable by the Groupl or deficit 1s recogrised in
full in the consolidated baiance sheet. Any asset resulting from the
calculation 1s imited to the present value of avartable refunds and
reductions in fulure contributions ta the plan  The current service cost
and gains and losses on settllement and curtallments are charged to
operating profil. Actuanat gatns and losses are recognised in full In
the period 1 which they occur and are presented it the tonsolidated
statement of comprehensive income,

Contributions to the Greup's defined contnibution schemes are
expensed on the basis of the contracted annual contnbyuon.

130 PBritish Land { Annual Report and Accounts 2019

Accounting judgements and estimates

In applying the Group s accounting policegs, the Directors are required
to make judgements and estimates that alfect the financial statements

Significant areas of esumation are:

Valuatien of properties and investments held for trading The Group
uses external professional vatuers to determine the relevant amounts
The primary source of evidence for property vatuations should be recent,
comgparable market transactions on an arms-length basis However,
the valuation of the Group's property portfotio and investments held

for trading are inherenily subjective, as they are based upon valuer
assumptions which may prove to be inaccurate Sensitvity Lables are
included within note 10

Other less significant areas of estimation include the valuation of fixed
rate debt and interest rate derivatives, the determination of share-
based payment expense, the actuanal assumptions used 1n calculating
the Group's retiramant benefit obligations, and taxation provisions

The key areas of accounting jJudgement are:

REIT status Brihsh Land is a Real Estate Investment Trust [REIT)

and does not pay 1ax on its praperty INCOMe of gains on property sales,
provided that at least 90% of the Group's property incame s distributed
as a dvidend to sharehaolders, which becomes taxable in their hands

In additron, the Group has to meel certain conditions such as ensuning
the property rental business represents more than 75% of total profits
and assels Any patential or proposed changes to the REIT legislation
are monitored and discussed with HMRC it 1s management's intention
that the Graup walt continue as a REIT for the foreseeable future

Accounting or j01nt ventures and funds- In accordance with

IFRS 10 Consoclidated financial statements , IFRS 11 Joint
arrangements , and IFRS 12 Disclosures of interests in other
entiies an assessment 15 required 1o determine the degree of
control or influence the Group exercises and the form of any
control to ensure that the financial statement treatment s
appropriate The assessment undertaken by management
includes constderation of the struclure, legat form, contractual
terms and other facts and circumstances relating to the relevant
entity Thes assessment 1s updated annually and there have been
no changes in the judgement reached in retation to the degree of
control the Group exercises within the current or prios year. Group
shares in joint ventures and funds resuling from this process are
disclosed in note 1) tathe financial statements

Interest n the Group's joint ventures 1s commanly driven by the
terms of the partnership agreements which ensure that control

1s shared between the partners. All stigruficant joint venture
arrangements of the Group are held in structures in which the

Group has 50% of the voting rights. Jont ventures are accounted

far under the equity method, whereby the consolidated halance sheet
incorporates the Group's share of the nel assats of s jom! ventures
and associates The consolidated income statement incorporates the
Group s share of joint venture and associate profits after tax

Accounting for transactions Property transactions are complex in
nature and can be material to the financial statements. Judgements
made in relation to transactions include whether an acquisition 1s

a business combinabion ur ai assel; whether held for sale cniteria
have been met for transactions not yet completed; accounting for
transaction casks and contingent consideration; and applicabion

of the concept of Linked accounting. Management consider each
transaction separately in order to determine the most appropriate
accounling lreatment, and, when considered necessary, seek
independent advice.



2 Performance measures

Earnings per share

The Group measures hnancial performance with reference to underiying earnings per share, the Eurapean Public Reat Estate Association {EPRA)
earnings per share and IFRS earnings per share The relevant earnings and wesghted average number of shares lincluding dilution adjustments]
for each performance measure are shown below, and a reconciliation between these 1s shown withiun the supglementary disclosures (Table B).

EPRA earmings per share is calculated using EPRA earnings, which is the IFRS loss afler taxation attributable t¢ shareholders of the Company
axctuding investment and deveiopment property revaiuations, gans/lasses on investing and trading property aisgosais, changes 1n the fair vaiue of
financial Instruments and associated close-out costs and their related taxation, In the current year, diluted EPRA earnings per share did not include the
dilutive empact of the 2015 convertible bond, as the Group’s share price was below the current exchange price of 1007 24 pence. IFRS diluted earmings
per share would include the dilutive impact as 1AS 33 ignares this hurdle to conversion, however due to the current year loss, thiswould be anti-dilutive
and therefare no adjustment is made. In the prior year, both EPRA and [FRS measures exclude the dilubive impact of the 2015 convertible bond as the
Cempany s share price had not exceeded the level required far the canvertible condittens attached te the bond to tngger conversion inta shares

Underlying earnings pet share 1s calculated using Undertying Prefit adgusted for underlying taxation {see note 71 Underlying Prafit is the pre-tax
EPRA earnings measure, with additional Company adjustments No Company adjustments were made 1n either the current or prior year

2019 2018

Relevant  Relevant number Earnings Reievant  Relevant number Earnings

earnings of shares pershare earmngs of shares per share
Earnings per share m millian penca Em mullion pence
Underlying
Underlying basic 340 971 35.0 380 1,013 375
Underlying diluted 340 974 34.9 380 1,016 374
EPRA
EPRA basic 340 971 35.0 380 1013 a7s
EPRA dituted 340 974 34.9 380 1,016 374
{FRS
Basic (291] 971 130.0) 493 1,03 487
Dstuted (291) ¥71 130.0J 453 1,616 485

Net asset value

The Group measures financial position with reference to EPRA net asset value (NAV) per share and EPRA triple net asset value (NNNAV]
per share The nel assel value and number of shares for each performnance measure are shown below A reconcibition between IFRS

net assets and EPRA net assets, and the relevant nurnber of shares for each performance measure, 1s shown within the supplementary
disclosures [Tabie Bl EPRA net assets 15 3 proporticnally conselidated measure that :s based on IFRS net assets excluding the mark-to-
market of derivatives and refated debt adjustiments, the mark-te-market on the convertible bonds, and deferred taxation on property and
derwative valuations They mnclude the valuatien surplus on trading properties and are adjusted for the ditutive impact of share options.

As at 31 March 2019, EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV did net inctuge the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertibte bond, as the Group's share price
was betow the exchange price of 1007 24 pence IFRS net assets also does not inctude the convertible impact following the treatment of IFRS
earnings per share. in the prior year, both EPRA and IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertibte bond as the Company's
share price had not exceeded the leve! required for the convertible conditions attached 1o the bond to trigger converston into shares

2019 208
Rel Rel t L Nel asset value Relevanl  Relevant number  Net asset value
net assets of shares per share net assets of shares per share
Net asset value per share £m miiion pence £ milion pence
EPRA
EPRA NAV B,649 958 205 2560 989 967
EPRA NNNAV 8,181 9546 854 9.044 289 914
IFRS
Basic 8,689 949 916 9.506 983 967
Diluted 8,689 954 909 9.504 9289 961

Totat accounting return
The Group atss measures financial performance with reference to tolal accounting return This 1s calculated as the movement in EPRA net
assel value per share and dividend pasd in the year as a percentage of the EPRA nel asset vatue per share at the start of the year

2049 N3
Cecreasa In NAY Oividend per Tatal Increase en NAY Drvidead per Tatal
per share share pad accounting per share share pad accouniing
pence pence return pence pence return
Total accounting return 62 30.54 (3.3%) 52 29.64 8 9%
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3 Revenue and costs

2019 218
Capital Capuial

Underlying and other Tetal Undeslying and gther Tolat

£m £&m £m £m fm tm

Rent receivable (714 - LA4 441 - 441
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases 18] - &Y 14] - (&)
Surrender premia 1 - 1 6 - 6
Gross rental incofme 439 - 439 441 - 441
Trading property sales proceeds - 350 350 - 78 78
Service charge income 75 - 74 .1 - &6
Management and performance fees lfrom joint ventures and funds! 7 - 7 6 - 6
Other fees and commussions 32 - 32 48 - 48
Revenue 554 350 904 561 78 439
Trading property cost of sales - {258) 1258) - (64 {64
Service charge expenses (78] - {76) 166} - |66)
Property operating expenses [3s} - (35 129 - (291
Other fees and commissions expenses [30) - {30} {41) - 141)
Costs {1411 [258) 13991 {134} {64] (200
413 92 505 429 14 439

The cash element of net rentat Income [gross rental income less property operating expenses| recognised duning the year ended 31 March 2019
from properties which were not subject lo a securily interest was £356m (2017/18 £381m] Property operating expenses relating (o investment
properties that did not generate any rental income were £1n [2017/18 £2ml Contingent rents of £3m (2017/18 £4m] were recogrised in the year

4 Valuation movements on property

2017

208

[ £m
Consolidated income statement
Revaluation of properties 1620} 207
Revaluation of properties held by joint ventures and funds accounted for using the eguity method 163 52
{683) 254
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Revaluation of owner-occupied properties 3 (3)
(680} 251
5 Auditors’ remuneration — PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
"o "m
Fees payable to the Company s auditors for the audit of the Company s annual accounts 0.3 03
Fees payable to the Company s auditors for the audu of the Company s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 0.4 0.4
Total audit {ees 0.7 0.7
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 0.1
Totat audit and audit-related assurance services 0.8 0.8
Other fees
Other services 0.1 0.2
Total 0.9 1.0

{n addition to the abave, PncewaterhouseCoopers LLPwere remunerated in the prnar year for non-audit fees 1n PREF, an equity accounted property

fund [see note 11). The Group's share of fees totalled £ml {2017/18- £0 1mi. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are not the external auditors to PREF
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6 Net financing costs

2019 08
Em £m
Underlying
Financing charges
Bank loans and overdratls (21} 123}
Derwvatives 29 28
Other lgans {75) {78
Obligations under head leases (3} i2)
{70} (713
Development interest capitalised 3 6
(67} [65)
financing income
Depaosits, securities and tiquid investments - !
- 1
Net tinanting charges - underlying (&7 (64)
Capitat any other
Financing charges
Valuation movements on translation of foresgn currency net assets - (1}
Hedging reserve recycling' - (108}
Valuatinn rnovemente on farr value darvatves? 41 79)
Valuation mevements on fair value debt? [38) 80
Recycling of fair value movement on close-out of dervalives - {14l
Capital financing costs? {32} 27
Fair value mavement on convertible bonds (&) -
Valuation movernent on non-hedge accounted dervatives {11} (18]
{46l i163)
Financing income
Fair value mavement on cenvertible bonds - -
Net financing charges - capital {46) 1143i
Net financing casts
Tolal inancing Income - 1
Total hrancing charges (113} t228)
Net financing costs (113) 1227)

Interest payable on unsecured bank loans and relaied interest rate derwatwes was £8m [2017/18- £9m] Interest on development expenditure is

captialised at the Group's weighted average interest rate of 2.2% [2017/18. 2 0%) The werghted average interest rate on a propertionately

consctidated basis at 31 March 2019 was 2 9% [2017/18. 2 8%

1 Represents a reclassiication of cumuiative tosses within the hedging and translation reserve 1o capital profit and loss, in relation to hedging instruments which have been

closed oul gr are no longer hedge accounted
2 Pamarily bond redemplion, tender offer and purchase casts

3 The difference between valuation mavements on lair value derwatives and valuation movements on far value debt represents hedge ineflectiveness for the peried
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7 Taxation
2019 018
£m tm
Taxation (expense) income
Current taxation:
UK corporation 1axation- 19% {2017/18 19%] (101 -
Adjustments in respect of prior years 13 }
Total current taxation income 3 1
Deferred taxation on revaluations and derwatives {4) 5
Group total taxation (k)] &
Attributable to joint ventures and funds 2 -
Total taxation income 1 [
Taxation reconciliation
{Loss| profit on ordinary activities betore taxation {319) 50
Less: prafit attributable to joint veniures and tunds! (5] 11511
Group {loss) profit on ordinary activities before taxation [324) 350
Taxation an profit on ordinary actities at UK corporation taxation rate of 19%12017/18 19%]) 62 (67
Effects of-
- REIT exempt income and gains (731 !
- Taxation losses 1 f4)
- Deferred taxation on revaluations and derwvatwes (4) 5
- Adjustments in respect of prior years 13 1
Group total taxation [expensel income (1} b

v Acurrenl laxauen incame of £2m {2017/18 €nit) and a deferred taxation credit of £nil [2047/18 £oit] arose on prohits altributable to joint ventures and funds The low lax

charge reflects the Group s REIT slatus

Taxation expense atiributable to Underlying Profit tor the year ended 31 March 2019 was £nil {2017/18 £nil) Corporation taxation payable at
31 March 2019 was £25m [2017/18 £22m) as shown on the balance sheet During the year to 31 March 2019 vanious tax prowsions in respect of

historic taxation matiers and curreat points af uncertainty in the UK have been released and provisiens made The nel movernent, which s

included within the tax credit above, 15 not maternal

8 Staff costs

Staff costs (including Directors) - 7'3"8
Wages and salaries 862 70
Social secunity costs 8 9
Pension costs 7 7
Equity-settied share-based payments &) -

74 86

The average monthly number of ermployess of the Company during the year was 293 [2017/18. 2651 The average menthly number of

Group employees, inciuding those empicyed durectly at the Group's properties and their costs rechacged 1o tenants, was 783 [2017/18 833l
The average monthly number of employees of the Company within each category of persons employed was as follows Retad 31, Othces 20;

Canada Water. 14; Oevelopments 3Z; Storey. 8; Support Functions: 188.

The Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors are the key management personnel Thewr emaluments are summarised below and

further detad is disclosed in the Remuneration Repart on pages 88 ta 109

Directors’ emoluments zac:: 2%:
Short terrm employee benefds 5.4 55
Service costn relation to defined benetit penston schemes 0.1 02
Equity-setlled share-based payments [2.0) 11

3.7 6.8
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8 Staff costs continued

Staff costs
The Group s equity-settled share-based payrnents comprise the Long-Term Incentive Plan {LTIP], the Matching Share Plan (MSP),
the Restricied Share Plan [RSP] and various savings related share option schemes.

The Company expenses an estimate of how many shares are likely to vest based on the market price at the date of grant, taking account
of expected performance against the relevant pecformance targets and service periods, which are discussed in further detail in the
Remunaranon Report

For all schemes axcept the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan share aptions, the fair value of awards are equat (g the market vaiue at
grant date. The key snputs used 1o value share options using a Black-Scholes model granted under the Company’s Long-Term incentive Plan
are shown below

25 June 28 June
Long-Term Incentive Plan: Awards in the year ended 31 March 2019 2018 2017
Share price and exercise price at grant date 682p 617p
Expected option life 1n years 5 5
Risk free rate 0.8% 8%
Expected volatility 22% 24%
Expected dividend yeld 5% S%
Value per option 468p &8p

Movements in shares and options are given in note 20

9 Pensions

The British Land Group of Companies Penston Scheme {'the scheme’| 1s the principal defined benetit pension scheme i the Group The assets
of the scheme are held n a trustee-adounistered fund and kept separate from those of the Company It 1s not contracted out of SERPS (State
Earnings-Related Pension Schemel and ¢t ts not planned to admit new employees to the scheme The Group has three other small defined
benefit pension schemes There are aiso two Defined Contribution Pension Schemes., Contributions to these schernes are at a flat rate of
salary and are pavd by the Company

The 1otal net pension cost charged for the year was £7m {2017/18 £7m, of which £5m [2017/18 £5m relates to defined contribution plans
and £2m (2017/18 £2m] relates o the current service cost of the defined benefit schemes

A full actuarial valuabion of the scheme was carnied out at 31 March 2015 by consulting acluaries, Aon The next full actuaral valuaiion s
currently being carried out by First Actuanal and will be completed by 30th June 2019. The valuations and employer s cantribulions 172 9% per
annum of basic salares) in the current year are based on estimates produced by First Actuarial The best estmate of employer contributions
expected to be patd duning the year to 31 March 2020 1s £2m. The majer assumptions used {or the acluanal valuation were,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
% pa % pa % pa % pa % pa
Discount rate 2.4 26 2.4 32 31
Salary inflation 4.8 L9 49 48 48
Pensions increase 33 33 33 32 32
Price inflation 3.4 34 34 33 23

The assurnpuions are that a member currently aged 80 will ive on average for a lurther 27 8 years o they are male and for a further 29.4 years
if they are female For a member wha retires i 2039 at age 40, the assumptions are thal they will live on average for a further 292 years after
relirernent if they are male and for a further 30 8 years after retirement if they are female

Composition of scheme assets
2019 2018

€m £m
Equities &0 54
Dwersified growth funds 83 85
Other assets 12z 13
Total scheme assets 140 152

97 9% of the schemne assets are quoted :n an active marke! All ungquoted schermne assets sit within equities
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9 Pensions continued

The amount included in the batance sheet arising from the Group's obligations in respect of its defined benefit scheme 15 as follows:

2019 018 2017 016 15

Em €m Em £Em fm

Preseant value of defined scheme obligations (1471 a7 67 (143} 11451
Fair vatue of scheme assets 160 152 154 137 139
Irrecoverabie surpius 113) ) - - -
Liability recagnised in the balance sheet - - 113} 4] (&)

The sensiivities of the defined benefit obligation in refation o the major actuaral assumptions used to measure scheme liatilittes are as foliows

Increasefldacreasel in defined
scheme obligations

! At 31 March

Changen 2019 2018
Assumption assumptian im £m
Discount rate +0 5% {15) f14)
Salary inflation +0 5% 2 1
RP1inflation +0 5% 12 12
Assumed lfe expeclancy +1 year 5 4
History of experience gains and losses
2019 2018 2017 2015 2015
tm Em £m £ra B
Total actuanal gain floss) recogrised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income’ 2 - g (12§ {1} {5l
Percentage of present value on scheme liabilities 0.1% 6.1% 72% 07% 36%
t Movements stated atter adjusting for irrecoverability of any surplus
2 Cumulative loss recogrused in the stalement of comgrehensive income 15 £40m (2017/18 €40md
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows
2019 2018
m £m
At 1 April (147 (1671
Current service cost {21 2
Interest cost {31 (4]
Actuanal lloss| gain
[Losst gatn from change in iinancial assumptions 2] 7
Gain on scheme Labdities arising fram experience 1 7
Benefits paid é 12
(147} (147}
Movements in the fair value of the scheme assets were as follows
2019 w018
im tm
At 1 April 152 154
Interest tncome an scheme assets 4 3
Contributions by employer 2 7
Actuanal gamn 8 -
Benefits pawd {8} {12
At 31 March 1460 152
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9 Pensions continued
Through its defined benehit plans, the Group 1s exposed to a number of nisks, the most sigribcant of which are detailed below

Asset volatility

The liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if assets underperform this yield, this wilt
create a deficit, The scheme holds a significant portion of growth assets (equities and diversified growth fundsi which, although expected
to outperform corporate bonds in the long term, create votatility and risk in the shart term The allocation to growth assets s monitored
to ensure It rermains appropriate given the scheme s long term objectives

Changes in bond yields
Adecrease in carporate bond yrelds will increase the value ptaced an the scheme s lisbilities for accounting purposes, although this wilt
be partially offset by an increase in the value of the scheme’s hond holdings.

Inflation risk

The majonity of the scheme’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation, and fugher milation witl Lead to higher teabilities {zlthough, in most
cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect against extreme inflation) The majonity of the assets are either
unaffected by or anly loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that an increase sn inflatien will also increase the deficit

Life expectancy
The majority of the scheme's obligations are to provide benefits for the lfe of the member, so mncreases in lite expectancy will result
Inan increase in the Labiliies

10 Property
Property recancikiation for the year ended 31 March 2019

lrvestmeni

Investment
andg

Qffices and Canada deveiogment Owier-
Retal residential Water Developments properties Fraging occupied
Levet J Leveld Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 properties Levet 3 Tatal
€m fm £m £m £m £&m tm £m
Carrying value at 1 April 2018 5,195 3,659 298 355 9,507 328 90 9,925
Adaitions
- praperty purchases 128 93 - - 2 - - 221
- development expenditure 2 - 19 151 172 1" - 183
- capitalised interest and staff costs - - 3 2 § - - 5
- capital expenditure on asset
management iriiatives 27 15 - - 42 - - 42
157 108 22 153 440 1 - 451
Depreciation - - - - - - (§]] {n
Dispasals {409} - - 3 (412) (252) - {6641
Reclascihicaliong - 19 - - 19 - {19) -
Revaluations in¢luded (n income statement’ (621} 112 (2} 15 [620) - - {620}
Revaluations wicluded 10 OC - - - - - - 3 3
Movement in tenant incenives and
cantracted rent uplidl balances (5) 2 - - {3 - - 13}
Carrying value at 31 March 2019 427 3,774 318 520 8,931 87 73 9,091
Head fease hiatilities {note 13 4 74)
Valuation surplus on trading propertes 29
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2019 9,028
Non-controtiing interests {267]
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2019 attributable to shareholders 8,761

1 Included within the offices and residential property revaluation movement above is 3 L4m increase to the valuation of 10 Brock Street follawing the leasing transaction with

Facebook and Qebenhamns
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10 Property continued
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2018

Investment

Investment
{llices and Canada dwalopmaeﬁ Cwner-
Retad residentat Water Oevelopmenis proparties Trading occuped
Level 4 Level § Lavel ¥ Leval 3 Lpval g properiies Leavat 3 Tntal
Em £m Em Em m €m Emn £m
Carrying vatue at 1 April 2017 5,021 3,614 286 150 9073 334 94 9,501
Additians
- property purchases 237 - 8 - 245 5 - 250
- development expenditure K] 15 22 44 86 46 - 132
- capitabised interest and staff costs - 1 3 1 5 5 - 10
- capital expenditure on asset
management Initiatives 29 - - i 30 - - 30
27 16 33 1 366 56 - 422
Depreciation -~ - - - - - 1! i1
Disposals {134§ (2| - - (136} 62} - (198}
Reclassifications 14] {137] - 141 - - - -
Revaluations included in income statement 40 165 {21} 18 202 - - 202
Revaluations included 1 OCI - - - - - - 3] 13}
Movement in tenant incentives and
contracied rent uplift balances 1 1 - - 2 - - 2
Carrying valtie at 31 March 2018 5,195 3.659 298 355 9,507 328 90 9,925
Head lease abilities Inote 15] [62]
Valuation surplus on trading properties 134
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 9.997
Non-controlling interests {315
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 attributable to shareholders 9,682

Property valuation
The dilferent valuation method levels are defined below

Level 1: Quoted prices {unadjusted] in active markets for identicai assets or liabilities.

Levet 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
{i.e, as prices! or indirectly li.e, derived from prices}.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data [unobservable inputs).

These levels are specified 1n accordance with {FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement” Property valuations are inherently subjecuve as they are
made on the basis of assurmptions made by the valuer which may not prove to be accurate For these reasons, and consistent with EPRA's
guidance, we have ciassified the vaiuations of our praperty portfolio as Level 3 as defined by IFRS 13, The inputs to the valuations are defined
as ‘'unobservable” by IFRS 13 and these are analysed in a table on the followtng page There were no transiers between levels in the year,

The Group's total preperty portiotio was valued by external valuers an the basis of fawr value, in accordance with the RICS Valuation -
Professional Standards 2014, ninth edition, published by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

The information provided to the valuers, and the assumptions and valuation models used by the valuers, are reviewed by the properly portiotio
team, the Head of Real Estale and the Chief Financial Officer The valuers meet wilh the external auditors and also present directly to the Audit
Comrouttee at the interim and year end review of results. Further details of the Audit Comnmittee s responsibilities in relation to valuations can
be found in the Report of the Audit Comnuttee [on pages 80 to 85).

Investmeni properties, excluding properties held for development, are valued by adopting the ‘investment methed’ of valuation

Ttus approach involves applying capitalisation yields ta current and tuture rental streams net of income voids arising fram vacanctes or
rent-free periods and associated running costs. These capitalisation yields and future rental values are based on comparable property

and leasing transactions in the market using the vaiuers’ professional jJudgement and market observation. Other factors taken into account
in the valuatians include the tenure of the property, tenancy detals and ground and structural conditions

138 BritishLand { Annual Report and Accounts 2019



10 Property continued

In the case of ongoing devetopments, the approach applied is the residual method’ of valuation, which 1s the investment method of valuation
as described above, with s deduction for all costs necessary te complete 1he development, including a notional finance cost, together with a

further aliowance for remairing sk, Properties hetd for development are generally valued by adopting the gher of the residual method of
valuation, allowing far all associated risks, or the investment method of valuation for the existing asset

Copies of the valuatiyn certficates of Kright Frank LLP, CBRE, Jones Lang LaSalle and Cushman & Wakelietd can be found at
prshland com/ eparts

A breakdown of valuations split between the Group and tts share of joint ventures and funds 15 shown below

2019 018
Jownt Jant
veniures vERlures
Group and funds Total Group and tungs Tolal
cm £m £m £m £m £m
Kaight Frank LLP 1,434 2,254 3,690 1.674 2,680 4,354
CBRE 2,675 231 2,906 4511 1,403 5914
Jones Lang LaSalle 1,88% 1,099 2,988 541 - 561
Cushman & Waketield 3,030 1% 3,049 3,253 1% 3,270
Total property portfolio valuation 9,028 3,605 12,433 9.997 4,102 14,099
Non-contraling interests [267) (50} (317} {319) |68] (383}
Total property portfolio valuation attributable to shareholders B,761 3,555 12,316 9.682 4,034 13.716
Information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year ended 31 March 2019
ERY per sq ft Equivalent yield Costs to camplete persqit
Fair vatue at
31 March 201% Yaluation Min Max Average Min Max Average Min Max Average
Investment €& technuque € £ € * % % [ £ 3
Investment
Retarl 4,278 methodotogy 2 87 24 4 10 & - 37 [
investment
QOffices! 3,749 methodology 8 145 58 4 5 4 - 465 53
Investment
Canada Water 302 methedology 15 AN 22 2 [ 4 - 1 -
lnvestment
Residentrai 43 methodology 38 38 k! 4 4 A - - -
Residual
Developrents 520 methodology 47 &3 55 4 5 4 - 334 228
Total 8,912
Trading properties
at fair value 116
Group property
portfolio valuation 9.028

1 Inctudes owner-a<cupmed
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts continued

10 Property continued

Infarmation about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year ended 31 March 2018

Fair value at ERV persqit Equwatent yelg Costs to complete per sq ft
31 March 2018 Valuatier Min Max Average Min Max Average Min Max Average
lavesiment Em tgchmgue £ £ £ % % % E £ £
tnvestrment
Retail 5210 methodology 2 84 24 3 2 5 - 51 2
Investment
Offices’ 3617  methodology 8 17 58 4 5 4 - 323 53
Investment
Canada Water 283 methedology a8 33 38 4 4 A - 134}
Investment
Residentiat 70 methodology 15 29 22 2 & 4 - 1
Residual
Developments 355 methodology 18 b6 61 2 & 5 - 614 941
Total 9.535
Trading properties
at fair value 462
Group property
portfolio valuation 9.997

1 includes gwner-accupied

Information ahout the impact of changes in unobservable inputs {Level 3] on the fair vatue of the Group's property portfolio for

the year ended 31 March 2019

Farr value at

impact on vatuations

impact on valuations

tmpaci en valuations

31 March 2019 +5% ERV -5% ERY -15bps NEY  +25bps NEY 5% costs +5% costs

£&m £m m £m £m Em £m

Retail 5,530 230 {220) 272 (251} - -
Offices' 5,444 228 12071 361 1313) - -
Canada Water 303 4 (4} 5 {4) N {30}
Residential 99 1 111 F4 (2 - -
Developments 40 48 |52} (13 (60) 26 130}
Group property portfolio valyation 12,316 511 (484) 704 1630) 57 {60)

} Includes trading properties at fair value

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs [Level 3] on the fair value of the Group's praoperty portfolio for the year ended

31 March 2018

impact on valuations

Impact on valuanons

Impaci on valuations

Fair value a1

31 March 2013 5% ERV 5% ERV 256ps NEY  +25bps NEY SR cosis | 5% cosls

£m £m Em £m fm £m E€m

Retait 5,210 210 (199 269 {278j na na
Olhces’ 4079 167 et} 244 12191 na na
Canada Water 283 4 {5 ] 1l 21 (249}
Residential 70 1 i) 2 12} - -
Developments 155 kS [31) 39 135) 13 {13]
Group property portfolio valuation 2997 413 [397) 555 1535) 34 {334

1 inctudes trading properties at fair value
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10 Property continued

All other factors being equal

- u lugher equivatent yield or tiscount rate would lead to a decrease in the valuation of an asset

- anincrease in the current or estimated luture rental stream would have the effect of increasing the capital vatue
- anincrease in the costs to complete would lead to a decrease in the valuation of an asset.

However, thgre are nterrelahanships batween the uncbservable inputs which are partiaity determined oy rmarkel cengibons, which would
impac! an these changes

Additional property disclosures - including covenant infermation

At 31 March 2019, the Group property portfolio valuation of £9,028m {2017/18 £9.997en) comarises freeholds of £4,929m (2017/18 €5711m);
virtual freehalds of £940m (2017/18- £895m), and lang leasehalds of £3,097m (2017/18 £3.391m), and shart teaseholds of £62m [2017/18- £rd|
The historical cost of properties was £5,853m [2017/18 £6,294m)

The property valuation does not include any investment properties held under operating leases (2017/18 £l
Cumulative interest capitalised aganst investment, development and trading properties amounts to £99m [2017/18. E101my}

Properties valued at £1,019m {2017/18 £1,202m] were subject to 3 secunty interest and other properties of nan-recaurse campames amourted
to £1.119m [2017/18 £1,245m), totalling £2,134m [2017/18 £2,447m]}

tncluded within the property valuation 1s £28m [2017/18 £40m| 1n respect of accrued contracted rental uplit income The balance arises
through the IFRS treatment of leases contasning such arrangements, which requires the recognition of rentalincormne en a straight-tine basis
aver the lease termn, with the difference between this and the cash receipt changeing the carrying value of the property against which
revaluations are measured

11 Joint ventures and funds
Summary movement for the year of the investments in joint ventures and funds

Jowi ventures funds Tatal Equty Loans Total

£m tm £m Lm Em €m

At1 April 2058 2,600 222 2,822 2392 430 2,822

Additrons 23 38 41 41 20 41

Disposals vs! - (2} - {2} ]

Share of proht on ordinary activities after taxation 24 nn 7 7 - 7
Distributions and dividends

- Capitat (2601 - (2600 (2601 - f260)

- Reverug (73) {(13) (86} {84] - {8&)

Hedging and exchange movemnents 18 - 18 18 - 18

At 31 March 2019 2,330 230 2,580 2,112 448 2,560
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts continued

11 Joint ventures and funds continued

The summanrised tncame statements and balance sheets below and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and liabilities of

joint ventures and funds Where necessary. these have been restated to the Group’s accounting policies

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 201%

Broadgate MSE Property BL Sainsbury
REIT Intermedrate Superstares
Lid Holdings Lid Lid
Norges Bank
Euro Bluebell LLP Investment
Partners GICY Management J Sainsbury plc

City Oftices  Shepping Centres

Property sector Broadgate Meadowhatl Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements £m £m Em
Revenue* 194 102 32
Costs (60} {24) -
134 78 3z

Adminisirative expenses ] - -
Net interest payable (1Al 132] ) o
Underiying Profit 62 46 21
Net valuation movement 117 (152! 1
Captal hnancing costs (37) - (3)
{Loss) profit on disposat of investment properties and investmenis 10 - 14
Profit {loss) on ordinary actwities betore taxation 192 {106] 15
Taxation 4 - -
Profit [loss) on ordinary activities after taxation 156 [108) 15
Other comprehensive income 36 - -
Total comprehensive income {expense| 192 (108) 15
British Land share of total comprehensive income lexpense] 9% (53} 8
British Land share of distributions payable 275 4 20
Summarised balance sheets e tm Em
Investrnent and trading properties 4,024 1,764 488
Current assets (1 4 4
Cash and deposits 219 3 40
Gross assets 4,242 1,779 532
Current liabtities (83} (37| (22)
Bank and securitised debt 11,442| [612] [194)
Loans from joint venture partners {479} {385} -
Other non-current Liabilities - (20 -
Gross liabilities {2,004} 1,054} [218)
Net assets 2,238 725 N4
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans 1,119 363 157

USS joint ventures include the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unil Trust and the Fareham Property Partnerstup

2 Hercules Umit Trust joint ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of ihe resulls of Deepdale Co-Ownership Trusl, Fort Kinnaird Limited Partnership and Valenting
Co-Ownership Trust and 41.25% of Birstall Co-Ownership Trust The balance sheet shows 50% of the assets of these join ventures and sub-{unds
3. Included in the column headed Cther joint venlures and funds’ are contribubions from the foltowing: BL Goodman Limited Parinership, The Atdgaie Place Limited
Partaership, Biuebutton Praperty Management UK Limited, City of London Office Uit Trust and Pidiar Retatl Europark Fund iPREF] The Group's cwnership
share of PREF 15 65%. however as the Group 15 not able to exercise confrol gver signtficant decisions of the fund, the Graup equity accounts for s iMerest m PREF

4. Revenue includes gross rental income at 100% share of £310m (2017/18- £385mi
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uss Hercules Ui Trust Dther Totat
Jomnd Jjeinl ventures jent venturas Total Group share
The SouihGate Limiled Parinershug ventures' and sub-lunds’ and lunds? 2019 19
Universities
Aviva Superannuation
Investors Scherne Group PLC
Shopping Shopping Retanl
Centres Centres Parks
50% 50% Varous
£m £m Em Em €m &m
18 14 33 - 393 196
4] (5] 18] (1) {102] (51
14 9 25 [11 291 145
- - i1 - (21 (1
1) - H o (118) (58)
13 9 ) (11 173 84
(25| {15 {521 111 {1271 {631
- - [2) - 142) (21)
- - (7 5 4 3
{12} (6} (38} 3 8 5
- - - - 4 2
(12 3] (38] 3 12 7
- - - - 356 18
112) (6] 138] 3 4B 25
{6} (3} (191 2 25 -
] 4 13 - 321 -
Em tm tm m £m £m
252 238 456 - 7,202 3,601
i 1 6 40 55 27
? 6 13 5 323 1462
262 245 475 45 7.580 3,790
K} (4] (11} 1ol {170) (85)
- - - - 12,250} {1,125)
- 130} - (4} 900) {450)
(28} - - 8 {40) {20
{31) (34} 111) {8 3,360) (1,480]
231 21 464 7 4,220 2,110
116 105 232 18 2,110

The borrowsngs of joint ventuces and funds and thewr subsidiaries are nan-recourse 1o the Group All joint veniures are incorporated in the Untied Kingdom, with the exception
of Broadgate REIT Limited and the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust which are incorporated in Jersey. Of the funds, the Hercutes tnit Trust [(HUT) jeint ventures and

sub-funds are rncarporated in Jersey and PREF in Luxemnbourg
These fmancial statements include the results and financial positon of the Group s miterest i the Fareham Property Partnership, the Aldgate Place Limited Partnership, the

Bi Goodman Liried Parinerstip and the Gibraltar Limited Partnership Accordingly, advantage has been taken of the exempiwons provided by Reguiation 7 of the

Parinership (Accountst Regulations 2008 nat Lo atlach the partnership sccounts to these hinancsal statements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

11 Joint ventures and funds continued
The summanised income statements and batance sheets below and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and Liabitities of
joint ventures and funds. Where necessary, these have been restated (o the Group s accaunting policies

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Broadgale MSE Property BL Sansbury
REIT Intermedsate Superstores
Lig* Heldings Lte Ld

Norges Bank

Eure Bluebell LLP trvestment
Partners [GiC] Management J Sansbury plc
Ciy Offices  Shopping Centres

Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50%
Summarised ihcome statements Em £m £m
Revenue® 255 102 39
Costs (64} (23} ~

191 79 39
Administrative expenses i1l - -
Net interest payable (821 {331 18]
Underlying Profit 108 46 23
Net vaiuation movement 105 21 {3]
Captal financing costs - - (261
[Loss| profit on disposat of investment properties and investments {18i - 9
Prakit {loss] an ardinary activities befoce taxation 195 57 3
Taxation - - -
Profit [Loss] on ordinary activities after taxation 195 &7 3
Cther comprehensive income lexpenditure)} 13 3 -
Total comprehensive income 208 70 a
British Land share of total comprehensive income (expense) 104 35 2
British Land share of distributions payable 35 4 3t
Summarised balance sheets £m 4] tm
investment and trading properties 4,668 1.895 523
Current assets L] [ -
Cash and depostits 291 39 0
Gross assets 4,965 1,940 613
Current babitities [107) 141} {24}
Bank and securitised deht [1.744] {641] {251)
Loans from joint venture partners {445) {364) -
Other non-current Labilities Al (20 -
Gross llabiliies 2,357) (1,0466) {275}
Nel assets 2,608 874 338
Briish Land share of net assets less shareholder loans 1,304 437 169

inclyded within the Broadgate REIT revenue 1s 3 £29m {£15m Bribsh Land share] payment received 10 June 2017 from the Royat Bank of Scotland in relation o ther

surrender of a lease at 135 Bishopsgate

2 US55 ot ventures include the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Uit Trust and the Fareham Property Partnership

3 Hercules Umit Trust joint ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of the resulis of Deepdate Ca-Gwnership Trust, Gibrallar Lirmted Parinershup and Valentine Co-Ownership
Trugt and 4t 25% of Birstall Co-Ownership Trust The balance sheet shows 50% of the assets of these jaint ventures and sub-lunds

4 Included in the column headed ‘Other joint ventures and funds are coninbutons from the lollowing. BL Goedman Lirted Partnership, The Aldgate Place Limited
Partaershwp. Bluebutton Property Management UK [smited, City of London Office Unit Trust and Pillar Retail Europark Fund [PREF! The Group s ownership share of PREF
15 65%, however as the Group is nol able 1o exercise control over significant decisions of the fund, the Group egquily accounts for its interest in PREF

5. Revenue includes gross rental mmcome at 100% share of E385m [2017/18 €437m)
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uss Hercules Ut Trusy Qiher Total
Jaint JoI ventures feint ventures Tatal Group share
The SeuthGate Limiled Partnership ventures? and sub-funds? andg fundsgt 2018 098

Universtties

Aviva Superannuatign
Investors Scheme Group PLC
Sheppiag Shopping Retail
Centres Centres Parks
50% 50% Various
£m Em £m Em £m £m
18 13 34 ] 449 235
(41 14l {51 i2) (102] (51)
14 9 31 4 387 184
(4 - - - 2) 1
[t - {4} - (136} |48}
12 ¢ 27 4 229 115
10 - (28 - 105 52
_ _ - - (28) (13
1 - - 2 (&) (3
23 ¢ {H 6 302 1517
23 b4 Il é 302 151
- - - - 16 ]
22 g 1) é 318 159
H 5 11} 3 159
5 4 14 - 93
£m {m Em £m £m £m
275 258 590 - 8,201 4,108
1 1 4 42 &0 N
9 7 10 8 454 227
285 258 404 50 8,715 4,358
(4] {sl f11) [15) (207} 05l
- - (140 - (2,774) {1,388)
- 124) - (6] (8611 (430}
128} - [4) 5 {88) 143}
22} 131) (155} {14] (3,932) 11,966)
253 227 449 34 4,783 2,392
127 113 226 16 2,392

& Included in the cotumn headed Other joint ventures and funds are contributions from jhe followsng BL Goadman Limuled Partnership, The Aldgate Place Limited
Parinerstup, Biuebutlon Property Management UK Lirmited, City of London Office Urit Trust and FPiltar Retail Eurepark Fund (PREF! The Group s ownership share of PREF
15 65%, hawever as the Group 1s not able 10 exercise control over significant deaisians of the fund, the Group equity accounts for 1is interest sn PREF

7 Revenue inctudes gross rental income at 100% share of £385m {2015/17 €437mi

The borrowings of joint venlures and funds and ther subsigizries are non-recourse to the Group Al josnt vendures are incorporaied in the Unsted Kingdom, waith the exception
of Broadgate REIT Limned and the Eden Walk Shapping Centre Unn Trust which are incorporated in Jersey Of the funds, the Hercules Unit Trust IHUT] joint ventures and
sub-funds are incorporated in Jersey and PREF in Luxembourg

These financiat statemnents include Lhe results and inancial posikon of the Group's interestn the Fareham Properly Partnership, the Aldgate Place Limited Partnership, the
BL Goodman Lwmited Partnership, the Auchinlea Partnership and the Gibraltar Limited Partmership Accordlqgly, advantage has been taken of the exemplions prowded by
Regulation 7 of the Partnerstup {Accounts] Regulations 2008 not 10 attach the partnership accounts Lo these inancial siatements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

11 Joint ventures and funds continued
Operating cash fiows of joint ventures and funds (Group share}

018 2018
Em Em

Rental mcame recewved from tenaats 160 199
Qiperating expenses patd 1o suppliers and employees (23 (22
Cash generated from operations 137 177
Imterest pad (70} {731
Interest recewed 1 1
UK corpaoration tax paid 2] i
Cash inflow from aperating activities 64 104
Cash inflow from operating activities deployed as:
Surplus cash retained within joint ventures and funds 7 24
Revenue distnbutions per consolidated statement of cash flows 59 78
Revenue distributions split between controtling and non-controlling interests
Attributable ta non-controlling interests 3 2
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 54 74
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12 Other investments

2019 018
Fair value Property, Fair value Property,
through Amortised plant and Imtangible 1hrough Amartised piant and (ntangibie

profit or loss cosi egquipment assels Total prafil or loss cosl equipment assels Total

£m Em £m (1] £m tm £m Em {m £m

At Agrit 112 28 24 10 174 167 27 11 9 154
Additions - a 4 4 146 - - 15 4 19
Translers / disposals - {27) - - {27 - (21 - - (21
Revaluatign 2 {4) - - {2) 5 3 - - 8
Depreciation / amortisation - - {8} (&) {10) - - (2 3 i5
At 31 March 114 5 22 10 151 112 28 24 10 174

The investment at fair value through profit or loss comprises interests as a trust benehciary The trust s assets comprise freehold reversions
n a pool of commercial praperties, comprising Sainsbury’s superstores. The interest I1s categonsed as Level 3 1n the fair value hierarchy, is
subject 1o the same Inputs as those disclosed in note 10, and as fair value was determined by the Directors, supported by an externat valuation

13 Debtors
2019 018
£m £m
TFrade and other debtors 48 28
Prepayments and accrued income kd I
57 35

Trade and other debtors are shawn after deducting a provision for tenant ncentives of E15m (2017/18 £14ml and a prowision for doubtiul debts
of £5m [2817/18 €5m] The provision for doubtful debts s calculated as an expected credi loss on trade and other debtors in accordance with
IFRS 9 {see Mate 1}. The charge to the income statement in relation to the write off of tenant incentives was £1m {2017/18: E1ml

The Directors consider that the carrymg amount of trade and other debtors Is approximate to their fasr value There is no concentration

2 emnba .
FUTIOST OF CuSISmSTS Wil 378

P

e =1
of Cragi Fi5h

14 Creditors

2019 2018

m €m

Trade creditors % 146
Other taxation and social security 42 30
Accruals 82 73
Beferred income ral 75
289 324

Trade creditors are interest-free and have settlernent dates withun one year The Directors constder that the carrying amount of trade and ather
creditors 1s approximaie g their fair value
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts continued

15 Other non-current liabilities

019 08
£m Em
Head leases 92 62
92 42
16 Deferred tax
The movernent on deferred tax 1s as shown below:
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2019
1 April Oabed ta Credited 31 March
208 incame to equity F1u% ]
€m €m £€m £m
Interest rate and currency derwative revaluations 4 (3i - 1
Other urning differences 7 m - I3
11 {4) - 7
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2019
im £m £m £m
Properly and investment revaluations i7) - L 16)
¥4 ] - 1 {61
Net deferred tax assets 4 3] 1 1
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2018
¥ Aprd Crediegio QOebied 31 March
2017 ncome o equity 2018
€m Em £€m £m
Interest rate and currency dervabve revalualions 4 5 [5) &
Other ming differences 7 - - ?
1 5 15) 1
Deferred tax habilities year ended 31 March 2018
E£m &m Em £m
Property and investment revaluations M - - {n
(7i - - {7]
Net deferred tax assets & 5 {5} 4

The foltowing corporation tax rates have been subsiantvely enacted 19% effective from 1 April 2017 reducing to 17% effective from 1 April
2020 The deferred tax assets and babilities have been calculated at the tax rate effective in 1he penod that the lax 1s expected (o crystallise

The Group has recogrsed a deferred tax asset calculated at 17% 12017/18 17%j of £6m [2017/18 £7ml in respect of capital losses from
previous years available for offset against future capnal profit Further unrecogmsed deferred tax assets in respect of capital losses of
£123m [2017/18 £123m) exist at 31 March 2019

The Group has recogrused deferred tax assets on derivative revaiuations to the extent thal future matching taxable profits are expected
to arise

AL 31 March 2019, the Group had an unrecogrised deferred tax asset calculated at 17% [2017/18 17%} of £49m (2017/18 £43mlin respect
of UK revenue tax losses from previous years.

Under the REIT regime, developrnent properties which are sold within three years of completion do not beneht trom tax exemption
At 31 March 2019, the value of such properties s £148m [2017/18 £176m) and if these properties were to be sold and no tax exemption
was avallable, the tax anising would be £11m [2007/18 £13mi.
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17 Net debt

2019 2008
Footnote Em Em
Secured on the assets of the Group
5 264% First Martgage Debenture Bonds 2035 368 349
5 0055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2635 94 95
5 357% First Martgage Debenture Bonds 2028 252 255
Bank loans 1 512 512
Loan notes 2 2
1,228 1.233
Unsecured
5.50% Senior Notes 2027 99 ice
3.895% Senior US Dollar Notes 2018 2 - 27
4 639% Sensor US Oollar Notes 2021 2 148 156
4.766% Sernsor US Dotlar Notes 2023 2 164 97
% 003% Sentor US Dollar Ncles 2026 2 &9 43
3 81% Senior Notes 2024 11 110
3 97% Serior Notes 2024 113 112
0% Convertible Bond 2020 343 337
2 275% Sterling Ureecured Bond 2029 298 299
4 16% Senior US Dellar Notes 2625 2 78 -
2 47% Sentor Notes 2025 37 -
2.75% Sentor Notes 2024 37 -
Floating Rate Senior Notes 2028 1] -
Bank loans and overdrafts 254 595
1.803 1.895
Gross debt 3 3,0 3,128
Interest rate and currency dervative latulities 130 138
Interest rate and currency derivative assets 1154) (115}
Cash and short term deposits 4,5 1242) (105}
Total net debt 2,765 3.046
Met debt attributabie to non-controling interests (104} {109
Net debt attributahie to shareholders of the Company 2,661 2,937
1 These are non-recourse borrowings with ne recourse for repayment to other companies or assets in the Group
Hercutes Unit Trust 512 512
512 512

[

Principal and interest on these barrowings were fully hedged into Sterling al a floating rate al the ime of issue
3 The principal amount of gross debl at 31 March 2019 was £2,.881m {2017/18 €3.007m) Included in this 1s the principal amounl of secured borrowings and olher borrawangs
of non-recourse companies of € 1,.158m of which the borrowings of the partly-awned subsediary, Hercules Unit Trust, not benehciatly owned by the Group are £112m

& Included wathin cash and short term deposiisis the cash and short term deposits of Hergules Unit Trust, of which £9m 1s the proportion not benehicially owned by the Group
5 Cash and deposits not subject to @ securdy interes! amount to £228m {2017/18 E9im]
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

17 Net debt continued

Maturity analysis of net debt
2019 08

£m tm
Repayable wihin ene year and on demand 99 27
Between one and two years 710 163
iwo and hive years 644 1,194

five and ten years 808 803

ten and fifteen years 305 305

fifteen and twenty years 455 636

2,932 3,104

Gross debt 3.031 3.128
Interest rate and currency dervalives f24) 23
Cash and short term deposits 1242 {105)
Net debt 2,765 3.046

0% Convertible bond 2015 [maturity 202D)
On ? June 2015, British Land (White) 2015 Limited {the 2015 issuer), a wholly-owned substdeary of the Group, 1ssued £350 mullion zero coupon
guaranteed convertible bonds due 2020 (the 2015 bonds} at par The 2015 Issuer is fully guaranteed by the Company in respect of the 2015 bonds.

Subject o theyr terms, the 2015 bonds are converuble into preference shares of the 2015 issuer which are automatically transferred to

the Company in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company s electian, any combination of ordinary shares and cash
Bondholders may exercrse their conversion right at any time up o but excluding the 7th dealing day before ¢ June 2020 lthe matunty datel,
a bondhalder may convert at any time

The inittal exchange price was 1103 32 peace per ardinary share The exchange price is adjusted based on certain events Isuch as the Company paying
dwidends in any quarter above 3 418 pence per ordinary sharel As st 31 March 2019 the exchange price was 1007 24 pence per ordinary share

From 30 June 2018, the Company has the oplion to redeem the 2015 bends al par )f the Company s share price has iraded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specihied perod, or at any ime once 85% by norminal vatue of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemned, or
purchased and cancelled The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 {the matunity date| if they have not already been converted,
redeermed or purchased and cancelled

Fair value and book value of net debt

019 2018

Farr value Book value Difference Fairvalue Boak value Dhfference

£€m £€m €m Em Em Em

Debentures and unsecured bonds 2,036 1,910 126 1,783 1,682 101
Convertible bonds 343 343 - 337 337 -
Bank debt and other floating rate debt 784 778 [ 1116 1.109 7
Gross debt 3,143 3,031 132 3.236 3,128 108
tnterest rate and currency derivative labilities 130 130 - 138 138 -
interest rate and currency dervative assels {154) (154) - {115) {113] -
Cash and short term deposits (242) (242 - [105) [105] -
Net debt 2,897 2,765 132 3,154 3.046 108
Net debt aliributable o non-controlling interests (105) 1104) 1) 110l [109) Sl
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 2,792 2,681 131 3,044 2,937 107

The fair values of debentures, unsecured bonds and the convertible bond have been established by obtatning quoted market prices from
brokers The bank debt and ather floating rate debt has been valued assuming it could be renegotiated al centracied margins The derwvatwes
have been valued by calculating the present value of expected future cash flows, using appropriate market discount rates, by an independent
treasury adviser

Short term debtors and creditors and other nvestments have been excluded frem the disclosures on the basis that the fair value is equivalent
16 the book value. The fair value hierarchy level of debt held at amortised cost 1s level 2 [as detined i note 10}
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17 Net debt continued

Group {oan to value (LTV)

2019 018
. Em €m
Group {oan to value (LTV] 22.2% 22.1%
Principal amount of gross debt 2,881 3.007
Less debt attributable to non-controlling interests 1112 (119
Less cash and short term deposets (balance sheet] {2421 {105}
Plus cash attnibutable to non-controlling interests 9 10
Total net debt for LTV calcutation 2,536 2,793
Group property portfobio vatustion {note 10 9,028 9.997
Investments it joint ventures and funds [note 11} 2,560 2,822
Other ivestments {note 12] 151 174
Less property and investments atiributable to non-controthing interests (317) {3661
Total assets for LTV calculation 11,422 12,627
Preportionally consolidated loan to value [LTV)
“em s
Proportionally consolidated loan to vatue [LTV] 28.1% 28 4%
Principal amount of gross debt 4,007 4,299
Less debt atinbutable to non-controiling interests 112 (135
Less cash and short term deposits (4021 [331)
Plus cash attribulable to nen-controlling interests 9 10
Total net debt for proportional LTV calcuiation 3,502 3.943
Group property portfolio valuation (note 10] 9,028 9,997
Share of property of joint ventures and funds [note 10} 3,405 4,102
Other investments (note 12 151 174
Less other vestments attributable to joint ventures and funds - {2l
Less property attributable to non-controtling interests {317} {383
Totat assets for proportional LTV calculation 12,467 13,888
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17 Net debt continued
British Land Unsecured Financial Covenants
The two financial covenants applicable to the Group unsecured debt including convertible bonds are shawn below
2019 18

€m tm
Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital and Reserves 29% 29%
Principal amount of gross debt 2,884 3.007
Less the relevant propartian of borrowings of the partly-owned subsrdiary/non-controtiing terests (112 n9!
Less cash and deposits {batance sheet! {242) {105}
Plus the relevant proportion of cash and deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary/nan-controlling interests 9 10
Net Borrowings 2,536 2,793
Share caprtal and reserves (balance sheet] 8,689 9.506
EPRA delerred tax adjustment (EPRA Table Al 5 5
Trading praperty surpluses [EPRA Table Al 29 134
Exceputional reinancing charges lsee below) . 216 233
Fair value adjustments of financial instruments (EPRA Table Al 13 137
Less reserves attributable to non-cantrotling interests [balance sheet) 211) {254]
Adjusted Capital and Reserves 8,841 9,761

In calcutating Adjusted Capital and Reserves for the purpose of the unsecured debt financial covenants, there 1s an adjustment of £21ém
(2017718 £233m] to reflect the cumutative net amortised exceptional Hems relating to the refinancings in the years ended 31 March 2005,
2006 and 2007.

2019 2018
tm im
Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of Unencumberad Assels 21% 23%
Principal amaunt of gross debt 2,881 3.007
Less cash and deposits not subject 1o a security 1nterest [being £228m less the relevant proportion of cash and (221} {84i
deposits of the parily-owned subsidizry/non-contraliing 1nterests ol £7m)
Less principal amount of secured and non-recourse borrowings (1,458) i1,159]
Net Unsecured Borrowings 1,502 1,764
Group property portfolio vatuation {note 10 9,028 9.997
Investments in joint ventures and funds note 11} 2,540 2,822
Other investments fnote 12} 151 174
Less investmen!s in joint ventures {2,5490) (2.822]
Less encumbered assets [note 10] {2,134} {2.447]
Unencuimbered Assets 7,045 7.724
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17 Net debt continued

Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2019

Arrangement
Fareign costs
2018 Cash flows Transters® exchange Fair valus amortisation 20y
£m £m £m m £m Em im
Short term borrowings 27 {25l 99 (2} - - 99
Long term barrowings 3,101 i105) 199) (22 53 4 2,%32
Derwatives' 23 12) - 24 169) - 124)
Total lrabtlittes frem financing activities® 3,151 11321 - - {18} 4 3,007
Cash and cash equivatents (1051 {1371 - - - - (242}
Net debt 3,046 1269} - - (15) 4 2,765
Recenciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2018
Arrangement
Foregn cosis
w17 Lash flows Transiers® exchange Farr value FMOTHSAON 2018
£m £m £m £m £ £m £m
Short term borrowings 464 [458] 27 - (&l - 27
Long term borrowings 2817 361 (27] (403 (ol - 3,103
Derwatwes? (731 29 - 40 27 - 23
Total iatubities from financing activities® 3,208 {48] - - i - 3,151
Cash and cash equivalents (114 9 - - - - [105]
Net debt 3.094 {591 - - " - 3.046
1 Cash Haws on dervatwes inctude £17m of net receipls on defvative interest
2 Cash llows on dernvatives include £20 of net receipts on denvatwe inlerest
2 Transfers comprises debl maturing from long 1erm 10 short term borrowings
4 Cagh Hows of £'22m shown ahowe rehrozonts not cash flrws an cantal payments in racoaart ol intoree! rate dervabiva afLY9m HAorrpazo in hank and nithar b, h'-'nu.-:'-n' af

£575m and drawdowns on bank and clher berrowings of E4dém shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows, along with £17m of net receipls on denvatve interest

S Cash lfows of £68m shown above represents net cash llows on interest rale dernvalive closeouts of £9m, decrease in bank and olher borrowsngs of €626m and
drawdawns on bank and other borrowangs of £529m shown 1n the consolidaled stalement of cash flows along with £20m of net receipls on derwvative snterest

Fair value hierarchy

The table below provides an analysis of inancial mstruments carred at {air value, by the valuation method The fair vatue hierarchy levels are

defined in note 10.

2019 018

Level t Level 2 Levet Tatal Eevel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Totat

£m £m €m £m Em Em Em tm

Interest rate and currency dervative assets - {154} - (154} - (115) - (115
Other investiments - fair value through profi

or loss {14} - {100} 1114) [14] - t98) (112

Assets (14} 1154) {100} [268) (14} (115} {78 [227)

Interest rate and currency dervative

fiabwlities - 130 - 130 - 138 - 138

Convertible bonds 343 - - 343 337 - - 337

Liabilities 343 130 - 473 337 138 - 475

Total 329 {z4) {100} 205 323 23 198 268
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17 Net debt continued
Categories of financial instruments

2019 Mg
tm Em
Financial assets
Fair value through income statement
Gther investments - farr vatue through profhit or less $14 98
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting retationships'? 148 10
Derivatives not in designated hedge accounting relationships é 5
Amortised cost
Trade and other debtars 48 28
Cash and short term deposits 242 105
Otherinvestments - amortised cost 5 42
563 388
Financial liabilities
Fair value through income statement
Convertible bond 1343) {3371
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships’ (4) (5]
Derivatives not in designated atcounting relationships {128) 133)
Amaortised cost
Gross debt (2,688) {2,791
Head (eases payable (s2) (82]
Creditors (208] {2371
{3.461) {3.545)
Total {2,898} {3177}

1 Derwative assets and Liabilities in designated hedge accounting retalionships sit within the decivative assets and derivative Liabidities balances of the consolidated

balance sheet

2 The farr value of denvalive assets in designated hedge accounting retationsheps represents the accumulated amount of fair vatue hedge adjustments on hedged ems

Gains and losses on financral instruments, as classed above, are tisclosed 11 nate 6 Inet financing costs), note 13 ldebtors], the consoiidated

income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income The Direclors consider that the carrying amounts of ather
investments and head leases payable are approximate to thewr fair value, and that the carrying amounts are recoverable

Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity attributable to the equity helders of The British Land Company PLC,

compnising issyed capial, reserves and retained earmings Risks relating to capital structure are addressed within Managing risk in delivering

our sirategy on pages 54 to 57 The Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing debt are set out i the Financial policies and

principles on pages 51 to 53

Interest rate risk management

The Group uses interest rale swaps and caps 1o hedge expasure to the variablity in cash flows on Hloating rate debt, such as revolving bank

faciities, caused by movements in market rates of interest

At 31 March 2019, the fair value of these derwatives Is a net Uability of £121m. Interest rate swaps with a fair value of E4m have been designated

as cash flow hedges under (FRS ¢

The ineffectiveness recogrised in the income statement on cash flow hedges in the year endad 31 March 2019 was Enl [2017/18: Enul}.

The cash flows occur and are charged to profit and loss until the matunty of the hedged debt. The table below summarises variable rate debt

hedged at 31 March 2019,
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17 Net debt continued
Variable rate debt hedged

2019 2018

£m fa

Qutstanding. at one year 1,155 775
at two years 1,008 400

at five years 250 753

at ten years 250 250

Fair vaiue hedged debt
The Group uses nterest rate swaps le hedge exposure on fixed rate financial liabibities caused by movements in market rates of interest,

At 31 March 2019, the fair value of these derwatives 1s a net asset of £145m Interest rate swaps with a far value of £148m have been
designated as fair vaiue hedges under IFRS ¢ (2017/18 asset of £110m)

The cruss currency swaps of the 2021/2023/2025/2026 US Private Placements fully hedge the foreign exchange exposure aj an average floating
rate of 142 basis points above LIBOR These have been designated as far value hedges of the US Private Placements

Interest rate prafile - including effect of derivatives

2019 2018

£m fm

Fixed or capped rate 2,222 2,107
Vanable rate |net of cashl] 543 939
2,765 3.046

All the debt 15 elfectively Sterling denaminated except for £3m [2017/18- £3m) of Euro debt of which E3m 15 al 2 vaniable rate 12017/18 £3m)
and £1m of USD debt of which €£1/m 15 at a variable rate (2018/19 £nil)

At 31 March 2019 the weighted averace inferest rate of the Sterling fixed rate debts 3 4% [2017/18 3 2%) The weighted average penod for
which the rate s Ived 15 8 9 vears 12017/18 9 1 vears) The Hoating rata debt is set for pennds of the Company’s chonsing at the relpvant

LIBOR (or simdar] rate

The proportion of net debt [on a proportianally consolidated basist at fixed or capped rates of interest was 87% at 31 March 2019 on a spot
basis The proportion of net debt at fixed or capped rates of interest as an average over the next five-year forecast period, on a proportianally
consclidated basis, was 3% at 31 March 2019 Based on the Group's interest rate profile, at the balance sheet date, a 98 bps increase in
interest rates would decrease annual profits by £9m [2017/18. £99m decrease based on a 576 bps increase] Similarly, a 85 bps reduction
would increase profits by £9m {2017/18 £10m tncrease based on a 72 bps reduction} The change in interest rates used for this sensitmity
analysis 1s based on the {argest annual change in three-month Sterling LIBOR over the last tenyears The impact assumes LIBOR does not
falt below 0%

Upward movements i medium and tong term interest rates, associated with higher interest rate expectations, increase the value of the
Group s interest rate swaps and caps that prowide protection against such moves. The converse 1s true fer dawnward movements in the yield
curve A 173 bps shift represents the {argest annual change in the seven-year Slerbing swap rate over the {ast tenyears Af 31 March 2019

a 173 bips parallel upward shift In swap rates would increase the value of cash flow hedges and derivatives that are not hedge accounted by
£65m (2017/18° £48m based on a 204 bps increase] A 173 bps downward shift in swap rates would reduce the value of these derivatives by
£62m [2017/18 £81m based on a 204 bps decrease)

The 0% 2015 Converteble Bond 15 designated as lair value through profit or less Principal components of the market value of this band
include British Land's share price and 1ts valatiity, and market interest rates

The fair value of the 9% 2015 Converuble Bond at 31 March 2019 was a £343m bability A1 31 March 2019 a 173 bps parallel upward shift
1N interest rates would reduce the fair value bability by £7m, and a 173 bps downward shaft ininterest rates would increase the fair value
liabtbity by £7m
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17 Net debt continued

Foreign currency risk management

The Group's policy 1s to have no raterial unhedged net assets or kiabiities denominated in foreign currencies. The currency risk on
averseas investments s hedged via foreign currency denamunated barrowings and dervatives The Group has adopted nat investment
hedging 1n accordance with IFRS 9 and therefore the porion of the gan or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an
effective hedge s recogrised directly in equity The meffective portion of the gain or loss an the hedging nstrument s recognised
wnmedialely in the income statement

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and liabiliies. Provided contingent tax
on overseas investments is not expected ta occur it will be ignored for hedging purposes Based on the 31 March 2019 posthion a 26%
appreciation [largest annual change over the last ten years) in the Eure retative to Sterbing would resultin a Enil change [2017/18: Enl)
in reported profits Based on the 31 March 2019 position a 27% appreciation {largest annual change over the las! ten years in the USD
relative to Sterling would resutt in a Enit change [2017/18. £nil} in reported prohts

Assets Labaties
2019 ans 2019 Hg
£m Em £&m Em
Euro denominated 3 3 3 3
USH denarminated - - 1 -

Credit risk management

The Group's approach te credit risk management of counterparties is referred to in the Financial policies and principles on pages 51 to 53 and
the risks addressed withun Managing risk in delivering our strategy on pages 54 to 57 The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the
financial statements represents the Group s masmurm exposure 1o credit risk withaut taking account of the vatue of any collateral obtained

Cash and short term depasits at 31 March 2019 armounted to £242m [2017/18 £105m] Deposits and interest rate degosits were placed with
financal institutions with BBB+ or better credit ratings

At 31 March 2819, the tair value of alt interest rate derwvative assets was £154m (2017/18, €115m)

At 31 March 2019, prior to taklng mlc account any offset arrangements, the largest combined credit exposure {0 a single counterparty ansing

i - St EatS 3l derivata I8~ (AN H0 Fen TR L Ta T FT NN WY P )
PTG ufcy EcH Ré; [T {5, uqu:u FESITEN{S &0 CENVIIVES wadl Loy /7 ia Lhiriin -nf:l&pr ESEMS U Gre Ul TG WAt o y:u:a F5585

The deposit exposures are with UK banks and UK branches of international banks

Provisions are made for trade recenables taking 1nto account histaric credit losses and the creditworthiness of debtors

Liquidity risk management
The Group s approach to liquidity risk management is discussed in the Financial policies and principtes an pages 51 to 53, and the nisks
addressed within Managing nsk in delivering our strategy on pages 54 to 57

The following tabte presents @ maturity profile of the contracted undiscounted cash flows of hnancral labiinties based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and printipal flows Where the interest payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected mterest rates implied by yietd curves at the reporting date.

For dervative financial instruments that settle on a net basss {e g interest rate swaps) the undiscounted net cash flows are shown and for
derwatives that require gross settlemnent (e g cross currency swaps] the undiscounted gross cash flows are presented. Where payment
abligations are in fereign currencies, the spot exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date s used Trade creditors and amounts owed
to Joint ventures, which are repayable within one year, have been excluded from the analysis

The Group expecls to meet s financial habililies through the vanous available hquidity sources, including a secure rental income profile,
asset sales, undrawn committed borrowing facilities and, in the longer term, debt refinancings

The Group leases out all its investment praperties under operating leases with a weighted average lease length of six years This secure
income prafile s generated from ypward anty rent reviews, long leases and fugh occupancy rates The future aggregate minimum rentals
recewvable under non-cancellable operating leases are also shown in the table below Income from joint ventures and funds 1s not included
below. Additional liguidity witl arise from letting space in properties under construction as well as from distributions received from joint
ventures and funds
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17 Net debt continued

Liquidity risk management continued
2019

Withtn Fatlowing Three te Over five
one year year five years years Talal
£em Em £m £m £m
Debt? 100 703 435 1.505 2,943
Interest on debt 89 84 212 3I8é ™
Derwvative payments 11 13 267 243 534
Head lease paymenis 3 3 ? 382 397
Total payments 203 803 1,123 2,514 4,645
Dervative recaipts : (26) (27} (334} {180} (5567
Net payment 177 776 789 2,336 4,078
Operating leases with lenants 413 387 876 1,307 2,983
Liquidity surplus (dehcit] 236 {289) 87 (1,029} 1,095}
Cumuiative liquidity surplus Ideficit) 236 {153) 1&6) {1,095)
2018
Wiihin Faliowing Three lo Dver fve
one year year fve years years Total
£m fm £m im £m
Deht! an 166 1173 1680 3 D49
Interest on debt 92 94 232 475 893
Derwvative paymenis 34 16 182 259 £91
Head lease payments 2 2 7 267 278
Total payments 158 278 1,594 2.681 4711
Derwvative recepts o e (52 120 f209)  [19¢) (477
Net payment 106 258 1,385 2,485 4,234
Operating leases with tenanls 424 399 748 1,490 3,281
Liquidity surplus ldeficit] 318 141 (417 1995| 1853]
Cumutative liguidity surplus {deficit) 318 459 42 (953

1 Grossdebt of £3,031m 12017718 £3,128m) represents the total of £2.943m [2017/18 £3.049m), less unramortised 1ssue costs of €12m [2017/18 £13mi, plus farr value
adjustments to deds of £100m [2017/18 £92m]

Any short term liquidity gap between the net payments required and the rentals receivabie can be met through other biguidity sources available
to the Group, such as committed undrawn borrowing facilities The Group currently holds cash and short term depesits of £242m of which
£228m 15 not subject 1o a secunty smerest {see foolnote 5 lo net debt table on page 149 Further hquidity can be achieved through sales of
property assels or iwestments and debt refinancings

The Group's property portfotin 15 valued externally at £2,028m and the share of joint ventures and funds property Is vatued at £2,505m
The commutted undrawn borrowing facilities available to the Group are a further source of liguidity The matunity profile of committed undrawn
borrowing faciities 1s shown below

Maturity of committed undrawn borrowing facilities

ne 2018

£m €m

Maturity date aver five years 275 40
between tour and five years 832 G

between three and four years a6 1.610

Total iacilities available for more than three years 1,193 1,160
Between two and three years 435 85
Between one and two years - 84
Withir one year - -

Total 1,628 1,331

The above facibties are comprised of British Land undrawn facdities of £1,542m plus undrawn facilities of Hercules Urig Trust totaliing £86m
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18 Leasing
Operating leases with tenants

The Group leases out all of its investment properties under operating leases with a weighted average lease length of six years {2017/18:
eight years| The future aggregate minimum rentals recewvable under non-cancellable operating leases are as fotlows-

2019 2018
€m Em
Less than one year 413 L24
Between one and two years 387 399
Between three and fwe years 876 948
Between six and ten years 79 06
Between eleven and hifteen years 314 393
Belween sixieen and twenty years 111 145
After twenty years 90 46
Tatal 2,983 3,281
Operating tease commitments
The future aggregate mmimum rentals payable under non-cancetlable operating leases are as fallows
2019 08
£m Em
Less than one year 8 3
Between one and two years 8 3
Between three and five years 15 8
Between six and ten years 20 7
Belween eleven ang hiteen years 7 -
Total 58 21

The Group's leasehold investment properties are tymically under non-renewable leases without significant restrictions Finance lease liabiities
are payable as follows, no contingent renls were payable in either penod

2019 2018
Minmium Miatmum
lease lease
payments fmerest Principal payments Inlerest Prncipat
£m £€m £m Em Em £m
British Land Group
Less than one year 3 3 - 2 2 -
Between one and two years 3 3 - 2 3 -
Between two and five years 9 9 - 7 7 -
More than hve years 382 290 92 267 205 62
Tatal 397 305 92 278 214 62
L ess future inance charges {305) 216l
Present value of lease obligations 92 62
More than five years 72 62
Present value of lease cbligations 92 62
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19 Dividends
As announced on 15 May 2019, the Board 15 recommending a finat dividend of 7 75 pence per share, totalling E74m {2017/18 7.52 pence per
share, totaling £74m), subject to the apgroval of shareholders, this s payahle nn 2 August 2019 to shareholders on the register at the close of

business on 28 June 2019.

PiD dividends are paid. as required by RET legrslation, after deduction of withholding tax at the bassc rate {currently 20%), where appropriate
Certain classes of shareholders may be able to elect to recewe dividends gross. Please refer to our website britishtand com/dividends

{or deqails

Payment date Dividand Pencse;!:fer 20£1m? 2(::1‘2
Current year dividends
0208 2019 2019 Final 779
03052019 2019 3rd mterim 775
D8 32 2019 2019 2nd interim 775 74
862112018 2019 1st intenim 775 76

31.00
Prior year dividends
0308 2018 2018 4th interim 752 74
04 05 2018 2018 3rd intenim 752 74
0902 2018 2018 2nd interim 752 75
10 112017 2018 st intenm 152 77

3008
04 08 2017 2017 4th sntenim 730 75
05062017 2017 3rd interim 730 75
Omdends in consolidated staternent
of changes in equity 298 302
Dwidends settied in shares . -
Omdends settted in cash 298 302
Timing difference relating te payment
of withhoiding tax - 2
COnadends 1n cash flow statement 298 304
I Diwtiend spht half P10, half non-PIG
20 Share capital and reserves

2019 208

Number of ordinary shares in issue at 1 April 993,857,125 1,041,035.058
Share 1ssues 404,377 429,206
Repurchased and cancelted {33,672,430) {47.40713%9)
At 31 March 940,589,072 993,857.125

Of the 1ssued 25p ordinary shares, 7.376 shares were held in the ESOP trust [2017/18: 7,376!, 11,266,245 shares were held as treasury shares
(2017718 11,266,245} and 949,315,451 shares were in free 1ssue [2017/18 982,583.504] No treasury shares were acquired by the ESOP trust
during the year Allissued shares are fully pad In the year ended 31 March 2019 the Company repurchased and cancelled 33,672,430 ordinary
shares at a weighted average price of 594 pence

Hedging and translation reserve

The hadging and translation reserve compnses the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow and foresgn currency
hedgmg instrurments, as well as all toreign exchange differences ansing from the translation of the financial staternents of foreign cperations
The foreign exchange differences also include the translation of the liabiliies that hedge the Company's net investment in a foreign subsidiary

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates to owner-cccupted properiies and investments i jonl ventures and funds
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Merger reserve

This comprises the premium on the share placing in March 2013 No share premium s recorded in the Company's financial statements,
through the operation of the merger reliefl provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

At 31 March 2019, options over 6,308,150 ordinary shares were outstanding under employee share option plans. The oplions had 3 weighted
average lfe of 6 4 years Delails of autstanding share options and shares awarded 1o employees including Executive Oirectors are set out below
and gn the following page

Exercise dales

ALY April Vesled bu! Exercised/ At 31 March Exercise

Date of grant 2018 Granted nol exercised Vested Lapsed 2019 price Ipancel From To
Share options Sharesave Scheme

190413 14,850 - - (14,2631 {587] - 51100 01918 D1.03.19
230614 82,512 - - (2,038] 12.664) 77,810 574 00 D199 010320
220615 27.900 - - - 127.384} 516 697 00 01918 010319
22.06.1% 15,274 - - - 3.872) 11,L04 &97 00 01920 DID3IN
2006 14 45,926 - - (394} [13,96%} 31,570 608 00 01919 010320
20.06 16 22,003 - - - {3.256] 18,747 608 00 0t ¢ 21 010322
21.0617 256,819 ~ - {5,408} 151,056) 200,385 508 00 01920 010323
210617 96,540 - - {4,485} 1242121 67,843 508 00 01922 010323
290618 - 130,903 - (1091 (18,5401 112,254 547 00 e 010322
290618 - 68,238 - - 17,103) 61,135 949.00 01923 01.0324

561,826 199,143 - [26,697)  1152,634) 981,634

Long-Term Incentive Plan - options vested, not exercised

IR0 67 18,333 - - {7,754 - 2,562 38760 P06 12 ORI
211209 58,553 - B [+,615] - 55,938 44600 2112132 211219
110610 1,132,269 - - 120.261) - 1,112,008 447 00 110613 110620
141210 55,133 - - 14,557} - 40,574 51000 163213 141220
28.06 N 812,819 - - (13.517) - 799,202 57500 280614 2806 21
12120 70175 - - 16.327 - 53,848 45100 191214 19121
160912 748,557 - - 1158.974) - 809,583 538 00 140915 140922
201212 62,197 - - (14,546 (888} 45,763 563 00 201215 2012722
05.0813 294,078 - - (94.859] {28091 194,410 501 00 05.0816 050823
051213 171,909 - - 10.601] 16,098] 155,210 40000 051216 051223
280617 - - 26,540 - - 26,540 61717 80620 280627
3,636.023 - 26,940 (355,008 19.795] 3,297,760

Lang-Term Incentive Plan - unvested options

220615 889,122 - - - (889.122) - 81317 220618 220625

22.06 16 1.221.620 - - ~ 6,927} 1,214,693 730 50 220619 2208726

280617 1,208,942 - - [26,540]  [52,281] 1,130,124 81717 280620 280627

26.06.18 - 83,942 - - - 83,942 581.40 260621 260628
3,319,684 83,942 - (26,540} (948,330 2,428,756

Tatal 7.517.533  283.083 26,540 1408,245] 11,110.76)} 6,308,150

Weighted average exercise

price of options [pencel 607 588 617 548 748 582
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Share price
ar 1 April Exercised/ AtJ1 March i grant date
Date of grant 2018 Granted Vested Lapsed 2019 {pencel| Vesting date
Performance Shares Long-Term Incentive Plan
220615 1,068,458 - - (1,068,458} - 81317 2204618
2206 18 1,137,050 - - 163,495) 1,071,556 73050 2208 1%
280617 1.897.612 - - {180.910) 1,716,702 1717 2806 20
260618 - 1,053,360 - - 1,053,340 48140 2606 21
4,103,120 1,053,340 - [1,314,863] 3,841,617
Restricted Share Plan
2606 18 - 636,776 - {8.794) 627,982 68140 2606 20
- 636,776 - 8,794) 427,982
Matching Share Ptan
29.06 15 282170 - lwsr0850 141,085 - B03.00 2606.18
29366 16 313,176 - - (19.444] 293,732 60400 260619
995346 - {141.088) 0160529} 293,732
Total 4698466 1,690,136 141,085 [1.484,1861 4,743,331
Weighted average price of shares (pence) 699 681 803 781 645

21 Segment information

The Group allocates resources ta investment and assei management according to the seciors it expects to periorm over the medwm term
Its three principal sectors are Offices, Retat and Canada Water The Retall seclor inctudes leisure, as this s often incorporsted into Retail
schemes The Otherfunatlocated sector includes resigential properties

The relevant grass rental income, net rental iIncome, cperating resutit and property assets, being the measures of segment revenue, segment
resuii and segment assets used by the management of the business, are sef out below Management reviews the performance of the business
principally on a proportionatly consolidated basis, which includes the Group s share of joint ventures and funds on 3 tne-by-line basis and
excludes non-controliing interests in the Group's subsidiaries The chief operating deciston maker for the purpose of segment information

15 the Executive Committee

Gross rental income 1s denved from the rental of bulldings, Cperating result is the net of net rental income, fee wmcome and admimistrative
expenses No customer exceeded 10% of the Group s revenues in either year
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

21 Segment information continued
Segment result

Qifeces Retail Canada Water Mtherfunatlocaiad Totat
2019 2018 2019 018 2019 2018 2019 018 2019 2018
£€m tm €m Em £m £m £m €m £m £m

Gross rental income
Bntish Land Group 150 139 260 272 9 8 [ 4 423 424
Share of joint ventures and
funds 70 162 83 87 - - - - 153 189
Total 220 241 343 360 9 8 4 4 576 613
Net rental income
British Land Group 139 131 238 254 ? 7 4 4 370 396
Share of jaint ventures and
funds &6 98 74 82 - - - - 142 180
Total 205 229 34 336 9 7 4 4 532 574
Operating result
British Land Group 132 128 235 248 4 4 142} 1424 329 336
Share of joint ventures and
tunds 61 99 71 79 - - - (2i 132 172
Total 193 peal 306 327 4 4 (42) {44 481 508
Reconciliation to Underlying Profit 2?-: "233
Operating result 481 508
Nel financing costs 21 1128]
Underlying Profit 340 380
Reconciliation to {loss) pratit on ordinary activities before taxation
Underlying Prafit 340 380
Capat and other 1674} 107
Underlying Praht attributable to non-controlling interests 12 14
[Loss] prafit on ordinary activities before taxation 3191 501
Recanciliation to Group revenue
Gross rental tncome per operating segment result 574 613
Less share of gross reatal income of joint ventures and funds (153 a9l
Plus share of gross rental incorne attributable to non-controlling interests 14 17
Gross rental income {note 3] 439 441
Trading property sales proceeds 350 78
Service charge mncome 76 46
Management and performance fees (from joint ventures and funds) 7 6
Other fees and commissions 32 48
Revenue {Consolidated Income Statement! 904 539

A reconcihiation between nel financing costs in the consolidated incame statement and net financing costs of £121m (2017/18- £128m) in the
segmentat disclosures above can be found within Table A in the supplementary disclosures OFf the total revenues above, Emil [2017/18. £nil]

was derved from outside the UK.
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21 Segment information continued

Segment assets
Oftices Retait Canads Waler Quherfunatiacated Total
w1y 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
&m fm £m £€m £m £m £m £m £m m
Property assets
British Land Group 4,296 43N 4,052 4915 303 283 199 12 8,761 9,682
Share of jomnt ventures and
tunds 2,012 2,334 1,524 1,681 - - 19 19 3,555 4,034
Total 6,308 6,705 5,577 6,596 303 283 128 132 12,316 13,71
Reconciliation to net assets
. 2019 2018
British Land Group tm Em
Progerty assets 12,316 13,716
Gther non-current assets 151 185
Non-current assets 12,467 13901
Other net current biabilities (2971 (348}
Adjusted net debt (3.521  (3.973i
Other non-current Llabilities - -
EPRA net assets (diluted) 8,649 9.940
Non-controlling interests n 254
EPRA adiustments 71 (308}
Net assets 8,689 9.504

22 Capital commitments
The aggregate capital cornmitments to purchase. construct or develop investment property, for repairs, maintenance or enhancements, ar for
the purchase of investments which are contracted for but not provided, are set out below

2019 2018

(15 £m

British Land and subsidiaries 177 239
Share of joint ventures 111 193
Share of funds 1 -
289 432

23 Related party transactions

Getails of transactions with joint ventures and funds are given in notes 3, 6 and 11 During the year the Group recogmised joint venture
managernent fees of E6m (2017/18 £6m) Detads of Directors remuneration are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 88 to 109
Detaiis of transactions with key management personnel are prowided in note 8 Delails of transactions with The British Land Group of

Companies Pension Scheme, and other smaller pension schemes, are given in note 9

24 Contingent liabilities

Group, joint ventures and funds
The Group, joint ventures and funds have contingent Liabilities in respect of tegal claims, guarantees and warraniies ansing in the ordinary
course of business. It 15 not anticipated that any matenal biabilities will anse from contingent Liabilities
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts continued

25 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out betow 1s summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group
The information below 15 the amount before ntercompany ebminations, and represents the consolidated results of the Hercutes Unit

Trust group

Summarised income statement for the year ended 31 March

Hercules Unu Trust

{Loss) profit on ordinary activities after taxation

Attributable to non-controlling interests

Attributable to the shareholders of the Company

2019 it
&m m
{122} 53
291 14
193) 19

Summarised balance sheet as at 31 March

Hercules Lot Trust

19 10

£m £m

Total assets 1,415 1,548
Total Labiities 1561) {565)

Net assets 854 $83
Non-controling nterests 211} 1254}
Equity attributable to share;lolders of the Company 643 ) '729

Summarised cash flows

Hercutes Unit Trust

Net |[decreasel increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

2019 Wa
€m im
13} 3
43 40
40 43

The Hercules Unit Trust 15 a closed-ended property Unit Trust The unit price at 31 March 201915 £563 [2017/18 £684). Non-conrrolling
interests collectively awn 21 9% of units (n1ssue The Briush Land Company PLC owns 78 1% of unets in 1ss5ue, each of which confer equal

voting rights, and theretore (s deemed ta exercise control aver the frust

26 Subsequent events
There have been no significant events since year end

164 British Land § Annual Report and Accounts 2019



27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiaries
The following subsidiares are exempt from the reguirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue of
Section 4794 of that Act

Companies House Lompanies House
Name reg number Name req ntmbar
17 19 Bedford Street Limited 7398971 BL Wheteley Limited 11253224
18-20 Craven Hilt Gardens Limited 7667839 BL Whiteley Retait Limited 11254281
20 Brock Street Limited 7401697 BLO [Ebury Gate} Limited 3843857
8-10 Thregmorton Avenue Limuted 3669490 BLO Properties Limited 0732787
Adshilta Lirsted 1052483 BLU Securiies Limited 3323041
Bayeast Property Co Limited 0435800 Boldswitch Limited 2307096
BF Propco iNo 1) Limited 5270158 British Land Aqua Partnership {2) Limited 6026921
BF Prapco iNo 3} Limited 52701%6 British Land Aqua Partnership Lirmited 60269
BF Propeo [N 4 Limnited 5270137 Briush Land City Offices Limited 3946069
BF Propco {No 5} Limtted 5270219 British Land In Town Retail Liruied 3325068
BL [Maidenhead) Company Limited 7667834 Britsish Land Leisure Limited 5215384
Bl Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited 2400407 Brish Land Offices [Non-City} Lirnited 2740378
BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited 9400541 Britsh Land Superstores [Non Securitised)
BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited 2400411 Number 2 Limited 6514283
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited 400409 Canada Water Jifices Limiies 10152462
BL Broadgate Fragment 5 Limited 2400413 Cormish Residential Properties Trading Limited 4106134
8L Broadgate Fragment 6 Lirrited 9400414 Coraush Residential Property investments Limited 3523833
84 Cutton Moar Lirmited 7508019 Dinwell Limited 5035303
2L CW Developmants Limited 10664198 Exchange House Holdings Limuted 2037407
5L Cw Gevelopments Flot AT Lamiied 16782350 ; gz Livuied 3341280
8L CW Developments Plot A2 Limited 10782335 Hernpel Hotels Limited 2728455
BL CW Developments Plot D1/2 Company Limited 10997879 Hereford Old Market Limited 10509794
8L CW Holdings Piot G1 Company Limited 10781471 Insistmetat 2 Limited 4181514
BL Cwmbran Lemited 7780251 Ivoryhill Limuted 2307407
BL Eden Walk Limited 10620935 Lonebridge UK Limited 3292034
BL European Holdings bimited 30464033 Mercar Lisnited 0112673
BEL Goodman {LP} Limeted 5056902 Minhill investments Limited 0823019
BL HC 1OSCLI} Limited 4290601 Moorage [Property Developments) Limited 1185513
8L HC Health And Fitness Holdings Lirmited 4374665 Osnaburgh Street Limited 5884735
8L HC Invic Leisure Limited 2444159 Pardev iLuton] Lirmted 2849784
8L HC Property Holdings Limiteg 6854046 PC Canal Limited 9712919
Bi Health Clubs PH No 1 Limited 5643248 Piccaditly Residentiat Lirmited 10525984
BL Heaith Clubs PH No 2 Limited 5643261 Pilar (Beckton) Limited 2783374
BL High Street and Shopping Centres Pillar Broadway Limited 3589116
Holding Lirmited 6002148 Prllar Estates Limuited 3044028
BL Holdings 2010 Limited 7353966 Pillar Fulham Ne 2 Lirmited 0266246
8L Lancaster Irvesiments Lid 10563072 Piliar Galtions Reach Limited 4895997
=X B Meadowhall No 4 Lumited 2015506 Pdiar Projects Lirmited 2644288
BL Piccadhilly Residential Retail Limited 9117243 Priory Park Merten Limited 4888345
BL Universal Limited 0324647 Regent's Place Holding Company Limited 10068705
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiaries continued

Campamias House Companies House
Name rag rumber Name reg number
Regents Place Management Company Limited 7136724 TBL (Lisnagetwin] Limited 3853983
Regents Place Residential Limited 11241644 TBL [Maidstonel Limitad 3854415
Rigphone Limited 5591740 TBL Properties Limited 3863190
Shopping Centres Limited 2230056 Teessige Leisure Park Lemited 2672136
St James Retall Park Northampten Limited 5396394 The Liverpoocl Exchange Company Lumuted 04690255
Storey CHlices Limited 1141707 Topside Street Lirmited 11243428
Surrey Quays Limated 5294243 United Kingdom Progerty Company Lumited 0246486
Sydale [Unlimited) 3864628 Viciitee Limited 4106142
TBL [Brent Park} Limited 3852947 Wates City Point Limsted 2973114
TBL (Ferndown] Limited 3854372

The following partnershups are exempt from the requirements to prepare, publish and have audited indvidual accounts by virtue of regulation 7
of The Partnecships lAccountst Regutations 2008 The results of these partnerships are consolidated within these Graup accounts

Name Name

BL Shoreditch Limited Partnerstup Paddington Block A Lirmited Partnership
BL Chess No 1 Larmited Partnership Paddington Block B Limited Parinership
Bl CW Lower Lvruted Partnership Paddington Central | Linvted Partnership
8L CW Upper Limuted Partnership Paddington Central ll Limited Partnership
8L Lancaster Limited Partnership Paddngton Kiosk Limited Partnership
Hereford Shopping Centre Limited Partnership Power Court Luton Limited Partnership
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Company balance sheet

As at 31 March 2019

2019 2018
Note £m fm
Fixed assets
fnvestrments and loans to subsidiaries b, 27,821 28,148
Invesiments in jaint ventures D 397 374
Qther investments D 29 34
Interest rata derwvative assels £ 183 115
Deferred tax assets 7 10
28,407 28,683
Current assets
Deblors 5 &
Cash and short term deposits E 182 32
187 38
Current liabilities
Short term barrowings and overdrafis E (993 127
Creditors H [126) (28]
Amounts due to subsidiaries (20,784)  [20.645
(21,011)  [20,750)
Net current liabilities (20,824)  (20.722]
Total assets less current liabilities 7.583 7,961
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and loans E {2,075} [2.2501
Interest rate dervative liabilies E {127} (133]
12,2021 {2,383}
Net assets 5,381 5.578
Equity
Catled up share capitat | 240 248
Share premium 1,302 1,300
Other reserves (11 [5)
Merger reserve 213 213
Retained earnings 3,631 3,822
Total equity 5,381 5,578
The profit aljgetaxation for the year ended 31 March 2019 for the Company was £307m [year ended 31 March 2018 £192m loss)

John Gildersleeve Simon Carter
Charrman Chief Financial Officer

Approved by the Board an 14 May 2019
Company number 421920
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Company statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Share Share Other Merger  Profst and less Total
capual prermum raservas ressrve account eguity
£m Em fm Em £m £m
Balance at T April 2018 248 1.300 {5} 213 3,822 5,578
Share 1ssues - 2 - - - 2
Purchase of own shares (8} - - - {196} {204}
Owidend paid - - - - (298} (298)
Fair value ol share and share option awards - - - - 141 {4}
Profit for the year after taxatton - - - - 307 307
Balance at 31 March 2019 240 1,302 (5i 213 3,631 5,381
Balance at T Apnil 2017 260 1,298 (134} 213 4,596 6,233
Share 1ssues - 2 - - - 2
Purchase of own shares {12) - - - (289) 301}
Dividend paid - - - - {302} (302)
Net actuarial gan on pension schemes - - - - g 9
Loss for the year after taxation - - - - (192} 1192
Transferred to the Income statement lcash flow hedges) - - 129 - - 129
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 (5) 213 3,822 5.578

The value of distributable reserves within the profit and loss account 1s £1,846m 2017/18 £2.074mi

168 British Land [ Annual Report and Accounts 2019



Notes to the financial statements

(A) Accounting policies

The financial statemnents for the year ended 31 March 2019 have
been prepared on the hustorical cost basis, except for the revaluation
ot denvatives These financial statements have also been prepared
in accardance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework {FRS 1011 The amendments ta FRS 101
(2015/16 Cyclel 1ssued in July 2016 and aifective immediately have
been applied.

in preparing these financial statements, the Company applies

the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
[‘Adopted FRSS’], but makes amendments where necessary in order
to compiy with the Companees Act 2006 and has set cul below where
advantage of the FRS 101 disctosure exermptions has been taken

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure
exemptions under FRS 101:

the requirements of IAS 1 to provide a balance sheet at the
beginning of the perod In the event of 3 prior penod adjustment

[a

[b] the requirements of 1AS 1 to previde a staternent of cash flows
for the period

the requirements of IAS 1 to provide a statement of compliance
Wit iF RS

lc

(d} the requirements of IAS 1 ta disclose (nfarmation on the
management of capitat

le} the reguirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of tAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errars to disclose

new IFRSs that have been 1ssued but are not yel effective

[f} the reguirements in 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures to
disclose related party transactions entered nto between twa or
mare members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which
15 a party to the transaction s wholly-owned by such 3 member

the requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24 Related
Party Oisclosures 1o disclose key management
personnel compensation

g

th

] the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement to disclase information of fair value valuation
technigues and inputs

the requirements of IFRS 7 to disclose financial instruments

New standards elfective for the current accounting perted do nol
have a materalinpact an the financial statements of the Company.
These are discussed in further detail below.

IFRS ¢ - Financial instruments

{FRS ¢ Financial instruments, as issued by the IASB in July 2014,
has been adopled by the Company for the year ended 31 March 2619
tFRS 9 supersedes the existing accounting guidance in 145 39
Financial instruments The standard was applied using the modified
retrospective approach The Company has not restated prior periods
or recognised any adjustments 1n opening retained earmings

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
of financial assets,

- The ahgnment of the ctassification and measurement maodel
under {FRS 9 results in changes in the classification of alt financial
assets excluding derivatives These changes will not have a
guantitative impact on the financial statements.

- IFRS %:introduces a forward locking expected credit loss model,
replacing the 1AS 39 incurred loss model The new model requires
an expecled credit loss io be recognised on alf financial assets
held at amorhised cost al iiial recogrition The guantitative
wnpact for the year ended 31 March 2019 results n the release

of an expected credit loss of Enil, with a carresponding reduction
in financial assets held at amortised cost of Eml  The Campany
has previously provided for a matenatly similar balance against
trade and other recewvables A part of this provision has been
released n the year ended 31 March 2019 to provide for the
expected credit loss recognised in the Company's subsidianes
upon adoption of IFRS 9. The reclassification of existing provisions
results in a £2m increase in the net assets of the Company

- IFRS 9 introduces changes ta the gualifying critena for hedge
accounting and expands the financial and non-hinancial
instruments which may be designated as hedged items and
hedging instrurnents in order to align bedge accounting with
bustness strategy The changes to hedge accounting under
{FRS 9 results 1n qualitative enhancements to the interest rate
and foreign currency risk management disclosures The changes
introduced by IFRS 9 do not have a quantitative impact an the
financial statements of the Company.

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers

The Company has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers for the year ended 31 March 2015%.

- The new standard cambines a number of previous standards,
setting out a five step modeli for the recognition of revence and
establishing principles tor reporting useful infermation to users
of hnancial statements about the nature, trming and uncertamnty
of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity s cantracts with
customers The changes introduced by IFRS 15 have no gqualtative
or quantitatve changes to the revenue disclosure and will not have
a quantitative impact on the hinancial statements of the Company

Going concern
The financial staternents are prepared on the gaing concern basis as
explained in the corporate governance section on page 78

Investments and loans

tnvestments and loans in subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated
at cost less an expected credit loss on the halance in accordance
with IFRS ¢ The expected credd loss on the balance 1s immateral

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
The key source of estimation uncertainty relates to the Company s
investments i substdiaries and joint ventures |n esttmating the
reguirement for iImpairment of these investments, management
make assumptions and judgements on the value of these nvestmenis
using inherently subjective underlying asset valuations. supported by
independent valuers

(B) Dividends
Details of diedends paid and proposed are included in note 19 of the
consabdated financial statements

(C) Employee information

Ermnployee costs inciude wages and salaries of £38m (2017/18 £39m],
social security costs of £5m [2017/18. £5m] and pension costs of E4m
{2017/18: £5m| Details of the Executive Directors’ remuneration are
disclosed in the Remuneration Report

Audit fees in retation to the parént Company only were £0.3m
(2017/18 €0 3ml.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the financial statements continued

(D) Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, loans to subsidiaries and other investments

Sharesin Loansio  Invesimentsin Other

subsidianes subsidiaries  poinl ventures investments Tatal

fm fm €m £m m

On 1 April 2008 19.703 B 445 376 34 28,558
Addmnns - £77 n 5 713
Disposals - (1.003) t8i 14} {1,015}
Deprecistion f arnartisation - - - (61 {6}
Pravision for imparment {11 - {2l - (3t
As at 31 March 2019 19,702 8119 397 29 28,247

The fustorical cost of shares in subsidiaries 1s £2G,025m (2017/18 £20.025ml Investments in joint ventures of £397m (2017/18 £376m}inciudes
£201m [2017/18 £183ml of lcans to Joint veatures by the Company Results of the jaint ventures are set out in note 11 of the consolidated

financial staterments The historicat cast of other investments is £51m [2017/18 £50m|

(E) Net debt

2009 018
tm Em

Secured on the assets of the Company
5.264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 368 369
5.0095% First Morigage Amartising Debentures 2039 9% 95
5.357% First Mortgage Oebenture Bonds 2028 252 255
714 ne

Unsecured

5 50% Seniar Notes 2027 99 100
3.895% Senior US Dollar Notes 2018* - 27
4.635% Servor US Dollar Notes 2021' 148 156
4.766% Serior US Dollar Notes 2023 106 97
5 D03% Semor US Dollar Notes 2025 £9 63
3 81% Senior Notes 2026 111 1o
3 97% Senior Notes 2026 13 12
2.375% Sterfing Unsecured Bond 2029 298 298
4 16% Senigr US Doltar Notes 2025’ 78 -
2.67% Senior Notes 2025 37 -
2.75% Senior Notes 20326 7 -
Ftoating Rate Seruior Notes 2028 80 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 264 595
1,460 1.558
Gross debt 2,174 2277
Interest rate and currency derwatve liabilities 127 133
Interest rate and currency dervatve assets (153) {115l
Cash and shor! term depnsits {182} [32)
Netdebt 1,966 2,263

1. Principal and interest on these borrowings were fully hedged 1nto Sterting at a floating rate at the time of 1ssue
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(E) Net debt continued

0% Convertible bond 2015 {maturity 2020)

On 9 June 2015, Brish Land fWhite) 2015 Lirruted [the 2015 Issuer), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Campany, issued £350 mullion zero
coupon guaranteed convertible bands due 2020 {the 2015 bonds) at par. The 2015 {ssuer is fully guaranteed by the Company in respect of the
2035 bonds.

Subject te their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 issuer which are autoraticalty transferred to the
Cornpany i exchange for ordinery shares in the Company or, at the Company s efection, any combination of ordinary shares and cash
Bondholders may exercise their conversion right at any lime up to but excluding the 7th deaiing day before ¥ fune 2020 (the maturnity date],
a bondhotder may convert at any time

The tnitial exchange price was 1103.32 pence per ordinary share The exchange price 1s adjusted based on certain events [such as the
Company paying dividends in any quarter abave 3 418 pence per ordinary sharel As at 31 March 2019 the exchange price was 1007.24 pence
per ordinary share

From 30 June 2018, the Coampany has the option o redeem the 2015 bonds at par «f the Company's share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified period. or at any tme once 85% by nominal value of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancetled. The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on ¢ June 2020 {the maturity datel If they have not aiready been converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled

The intercompany loan between the Issuer and the Company arising from the transfer of the toan proceeds was initially recegnised at fair
value, net of capitalised 1ssue costs. and 1s accounted for using the amortised cost method Inaddition to the intercompany toan, the Company
has entered 1nto 2 derwative contract relating to i1s guarantee of the obligations of the Issuer in respect of the bonds and the commutment to
provide shares or 2 cambnation of shares and cash on conversion of the bonds This dervative contract is included within the balance sheet as
a Liabitity carmed at faur value through profit and loss

Maturity anatysis of net debt

w9 ma

£m £m

Repayable within one year and on demand 99 27
SEWEER  OfiE NG Wwa yEars i7 -
two and five years 479 506

five and 1en years a08 804

ten and fifteen years 304 305

fifleen and twenty years 465 633

2,075 2,250

Gross debt 2,174 2,277
interest rate dervatives (26 18
Cash and short term deposits (182) (32}
Met debt 1,946 2,263

(F} Pension
The British Land Group of Companies Pension Scheme and the Defined Contributicn Pension Scheme zre the principal pension schermes of
the Company and details are set out In note 9 of the consotidated financral statements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the financial statements continued

(G) Debtors

2019 2018
. €m Em
Trade and other debtors 4 6
Prepayments and accrued income 1 -
5 b
{R) Creditors
2019 2018
m tm
Trade crediors L6 12
Corporation tax 25 21
Other taxation and sacial secucity 25 21
Accruals and delerred income o 34
126 88
(1) Share capital
Ordinary shares
€m of 25p each
tssued. called and fully paid
At 1 Aprit 2018 248 993,857,125
Share 1ssues - 404,377
Repurchased and cancelled (81 {33,672,4301
At 31 March 2019 240 960,589,072
£m &ﬁ:?;fai;
Issued, called and fully paid
AL 1 April 2017 260 1,041,035,058
Share 1ssues - 429,206
Repurchased and cancelled 2l 147.607.139)
At 31 March 2018 248 993,857,125

(J) Contingent liabilities, capital commitments and

related party transactions

The Company has contingent Labilities in respect of legal claims,
guarantees and warranties arising i the ordinary course of
business It 1s not anhicipated that any matenal liabilihes will arise

from the contingent liabilities

At 31 March 2019, the Company has Emil of capital commitmenis

(2017/18 Enil)

Related party transactions are the same for the Company as
for the Group For detatls refer to note 23 of the cansolidated

hinancial statements
(K) Related undertakings

Disclosures relating to subsidiary undertakings

The Company s subsidiaries and other relaied undertakings at

31 March 2019 are listed on the next page. Companies which have
been dissolved since 31 March 2019 are marked with an asienisk (*].
Companies which are in the process of being dissolved are marked
with a double asterisk {**). All Group entities are included 1n the

consolidated financial results
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Unless otherwise siated, the Company holds 100% of the vating rights
and beneficial Inlerests in the shares of the following subsidianes,
partnerships, associates and joint ventures. tnless otherwise stated,
the subsidianies and related undertakings are registered in the
Unsted Kingdom

The share capita! of each of the companies, where applicable,
compnises ordinary shares unless otherwise slated

The Company holds the majority of its assels in UK companies,
although some are held 1n overseas companies In recent years we
have reduced the number of overseas companies in the Group

Unless noted otherwise as per the following key, the registered address
of each company 1s York House, 45 Seymour Street, London W1H 7LX.

1 85t George 5 Street, Douglas iM1 1AH, Isle of Man
2 47 Esplanade, St Helier. Jersey JE1 0BD
3

Barratt House, Cartwright Way, Forest Business Park, Bardon Hill, Coatwlie,
Leicestersiure LE47 WUF

13- 14 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE1 1EE
. 44 Esplanade, St Heher, Jersey JE4A WG
14 Porte de Frange, 4340 Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg

300 Meadowhall Way, Sheilield, Sauth Yackshre, England, 5% 1EA
DE 19801, USA

~ o Lth o



Direct holdings

Company Name

UK/fQOverseas Tax
Resident Status

Indirect holdings

Company Name

UK/Dverseas Tax
Residenl Sialus

BL Bluebution 2014 Limsted
BL Dawidson Limited
BL European Fund Management LLP

BEL Guaranteeco Limiteo

BL Intermediate Holding Cempany Limited

BLSSP {Funding) Limited

Bluebutton Praperty Management UK
Limuted [50% nterest]

Boldswitch BNa 1) Limited
Boldswitch Lumited

British Land White} 2015 Lirmuted Lerseyl

[Founder Shares)
British Land City
British Land City 2005 Limited

British Land Company Secretarial Limited

Britsh tand Financing Limited
Briish Land Froperties Lirmited
Bnitish Land Real Estate Lirted
Bruish Land Securities Limited
8nitish Land Securitisation 1999
8roadgate {Funding) PLC

Broadgate Estates Insurance Mediation
Services Lumited

Hyfleel Lirnited
Kingsmere Produciions Limiled
Lendon and Henley Holdings Limited

Meadowhall Pensions Scherne Trustee
Limited

MSC Progerty Intermediate Holdings
Limited {50% interestj

Priory Park Merton Limited

Regis Property Holdings Limited

The British Land Corporation Lirmited
Vitalcreate **

UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
Uk Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
LK Tax Rasident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident

V& 4 & 7 Tritons Limited
10 Brock Sireet Limtted

10 Partman Square Unit Trust Lersey)
[Unats)?

10 Triton Street Lemited

17-1% Bedfaord Street Limited
18-20 Craven Hill Gardens Limited
20 Brock Street Limited

20 Triton Street Lunited

338 Euston Road Limited

350 Euston Road Limited

39 Victoria Street Limited

B-10 Throgmorion Avenue Limited

Adamant nvestment Corporation Limited

Adshitta Limited

Aldgate Place [GP) Liruted {50% interestf

Apartpower Limited

Ashband Lirmted

B L Unit Trust [Jerseyl [Units)?

8 L Holdings Limited

BLCT (12697) Limited (Jersey)?
BLCT (21500) Lirruted [Jersey)?®
Barnclass Limited

Barndrilt Limited

Bayeast Property Co Limited
Bexle Limited **

BF Propco (No 11 Lirmated

BF Propco (No 13} Limited

BF Propco [No 19} Limited

BF Propco (No 3 Limited

BF Propeco iNo 4 Limited

BF Propco iNo 5} Limited

BF Properties INo 4] Lirnited

BF Properties [No 5] Limtted

Birstall Co-Ownership Trust {Member
interest] (41 25% interest)

BL [Maiderhead} Company Limited
BL ISP) Cannon Street Limited

BL [SP) Investment (1} Limited **
BL [SP) Investrment (2] Lirmited **
BL [SP) investment [3] Limited **
BL [SP) Investment [4] Limited **
BL Bradford Forster Limited

BL Brislington Lirnited

BL Broadgate Fragment | Limutad
BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax REesident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
{JK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Residem
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the financial statements continued

Company Namg

UK/Overseas Tax
Residen! Slatus

Campany Narme

UK/Qverseas Tax
Resident Status

8L Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Linited
BL Broadgate Fragment 5 Lirmted
8L Broadgate Fragment é Limited
BL Broadway Investment Liruted
BL Chess Limited

BL Chess No 1 Limited Partnership
[Partnership interestl

8L City Oftices Holding Company Lirmited
8L Clifton Moor Limited

BL CW Developments Limited

BL CW Developments Plot Al Limited
BL CW Developments Plot A2 Limnted

BL Cw Developments Plot B1/2 Cormpany
Limited

BL CW Developments Plot GV Lumited

BL CW Developments Plot K1 Company
Limited

BL CW Holdings Limited
BL CW Holdings Plot A1 Company Limited
BL CW Holdings Plot A2 Company Limited

BL CW Holdings Plot D1/2 Campany
Limited

BL CW Holdings Plot G1 Campany Limited
BL CW Holdings Plot K1 Company Limited
BL CW Lower GP Company Limited

BL CW Lower Limited Partnership
{Partnership interest)

BL CW Lower LP Company Limited
BL CW Upper GF Company Limsted

BL CW Upper Limited Parinership
[Partnership interest]

BL CW Upper LP Company Lirnited
BL Cwmbran Limited
BL Debs Limited [Jerseyl**

8L Depariment Stares Holding Company
Lismited

BL Dancaster Wheattey Lirmited

BL Drummond Properties Limited
BL Ealing Limited

BL Eden Walk J2012 Lirnited {Jersey]?
BL Eden Walk Limuted

BL European Holdings Limited

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Limuted Partnershup
{Partnership interestl

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Nominee No.1
Limited [Jerseyl?

BL Fixed Uplft Fund Normunee No.?2
Limited [Jerseyl?

UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
QOverseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
(verseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UX Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident
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BL Fixed Upbft General Partner Limied
BL Fixed Uplift Nominee 1 Lirmited
BL Fixed Uplift Nomunee 2 Lumiled

BL Goodman [General Partner) Lemuted
[50% interest)

BL Goodman Limited Partnership {50%
interest}

BL Goodman {LP] Limited
BL GP Chess No 1 Limuted
BL HB Investments Lirmited
BL HC |DSCH! Liruted

BL HC IDSCLY Lunited

8L HC Dollview Limited

BL HC HMampshire PH LLP {Member
interest}

8L HC Health Ang Fitness Holdings
Limited

BL HC Invic Leisure Lirmnited

8L HC PH CRG LLP IMember interestl
BL HC PH LLP [Member interest]

8L HC PH No 1 LLP [Member interest]
BL HC PH Na 2 LLP {Member interest)
BL HC PH No 3 LLP [Member interest)
BL HC Property Holdings Liruted

BL Health Clubs PH No 1 Limited

BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limited

BL High Street and Shopping Centres
Halding Company Limited

BL Holdings 2010 Limited
BL Lancaster Investments Lurated

BL Lancaster Linuted Partnershup
[Partnership interest)

BL Leisure and Industrial Holding
Company Limited

BL Marble Arch House Limited
BL Mayfair Offices Limited

BL Meadowhalt Holdings Limited
BL Meadowhall Limited

BL Meadowhalt No 4 Limited

BL Newpori Limited

BL Office [Non-Cityl Hotding Company
Limited

BL Otffice Holding Company Liruted
BL Osnaburgh St Residential Lid

BL Paddington Holding Company 1
Lirnited

BL Paddington Holding Company 2
Limited

BL Paddington Property 1 Limuted

UK Tax Reswdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resudent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Residert

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Residernt
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
U¥X Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

U¥ Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident



Company Hame

UK/Overseas Tax
Resudent Status

Campany Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Residem Status

BL Paddington Property 2 Limited
BL Paddington Property 3 Lirnited
BL Paddtngton Property 4 Limited
BL MPiccadilly Residential Lirmited

BL Piccadilly Residential Management Co
Limited

BL Piccadilly Residential Retait Limited
BL Residential No.1 Limnited **

BL Residential No.2 Lirnited **

BL Residential Investment Lirnited

BL Restdentiat Management Lirited
BL Residual Holding Company Limited
BL Retaill Holding Company Limited
BL Retad lnvestment Holdings Limited
BL Retail Investments Lwmited

BL Retail Warehousing Holding Company
Limited

BL Samnsbury Superstores Limited (50%
interest)

BL Shoreditch Devetopment Lirmited
8L Shoreditch Generat Partner Limited

8L Shorediteh Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest]

BL Shorediich Ne, 1 Lirmated

Bt Shoreditch No 2 Limited

BL Superstores Holding Company Limited
8L Tritan Building Reswdentia! Limited
8L Tunbndge Wells Limited

BL Unitholder No 1 [J] Limited {Jersey)?
BL Unithalder No 2 [J] Limited ferseyl?
BL Unwversal Limited

BL Wardrobe Court Holdings Limited
BL West iWatling Housel Limited

BL Whiteley Limtted

Bi Whiteley Retail Limited

8L Woolwich Limited

BL Woolwich Norminee 1 Limited

BL Waoelwich Nominee 2 Limited
Blackglen Lirmted

Blackwall [1]

Blaxrnill [Twenty-mine) Limtted

Blaxmull (Thirtyl Limited

81D (Al Limited

8L0 {Ebury Gate| Limited

BLD [SJi lnvestments Limited

BLO{SJ} Lemuted

BLD Land Limited

BLO Preperties Lirnited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Res«dent
UK Tax Resident

BLD Property Holdings Lumited

BLU Estates Lumited

BLU Property Management Limited
BLU Securities Limited

Britsh Land {Jont Ventures] Lirited
Briish Land Acquisitions Limited
Briish Land Aqua Partnership (2 Limited
British Land Aqua Partnership Limited
British Land Cuty Offices Limited

Bntish Land Construction Limited
British Land Department Stores Limited
Britrsh Land Developments Limited
Britrsh Land Fund Management Limited
British Land Hercules Limited

Brtish Land In Town Reta:l Limited
British Land Industnal Limited

gnush Lano investment Management
Lirmuted

British Land Investments NV
{Netherlands)

Briush Land Offices (Nan-Cityl Limited
Brbsh Lang Offices IMon-Citvl No 2
Lirnuted

British Land Offices Limited

British Land Offices No 1 Limited
Britsh Land Property Advisers Limited

British Land Property Management
Limited

British Land Regeneration Limuted *~

British Land Superstores [Non
Secunitised] Number 2 Limited

Broadgate [PHC 8] Limited

Broadgate Adjoining Properties Limited
Broadgate City Lirnited

Broadgate Court Investments Limited
Broadgate Fstates Lurmuted

Broadgate Estates People Management
Limited

Broadgate Exchange Square

Broadgate Investment Holdings Limited
Broadgate Properties Limited
Broadgate REIT Liruted {30% 1nterest)*
Broadgate Square Limited

Broughton Retail Park Limited [Jerseyl
{Uruts) {39 D7% interest)?

Broughton Ui Trust (39 07% interest]?
Brunswick Park Limited
BYP Developments Limited

UK Tax Reswdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tex Reswdent

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
U)K Tax Recident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Residen!
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

QOverseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UX lax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Naotes to the financial statements continued

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Stalus

Canada Water Olfices Limited
Casegood Enterpnises
Caseplane Limited
Cavendish Geared I} Limited
Cavendish Geared Limited
Caymalt Limited

Chantway Lirmted

Cheshine Properties Limited
Chester byimited?

Chrisilu Nominees Limited

City of London Office Unit Trust (Jersey}
{Units} {35 4% interesti?

Clarges Estate Propecty Management Co
bimited

Comgenic Limited

Cornmish Residental Properties Trading
Limited

Cornish Residential Property Investments
Limited

Crescent West Properties

Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust (39 07%
interest)

Derty investment Holgngs Limiied
Binwell Limited

Drake Circus Centre Limuted

Drake Circus Lessure Lirmted

Drake Property Holdings Limuted

Orake Property Noerrunee (No. 1] Limited
Drake Property Normunee [No 2] Limited

Eden Walk Shopping Centre General
Partner Limited [50% nterest}

Eden Walk Shepping Centre Unit Trust®
[50% interest] {Jerseyl Hnuts!

Elementvirtue Lirnited

Elk Mitl Oldham Limited

Estate Management 1Brick} Limited
Euston Tower Limited

Exchange House Holdings Lirnsted
Exchange Sguare Management Limited
Fort Kinnaiwrd GP Limuted (39.07% interest]

Fort Kinnaird Limited Partnershup 139 07%
interest]

Fort Kinnaird Nominee Limited (39.07%
interest]

Four Broadgate Limited

FRP Group Limuted
Garamead Properties Limited
Gardenray Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

LUK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UR Tax Resideni
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

COverseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Residert
UK Tax Resident
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Gibraltar General Partner Limited (39 07%
interest}

Gibraltar Nominees Limited (39.07%
interest)

Gillby ook Retail Park Nottingham Lirmited
Glenway Limited

Hernpel Holdings Limited

Hernpel Hotels Limited

Hercules Property UK Holdings Limited
Hercules Property UK Limuted

Hercules Uit Trust [78 14% interest)
{Jersey) [Umts)?

Hereford Otd Market Limuted
Hereford Shopping Centre GP Limited

Hereford Shopping Centre Lirmuted
Partnership

Horndeift Limited

HUT investments Liniled {Jersey) |78 14%
nterestP

Industnal Real Estate Limited
Insistmetal 2 Limited

ivorydell Limited

voryaeil Subsidiary Lavwied

voryhill Licnited

Jetbtoorn Limited

L&H Developments Limited **
Lancaster General Partner Limited
Linestair Limied

London and Henley [UK] Limited
tondon and Henley Limited
Lonebridge UK Limited

Longford Street Residential Limvted
Ludgate investment Holdings Lirmted
Ludgate West Lirmited

Mayiatr Properties

Maytlower Retail Park Basildon Limited

Meadowbank Retail Park Edinburgh
Limited

Meadowhali Centre {1999} Limited
Meadowhall Centre Limuted

Meadowhatl Centre Pension Scheme
Trustees Limited

Meadowhall Estates (UK| Limited
Meadowhall Group {MLP) Limnted
Meadowhatl Holdings Limited
Meadowhatl (MLP) Limited

Meadowhall Opportunities Nominee 1
Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resydent
UK Tax Resident



Company Mame

Yr/Overseas Tax
Resudant Status

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Residenl Slalus

Meadowhalt Opporiunities Naminee 2
Lirmited

Meadowhall Shopping Centre Limited
Meadowhall Shopping Centre Property

Holdings Limmteg

Meadaewhall Sublo Limited
Meadowhall Training Lemnited

Mercart

Mercan Holdings Limited

Minhill lavestments Lemited

Macrage {Praperty Developments) Lirmited
Nugent Shopping Park Limited

One Hundred Ludgate Hill

One Sheldon Sguare Limited Jerseyl?
Orbital Shopping Park Swindon Limited
Osnaburgh Street Liruted

Paddington Block A IGP} Ltd

Paddington Block A LP [Partnership
interest}

Paddingtan Block B {GP] Ltd

Padaington Block B LP [Partnership
interest)

Paddington Central | iGP] Lirmited

Paddington Central | LP [Partnership
nterest)

Paddington Centrat | Norminee Limited

Paddington Central | Unit Trust Llersey!
Hnits?

Paddington Central H {GP} Limited

Paddington Central H LP [Partnership
interest}

Paddington Central H Uit Trust (Jersey)
[Urits)?

Paddington Central IV Unit Trust [Jerseyl
[Jruts)?

Paddington Central ¥V [Trustee 1] Limited?
Paddington Central IV [Trustee 2] Limited?
Paddington Kiosk {1GP) Ltd

Paddington Kiosk LP (Parlnership
nterest]

PaddingtonCentral Management Company
Limuted {87 5% interest)

Pardev lLuton| Limnited
Parwtck Holdings Limited
Parwick Investrments Lirmited
~C Canal Linuted

PC Lease Nominee Ltd

PC Partnerstip Nominee Ltd
Piccadiily Resrdental Lirmited
Pittar {Beckton] Lirmuted

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident
tJK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resddent
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
Qverseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Qverseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resrdent
Overseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
K Tax Resident

Pillar {Cricklewood] Lirmited
Pillar {Dartford} Limited
Pilar (Fulharml Limited
Pritar Auchinlea Linuted
Pillar Broadway Limited
Pittar City Limnited

Piilar Bartford No 1 Lirmited
Pillar Denton Lirmited

Pilar Cevetopments Limited
Pillar Estates Limited

Pillar £siates No 2 Limutad
Pillar Europe Management Limited
Pillar Farnborough Limited
Pillar Fort Lursted

Pillar Fulham No 2 Lirmited
Pillar Gallions Reach Limuted

Pitar Glasgow 2 Lirnited
Puiar Glasgow 3 Limited
Pifar Hercules No 2 Limiled
Pillar Kinnaird Limited

Pilar Nugent Lirmited

Pillar Projects Limited

Pillar Property Group Limsited
Pillarman Limited [50% interest}
PillarStore Limited
PillarStore No 3 Limited
Plyrnouth Retasl Lirmited
Power Court GP Limited

Power Couri Luton Limtted Partnership
[Partnership interesi)

Power Court Nominee Lirmited
Power Court Mominees No 2 Lirmited

PREF Management Company SA
[Luxernbourgl®

Project Sunrise Investments Limited
Project Sunrise Limited

Project Sunnse Properties Limuted
Prudential Property investments Limited
Rebotine Linited

Regent's Place Holding 1 Limited
Regent’s Place Holding 2 Limited
Regent’s Place Holding Company Limited

Regents Place Managernent Company
Limited

Regents Place Residentiat Limited
Rigphone Limited
Rohawk Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
ull Taa Resdant
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Residen!
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Qverseas Tar Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the financial statements continued

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Stalus

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

Sailmax Properties

Seymour Street Homes Limited
Shopping Centres Limuted
Shareditch Support Limited

Six Broadgate Limited

Southgate Generat Partner Lirmited (50%
interest)

Southgate Property Unut Trust {Jerseyl
[Uruts] 150% interesti?

Speke Unit Trust [67.34% interest] [Jerseyl
{Units]?

Sprint 1118 Lirmited
St James Parade [43] Liruted **

St James Retall Park Northampton
Limited

St. Stephens Shopping Centre Limited
Stockton Retail Park Limited
Storey Offices Limuied
Storey Spaces Limited
Surrey Quays Limited
Sydale

T [Partnership] Limnited
Talress Limited

TBL iBrent Park) Limiled **
TBL {Bromley) Limited

TBL [Bursledon) Limited
TBL {Buryl Limited

TBL {Ferndown] Limited **
TBL (Lisnagelvin| Limited
TBL (Maidstonel Limated
TBL (Milton Keynes} Limited
TBL (Peterboroughf Limited
T8L Holdings Limited

TBL Properties Limited
Teesside Leisure Park Limited
Ten Fieet Place

The Aldgate Place Limited Partnership
{Partnership interesti [50% interest)

The Dartford Partnership IMember
nterestl [50% interest]

The Gibrattar Limited Partnership
{Partnership interest) [39.07% interest)

The Hercuwles Progperty Limited
Partrership {Partnershup interest]
139 07% interest]

The Leadenhall Development Company
Limited (50% interest]

The Liverpool Exchange Company Limited
The Mary Streat Estate Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resrdent
UK Tax Residert
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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The Meadowhall Education Centre
{Limited by guarantee] (50% nterest’

The Retail and Warehouse Company
Eirted

The TBL Property Partinership
[Partnership inferesi)

The Whiteley Co-Ownership [Member
interest] (50% wterest]

Tollgate Centre Colchester Limited
Topside Street Limited

TPP investments Limited

Tweed Premier 4 Limited

Union Property Corporation Limited
Umion Property Hotdings [London] Limited

United Kingdom Property Company
Limited

Valentine Co-ownership Trust
IMember interest] 139 07% mnterest)

Valentine Unit Trust (Jerseyl (Units)
{3% G7% interes(}?

Vicenitee Limited

Vintners' Place Limited

Wardrobe Court Limnted

Wardrobe Heldings Limited

Wardrobe Place Limited

Wates Cily of London Properties Limited
Wates City Property Management Ltmiled

Westbourne Terrace Partnership
{Partnerstip interest]

Whiteley Shopping Centre Unit Trust
{Jerseyl [Unnsi?

WK Hotdings Limuted
York House W1 Limsted

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident




Supplementary disclosures

Unaudited unless otherwise stated

Table A: Sumnary income statement and balance sheet (Unaudited)

Summary income statement based on proportionat consolidation for the year ended 31 March 2019
The following pro forma information 1s unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes therelo
i presents the results of the Group, with its share of the resulis of joint ventures and tunds included on a Une-by-Une basis and exciuding

non-controiling snlerests

Year ended 21 March 2019

Year epded 31 March 7114

Jaint Less Less
ventures non-contsolling Proporionally Jointventures  non-controlbng  Proportionally
Gr?:: and 1ur'\:::= imam:'t“s tnnsolida:: Gru{\:: and fmg:: mlerecsrl: ccnsunuag:
Gross rentat incame 439 155 {18} 576 441 193 (24 613
Property operauing expenses (35] (o) 1 {44} (291 {9] 1 (37
Net rental income 404 145 1N 532 412 184 {20) 576
Administrative expenses {80} 1 - (811 {82l i1 - {83)
Net fees and other iIncome 9 - 1 10 13 - 2 15
Ungeared income return 333 144 {18) 461 343 183 (18) 508
Net financing costs (67) (58] & f121) {64] (68) 4 {128l
Underlying Profit 266 86 {12) 340 279 115 (14} 380
Underlying taxation - - - - - - - -
Undertying Profit after taxation 266 86 {12} 340 279 115 {14} 380
Valuation movement (683) 254
Other capital and taxation [net)’ 52 141}
Result attributable to
shareholders of the company iZ771 s

i Includes other romprehenswve income movement in dilution of share apt:ons and the movernent in tems excluded for EPRA NAV

Summary balance sheet based on proportional consolidation as at 31 March 2019
The following pro forma infarmation 15 unacdsted and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the nates therets

It presents the composition of the EPRA net assets of the Group, with i1s share of the net assets of the joint venture and fund assets and
lsabilities included on a line-by-line basis, and excluding noa-controlling interests, and assuming fult dilution.

Mark-1g-

Share of Less market an Valualion EPRA Net

joint non- dervalives and surglys on EPRA Net assats

ventures  camirobling Share Defarred related debr Head trading assets It March

Group and tunds nlerests aplions 13x  adustmants leases preperties 31 March 201% 018

Em Ern £ tm tm £m £m im £m £m

Retail properties 4,378 1,583 (3171 - - - 1671 - 5,577 6.5%6

Othice properties 4,299 2,012 - - - - 1191 16 4,308 4,705

Canada Water progerties 38 - - - - - 115} - 303 283

Other properties 95 19 - - - - - 13 128 132

Total properties 9.0 3,614 1317) - - - {101} 29 12,316 13,716
investments i joint ventures

and funds 2,560  [2,550) - - - - - - - -

Other snvestments 151 - - - - - - - 151 172

Other net lhabilities] assets {348} {82] 3 24 5 - 101 - 297 {355)

Net debt [2,785) 1972] i03 - - 113 - - [3,521) {3,731

Net assets 8,689 - 211 24 5 113 - 29 8,649 2.560

EPRA NAV per share {nate 2] 05p 67p
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Supplementary disclosures continued
Unaudited

EPRA Net assets mavement

Year ended

Year ended

31 March 2019 31 March 2018
Pence per Pence per
£m share Emn share
Opentng EPRA NAY 9,560 967 9.498 215
Income return 40 as 380 37
Caputal retura {7491 (77] 285 29
Dwidend pard tzye) {30} {302} {29
Purchase of own shares {204) 10 (3011 15
Closing EPRA NAY 8,649 905 9,560 967
Table B: EPRA Performance measures
EPRA Performance measures summary table
019 2018
Pance per Pence per
im shary £m share
EPRA Earrungs - basic 340 35.0 380 375
- diluted 340 34.9 380 374
EPRA Net Initial Yietd 4.5% 4 3%
CPRA tepped-up’ Net Initial Yield 4. 7% 4 6%
£PRA Vacancy Rate £1% 32%
2019 018
Net asset Net asset
Net assetd value par Nel assels valye per
Im  sharelpence) £m  share (pencel
CORA NAY 8,647 F65 7.560 Jo7
EPRA NNNAV 8,161 854 9044 ATA
Calculation and reconcitiation of EPRA/IFRS earrnings and EPRA/IFRS earnings per share
{Audited] “em s
[Loss] praftt attributable to the shareholders of the Company {2911 493
Exclude-
Group - current taxation 13 11}
Group - deferred taxation 4 [s)
Joint vertures and funds ~ taxation (21 -
Group - valuation movement £20 {202
Group - loss {prohit] on dispesal of investment properties and investments i8 {18
Group - profit on disposal of trading properties {921 {14]
Jomnt ventures and funds - net valuation movernent lincluding result on disposals) &0 (491
Jont ventures and funds - capital inancing costs 21 13
Changes in fair value of financial instruments and associated close-out costs 46 163
Non-controtling interests i respect of the above 147) -
Underlying Profit 340 380
Group - underlying current taxation - -
EPRA earnings - basic and diluted kA 380
[Loss) profit atiributable to the shareholders of the Company 12911 493
Dilutive effect of 2015 convertible bond - -
IFRS earnings - diluted (291} 593
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Table B continued

019 2018
Number Number
mellion miltion
Weighted average number of shares 982 1,024
Adjustment for treasury shares (11} (11}
IFRS/EPRA Weighted average number of shares (basic) 71 1.013
Miluewve effect of share options 1 i
Ditutive effect of ESOP shares 2 2
Odutive effect of 2015 convertible bond - -
IFRS / EPRA Weighted average number of shares (diluted} 74 1,076
Net assets per share [Audited)
2019 018
Pence Pence
£m per share £m per share
Balance sheet net assets 8,689 2,506
Deferred tax arising on revaluation movements 5 5
Mark-to-market on denvatves and related debt adjustments 113 137
Dilution effect of share options 24 32
Lurplds on trading ﬁraperliés 23 ida
Less non-controlling mterests (211} {254}
EPRA NAV 8,649 {05 9.960 987
Deferred tax arising on revaluation movements (11} {31)
Mark-tc-market on dervatives and related debt adjusiments [113) 1137
Mdrk-i0-Mar kel O GEGT {3541 348
EPRA NNNAV 8,181 854 2,044 214

EPRA NNNAV 15 the EPRA NAV adiusted to reflect the fair value of the debt and derwatives and te include the geferred laxation on revaluations

angd derwatives

2019 2018

Number Number

rtlzon mithien

Number of shares at year end 960 %4
Adjustment for treasury shares (11 {11l
IFRS/EPRA number of shares [basic) 9249 983
htutive effect of share options 2 1
Ditutsve effect of ESOP shares 5 5
Dlutwe effect of 2015 convertible band - -
IFRS / EPRA number of shares [diluted) 954 289
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Supplementary disclosures continued
Unaudited

EPRA Net Initiat Yield and topped-up’ Net Initial Yield {Unaudited)

2019 2018
tm £m
lnvestrment property - whally-owned 8,761 9,682
tnvestmeni property - share of joint ventures and funds 3,555 4,034
Less developments, residential and land (1,098) 1.315)
Campieted property portfolio 11,218 12,401
Allowance for estumated purchasers’ costs 751 799
Gross up completed property portfolio valuation (A) 11,969 13,200
Annualised cash passing rental sncome 548 584
Property outgoings (14) {11
Annuatised net rents (B] 534 573
Rent expiration of rent-free periods and fixed uphits! 2 28
‘Topped-up’ net annualised rent {C} 566 &M
EPRA Net Initial Yield 1B/A} 4.5% 4.3%
EPRA ‘topped-up’ Net initial Yield {C/A) 4.7% 4.6%
Inciuding hxed/mimmum uphifts recewed 1n lieu of rental growth 8 11
Total ‘topped-up’ net rents (D) 574 612
Overall ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield [D/A} ) 4B%  46%
Topped-up net annualised rent 566 601
ERV vacant space 22 21
Reversions 0 32
Total ERV (E) 618 654
Net Reversionary Yield (E/A) 5.2% 5.0%

1 The weighied average period over which rent-free periods exprre 1s 1 year (2017418 1year)

EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY¥] basis of calculation

EPRA NIY s calcutated as the annuatised net rent fon a cash flow basis], dwded by the gross value of the completed property partfalio

The valuation of our completed property portfolio is determined by our external valuers as at 31 March 2019, plus an altowance for estimated
purchaser's costs Estimated purchaser s costs are determined by the relevant stamp duty liability, plus an estimate by our valuers of agent
and tegal lees on notional acquisiton The net rent deduction atlowed for property outgoings Is based on aur valuers’ assumpliens on future
recurnng non-recoverabie revenue expendiure

In calcutating the EPRA topged-up’ NIY, the annualised net rent is increased by the total contracted rent from expiry of rent-free peniods and
future contracled renlal uphilts where dekined as not i iew of growth Overall topped-up” NIY s calculated by adding any other contracted
future uplift to the ‘topped-up’ net annualised rent

The net reversionary yield is calculated by dviding the total estimated rental value [ERV] tor the completed property portfolio, as determined by
our external vatuers, by the gross campleted praperly portfolio valuation

The EPRA vacancy rate 15 calculated as the ERV of the unrented. letiable space as a proportion of the 1otal rental value of the completed
property porifolio

EPRA Yacancy Rate
2019 208
€m tm
Annualised potennial rental value of vacant premises 26 21
Annuahised potentiat rentat value for the completed property portfalio 629 564
EPRA Yacancy Rate 4.1% 32%

The above is stated for the UK porticlio anly A discussion of sigruhicant factors alfecting vacancy rates 1s included within the Strategic Report
[pages 32 to 331.
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Table B continued
EPRA Cast Ratios (Unaydited)

2019 8

£m Em

Property operating expenses 34 28
Admimistrative expenses 80 82
Share of joint ventures and furds expenses 11 i0
Less Performance and management fees {from joint ventures and funds] (8l (st
Net other fees and commissions (2} (7)
Ground rent costs and operating expenses de facto included w1 rents (%} (2}

EPRA Costs lincluding direct vacancy costs) (A) 106 103
Drrect vacancy costs {13} (2]
EPRA Costs {excluding diract vacancy costs} [B) 93 91
Gross Rental income less ground rent costs and eperating expenses de facto included in rents 414 422
Share of joint ventures and funds [GRI tess ground reat costs} 153 189
Total Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs (C) 567 611
EPRA Cost Ratio lincluding direct vacancy costs) |A/C) 18.7% 16 9%
EPRA Cost Ratio [excluding direct vacancy costs} (B/C) 16.46% 4 9%
Overhead and operating expenses capitalised lincluding share of joint ventures and funds) & 5

In the current year, emplayee costs in relation 1o staff ime on development prajects have baen capitalised into the base cost of relevant
developrment assets.

Table £ Gross remtal invome
201% 2018
£€m £m
Rent recewable 587 604
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases {13 121
Surrender prema 2 21
Gross rental income 5§76 413
The current and prioc year nformation 1s presented on a propoctionally consolidated basis, excluding non-controlleng interests
Table D: Property related capital expenditure
2019 w8
Joim Jont
vYentures ventures
Group and funds Total Group and funds Totat
£m Em Em £m Em Em
Acquisitions 221 15 234 250 - 250
Development 183 ! 274 132 92 184
Like-for-like portfolio 35 19 54 23 27 30
Qther 12 8 20 17 5 22
Total property related capex 451 133 584 422 84 506

The above is presented on a proporiionally consolidated basss, exciuding non-contrelling interests and business combinatrons. The 'Other’
calegory containg amounts owing to tenant incentives of £7m [2017/18 £5mil, letting fees of £5m [2017/18 E5ml, capitalised stalf costs of £6m
(2017/18- £5md and capitalised interest of £3m {2017/18 £7ml
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Other

information

Other information {unaudited)
Sustamnabiity performance measures
Ten year record

Shareholder information
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1 Finsbury
Avenue

Broadening horizons

Qver 3,300 people have benelitted {rom our Broadgate
construction team’s community actmites over the last
two years, inctuding lacal schoclchiddren, jabseekers and
pecple affected by hamelessness Eight students from
the University of East London have gained six manths’
paid work expertence at 1 Finsbury Avenue, supperted

by cur construction partners, architects and engineers
Cver 60 apprentizes and irainees have also developed
therr skulls through eur Broadgate constructian actvity
over the (ast two years, including 20 2t 1 Finsbury Avenue
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UNAUDITED

{Data inciudes Group's share of Jaint Ventures and Funds)

Sales
Price Price Annual

[100%} {8 Shara] Passing Rent
Since 3 April 2018 Sector tm £m £mt
Completed
5 Broadgate Otfices 1,060 300 18
Partfolio of Spirit Pubs Retait 123 123 iR
Cheltenham Gallagher Retail Park Retail 73 8 1
Clapham Junction Debenhams Retait 48 48 2
Richmond Homebase' Retail 45 45 i
Leeds Westside Retad Park Retal 39 39 2
Glasgow B&G Retail 28 28 2
Bath Homebase Retai 27 27 1
Bracknell Dawid Lloyd Retail 25 25 2
Altrincham Sainsburys Retal 24 i2 1
Bath Weston Lock Retall Park Retar 18 18 1
Southampton David Lloyd Retait 15 15 1
Harrow Homebase Retad 14 14 i
Hamilton David Lioyd Retail 10 10 1
Brentwoad Virgin Active Retad 12 12 1
MNorthallerton Sainsburys Retail 7 3 -
Lancaster Castle View Retail 5 5 -
Ctarges, Mayfai? Residential 335 335 -
Aldgate Phase 1 Residential 1 - -
Exchanged
Portfolio of Sainsbury s stores® Retait 429 194 V2
Clarges* Residential 24 24 -
Total ) ) 2,302 1,505 58
1 Exchanged during the year ended 31 March 2018, completed in the period
2 £253m ol which exchanged pnor to FY19 and completed in the perod
3 Exchanged post year endin Aprid 2019
4 E18m of which exchanged post year end
S BL share of annualised rent topped up for rent frees
Purchases

Price Price Annuat

106%I (BL Sharel Passing Rent
Since 1 Aprif 7018 Seclor <m £m cm’
Completed
Royal Victoria Place, Tunbridge Wells Retast 92 92 3
184 - 192 Drummond Street Offices 38 38 1
158 - 164 Bishopsgate Qffices 34 36 2
& - 8 Eldon Stree? Dffices 27 14 ]
Hercules Unit Trust unis Retail 18 18 1
37 Sun Street Offices 9 9
Exchanged
Orsman Road, Haggersten Offices 32 a2 -
Total 252 239 8

1 BL share of annualised rent topped up for rent frees
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Portfolio Valuation

Group  JVs & Funds Total Change %'
At 31 March 201% &m £m £€m Hi Hz (24
West End 4,066 - 4,066 (U] 03 07
Cuy 230 2,012 2,242 14 0.7 19
Offices 4,298 2,012 4,308 0.7 0.5 1.1
Regionat 997 1,767 2.764 14 0) 16 9] 110 &}
Local 1.613 360 1.973 (6 8} i8 8) 116 9)
Multi-let 2,610 2,127 4,737 {5.2} (7.8} {12.5)
Department Stores and Leisure 323 - 323 (3.7} i3.8) (6 5]
Superstores £8 244 332 07 129 (3 6]
Solus and Qther 185 - 185 02} 14.6) a7
Retail 3,208 2,371 5,577 14.51 {7.0} 1.1
Residential? 109 19 128 13.11 {1.5} 14.4)
Canada Water 303 - 303 0.3 {1.0} (0.8)
Totatl 7.914 4,402 12,316 1.9 {3.2) {4.8)
Standing Investments 7.334 3,975 11,309 {2.5] i3.91 16.0)
Developments 580 £27 1,007 7.2 4.6 108

1 Vaiualion mevement during the period lalter taking sccount of capital expendilure] of propertes held at the balance sheet date, including developments [classitied by
end usel. purchases and sales
2 Standalone residential

Portfotio Yietd & ERV Movements’

NEY ERY Mavement %M NEY Yicld Mavement bps?

AL 31 March 2919 % M1 HZ FY H1 HE FY
West End 43 G2 Tt 14 - 2 3
Caty &7 0t 12 13 1 -

Offices 4.4 0.2 11 1.4 1 1 2
Regional 53 108] {14 (22l 9 27 36
!ocal e 28 fag 56 21 n 7 i
Multi-let 5.6 {1.8) (2.5 [4.0] 14 27 41

Department Stores and Leisure 56 (2.8 (19 [4.7] 1n {18} 34

Superstores 53 02 {05l 0.7) (1 16} {8l
Solus and Other 56 [@.1) {z1 [22] {13] 44 31

Retait 5.4 {t.5} (2.3) {3.8) 14 kL] 37

Canada Water* 3.9 0.4 0.1 0.4 [4) - -
Totat 5.0 (0.8} [0.8] [1.6]) 7 19 19

1 Excluding developments under construction, asseis held for development and residential assels
2 As calculated by IPD

3 Inctuding notional purchaser s costs

& Reflects s1anding investment only

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 187



UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Retail Portfolio Valuation ~ Previous Classification Basis

Valuation' Change %! ERY Movement % HEY Yiald Movement bps®
A131 March 2019 tm HY H2 Y H1 H2 £y Wi W2 £y
Shopping Parks 2593 (55 (851 {1321 (z 11 (2.61 (4 & 13 35 47
Shopping Centres 2115 37 63 198l 01 20 21 13 20 34
Superstores 332 0.7 2.9 {3 6} 02l {05 07 {1 (6] i}
Department Stores 70 24 9| {20.3 40N [18.4] (8.8 {25 &l 119 1601 147
High Street 169 1.4 {7 8) 88 02 (37 39 2 7 5
Leisure 298 20 - 19 00 0.0 0.0 2 1 13
Retail 5,577 (4.5) 7.0} {11.1) (1.5) 12.3) [3.8) 14 36 37

-

end usel. purchases and sales
As calculated by (PO
Including pobienal purchaser's tosts

& G

Gross Rental Income’

. Group's share of properties in joint ventures and funds including HUT at ownership share
Valuation movement during the year (afler taking account of capital expendiurel of properties held al the balance sheei date, inciuding developmenls [classified by

12months to 31 March 2019

Annualised as at 31 March 2019

Accounting Basis £m Group  JVs &Funds Total Greup  Jvs & Funds Total
West End 141 - 141 140 - 140
Cuy 9 70 79 7 68 75
Offices 150 70 220 147 68 215
Regional 57 90 147 57 86 143
Lacal 98 24 122 90 23 113
Mutti-tet 155 114 269 147 1ae 256
Department Stores and Leisure 38 - 38 26 - 24
Superslores 5 16 21 5 15 20
Sotus and Other 14 - 14 12 - 12
Retail 212 130 342 188 124 312
Residential? 5 - 5 [A - 4
Canada Water 9 - 9 8 - 8
Total 376 200 576 LT 192 539

1 Gross rental income wilt diifer from annualised rents due 1o accounling adjustments for fixed & Minimum contracied rental uplifts and lease incentives

2 Slandalone residential
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Portfolio Net Yields'?

EPRA topped Overailtopped Net

EPRAnel  upnetinitial  upnetivitial Netequivalent reversionary
AL31 March 201% intial yietd % yield %7 yield % yield % yield %
West End 36 40 4.0 4.3 £8
City 4.0 44 44 47 53
Offices 38 4.1 4.2 4.4 5.0
Regiwonal Litestyle 48 5.0 51 53 54
Local Lifestyle 54 5.4 57 59 58
Multi-let 5.1 5.2 53 5.6 5.4
Departrent Stores & Leisure 6.1 a.1 72 56 50
Superstaores 5.6 56 5¢ 53 52
Solus & Other 40 62 62 5S4 46
Retail 5.2 5.3 85 5.6 55
Canada Water 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.9 40
Total 4.5 4.7 4.8 5.0 5.2
On a proportionatly conschdated basis including the Group s share of joint ventures and funds
b Including notional purchaser s costs
2 Excluding committed develaprments, assets held Jor development and residential assets
3 Including rept contracted from expiry of rent-free persods and hied uplifts not in keu of rental growth
4 Including fixed/mirimurmn upliizs lexcluded from EFRA definitton]
Total Property Return {as calcutated by IPD)
12 months to 31 Mareh 2019 OHwes Retail Total
% ar:tsh Land PO Britich Lars Pn Britisk Land 3
Capital Return 14 20 f114] 73 (501 01
- ERV Crowth 14 12 138 133 i1 6} a2
- Yield Movement! 2 bps 110 bps) 37 bps 24 bps 19 bps {1 bps)
income Return 34 38 53 50 43 44
Totai Property Return 4.9 5.8 (6.6 12.8] (0.9 4.5

On a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group s share of joint ventures and funds

1. Net equivalent yietd mavement
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Occupiers Representing over 0.5% of Total Contracted Rent

At 31 March 2019 % of Lotal rent % ol tolat rent
Tesco! 4.8 Deutsche Bank 08
Samnsbury's? 3.7 Homebase pg
Debenhams? 34 Stesnhoff 08
Government 30 Henderson 68
Next 264 TGI Fridays a7
Kingfisher 23 Reed Smith 07
Facebook? 20 Lews Trust {Rwer islang] 07
Dentsu Aegls 20 H& M 07
Alliance Boots® 19 DFS Furaiture Group 07
Yisa 17 NEX Grp Plc aé
M&S 17 Restaurant Group 06
Dixons Carphone 15 Mayer Brown 06
Arcadia 19 Primark 0&
Herbert Sruth Freehills 14 Hutchison Whampoa Ltd 0é
Gazprom 11 Cavid Lioyd 046
TIXITK Maxx| LR Credit Agricole 06
JO Sports Fashion 1.1 Lendlease 0é6
Vodafone 11 Pets at Home 06
SportsDirect 1.0 BridgeStreet 06
Microsaft 1.0 Mimecast Lid 056
Mew Look 140 Aramco 05
virgin 09 Wilko Retail 05
Asda 09

[ N

Includes £3 4m at Surrey Quays Shopping Ceatre
Reduces ta 1 8% foliowing past year end sale of 12 stores
Detenhams reduces ta 1 8% and Facebook increases 1o 3 6% lollowmg post year end letting of 10 Brock Street to Facebaok

28 210 Traa 1 e ‘-—.»;-- 13t ot ”}_f_ﬂlﬂ'-‘ st} )-...__:S,“p ro IE_,_.ﬂ_.._;. =f
5 5% As part w leu:ng Denlsu AEgIS have an uphun ta return ther existing space at 10 Tmon Streetin 2021 |{ this eplion s
exercised, there s an adjustment ta the rent free period in respect of the letung at 1 Triton Square ta compensate Batsh Land

Major Holdings

BL Share sqft  Rent{100%} Geeupancy  Lease tength
At 31 March 2019 % ‘00 Empa's rate %% ys*
Broadgate 50 4133 138 967 5%
Regent's Place 100 1,740 77 987 56
Paddington Central 100 958 45 §72 54
Meadowhall, Sheffield 50 1,500 88 989 59
Glasgow Fort 78 510 22 970 60
Eabing Broadway 100 540 15 908 46
Drake's Circus. Plymouth 100 1.082 19 963 69
Teesside, Stockton 100 569 16 943 47
Sansburys Superstores’ 5 1,457 31 100.0 8.3
Portman Square 100 134 10 1000 65
} Annualised EPRA contracted rent inctuding 100% of Joint Ventures & Funds
2 Includes accommaodation under offer or subject to assel management
3 Weighted average to first break
4 Exclydes committed and near term developments
. Comprises standalane slores Followsng postyear end sate of 12 Sansbury's superstores, BL share percentage increases 10 55%, sq fl reduces to 325,000, rent

reduces to £8m and lease length increases lo § 9 years
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Lease Length & Occupancy

Average tease lengih yrs Occupancy rate %
EPRA
AL 31 March 2015 Toexpiy Tobreak Occupancy  Dcocupancy™™
West End 68 5.7 97 2 983
City 66 5% 9372 95 4
Offices 6.7 5.7 95.8 97.7
Regional 72 440 957 7.0
Local 69 5.4 247 953
Multi-let 7.0 5.8 95.3 96.2
Department Stores and Leisure 153 153 1009 100.0
Superstores 122 122 1800 1000
Solus and Other 11 105 1000 1000
Retail 8.0 7.0 95.9 96.7
Canada Water 5.6 5.5 98.5 98.7
Total 7.4 6.4 95.9 97.2

1 Space allocated 1o Storey s shown as occupied where there 1s a Storey tenant i place otherwise it 15 shown as vacant Total eccupancy would nise from 97 2% to
97 5% if Storey space were assumed Lo be fully tet
2 Includes accommodation under offer or subject to asset management

3 Where occupters have entered administration or CVA bui are stll bable for rates, these are treated as occupied Reitectsing units currently occupied but expected ta
becomne vacant, then the accupancy rate lor Retail would reduce from 96 7% to 96 1%, and tolal occupancy would reduce from 97 2% o 96 9%

Portfolio Weighting

2018 2019 209
At 31 March % " £m
yvest Cha 36 300 4085
City 179 18.2 2,242
Offices 48.9 51.2 4,308
Regional Litestyle 221 224 2764
Locat Lifestyle 167 161 1.973
Multi-let 38.8 38.5 4,737
Department Stores & Leisure 43 26 323
Superstores 26 27 332
Solus & Other 23 15 185
Retail 48.0 45.3 5.577
Residential’ 1.0 1.0 128
Canada Water 2.1 2.5 303
Total 100.0 100.0 12,314
Londan Weighting 59% 51% 8,127

i Standalone residential
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Annualised Rent & Estimated Rental Yalue (ERY]

Annualised rent [valuation basis) Cm* ERV £m Average rent psf
AL31 March 2019 Group J¥3 & Funds Total Total Contracted! ERY
West End® 139 - 139 184 586 672
City? 7 &7 74 101 487 5746
Ofttices® 144 &7 213 285 54.8 435
Regional Lifestyle 58 90 148 166 3.0 335
Local Litestyle 96 24 120 130 234 245
Mudlti-let 154 114 248 294 276 289
Department Stores & Lessure 21 - 21 17 15.9 129
Superstores 5 15 20 18 272 204
Solus & Other 12 - 12 9 0.2 155
Retail 192 129 Krdl 340 253 261
Residential* 4% - 4 4 44.8 37.9
Canada Water® 8 - 8 10 17.9 218
Total 351 196 547 639 31.3 34.7

-

head leases. excludes contracted rent subjecd to rent free and future uptit
2 Annualised rent, plus rent subject 1o rent free
3 Epsf metrics shown lor office space only
4 Standalane residential
S Reflects standing investrment only

Rent Subject to Open Market Rent Review

Gross rents plus, where rent ceviews are gulstanding. any increases ta ERV las determined by the Groug's externat vatuers), less any grouad reals payable under

Far penod ta 31 Mareh 020 Firat iy yd W23 2024 2826-22 20820-24
At It March 201% £m £Em Em £m tm £m £m
West End 4 15 10 9 13 9 53
City 13 4 9 - - 26 26
Offices 17 19 19 14 13 55 77
Regional 9 19 i3 11 ? 41 81
Laza! | 12 & 17 £ 22 £
Mutti-let 20 31 18 28 14 &9 m
Department Stores and Leisure - ~ 7 - 7
Superstores 8 - 2 3 13 18
Sotus and Other - - - - - - -
Retait 28 36 18 30 24 82 136
Residential - - 1 - - 1 1
Canada Water' - - - - - - -
Total 45 55 38 39 37 138 214

On a proportionally conschidated Basis cluding the Group's share of joint veatures and lunds

1 Reflects standing invesirment only
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Rent Subject to Lease Break or Expiry’

For period to 31 March 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020-22 2020-24
At 31 March 2019 2020 &m £m &m £m fm Em
Wes! End 4 19 2?2 26 15 45 85
Cuty 15 10 2 3 13 27 43
Offices 19 29 24 29 28 72 129
Regional Lifestyle 17 10 12 19 20 39 78
Local Lifestyte 15 10 13 12 20 i) 70
Multi-tet iz 20 25 n L0 77 148
Department Stares & Leisure - - - - - -

Superstores - - _ 2 . _ 2
Solus & Qther 1 - - - - 1 1
Retail kx] 20 25 33 40 78 151
Residentiat - 3 - - - 3 3
Canada Water 1 1 1 1 2 2 5
Total 53 53 49 43 70 155 288
% of contracted rent %1% 9.1% 8.3% 10.9% 12.0% 26.5% 4£9.4%

On a properucnally consolidated basis inciuding the Group s share of joint ventures and funds

Recently Completed and Committed Developments

Let & Undar
BL Share 100% sqft  PCCalendat CurrentValue Costtocome ERV CHer
At 3t March 2619 Sector % ‘000 Year £m £m! &mt im
1 Fingbury Avenue Gffice 50 287 Q12019 153 11 82 47
Jutal Completed in the Year 287 153 ik .2 &.7
10C Liverpool Street Qtfice 50 521 Qi 2020 240 82 191 104
135 Bishapsgate Oifice 50 335 Q3zme 156 34 97 8.7
1 Triton Square? Oftice 100 366 Q42020 289 122 23 218
Plymouth {Leisurel Retall 100 108 Q42019 29 14 3.1 21
TotalCommutted e T 1,330 714 252 55.0 43.2
Retail Captal Expenditure® 93

1 From 1Apnl 2019 Cost 1o come excludes notionat \nterest as interest is capitalised indiidually on each development al aur capilabsation rate
2 Estimated headline rental value net of rent payable under head leases {excluding tenant incentives|
3 ERViel & under offer of £21 Bm represents space taken by Dentsu Aegis As part of Itss letting Dentsu Aegs have an option to return their existing space at
10 Tnton Stegetin 2021 1f this option 1s exercised, there 15 an adjustment 10 the rent Iree penod in respect of the letting at 1 Tnten Square (e compensate British Land

& Capex committed and underway within our investment portiolip relating to leasing and assel management
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Near Term Development Pipeline

AL Share 100% sq #t Expected  CurrentValue Costlo Come ERY  under ::(l:rl
At 31 March 2019 Sector * ‘000 Start On Site £m Em' £m® £m Planning Status
Nortan Folgate Office 100 335 Q32019 62 206 206 - Consented
1-2 Broadgate Difice 50 531 022020 94 198 188 - Consented
Total near term 113 156 404 39.4 -
Retait Capex® 78
I From [ April 2019 Cost to come exciudes notionat interest as interest 1s capitalised individyally on each development at our capitalisatian rate
2 Estmated headbne rental value nel of rent payable under head leases lexctuding tenant incentves)
3. Forecasi capial commitrnents within our investment portiolio over the next 12 months retating to leasing and asset enhancemant
Medium Term Development Pipeline

Bl Share 100% Sg At

At I March 2019 Secter Y% ‘0006 Planning Status
2-3 Finsbury Avenue Othce 50 563 Consented
Gateway Building Leisure 100 105 Consented
5 Kingdom Street! Office 100 429 Consented
Meadowhall {Leisure) Retad 50 333 Consented
Ealing - 10-40 The Broadway Retait 100 292 Pre-submissian
Aldgate Place Phase 2 Residential 50 145 Consented
Eden Walk Retail & Res:dential Mixed Use 50 533 Cansented
Plymauth, Gearge Street Retart 180 43 Submitted
Total Medium Term excl. Canada Water 2,443
Canada Water - Phase 12*¢ Mixed Use 100 1,917 Submitted

1 Planning cansent for previous 240,000 sq It scheme

2. Canada Water sie covers Sm sq [11n Lotal based on nel area lgross area of 7m sq ft}

3 Phase | consists of Phase 13, 1b, 1c Detailed planning submitted for Phase 1a {576,000 sq fii, outiine planning subrritted for total Phase |
4

On drawdown of the Master Development Agresment, ownership reduces to 80% with LBS owning 20% LBS ownersivp will adjust over lune d
mvestment by Southwark
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SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Sustainability perforntance measures

We report on atl assets where we have day-to-day operational or management influence [our managed portfolia) and all developments
over £300,000 with planning permission, on-site ar completed in the year The exception s EPC and flood risk data, where we report on all
assets under management As at 31 March 2019, our managed portfolio comprised 73% of aur assets under management, Please see the
scope column far indicatar-specific reporting coverage

Selected data has been independently assured since 2007 Selected data for 2019 has been independeatly assured by PwC in accordance
with [SAE 3000 (Revised) and ISAE 3410

2020 sustainability strategy performance
We report transparently on performance sa our stakeholders can fully understand our impacts. Below 1s an overview of our performance
during the reporting period. For detaited infarmation, see our Sustainability Accounts and website britishland com/sustainability

Performance

2019 scape
Indicators’ 2019 018 {assets or unis)
Continued inclusion in three out of four sustainabilsty indices 0JSI Europe, 4/4 4/é -
DSt World, FTSE4Good and GRESB?
Major developments on track to implement Sustainabiity Brief 100% 100% 16414
Performance 2019 scope
2019 M8 (assels or unitsh
Woellbeing [Customer Orientation) 2020 targes
Deliver a WELL certifred commercial office 1o shell and core, and set corporate Delwer Ontrack Ontrack -
policy for future developments
Develcp and piot retail wellbeing specification Deiwer Inprogress in progress -
Sense of wellbeing for wsitors at our piaces . Increase B4 _ B -
Dehne and trial 3 methodology for ;s:;surmg produEiwaty in offices Delver Completed Completed T
Research and publish on how development design impacts public health oulcomes Deliver Completed On track -
Pilot interventions to improve local air quality 3 Inprogress Target -
estabbished
Inury tncidence Rate [RIDDOR] Offices 14.17 12.88 46766
Seizd 801 40t 58/58
Inury Frequency Rate {RIDDCRI Developmenis 0.12 013 31/34
Periormance 2019 scape
m1e 2018 lassets or units}
Community {Right Places] 2020 tacgets
Implement pur Local Charter at key assets and major developments 100% 92% Charter
updated
British Land employee skills-based velunteering 20% 17% 16% -
Briish Land employee volunteering 70% 81% 79% -
Community programme beneliciaries 36,358 39,798 -
Pertormance 2019 scope
019 2018 lassels or unus)
Futureproofing [Capital Efficiencyl 2020 targers
Devetopments on track to achieve BREEAM Excellent for offices and Excellent 100% 92% 92% 15/15
or Very Good for retait
Carbon [Scope 1 and 2| intensity reduction versus 2009 (index scored) 55% &% 54% 70/70
Landlord energy intensity reduction versus 2009 lindex scored} 55% 446% 40% 70/70
Electnicily purchased from renewable sources 100% 96% 97% 107/108
Average reduction in embodied carban emissions versus cancept design on 13% 10% nr 22
major developments
Waste diverted from landhil. managed properties and developments 100% 99.6% 99% 108/116
Portfolio with green buitding ratings % by floor area) - 18% 18% 179/17%
Energy Performance Certsficates rated F or G [% by fioor areal - 5% 5%  2663/2844
Portfolto at hugh sk of flood (% by valuel - 3% 3% 178/179
High flood risk assets with flood rmanagement plans (% by valuel - 100% 100% 12412

1 Sustainabitsty Aclion Plans have been superseded by Local Charter actmittes. see Community Dur | aral Charter cavers community, wellbeing, skills and apporiunity
Futureproafing initiatves are covered through Assel Plans, which include provisions for identifying chmate-related nisks and opportundies, such as Hood risk
as5e55ments and audits ta identify energy saving opportunities

2 In ttus financial year we were histed 1n DJSI 2018 World and Europe, awarded a green star in GRESB 2018 and ranked in the top 94™ percentite of FTSE4Good 2018
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SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE MEASURES CONTINUED

Performance

2007 scope
2019 2018 {assets or unis)
Skills and opportunity (Expert People} 2020 targets
Peaple supparted into employment fcumulativel 1,700 1,232 839! -
Strategic suppliers agreed with terms of our Supplier Code of Conduct 100% 53% Code 34744
Launched
Priontised supplier warkforce wha are apprentices 3% 2.46% 1 2% 178/220
Pilat a Living Woge Zone at a London campus Oeliver Inprogress - -
Workforce pard at least Living Wage Grou_p employges 100% 100% 100% -
Foundation rate Supplier workforce at 66%? 70% 103/103
managed properties
Developments supply chain spend within 25 miles 66% 1% 5/6
1 Employment figures from 2014-2018 have been restated {or accuracy
2 From FY19. these figures exclude the employees of any subsidiary organisations
EPRA best practice recommendations on sustainability reporting
We have received Gold Awards for sustanability reporting from the European Public Real Estate Association [EPRA],
seven years runming For our full EPRA sustainability reporting, methodology and the 2019 PwC assurance stalement,
please see our Sustainablity Accounis 2019 britishland com/data.
Perlormance 2009 scope
2019 018 2017 [asseis or units)
Environmental
Total electricity consumption IMWh) 155,608 162,833 172127 107/108
Total distnict heating and cooling consumption (MWh] 0 ] ¢ 0/0
Total fuel consumption [MWh] 49,878 37,500 39,319 60/61
Bulding energy intensity lkwh) Otices Iper il 136.40 14571 158 70 30/30
Retal ~ enclosed {per m?) 149.02 156 48 161 89 717
Retail ~ open awr |per car 141,06 168 13 150 01 33/33
parking spacel
Total direct [Scope 1] greenhouse gas ermissions {tonnes COel 8,956 6,967 7.609 115/116
Total indirect (Scope 2! greenhouse  Locatian based 20,188 27.30% 34,149 115/116
gas ermyssions [tonnes CO,el Market based 1,457 1,875 6,630 15/11%
Greenhouse gas intensity from Oifices {per mil 0.044 Q055 0089 30/30
building energy consumption {tennes  Retail - enclosed lper m?) 0.043 D 05& 0057 747
COkel Retail - open air lper car parking spacel 0.04% 0062 0 064 33/33
Total water consumption (m?) 553,282 516,221 663,541 44173
Buiding water intensity {m?} Offices Iper FTE} 14.09 1556 14.99 28/40
Retall - enclosed [per 10.000 wistiors) nr nr 947 -
Retail - open air [per 10000 wisitors] nr ar 286 -
Total non-hazardous waste by Re-used and recycled 10,818 11.207 12,166 77/82
disposai route [tannes and %) {57%] [56%l| (57%!}
Incinerated 8,182 [43%) 8,887 |44%) 9,236 [43%] 77/82
Landhilled 2{0%) 6 10%l) 35 (0% 77/82
Total hazardous waste by Re-used and recycled 5 (44%) nr nr 77/82
disposal route [tonnes and %l Incrnerated 7 (58%) nr nr 77/82
Landkilled 0 [0%) nr nr 77/82
Sustainably certiied assets - AwcB 22% 23% 25%  2663/2864
Energy Performance Certificates Clof 73% 72% 71%  2643/2864
(% by floor areal FloG 5% 5% % 2663/2864
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Pertormance

2019 scape
.19 013 2017 {assets or uniis)
Social!
Emplayee dversity - gender Male 4B% 51% 53% -
Female 52% 49% 47% -
Employee gender pay ratio Executive Directors - - nr -
[median remuneration, female  Seqior management 87% 29% or -
}jma‘e’ Middle and nan-management 74% 6% i -
Ernployee tratning - average hours 13.4 14.2 132 -
Emptoyee annual performance review 100% 100% nr -
Employee new hires rate 17% 20% 26% -
Employee turnover - departures rate 19% 15% 15% -
Employee health and safety Absentee rate 1% 1% 1% -
Injuiy frequency rate 0 0 nr -
Lost day rate 3,48 0 nr -
Waork-relaied {atalites 0 & 0 -
Asset health and safety Proportion subject to health and safety 100% 100% 100% H6/114
review (%]
Incidents of non-compliance 9 ] nr 116/116
Progress tmplementing our impiement ocur Local Charter at 92% Charter Target
Local Charter at key assets key assets and major developments updaied established
ang major developments (% progress]
Pranotl o0 of potialn (oo a-ea) 83% . - 0, 104

where Local Charter or other
community actaity implemented

1 2017 and 2018 employee dala restated Lo reflect the integration of Broadgale Eslates mic Brigh Land

For informatien on our inclusive culture see pages 30 and 112 and briishiand.com/inclusive-culture and to read moare about our gender
Day gap on page & and at britishland com/gender-pay-gap.

Governance
Annual Report and Accounts
2019 2018
Composition of the highest governance body Board's Executive and Non-Executive  Boargd's Executve and Nen-Executive
Directors pages 68-71 Cirectors pages 98-61
Tenures of Non-Executive Directars  Average tenure of Non-Executive
page 108 Girectors page 75
Board members with envirenmental
or social competencies page 68-71
Nomunating and selecting the highest Appointment process for new Appointment process for new
governance body directors pages 86-87 Directors pages 74-75
Process for managing conflicis of interest Board procedure for managing Board pracedure for manageng

conflicts of interest page 76 coniflicts of inlerest page 64
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TEN YEAR RECORD

The lable hetow summarises the tast ten years’ results, cash flows and balance sheelts

019 018 017 206 W08 04 W3 201 00 010
£m £m Em €m Em Em £m £m Em £m

Income’
Gross rental rncome 574 613 643 654 618 597 587 572 541 541
Net rental ncome 532 576 610 620 585 542 541 546 518 545
Net fees and other iIncome 10 5 17 i7 17 15 15 17 18 15
interest expense [net) {121} {128] {151} {180} {2011 1202) {206) {218] 1212) {248]
Adrminisirative expense (21) 183} [86) 194} {881 {781 174} {74 [68] {45}
Underlying Profit 340 380 390 363 313 297 274 2469 256 249
Exceptional costs
{not included 1 Underlying Profit}* - - - - - - - - - -
Dwidends declared 258 302 296 287 277 266 234 231 233 225
Summarised balance sheets
Total properties at valuation'? 12,316 13716 13940 14,648 13,677 12040 10,499 10337 9.572 8,539
Net debt {35211 (3.5731 14,2231 (4,765 (42181 (4890} {4.266] 14.6%0) 14,1731 {4,081}
QOther assets and liabiities (144} 1183) [219) 9 276 1123 (266} (266) 1298) (51)
EPRA NAV/Fully diluted adjusted
net assets 8,649 9,560 9498 10074 9,035 7.027 5.967 5.381 5101 4,407
Cash flow movement - Group only
Cash generated from operations 617 351 379 341 318 243 197 21 182 248
Other cash flows from operations 14} 2 (14) 47] {334 (24] (7] (5] 28 [112)
Net cash inflow trom operating actmties 613 353 363 96 285 219 190 206 210 136
Cash intlaw loutflow) from capital
expenditure, investments,
acquisiions and disposats 187 346 470 230 1l 1660] (202] {547) (240 39)
Equity diwdends paid 1298} {304) 1295) [235) 1228] 1159) {203) [212) (139} 154}
Cash {outtlow] inflow from
management
of liquid resources and financing (345) 1404] (538) 12831 20 407 213 630 157 1485)
Increase (decreasel in cashé 137 9] - b (34) 7 12} 77 12 {542
Capital returns
{Reduction] growth w1 net assets? 95%) 07% [57% 115% 2846% 178% 109% 55% 157% 301%
Total return {3.3%] 8 9% 27% 14 2%  245% 200% 4£.5% 9 5% 177%  335%
Total return - pre-exceptional [3.3%)  8.9% 27% 142% 265% 200% 4 5% 95% 177% 335%
Per share information’
EPRA net asset value per share ?06p %47p ¢15p 91%p 82% 4£88p 5%46p 595p 567p S504p
Memorandum
Owidends declared in the year 31.0p 30.1p 29 2p 28.4p 27.7p 27 0p 26 4p 26 1p 24 Op 26 0p
Dwvidends paid in the year 30.5p 29 6p 28 Bp 28 Op 27 Ip 26.7p 26 3p 26 Op 26 Op 27 3p
Dituted earnings
Underlying EPRA earmings per share 34.9p 37.4p 378 34p 30.6p 294p 303p 29.7p 28.5p 28 dp
IFRS earnings {loss] per sharet [30.0p) 485p 147p 1197p 1673p 1102p 3150 538p  952p 132ép

including share o! joint ventures and funds
. Represents movement in diluled EPRA NAV

R N

. ncluding surplus over book value of trading and development properties

. including restatement n 2014 and excaptianal finance costs i 2009- £119 mdlon

. 2308 restated for (FRS The UK GAAP accounts shaws gross rental income of £620 millien and Undertying Profit of £175 rullian
Represents movernent in cash and cash equvalents under IFRS and movements in cash under UK GAAR
Adjusted for the nghis 1ssue of 341 million shares in March 2009
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Financial calendar
9720

27 June 2019

2 August 2019

3 October 2019

8 November 2019
13 Novembear 2019

Final dividend ex-dividend date
Finat divdend payment date

First quarter ex-dividend date

First quarter dividend payment date
Half year results

Second quarter ex-dwidend date January 2020
Second guarter dividend payrent date February 2020
Thurd quarter ex-dividend date March 2020
Third quarter dividend payment date May 2020
Fuil year resulis May 2020
Final dwvidend ex-dividend date June 2020
Final dwidend payment date August 2020

If offered, the Board witl announce the avaitability of a Scrip
dwidend alternative via the Regulatory News Service na later than
four business days before each ex-dividend date Scrip dwvidend
alternatives will not be enhanced The split between PIDC and
nan-PlD income for each dwvidend will be announced at the

same time

Analysis of shareholders — 31 March 2019

Number Balance as at
menn of haldinas % 31 March 28119” 9%,
1-3,000 5,264 5474 2,262,808 024
3,001-5,000 2.835 29 48 6,256,773 065
5.001-20,000 446 672 6,348,133 044
20,001~50,000 251 267 8,202,600 085
50,007 ~Highest 621 6 46 937,518,798 97 40
Toiai feiil 002D a0, 587077 IGO0
Hotder lype
Indwviduals 5836 5068 10,734,011 00 112
Nominee and
institutionat
investars 3,781 3932 949855061.00 9888
Total 9,617 10060 960,589.072.00 10000

1 Exciuding 11,266,245 shares held in ireasury

Registrars
British Land has appointed Equiniti Lirmited {Equenitil to admimister
Its shareholder register Equiniti can be contacted at-

Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing, West Sussex BN9% 4DA

Tel- 0371 384 2143 (UK callers!
Tel +44 100121 415 7047 [Overseas callers)

Lines are apen fram 8 30am to 5 30pm Menday to Friday excluding
public holidays n Engiand and Wales

Website. shareview co uk

By registering with Shareview, shareholders can-

- view your British Land shareholding online

- update your details

- elect to recewe shareholder mailings electrorucally

Equinits 1s atso the Registrar for the BL.D Property Holdings
Lirnited Stock

Share dealing facilities

By registering with Shareview, Equiniti alsg provides extsiing and
orospective UK shareholders with a share dealing facihity for
buying and selling Beiish Land shares ontine or by ghone

For more information, contact Equinitt at shareview co uk/dealing
or call 0845 403 7037 (Monday to Friday excluding public hotidays
from 8.30am to 4 30pm} Ewsting British Land shareholders will
need the reference number given onyour share certificate to
register Similar share dealing tacitthes are provided hy ather
brokers, banks and hnancial services

Website and shareholder communications

The British Land corporate website contains a wealth of material
for shareholders, including the current share price, press releases
and infermation on dividends The website can be accessed at
britishland.cem

British Land encourages 1ts shareholders ta recewve shaceholder
cormmumcahons electronmically This enables shareholders to
receive infarmation quickly and securely as well as n 3 more
environmentaily frrendly and cost-effective enanner Further
information can be obtained from Shareview or {he

Shareholder Helpline

ShareGift

Sharehotders with a srall number of shares, the vatue of which
makes it uneconom:C to sell them, may wish Lo consider donaling
their shares to chanty ShareGift is a registered chanty [No
10524846} which collects and sells unwanted shares and uses the
proceeds to support a wide range of UK charities A ShareGit
donation form can be obtained from Equiniti

Further information about ShareGiit can be obtained from their
website sharegift org

Honorary President

tn recogration of tus werk building British Land into the industry
leading company it is today, Sir John Ritblal was appointed as
Honorary President on hws retirement from the Board in
December 2006.

Registered office

The British Land Comgpany PLC

York House

45 Seymour Street, London W1H 7LX

Telephone +44 (0120 7486 4464
Regisiered number. £21920

Website bribshland com

Dividends

As a REIT, Bntish Land pays Property Income Distribution [PITH
and non-Property lncome Distribution [non-PID} dvidends More
information on REiTs and PiDs can be found in the Ihvestors
section of our website at bnishland com/dvidends

British Land dwmidends can be paid directly into your bank or
buiiding society account instead of being despatched to you by
cheque More nformation aboul the benefus of having dwidends
paid directly into your bank ar building soeciety account, and the
mandate form to set this up, can be found n the Investars section
af our website at bntishland com/finvestors/dnvidends/dividends-
direct-lo-your-bank
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SHAREHCLDER INFORMATION CONTINUED

Scrip Dividend Scheme

Britsh Land rmay offer shareholders the opportunity te

participate in the Scrip Qwidend Scheme by offering a Scrip
Alternative to a particular dvidend from hime ta tme. The Scrip
Dividend Scheme allows participating sharehoiders ta recewe
additional shares Instead of & cash dividend. Far more infermation
please visit the investors section of our website at britishland com/
dividends/scrip-drvidends-scheme

Unsolicited mail

Britsh Land ts required by law lo make its share reqgister avadable
on request to other organrsations This may result in the receipt of
unsolicited mail To lirrut this, shareholders may register with the
Mailing Preference Service For more information, or to register,
visit mpsantine org uk

Shareholders are also advised 1o be vigilant of share fraud which
includes telephone calls offering free investment advice or offers to
buy and sell shares at discounted or highly infiated prices If it sounds
o0 good to be true, it often 1s. Further informatsn can be found on the
Financiat Conduct Authority s websie fca.org uk/scams or by calling
the FCA Consumer Helpline on 0800 111 6768,

Forward-locking statements

Tax

The Group elected for REIT status on 1 January 2007, paying

a £308m conversion charge to HMRC in the same year Asa
consequence of the Group's REIT slatus, tax 15 not levied within
the corporate group on the qualifying property rental business
but 1s instead deducted fram distributions of such income as
Property Income Distributions (o shareholders Any income
which dees not fall within the REIT regime 15 subject 10 1ax
within the Group in the usual way. This includes profits on
praperty trading actmity, property retated fee income and
interest income We continue to comfortably pass all REIT
tests ensuring that our RE(T status 15 maintained

We work proactively and apenly to maintain a constructive
relationship with HMRC. We discuss matters in real-time with
HMRC and disclose all relevant facts and circumstances,
particuiarly where there may be tax uncertainty or the law s
unclear HMRC assigns nisk ratings to all large companies
We have 2 low appetite lor tax risk and HMRC considers us to
be ‘Low Risk’ [a status we have hetd since 2007 when the
rating was first inireduced by HMRC)

Further informaticn can be found in our Tax Strategy
- "Our Approach to Tax’ at briushland.com/gavernance

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking” stalements Such sialements reflect current views expectations and beliefs on among other things.
our markeis. aclivilies, projections, ohyectives, performance, inancial condibion and prospects, as well as assumptons aboui future evenls Such forward-
looking' statements can sometimes, but not always, be «denufied by their reference to a date or point in the future or the use ol forward-loaking’ terminotogy,
including terms such as believes’, ‘considers’. ‘estimates’. anhcipates’, ‘expects’. forecasts’. intends’. ‘coniinues . due . plans’, ‘'seeks . projects. goat.
outlook’, schedule | target. amm’, may, Lkelyto. will, would, could, should or similar expressions or in each case Lheir negative or other variatiens

ar camparable terrmunology By thew nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent known and unknown nisks, assumphions and uncertainiies because
they relate to future events and depend on circumstances which may or may not occur and may be beyond our ability to control or predict Forward-looking
statements should be regarded with caution as actuat oulcomes or results, or plans or objectives. may differ matenally from those expressed or smplied by
such statements Recigients should not place retrance o, and are cautioned about relymg an, any forward-looking statements

Important factors that could cause aclual results including the payment of awvidendsl, performance or achievements of British Land to differ materially from
any outcomes or results expressed or imphed by such forward-iooking statements include. among ether things (al generat business and political, sociat and
economic conditions globally. [b] the cansequences of the referendum on Britain teaving the EU, {chndustry and marked trends lincluting demand in the
properly ivestrment tnarkel and propecty price valatiblyl 1d] cornpettion, le) the behaviour of other market participants, lik changes in government and

other regulation including in relation 1o the environment, health and safety and Laxation (in particutar, in respect of British Land's slatus as a Real Estate
Investrrent Trustl. {g] inflavon and consumer conlidence, Thi labour relalions and work sioppages. il natural disasters and adverse wealher conditions,

i)} terronsm and acts of war, (k) Britssh Land's overall business strategy, risk appehite and inwvestment choices n its portlolic management, [l tegal or ather
proceedings against or affecting British Land, Im} reliable and secure IT infrastructure. {n] changes in occupier demand and tenant default lo) changes

n financial and equily markets including interest and exchange rate lluctuations, Ipl changes i accounting pracuices and 1he interpretaton of accounting
standards and [gl the avadability and cost of finance The Campany's principal risks are described in greater detaid tn the section of this Annual Report
headed Managing risk in delwering our strategy and principal fisks Forward-looking statements in (his Annual Report. or the Brivsh Lang website or

made subsequently, which are alinbutable to 8ntish Land or persens acling oa us behall should therefore be construed 1n lght of all such factors

Inforrnatton contained in this Annuat Report relating to British Land or s share price or the yield on tts shares are not guarantees of. and should not

be relied upon as an indicalor of, (Wlure performance, and nollung in this Annual Report should be construed as a profil lorecass or profit esiimate, or
be taken as implying that the earnings of Briish Land for the current year or future years will necessarily maich or exceed the histoncal or published
earnings of Bnush Land Any forward-looking siatements made by or on behalf of Briish Land speak only as of the date they are made. Such forward-
looking stalemenls are expressly qualited in their entirely by the faclors relecred ta above and no representation, assurance, guaraniee or warranly is
given in relation to them lwhether by British Land or any of its associates. directors, officers, employees or adwsers], including as o thew completeness,
accuracy ar the basis on which they were prepared

Other than 1 accordance with our legal and regulatory obligations linctuding under the UK Financial Conduct Authorty's Listing Rules, Chsclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules, and the EU Market Abuse Regutanen]. Sritish Land does not intend or undertake any obligation to update or revise
publicly ferward-looking statements to reflect any changes in Brilsh Land's expeclations with regard thereto or any changes in information, evenls,
condilians or circumstances on which any such statement s based. This document shall nat, under any circumstances, create any implication that there
has been no change 10 the business or affairs of British Land since the date of this docurnent or that 1he information contained herein s carrect as al any
sme subsequent Lo this date

Nothing in this document shall constitute, in any jurisdiction, an offer or solicikation 10 sell or purchase any securities or other inancial mstruments, nor
shall it constdute a recommendation or adwee n respecl of any securities or ather nancial iInstruments or any olher matter
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